American National Standard

ANSI/AAMI ST91:2021

Flexible and semi-rigid endoscope processing in health care facilities



Flexible and semi-rigid endoscope processing in health care facilities

Approval 1 October 2021 by **AAMI**

Approved 21 December 2021 by American National Standards Institute, Inc.

- **Abstract**: Provides guidelines for point of use treatment, transporting, leak testing (where indicated), cleaning, packaging (where indicated), high-level disinfecting and/or sterilizing, storage, and quality control procedures of flexible gastrointestinal (GI) endoscopes, flexible bronchoscopes, flexible ear, nose, and throat endoscopes, flexible urology endoscopes, and other types of reusable flexible endoscopes used in procedural and surgical settings, and semi-rigid operative endoscopes (e.g., choledochoscopes) used in health care facilities. These guidelines are intended to provide comprehensive information and direction for health care personnel in the processing of these reusable devices and accessories to render them safe for patient use.
- **Keywords**: endoscope processing, endoscope storage, flexible endoscopes, semi-rigid endoscopes, high-level disinfection, sterilization, leak testing, endoscope inspection

AAMI Standard

This Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation (AAMI) standard implies a consensus of those substantially concerned with its scope and provisions. The existence of an AAMI standard does not in any respect preclude anyone, whether they have approved the standard or not, from manufacturing, marketing, purchasing, or using products, processes, or procedures not conforming to the standard. AAMI standards are subject to periodic review, and users are cautioned to obtain the latest editions.

CAUTION NOTICE: This AAMI standard may be revised or withdrawn at any time. AAMI procedures require that action be taken to reaffirm, revise, or withdraw this standard no later than five years from the date of publication. Interested parties can obtain current information on all AAMI documents by calling or writing AAMI.

All AAMI standards, recommended practices, technical information reports, and other types of technical documents developed by AAMI are *voluntary*, and their application is solely within the discretion and professional judgment of the user of the document. Occasionally, voluntary technical documents are adopted by government regulatory agencies or procurement authorities, in which case the adopting agency is responsible for enforcement of its rules and regulations.

Published by

AAMI 901 N Glebe Rd, Suite 300 Arlington, VA 22203 www.aami.org

© 2022 by the Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation

All Rights Reserved

This publication is subject to copyright claims of AAMI. No part of this publication may be reproduced or distributed in any form, including an electronic retrieval system, without the prior written permission of AAMI. All requests pertaining to this draft should be submitted to AAMI. It is illegal under federal law (17 U.S.C. § 101, et seq.) to make copies of all or any part of this document (whether internally or externally) without the prior written permission of the Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Violator's risk legal action, including civil and criminal penalties, and damages of \$100,000 per offense. For permission regarding the use of all or any part of this document, visit the Copyright Clearance Center.

Printed in the United States of America

ISBN 978-1-57020-830-0

Contents

Page

Con	nmittee representation	v
Ack	nowledgments	x
Fore	eword	xi
Intro	oduction	xii
1	Scope	1
2	Normative references	2
3	Terms and definitions	2
4	Design of endoscope processing area	11
5	Environmental cleaning	21
6	Personnel	22
7	Decontamination processes	28
8	High-level disinfection, liquid chemical sterilization, and terminal sterilization systems for flexible endoscopes	40
9	Sterile endoscope sheaths used as protective microbial barriers	51
10	Processing of endoscope accessories	51
11	Storage of processed endoscopes	52
12	Transport of processed endoscopes	57
13	Quality control	57
14	Device repair and loaned endoscopes	82
15	New product evaluation	85
Ann	nex A (informative) Alternatives for keeping cool in the processing environment	87
Ann	nex B (informative) Purchase considerations in selecting AERs and LCSPSs	90
Ann	nex C (normative) Reference material for repairs	92
Ann	nex D (informative) Manufacturer's written instructions for use (IFU) conflict management	94
Ann	nex E (informative) Endoscope visual inspection	95
Ann	nex F (informative) User verification of cleaning processes	105
Ann	nex G (informative) Effects of simethicone on flexible endoscopes	112
Ann	nex H (informative) Safety considerations for high-level disinfectants and liquid chemical sterilants	113
Ann	nex I (informative) Endoscope microbiocidal methods	148
Ann	nex J (informative) Endoscope storage risk assessment	150
Ann	nex K (informative) Endoscope drying	151
Bibl	liography	155

Tables

Table 1—IES-recommended illuminance levels for work environments*	19
Table 2—Barrier Gown liquid barrier performance class	27
Table 3—Microbiological culture surveillance sampling advantages and disadvantages*	69
Table H.1—Examples of labeled contact conditions for high-level disinfection by FDA-cleared glutaraldehyde products	.114

Table I.1—Characteristics of microbicidal methods for endoscope processing	. 148
Table K.1—Summary of endoscope drying studies and methods of evaluation	.152

Figures

Figure E.1—Inspection of an endoscope using the unaided eye or magnification	95
Figure E.2—Anatomy of endoscope elevator mechanism of duodenoscope distal end	96
Figure E.3—Areas to inspect for damage on endoscope	97
Figure E.4—Control body (including valves and switches)	98
Figure E.5—Examples of insertion tube peeling and scratching	98
Figure E.6—Additional example of insertion tube defects	99
Figure E.7—Examples of denting and crush marks	99
Figure E.8—Examples of buckling	100
Figure E.9—Biopsy port	100
Figure E.10—Examples of cracked or damaged distal c-cover	101
Figure E.11—Examples of cracked or chipped objective or light guide lens	101
Figure E.12—Examples of residue buildup or staining	101
Figure E.13—Examples of residue buildup or staining	102
Figure E.14—Examples of bending section rubber glue joint separation	102
Figure E.15—Examples of cracks in glue joints	103
Figure E.16—Examples of cuts or punctures	103
Figure E.17—Examples of articulation	104
Figure E.18—Examples of moisture	104
Figure H.1—Endoscope markings example	115

Committee representation

Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation

Endoscope Reprocessing Working Group

This standard was developed by the AAMI Endoscope Reprocessing Working Group under the auspices of the AAMI Sterilization Standards Committee. Approval of the standard does not necessarily mean that all working group members voted for its approval. At the time this standard was published, the **AAMI Endoscope Reprocessing Working Group** had the following members:

Cochairs:	Mary Ann Drosnock Garland-Rhea Grisby
Members:	Cheri Ackert-Burr, Cantel Inc Anas Aljabo, CMC Sterilization Ltd Edward Arscott, NAMSA Melissa Austin, United Health Services Rebecca Bartles Marcia Benedict, STERIS Corporation Healthcare Melinda Benedict, Olympus America Inc Damien Berg Lisa Berus Holger Biering, Holger Biering Consulting Marie Brewer Deborah Bunn Jonathan Burdach, Nanosonics Limited Jennifer Burrell Ruth Carrico Lori Chabot Shanaun Chavez, Intuitive Surgical Inc Nancy Chobin Jacqueline Cink, Mayo Clinic Horlando Cintron James Collins Linda Condon, Condon Healthcare Consulting Edward Conklin Jeri Culbertson Jacqueline Daley Frank Daniels Mary Ann Drosnock, Healthmark Industries Company Inc Loraine Durigan Michelle Eppes, WuXi AppTec Inc Christine Estep, Fractyl Laboratories Inc David Etzioni, American Society of Colon and Rectal Surgeons Jon Fish, Endoscopy Repair Specialist Inc Christopher Franklin Sarah Friedberg, Stryker Instruments Division Marcia Frieze, Case Medical Inc Jeremy Gibson-Roark, Det Notske Veritas Region Prema Gopal, American College of Gastroenterology Garland-Rhea Grisby Michael Gudejko Barbara Ann Harmer Emily Hildebrand, Research Collective Rachel Hill, Becton Dickinson & Company Samantha Hodge, Medtronic Inc Campus Julie Hoover, Johnson & Johnson
	Charles Hughes, HIGHPOWER Validation Testing & Lab Services Inc Timothy Hurtado Sheri King, Henry Ford Health System

RIGHTSLINK4)

Susan Klacik, HSPA Theresa Klein Karla Klueber Michael Kochman, American Gastroenterological Association Margaret (Marcy) Konja, SpecialtyCare Marcelo Kugelmas, AASLD-American Association for Study of Liver Diseases Erin Kyle, Association of Perioperative Registered Nurses (AORN) Mary (MK) Lane Angela Lewellyn, Advantage Support Services Inc Ann Mangskau, Ecolab Regina Manning Jason Marosi Albert (Ted) May, Andersen Products Inc Elaine Mayhall, FDA/CDRH Josha McCarthy Kathleen McMullen, Association for Professionals in Infection Control & Epidemiology Terrence Mistalski, Germitec Emily Mitzel, GE Healthcare Frank Myers Karen Nauss Brian Newton, Parametrik Holdings, LLC Jake Nordaas Gerry O'Dell, Gerry O'Dell Consulting Cori Ofstead, Ofstead & Associates Adam Okada Mary Olivera, Quality Processing Resource Group LLC Navid Omidbakhsh, Advanced Sterilization Products (ASP) Kia Parker Alpa Patel, Sotera Health LLC Suzanne Patterson, CIVCO Medical Solutions Deanna Pedeville, Bausch & Lomb Inc Christopher Pennucci Bret Petersen, American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy Michael Polozani, Case Medical Inc Janet Prust, 3M Health Care Natalie Reece, Key Surgical Inc Vincent Reed, VHA-National Office of Clinical Consultation & Compliance Wayne Rogers, Wayne J Rogers Enterprises Vicki Sage Jessica Schmidt, Analytical Lab Group Anne Schuler, LexaMed Ltd Harry Shaffer, Sterilization Consulting Services Frank Smith Donald Socha, Getinge USA Alison Sonstelie Joan Spear, Joan M. Spear (Independent Expert) Suzanne Stefanik Christopher Strafaci, Cogentix Medical Grace Thornhill, Boston Scientific Corporation James Treharn **Cindy Turney Smith** Sunny Vestal Mariorie Wall Richard Warburton, ChemDAQ Inc James Wiggs Nicole Williams, Sterilucent Inc Jo Wood Zheng Xue, Germitec Jarl Yeager Jennifer Zeck Roberto Zumbado, Philips Jennifer Ayscue, American Society of Colon and Rectal Surgeons Jhmeid Billingslea, Advantage Support Services Inc Matthew Chitester, ChemDAQ Inc

Alternates:

Stephanie Cole, FDA/CDRH Brad Conway, American College of Gastroenterology Jeffery Daniels, Olympus America Inc Lukejohn Day, American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy Shawn Engberg, MD Furniture & Supply Christian Escobar, Cogentix Medical Bill Facemire, Boston Scientific Corporation Nancy Fellows, Advanced Sterilization Products (ASP) Daniel Fowler, WuXi AppTec Inc Ann Hewitt, Cantel Inc Meredith Hotchkiss Erin Huber, LexaMed Ltd Henri Hubert, Quality Processing Resource Group LLC Peter Kalkbrenner, Sterilucent Inc Marcus Keller, Getinge USA Nikki Kluck (Einerson), 3M Health Care Philippe Labrie, STERIS Corporation | Healthcare Jean-Luc Lemyre, Stryker Instruments Division Alisha Lov Courtney Mace Davis Jacob Manthey, American Gastroenterological Association Betty McGinty, Boston Scientific Corporation Derek Mortisen, Intuitive Surgical Inc Lia Moshkanbaryans, Nanosonics Limited Michael Neilson, Becton Dickinson & Company Konstantin Petrov Bethany Phillips, Association for Professionals in Infection Control & Epidemiology Lionel Pineau, Germitec Erin Romens, Analytical Lab Group Klaus Roth, Quality Processing Resource Group LLC Don Rotter, Ecolab Christopher Sczublewski Benjamin Sims, Sotera Health LLC Ryan Swartz, CIVCO Medical Solutions Jania Torreblanca Brandon VanHee, Key Surgical Inc Rebecca Washburn, Henry Ford Health System **Cheryl Weisbrod** John Whelan, Healthmark Industries Company Inc Jon Wood, HSPA Daryl Woodman, Andersen Products Inc

NOTE Participation by federal agency representatives in the development of this standard does not constitute endorsement by the federal government or any of its agencies.

At the time this document was published, the AAMI Sterilization Standards Committee had the following members:

Cocnairs:	Patrick Weixel
Members:	Gregory Aldrich Anas Aljabo, CMC Sterilization Ltd Eseosa Amenaghawon Brett Anderson, Cochlear Ltd Jennifer Asleson, Quality, Microbiology & Sterilization Services LLC Richard Bancroft, STERIS Corporation Marie Brewer Trabue Bryans, BryKor LLC Jonathan Burdach, Nanosonics Limited Charles Cogdill, Medtronic Inc Campus Emily Craven, Boston Scientific Corporation Jacqueline Daley Gordon Ely, LexaMed Ltd Nicole Felderman, CIVCO Medical Solutions



Cooboiro

Ionot Drugt

	Brian Fortier, Aorta Medical Inc. Lisa Foster, Adiuvo QS & SA Consulting Daniel Fowler, WuXi AppTec Inc Joel Gorski, NAMSA Magnus Graham, BSI Healthcare Ashley Hammer Joyce Hansen, Johnson & Johnson Douglas Harbrecht, Sterility Assurance LLC John Harper, Sterile Edge Deborah Havlik, DA Havlik Consulting Mollie Holter, MicroBio Consulting LLC Clark Houghtling, Cosmed Group Inc Susan Klacik, HSPA Erin Kyle, Association of Perioperative Registered Nurses (AORN) Byron Lambert, Abbott Laboratories Patrick McCormick, Bausch & Lomb Inc Leslie Nichols, Mayo Clinic Gerry O'Dell, Gerry O'Dell Consulting Tarika Onishi, DexCom Inc Ken Paddock, Baxter Healthcare Corporation Kia Parker Suzanne Patterson, CIVCO Medical Solutions Kimberly Patton, Becton Dickinson & Company Janet Prust, 3M Health Care Nancy Rakiewicz, IUVO BioScience Joan Rickard Linda Schultz Kristen Singleton, Getinge USA Joan Spear, Joan M. Spear (Independent Expert) Sopheak Srun, Quality Tech Services LLC Mark Swanson, Quality and Regulatory Expert Partners (QRX) Julie TerWee, Pfizer Parenteral Center for Excellence James Treham Marjorie Wall Sean Weir Patrick Weixel, FDA/CDRH James Wiggs Martell Winters, Sotera Health LLC
Alternates:	Roberto Zumbado, Philips Jennifer Benolken, DuPont Tyvek Medical and Pharmaceutical Protection Stacy Bohl, Boston Scientific Corporation Carolyn Braithwaite-Nelson, Philips Richard Burgess, BSI Healthcare Greg Crego, IUVO BioScience Kimbrell Darnell, Becton Dickinson & Company Aaron DeMent, Sotera Health LLC Eric Einwalter, CIVCO Medical Solutions Chad Geiger, DexCom Inc Anna Grayson, Grayson Associates David Kelman, Sterile Edge Michelle (Shelly) Luebke, Baxter Healthcare Corporation Gerald McDonnell, Johnson & Johnson David McGoldrick, Abbott Laboratories Nicole McLees, 3M Health Care Shane Pinkston, Getinge USA Christine Render, Cosmed Group Inc Jimmy Reyes, Alcon Laboratories Inc Molly Swanson, Quality Tech Services LLC Lisa Ward, STERIS Corporation Jon Wood, HSPA Shelley Zimmerman, WuXi AppTec Inc

NOTE Participation by federal agency representatives in the development of this standard does not constitute endorsement by the federal government or any of its agencies.



Acknowledgments

The Endoscope Reprocessing Working Group would like to thank Cori Ofstead and Jon Fish for their contributions to the content, and in particular, supplying figures for use in the annexes of this document.



Foreword

This standard was developed by the AAMI Endoscope Reprocessing Working Group under the auspices of the AAMI Sterilization Standards Committee. The objective of this standard is to provide guidelines for precleaning, transport, leak testing, cleaning, high-level disinfection, liquid chemical sterilization, packaging, sterilization, and storage of flexible and semi-rigid endoscopes. These guidelines are intended to provide comprehensive information and direction for health care personnel in the processing of these devices and accessories.

The first edition of this standard was published as an American National Standard in 2015. This edition technically revises and replaces the first edition.

The following verbal forms are used within AAMI documents to distinguish requirements from other types of provisions in the document:

- "shall" and "shall not" are used to express requirements;
- "should" and "should not" are used to express recommendations;
- "may" and "may not" are used to express permission;
- "can" and "cannot" are used as statements of possibility or capability;
- "might" and "might not" are used to express possibility;
- "must" is used for external constraints or obligations defined outside the document; "must" is not an alternative for "shall."

This standard should be considered flexible and dynamic. As technology advances and as new data are brought forward, the standard will be reviewed and, if necessary, revised.

Suggestions for improving this standard are invited. Comments and suggested revisions should be sent to Standards, AAMI, 901 N. Glebe Road, Suite 300, Arlington, VA 22203 or <u>standards@aami.org</u>.

NOTE This foreword does not contain provisions of the ANSI/AAMI ST91, *Flexible and semi-rigid endoscope processing in health care facilities* (ANSI/AAMI ST91:2021), but it does provide important information about the development and intended use of the document.

RIGHTSLINK4)

Introduction

Reusable flexible and semi-rigid endoscopes are used in various body cavities for diagnostic and therapeutic procedures. All endoscopy procedures pose risks to patients. The introduction of pathogens through use of contaminated endoscopes is an appreciable risk that can be mitigated. Pathogens can be introduced when there are breaches of host barriers, person-to-person transmission of pathogens (e.g., Escherichia coli), or transmission of environmental pathogens (e.g., Pseudomonas aeruginosa). Further consequences of inadequate device processing can include device damage and adverse reactions in patients.

Of greatest concern is the multiple and growing number of reports of multi-drug-resistant organism (MDRO) transmission resulting in patient infection (Galdys, 2019 [158]; Kumarage, 2019 [203]; Jørgensen, 2016 [192]) and in some cases high rates of mortality (FDA MDR 8379810, 2019 [322]; Humphries, 2017 [177]; Ross, 2015 [270]; FDA, 2015c [335]). These outbreaks have led to Food and Drug Administration (FDA) safety alerts (FDA, 2018a [332]; FDA, 2015a [333]; FDA, 2015b [334]; FDA, 2015c [335]). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) statements (CDC/FDA, 2015 [110]; CDC, 2015 [111]; FDA/CDC, 2018 [341]), professional guidelines and position statements updates, and heightened awareness by the public. Additional outbreaks have been reported related not only to duodenoscopes (Rauwers, 2019 [262]; Bourigault, 2018 [96]; Potron, 2017 [257]; Epstein, 2014 [145]), but also to gastroscopes (Bajolet, 2013 [74]), ureteroscopes (Kumarage, 2019 [200]; Chang, 2013 [102]), cystoscopes (Sorbets, 2019 [296]; Ottawa Public Health, 2019 [250]; Jimeno, 2016 [184]; Wendelboe, 2008 [374]), colonoscopes (Reddick, 2017 [264]; Gonzalez-Candelas, 2017 [165]) and bronchoscopes (Galdys, 2019 [158]; Alipour, 2017 [64]; Jørgensen, 2016 [192]; Guy, 2014 [169]; Kovaleva, 2013 [202]). What is very concerning regarding outbreaks related to MDROs is that failures in the processing or the equipment could not always be identified. The facilities were following the guidelines and manufacturers' written instructions for use (IFU) (Galdys, 2019 [158]; Humphries, 2017 [177]).

Endoscopic transmission of infection

Although flexible endoscopes represent a valuable diagnostic and therapeutic tool in modern medicine, as illustrated above, numerous healthcare-associated infections (HAIs) have been linked with the use of contaminated endoscopes. Prior to the multiple documented outbreaks in the last few years, the risk of endoscope-related patient infection was considered to be relatively rare. Now there are multiple published reports of endoscope processing lapses, including tens of thousands of patient exposures both in the United States and other countries (Dirlam-Langlay, 2013 [135]; Ottawa Public Health, 2019 [250]; Galdys, 2019 [158]; FDA MDR 8811666, 2019 [346]; Ross, 2014 [270]; Epstein, 2014 [145]; US Department of Veterans Affairs, 2009 [131]). In addition, there are other reports of potential patient exposures to contaminated endoscopes in the media and other public databases that have not been published in peer-reviewed literature (U.S. Senate Report, 2016 [364]; CMS, 2015a [120]; CMS, 2015b [121]).

Health care facilities and manufacturers are required to report to the FDA MAUDE (Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience) database any information that reasonably suggests that a device (such as an endoscope, accessory, or automated endoscope reprocessor) has caused or contributed to a death, injury, or serious illness of a patient. The MAUDE database contains numerous references to infections suspected to have occurred after lapses in processing or as a result of ineffective processes (e.g., FDA MDR 8683917, 2019 [319]; FDA MDR 8524645, 2019 [321]; FDA MDR 8379810, 2019 [322]; FDA MDR 8242610, 2019 [323].

Multiple peer-reviewed publications in several countries, including the United States, have documented breaches in processing that have led to patient exposure to improperly processed flexible and semi-rigid endoscopes and have caused serious infections (Gonzalez-Candelas et al., 2010 [165]; Carbonne et al., 2010 [101]; Aumeran et al., 2010 [72]; Robertson, 2017 [268]; Reddick, 2017 [264]; Kumarage, 2019 [203]; FDA MDR 8379810, 2019 [322]; Kovaleva et al., 2013 [202]; Rubin et al., 2018 [271]).

In many reports of patients being exposed to contaminated endoscopes, the patients were not tested for all pathogenic organisms but only HIV or hepatitis B viruses, despite documented outbreaks of non-viral pathogens. Published reports support the conclusion that current risk estimates are outdated and inaccurate (Ofstead et al., 2013 [243]; Dirlam-Langlay et al., 2013 [135]). The true risk of patient infection related to flexible endoscopy procedures has recently been reported to be higher than previously believed (Wang, 2018 [371]). In addition, there are many reports of outbreaks related to contaminated endoscopes (Seoane-Vazquez, 2006 [289]; Kovaleva et al., 2013 [202];

xii

Rubin et al., 2018 [271]; Galdys 2019 [158]; Kumarage, 2019 [203]; Sorbets, 2019 [296]). The FDA provided interim results from mandated post market surveillance studies on duodenoscope contamination. These results indicate that up to 5.4 % of duodenoscopes sampled after appropriate processing were contaminated with high-concern organisms (FDA, 2019a [325]; FDA, 2019b [326]; FDA, 2019c [327]; FDA, 2019d [336]). These results led the FDA to recommend adoption of new technologies and designs of duodenoscopes to address the problem.

Audits conducted of facilities that perform GI endoscopic procedures have found widespread lapses in infection prevention and control, including endoscope processing, and in some cases, endoscopes were not processed in accordance with guidelines (Dirlam-Langlay et al., 2013 [135]; The Joint Commission, 2017 [186]; Armellino, 2018 [70]; Ofstead, 2018(a) [237]; Ofstead, 2018(b) [242]; Ofstead, 2017 [238]).

A 2013 northeastern Illinois infectious outbreak of New Delhi metallo-β-lactamase (NDM) producing Carbapenemresistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE) was linked with contaminated endoscopes used to perform endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP). A total of 39 patients were identified as infected (Epstein et al, 2014 [145]). Further outbreaks were similarly linked to duodenoscopes in Boston (Shenoy et al., 2019 [291]), Pittsburgh (McCool et al., 2012 [209]), Seattle (Wendorf et al., 2015 [375]), and Los Angeles (Rubin and Murthy, 2016 [273]; Smith et al., 2015 [294]; Humphries, 2017 [177]) known through media and FDA reporting.

Effects of endoscopy-related infection outbreaks and other adverse events can include the following:

- Spread of microorganisms from patient to patient by contaminated or improperly processed flexible and semirigid endoscopes or by malfunctioning equipment or between patients and endoscopy personnel (exogenous infections).
- Spread of microorganisms during an endoscopy procedure from the GI tract through the bloodstream to susceptible organs or spread of microorganisms to adjacent tissues that are breached as a result of the endoscopic procedure.
- Patient or healthcare worker injury related to chemical residue remaining on devices after the procedure or processing.
- Patient injury or delay in treatment related to damaged devices that are difficult to use because of mishandling or inadequate processing.

Mitigating these risks begins with the correct handling procedures in preparation for processing, including precleaning steps at the point of use (e.g., bedside procedures), disassembly of parts, and safe transport.

Cleaning according to the specific manufacturer's written IFU is required to remove clinical soil and other materials prior to the antimicrobial processes of high-level disinfection or sterilization. Growth of gram-negative bacteria and other potential pathogens can be prevented by complete drying after high-level disinfection (Alfa, 1991 [53]; Ofstead et al., 2018 [242]; Perumpail, 2019 [254]).

Cleaning is a multi-step process and is critical not only to ensure that subsequent processing steps can be effective but also to remove materials that can lead to adverse patient reactions. Cleaning, which reduces clinical soil, is then followed by disinfection or sterilization to inactivate microbial contaminants. Critical devices are devices that are introduced directly into the bloodstream, or which contact a normally sterile tissue or body space during use and for which sterilization is required. Semi-critical devices come in contact with mucous membranes or non-intact skin. These items should be thoroughly cleaned and then sterilized. If sterilization is not possible, high-level disinfection is the minimum advised processing method (FDA, 2015 [334]). Historically, because of cost and logistic needs, the standard of care for gastroenterology and other endoscopes used in procedures performed outside of operating rooms has been high-level disinfection (SGNA, 2018 [297]; ASGE, 2017 [28]). It is advised that flexible and semi-rigid endoscopes to be used in semi-critical applications be sterilized prior to use (Spaulding, 1972 [301]; FDA, 2015 [334]; AORN, 2018 [367]).

Evidence to support sterilizing all flexible endoscopes (semi-critical and critical) includes:

a) high microbial load after patient procedure (Alfa, 2014 [56]; Ofstead, 2015 [235]; Fushimi, 2013 [157]);

- b) complex design of flexible endoscopes;
- c) risk for biofilm formation (Alfa, 2017 [51], [62]; Herve, 2016 [173]).

These risk factors can lead to residual clinical soil in endoscopy channels and outer surfaces (i.e., distal end, elevator mechanism) after cleaning procedures (Visrodia, 2014 [369]; Ofstead, 2015 [235]; Ofstead, 2017 [238]; Ofstead, 2018a [237]; Alfa, 2014a [56]). Effective cleaning followed by routine sterilization of flexible endoscopes is preferred because of the significant public health risk. Sterilization of endoscopes can reduce this risk because of the greater margin of safety in the overkill process, and terminal sterilization provides a sterile packaged endoscope (Rutala and Weber, 2016a [279]; McCool et al., 2012 [209]; Wendorf et al., 2015 [375]; Rubin and Murthy, 2016 [273]; Smith et al., 2015 [294]). High-level disinfection is a multi-step process and is expected to be able to inactivate most pathogenic bacteria, viruses, and fungi, but may not reliably inactivate certain types of microorganisms, including bacterial spores.

Transition from high level disinfection to sterilization as the standard of care may be accelerated by identifying and addressing key technical and compatibility obstacles and defining priorities and key steps.

Contribution of reusable medical device manufacturer is essential (FDA 2015, updated 2017 [338]). Partnerships between sterilizer and medical device manufacturers are encouraged.

Although endoscopes play a vital role in the effective delivery of health care and offer patients many benefits, the risks associated with iatrogenic transmission via endoscopes continue to be of significant concern. Endoscope design complexity presents a substantial challenge to achieving consistent and effective processing. Although risk mitigation steps, such as inspection prior to every use, are detailed in manufacturers' instructions, these steps fail to account for the high-risk design elements, such as long, internal lumens and recessed spaces that either cannot be visualized or are difficult to visualize.

The process of improving patient safety in flexible endoscopy is multi-factorial, needing clear guidance on endoscope processing, effective training and competency verification of personnel, comprehensive quality control systems, validated methods for ensuring adequate processing, and designing processes with margins of safety that account for the level of risk associated with use of these devices (FDA, 2019 [337]). As part of this process, continued research, and partnership between endoscope, reprocessor and sterilizer manufacturers to support elevating the standard of endoscope processing from high-level disinfection to sterilization is encouraged.

Flexible and semi-rigid endoscope processing in health care facilities

1 Scope

This standard provides guidelines for point of use treatment, transporting, leak testing (where indicated), cleaning, packaging (where indicated), high-level disinfecting and/or sterilizing, storage, and quality control procedures of flexible gastrointestinal (GI) endoscopes, flexible bronchoscopes, flexible ear, nose, and throat endoscopes, flexible urology endoscopes, and other types of reusable flexible endoscopes used in procedural and surgical settings, and semi-rigid operative endoscopes (e.g., choledochoscopes) used in health care facilities. These guidelines are intended to provide comprehensive information and direction for health care personnel in the processing of these reusable devices and accessories to render them safe for patient use.

NOTE For purposes of this standard, "health care facilities" include, but are not limited to, hospitals, ambulatory surgery facilities, physicians' offices, cardiac catheterization laboratories, endoscopy suites and centers, respiratory therapy clinics, urology clinics, and other areas where reusable medical devices are processed, stored, and used.

1.1 Inclusions

This document specifically addresses:

- a) functional and physical design criteria for endoscope processing areas;
- b) education, training, competency verification, and other personnel considerations;
- c) processing recommendations;
- d) care and inspection of endoscopes;
- e) maintenance of processing equipment;
- f) facility risk management considerations;
- g) quality control;
- h) quality process improvement.

Definitions of terms, a bibliography, and informative annexes are also provided in this standard.

1.2 Exclusions

This standard does not cover:

- a) the processing of rigid endoscopes (see ANSI/AAMI ST79, Comprehensive guide to steam sterilization and sterility assurance in health care facilities [17]; ANSI/AAMI ST58, Chemical sterilization and high-level disinfection in health care facilities [14]; and ANSI/AAMI ST41, Ethylene oxide sterilization in health care facilities: Safety and effectiveness) [12];
- b) the processing of transesophageal echocardiogram (TEE) probes, or endocavity ultrasound probes;
- c) specific construction and performance criteria for steam sterilizers (see ANSI/AAMI ST8, *Hospital steam sterilizers* [10], and ANSI/AAMI ST55, *Table-top steam sterilizers*) [13], ethylene oxide gas sterilizers (see

ANSI/AAMI ST24, Automatic, general-purpose ethylene oxide sterilizers and ethylene oxide sterilant sources intended for use in health care facilities) [11], rigid sterilization container systems (see ANSI/AAMI ST77, Containment devices for reusable medical device sterilization) [16], or rigid, protective organizing cases that require wrapping before sterilization (see ANSI/AAMI ST77); or

d) the processing of devices labeled for single use only and not intended to be processed by the healthcare facility prior to use.

NOTE For more information on the subjects excluded from the scope of this standard, and for additional background information on the inclusions, refer to the references listed in the Bibliography.

2 Normative references

There are no normative references in this document.

3 Terms and definitions

3.1

automated endoscope reprocessor AER

<endoscope washer-disinfector>

machines designed for the purpose of cleaning and/or disinfecting or liquid chemically sterilizing endoscopes and components.

Note to entry: The process can use a cleaning agent, and always uses a high-level disinfectant (HLD) or liquid chemical sterilant (LCS) solution.

3.2

bioburden

population of viable microorganisms on a product and/or a sterile barrier system

Note to entry: When measured, bioburden is expressed as the total count of bacterial and fungal colony-forming units (CFUs) per single item.

3.3

biofilm

accumulated biomass of bacteria and extracellular material that is tightly adhered to a surface and cannot be removed easily (Donlan, 2002) [136]

Note to entry: Some microscopic organisms have the ability, when growing in water or water solutions or *in vivo* (e.g., the bloodstream), to adhere to a surface and then exude over themselves a polysaccharide matrix. The matrix contains cells, living and dead, as well as polysaccharide (sometimes referred to as extracellular polymeric substance), and prevents antimicrobial agents, such as sterilants, disinfectants, and antibiotics, from reaching the microbial cells.

3.4

biological indicators

Bls

test systems containing viable microorganisms providing a defined resistance to a specified sterilization process

Note 1 to entry: According to the FDA, "a biological sterilization process indicator is a device intended for use by a health care provider to accompany products being sterilized through a sterilization procedure and to monitor adequacy of sterilization. The device consists of a known number of microorganisms, of known resistance to the mode of sterilization, in or on a carrier and enclosed in a protective package. Subsequent growth or failure of the microorganisms to grow under suitable conditions indicates the adequacy of sterilization." [21 CFR 880.2800(a)(1)] [329]

Note 2 to entry: Biological indicators are intended to demonstrate whether or not the conditions were adequate to achieve sterilization. A negative Biological Indicator (BI) does not prove that all items in the load are sterile or that they were all exposed to adequate sterilization conditions.

Note 3 to entry: See ISO 11138-7 for information on the selection, use, and interpretation of biological indicators.

3.5

borescope

device used for visual inspection of areas that are inaccessible by other means

Note to entry: Some borescopes are equipped with cameras that provide still images or video of inaccessible areas within endoscope lumens.

3.6

case/cassette

sterilization containment device that consists of a lid and base tray that has perforations to allow the sterilant to penetrate and that is enclosed in a sterile barrier system suitable for specified sterilization method(s) to maintain sterility

3.7

certification

process by which a non-governmental agency or association certifies that an individual has met certain predetermined standards specified by that profession for specialty practice

3.8

challenge test pack

pack used in qualification, installation, and routine quality assurance testing of health care sterilizers

Note to entry: See also process challenge device.

3.9

chemical indicators

Cls

devices used to monitor the presence or attainment of one or more of the parameters required for a satisfactory sterilization process, or used in specific tests of sterilization equipment

Note 1 to entry: ANSI/AAMI/ISO 11140-1:2014, *Sterilization of health care products—Chemical indicators—Part 1: General requirements* [2], defines six types of CIs and specifies performance requirements for them:

Type 1 (process indicators): chemical indicators intended for use with individual units (e.g., packs, containers) to indicate that the unit has been exposed to the sterilization process and to distinguish between processed and unprocessed units.

Type 2 (Bowie-Dick test indicators): chemical indicators intended for use in a specific test procedure (e.g., the Bowie-Dick test used to determine if air removal has been adequate in a steam sterilization process).

Type 3 (single critical process variable indicators): chemical indicators designed to react to one of the critical variables and intended to indicate exposure to a sterilization process at a stated value of the chosen variable.

Type 4 (multicritical process variable indicators): chemical indicators designed to react to two or more of the critical variables and intended to indicate exposure to a sterilization process at stated values of the chosen variables.

Type 5 (integrating indicators): chemical indicators designed to react to all critical variables, with the stated values having been generated to be equivalent to, or exceed, the performance requirements given in the ANSI/AAMI/ISO 11138 series for BIs.

Type 6 (emulating indicators): chemical indicators designed to react to all critical variables of specified sterilization cycles, with the stated values having been generated from the critical variables of the specified sterilization process. ANSI/AAMI/ISO 11140-1 refers to these indicators as cycle verification indicators. [2]

Note 2 to entry: FDA recognition of chemical indicators is limited to Type 1 process indicators; Type 2 indicators for use with special tests; and Type 6 emulating indicators (ANSI/ AAMI/ISO 11140-1:2014) [2].

Note 3 to entry: The International Standards Organization published a revised version of ISO 11140-1, *Sterilization of health care products—Chemical indicators—Part 1: General requirements*, in 2014 [2]. The ISO document was adopted by the Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation (AAMI) and subsequently approved as an American National Standard, ANSI/AAMI/ISO 11140-1:2014. A key change in the 2014 version of the standard is the use of the term "type" rather than the term "class" of chemical indicator. As chemical indicator manufacturers update their device labeling to reflect the new standard, there will be a transition period during which end-users will observe some chemical indicators labeled as "Class X" and others labeled with the new term "Type X" in the marketplace.

3.10 chemical monitoring device

non-traditional indicator or LCS/HLD concentration measurement method

3.11

cleaning

removal of contamination from an item to the extent necessary for further processing or for the intended use

Note to entry: In health care facilities, cleaning consists of the removal, usually with detergent and water, of adherent clinical soil (e.g., blood, protein substances, and other debris) from the surfaces, crevices, serrations, joints, and lumens of instruments, devices, and equipment by a manual or mechanical process that prepares the items for safe handling and/or further decontamination.

3.12

clinical soil

residues on medical instruments after patient use

3.13

competency

an expected level of performance that integrates knowledge, skills, abilities, and judgment.

Note to entry: Certification in reprocessing of endoscopes does not mitigate the need for orientation, ongoing education training/education and competency assessments (CDC, 2017 [108]).

3.14

competency verification

activity designed to substantiate or confirm the ability of an individual to successfully complete a particular skill, task, complex series of tasks, or behavior necessary to perform effectively

3.15

CQI

continuous quality improvement

3.16

critical device

device that is introduced directly into the bloodstream or which contacts a normally sterile tissue or body space during use

3.17

critical water

water that is extensively treated (usually by a multistep treatment process that could include a carbon bed, softening, deionization [DI], and reverse osmosis [RO] or distillation) to ensure that the microorganisms and the inorganic and organic material are removed from the water; a final submicron filtration could also be part of the treatment process

Note 1 to entry: This water is mainly used for the final rinse or for steam generation.

Note 2 to entry: See AAMI TIR34 [23] for specifications.

3.18

decontamination

process of removing pathogenic microorganisms from objects so they are safe to handle, use, or discard (CDC, 2008 [107])

3.19

decontamination area

area of a health care facility designated for collection, retention, and cleaning of soiled and/or contaminated items

4

education

knowledge, comprehension, and insight acquired by an individual after studying a specific subject

3.21

endoscope sheath

sterile, single-use protective barrier for various types of endoscopes, intended to cover the entire insertion tube of the endoscope and which might contain air, water, or suction channels but most often is single channel (FDA, 2000b) [340]

3.22

engineering controls

concept that, to the extent feasible, the work environment and the job itself are designed to eliminate or reduce exposure to hazards

3.23

ethylene oxide (EO) sterilization

validated process used to render a device free of viable microorganisms that utilizes ethylene oxide gas as the active sterilant

3.24

expiration date

date that is calculated by adding a specific period of time to the date of manufacture or sterilization of a medical device or component and that defines its estimated useful life

3.25

expiration statement

statement, also known as a day-to-day expiration date, indicating that the contents of a package are sterile indefinitely unless the integrity of the package is compromised

3.26

exposure control plan

according to OSHA, "a written [plan] designed to eliminate employee exposure to bloodborne pathogens" (29 CFR 1910.1030(C)(1)) [231]

3.27

exposure time

period for which sterilization or high-level disinfection process parameters maintain their specific tolerances

Note to entry: In a steam sterilization process, exposure time is the period during which items are exposed to saturated steam at the specified temperature and pressure.

3.28

gaseous and vapor chemical sterilization

validated process employing gaseous and/or vapor chemical sterilants (e.g., ethylene oxide [EO], hydrogen peroxide, ozone)

3.29

high-level disinfectant

HLD

germicide that inactivates all microbial pathogens except for bacterial endospores when they are present in large numbers, when used according to labeling (Rutala, 1990 [280])

Note to entry: According to the FDA, an HLD is a liquid chemical sterilant (LCS) used for a shorter exposure time than that required to pass the AOAC International sporicidal activity test as a sterilant.

high-level disinfection

process that kills all microbial pathogens but not necessarily high numbers of bacterial spores

Note to entry: For a process that can be used for both liquid chemical sterilization and high-level disinfection, the contact time for high-level disinfection is shorter than that necessary for sterilization, under otherwise identical conditions.

3.31

high-risk endoscopes

endoscopes that have been associated with infectious outbreaks including those that are difficult to process and increase the risk of incomplete clearance of contaminating infectious organisms, including bronchoscopes, cystoscopes, duodenoscopes, endobronchial ultrasound endoscopes, linear ultrasound endoscopes, ureteroscopes, and others as determined by the facility

3.32

hydrogen peroxide sterilization

validated process used to render a device free of viable microorganisms that utilizes a formulation of vaporized hydrogen peroxide as the active sterilant and might or might not include a plasma phase to help break down hydrogen peroxide

3.33

hydrogen peroxide-ozone sterilization

validated process used to render a device free of viable microorganisms that utilizes a formulation of vaporized hydrogen peroxide-ozone as the active sterilant

3.34

iatrogenic

relating to illness caused by medical examination or treatment

3.35

inspect

to assess a medical device carefully and visually, typically to evaluate the condition or to discover any residual debris or damage, using the unaided eye, lighted magnification and/or a borescope

3.36

installation qualification

IQ

process of obtaining and documenting evidence that equipment has been provided and installed in accordance with its specification

3.37

instrument air

medical gas that falls under the general requirements for medical gases as defined by NFPA 99, *Health care facilities code*) [216], is not respired, is compliant with ANSI/ISA S-7.0.01 (*Quality standard for instrument air*), and is filtered to 0.01 microns, free of liquids and hydrocarbon vapors, and dry to a dew point of -40 °F (-40 °C)

{SOURCE: ANSI/AAMI ST79:2017, 2.56} [17]

3.38

labeling

any literature, including instructions for use, provided with a device as well as all advertising claims published by the manufacturer (21 CFR 801) [328]

3.39

liquid chemical sterilant

LCS

solution of a chemical that passes the AOAC Sporicidal Activity Test as a sterilant

liquid chemical sterilant processing system

LCSPS

specific category of AER that uses a liquid chemical sterilant to achieve liquid chemical sterilization of the medical device load, which is frequently an endoscope and its accessories

3.41

liquid-resistant material

material that inhibits the penetration of liquids

Note to entry: According to ANSI/AAMI PB70 [9], a liquid-resistant material would be defined as a Level 1, 2, or 3 barrier material.

3.42

lot control number

<load control number>

numbers, letters, or a combination of both, by which a particular group of products can be traced to a particular manufacturing or sterilization operation

3.43

magnification

use of a tool to enhance the visual inspection of a device by enlarging the image

3.44

manufacturer's written instructions for use

IFU

written directions developed, validated, and provided by the manufacturer of a device that provide instructions for operation, safe and effective processing

3.45

medical device

instrument, apparatus, material, or other article, whether used alone or in combination, including the software necessary for its application, intended by the manufacturer to be used for human beings for the purpose of:

- diagnosis, prevention, monitoring, treatment, or alleviation of disease;
- diagnosis, monitoring, treatment, alleviation of, or compensation for an injury or handicap;
- investigation, replacement, or modification of the anatomy or of a physiological process; or
- control of conception; and

does not achieve its primary intended action in or on the human body by pharmacological, immunological, or metabolic means, but which may be assisted in its function by such means.

3.46

minimum effective concentration

MEC

"Minimum concentration of a liquid chemical sterilant/high-level disinfectant that achieves the claimed microbicidal activity; the MEC is determined by dose response testing." (FDA, 2000a) [339]

3.47

minimum recommended concentration

MRC

minimum concentration at which the manufacturer of a liquid chemical sterilant or high-level disinfectant tested the product and validated its performance



Note to entry: The term "minimum effective concentration" (MEC) is sometimes used interchangeably with "minimum recommended concentration." The MRC is not necessarily an MEC as determined by dose response testing. Some older IFU may state MEC, not MRC.

3.48

occupational exposure

contact, through inhalation, ingestion, skin contact, or absorption, with a potentially hazardous material during the course of employment

Note 1 to entry: Occupational exposure to hazardous materials, including chemical and biological agents and potentially infectious materials, is regulated by OSHA (29 CFR Part 1910).

Note 2 to entry: The OSHA bloodborne pathogens regulation (29 CFR 1910.1030 [231]) specifically defines occupational exposure as "reasonably anticipated skin, eye, mucous membrane, or parenteral contact with blood or other potentially infectious materials that may result from the performance of an employee's duties."

3.49

operational qualification

OQ

process of obtaining and documenting evidence that installed equipment operates within predetermined limits when used in accordance with its operational procedures

3.50

OSHA

United States Department of Labor Occupational Safety and Health Administration

3.51

performance qualification

PQ

process of obtaining and documenting evidence that the equipment, as installed and operated in accordance with operational procedures, consistently performs in accordance with predetermined criteria and thereby yields product meeting its specification

3.52

personal protective equipment

PPE

according to OSHA, "specialized clothing or equipment worn by an employee for protection against a hazard. General work clothes (e.g., uniforms, pants, shirts, or blouses) not intended to function as protection against a hazard are not considered to be personal protective equipment" (29 CFR 1910.1030) [231]

3.53

point of use treatment

the collective activities that the user of a medical device performs at the point of use (where the procedure using the endoscope was performed) to prepare it for processing, occurring immediately after patient use and including precleaning (to prevent biofilm formation and drying of soil), disconnecting accessories, preparing handoff communication, and preparing the endoscope for transport to the decontamination by attaching required caps and placing in an appropriately-labeled container

Note to entry: For purposes of this standard, precleaning and point of use care have the same meaning as point of use treatment.

3.54

preventive maintenance

routine servicing of equipment for the purpose of maintaining it in good working condition

8

process challenge device

PCD

item designed to constitute a defined resistance to a sterilization process and used to assess performance of the process

Note to entry: For purposes of this standard, a PCD is a challenge test pack containing a BI or a BI and a CI. See AAMI TIR31 [22].

3.56

processing

process carried out on a device to allow its subsequent safe use, which can include cleaning, disinfection, sterilization, and related procedures

3.57

processing area

area of a health care facility where devices are decontaminated, cleaned, inspected, assembled into trays, and prepared for high-level disinfection and/or sterilization

3.58

pseudoinfection

laboratory evidence of the presence or activity of pathogenic microorganisms in the absence of infection, which can result from colonization of the site without infection, contamination of the specimen, or laboratory error or misinterpretation yielding a false-positive test result for an infectious disease

3.59

reprocessing

see processing (3.56)

3.60

reusable containment device

reusable rigid sterilization container, instrument case, cassette, or organizing tray intended for use in health care facilities for the purpose of containing reusable medical devices for sterilization

3.61

reusable medical device

device intended for repeated use on different patients, with decontamination and other processing between uses

Note to entry: Examples include surgical instruments, endoscopes, basins, and electromedical equipment.

3.62

rigid sterilization container system

sterilization containment device designed to hold medical devices for sterilization, storage, transportation, and aseptic presentation of contents

Note to entry: The system generally consists of a bottom or base with carrying handles and a lid that is secured to the base by means of a latching mechanism. A basket or tray to hold instruments or other items to be sterilized is placed inside. A filter or valve system is incorporated into the lid and/or base to provide for air evacuation and sterilant penetration during the sterilization cycle and to act as a barrier to microorganisms during storage, handling, and transport.

3.63 safety data sheet SDS

previously referred to as MSDS (material safety data sheet), this document is required to be provided by the manufacturer of chemicals used in the workplace, such as disinfectants

semi-critical device

device that contacts intact mucous membranes or non-intact skin but does not ordinarily penetrate tissues or otherwise enter normally sterile areas of the body

3.65

shelf life

when the term is used with respect to a processed or sterilized medical device, the period of time during which the item is considered safe to use

3.66

solid container

container that maintains its shape is puncture resistant and is intended to protect its contents

3.67

solution test strip

device used to monitor the concentration of the active ingredient(s) in a liquid chemical sterilant/high-level disinfectant solution and determine if the MRC or MEC is acceptable for effective use

3.68

Spaulding classification

strategy for determining the level of processing needed for contaminated medical devices, which is comprised of a system that classifies a medical device as critical, semi-critical, or noncritical based on risk to patient safety from contamination on a device and establishes three levels of germicidal activity (sterilization, high-level disinfection, and low-level disinfection) for strategies with the three classes of medical devices (critical, semi-critical, and noncritical)

3.69

spore test strip

test system containing a known number of bacterial spores (at least 10⁵ per strip) of known resistance to a liquid chemical sterilant and used in a defined liquid chemical sterilant processing system

3.70

standard precautions

"The minimum infection prevention measures that apply to all patient care, regardless of suspected or confirmed infection status of the patient, in any setting where healthcare is delivered. These evidence-based practices are designed to both protect healthcare personnel and prevent the spread of infections among patients. Standard Precautions replaces earlier CDC guidance relating to Universal Precautions and Body Substance Isolation. Standard Precautions include: 1) hand hygiene, 2) use of personal protective equipment (e.g., gloves, gowns, facemasks), depending on the anticipated exposure, 3) respiratory hygiene and cough etiquette, 4) safe injection practices, and 5) safe handling of potentially contaminated equipment or surfaces in the patient environment." (CDC, 2011) [104]

3.71

steam sterilization

sterilization process that uses saturated steam under pressure, for a specified exposure time and at a specified temperature, as the sterilizing agent

3.72

sterile

free from viable microorganisms

3.73

sterile processing area

area within a health care facility that processes and controls medical supplies, devices, and equipment, sterile and not sterile, for some or all patient care areas of the facility

IGHTSLINK4)

sterilization

validated process used to render a product free from viable microorganisms

3.75

sterilization cycle

defined sequence of operational steps designed to achieve sterilization and carried out in a sealed chamber

3.76

sterilizer

apparatus used to sterilize medical devices, equipment, and supplies by direct exposure to the sterilizing agent

3.77

terminal cleaning

thorough environmental cleaning that includes, but is not limited to walls, floors, horizontal surfaces, movable equipment, non-movable equipment, utility sinks, hand hygiene sinks, air vents, storage cabinets and racks

3.78

terminal sterilization

process whereby product is sterilized within its sterile barrier system that permits storage for use at a later time

3.79

training

process or organized activity designed to help an individual attain the necessary skill or behavior required to perform, or improve an individual's performance of, a particular task

Note to entry: The specific goals of training are to improve capability, capacity, productivity, and performance.

3.80

Downloaded by on January 20, 2023 Single-user license only. Copyring, networking and distribution prohibited. Copyright AAMI

user verification

documented procedures, performed in the user environment, for obtaining, recording, and interpreting the results required to establish that predetermined specifications have been met

3.81

utility water

water that comes from the tap for flushing, washing, or rinsing

Note to entry: See AAMI TIR34 [23] for specifications.

3.82

validation

documented procedure for obtaining, recording, and interpreting the results required to establish that a process will consistently yield product complying with predetermined specifications

Note to entry: Validation is performed by the manufacturer.

4 Design of endoscope processing area

4.1 General considerations

The processing area should be physically separated from the patient care areas and procedure rooms. The processing area should be designated for processing only and designed to allow for the unidirectional flow of devices from the receipt of new and/or used endoscopes to storage prior to next patient use, including:

- a) receipt of devices, leak testing;
- b) cleaning (decontamination);

11

- c) inspection;
- d) storage; and
- e) disinfection and drying or packaging and sterilization.

In all cases, facilities should ensure a unidirectional flow from dirty to clean; conduct an analysis to identify risks; and minimize these risks by policies, procedures, education, and training of processing personnel.

An area should be defined at the incoming end of the unidirectional flow process for the receipt and temporary holding of devices before cleaning. If a lift is used for transport, it should be dedicated to the transport of either clean or contaminated items only (see 6.3.2).

The design of the endoscope processing area should facilitate the highest level of infection prevention and patient and employee safety. An area designed with environmental needs such as solid, nonporous horizontal surfaces, lighting, and utility support of electricity should be provided in areas used for endoscope processing. When designing an endoscope processing area based on applicable regulations, considerations include, but are not limited to:

- a) ability of work surfaces to withstand frequent cleaning and disinfection;
- b) workflow;
- c) patient volume (current and anticipated);
- d) number and types of endoscopes and equipment;
- e) quantity and types of processing equipment (e.g., sterilizers, AERs, washer-disinfectors);
- f) scope and equipment storage requirements;
- g) supply and chemical storage requirements;
- h) number of people anticipated to be working in the area;
- i) traffic flow;
- j) required utilities (e.g., instrument air with a regulator, if necessary, source of water of appropriate quality, lighting, electricity, data drops, heating, ventilation, air conditioning (HVAC), negative air flow and adequate air exchange rates, suction capabilities);
- k) ergonomics and human factors;
- I) clean space required for visual inspection and cleaning verification tests; and
- m) area for employees to take breaks as food and drink are not permitted in the endoscope processing area.

4.2 Workflow

4.2.1 General considerations

Workflow should be unidirectional from the decontamination area to the clean area and then to the storage area. Workflow patterns should be designed to contain contaminants, prevent damage to endoscopes, and minimize employee exposure to pathogens and toxic chemicals.

Ergonomic factors affecting worker safety and comfort should be considered when designing work areas. For example:

— Counters, sinks and work surfaces should be:

- height-adjustable or positioned at heights that accommodate the average height of employees and the tasks to be performed at each location; and
- o sufficient to accommodate the endoscope length.
- Anti-fatigue mats should be:
 - o used in areas where prolonged standing is required; and
 - o constructed of materials capable of withstanding frequent cleaning.

Work area design also should allow adequate space for all functions and should promote efficiency by minimizing distances between related areas. A pass-through window at counter height between the decontamination area and clean processing area is recommended.

Rationale: Adherence to these functional design recommendations can help contain potential contaminants within the processing area and prevent cross-contamination or recontamination. Designing the area to facilitate efficient workflow and to provide adequate space for necessary equipment can enhance efficiency and reduce the potential for cross-contamination. Considering ergonomic factors during the design phase can help prevent worker injury. A pass-through window that can be closed is convenient for devices that have been manually decontaminated to be passed over to the clean side for processing. Having a window that can be closed maintains the air pressure requirements as well as maintaining the integrity of the clean side.

4.2.2 Physical separation

Facilities should have two separate rooms for processing endoscopes. Until such time (major renovations or new construction) that two separate processing rooms can be provided, strict unidirectional processing procedures should be in place to reduce risks of cross-contamination. After cleaning, PPE should be changed, and hand hygiene performed before any disinfection or sterilization activities. The endoscope processing area should also include a designated drying area, when applicable, to dry the device with forced instrument air prior to patient use, storage, or in preparation for packaging and terminal sterilization.

Adequate space shall be provided to allow for the manual cleaning and rinsing of devices during decontamination. It is optimal that the manual cleaning area is physically separated by walls or partitions in a two-room configuration to control contaminants generated during manual cleaning. Doors that open in the direction of the one-way workflow and closeable pass-through windows separating the decontamination area from the adjoining disinfection/sterilization area should remain closed when not in active use. An endoscopy processing room with a one-room design should provide a minimum of 4 feet between the decontamination area and the clean work area and either a separating wall or a barrier that extends a minimum of 4 feet above the sink rim to separate soiled work areas from clean work areas (FGI, 2018 [146]; AORN, 2018e [39]).

An area should be defined for disinfection/sterilization that is separate from the manual cleaning/processing area. For manual processing, this area should include a designated area for the immersion of the device for disinfection followed by rinsing in accordance with the disinfectant manufacturer's written IFU. For automated processing, the AER, washer-disinfector, or sterilizer forms an essential barrier between the dirty and clean areas of the processing area. Sufficient space and utilities for the units should be provided along with adequate space for storage of chemicals near the AER. Strict unidirectional processing procedures should be in place to reduce risks of cross-contamination following an antimicrobial process. A pass-through AER is another option to fulfill these requirements. This should include a designated drying area to dry the device prior to patient use, storage, or in preparation for packaging and gaseous sterilization.

Flexible endoscopes should be stored in a clean, secure location but not within the endoscopy procedure room (AORN, 2018e [39]. Physical separation of this area from the main processing area is preferred to minimize risk of cross-contamination during storage.

Rationale: Physical enclosure of the decontamination area is necessary because contaminated aerosols, droplets, and dust particles can be carried from "dirty" to "clean" areas by air currents. Separating "clean" and "dirty" areas helps

GHTSLINK()

prevent environmental contamination. Segregation of contaminated items from items being removed from mechanical processing equipment (e.g., AERs, storage equipment) can help protect processed flexible and semi-rigid endoscopes from recontamination. A study (Johnston et al., 2019 [185]) determined that contaminants during a gastroenterology procedure could travel significant distances in the procedure room, contaminating items hanging on the wall, not used during the procedure.

4.2.3 Traffic control

Traffic in the processing area should be restricted to authorized personnel wearing appropriate attire. Criteria for authorized entry, movement, and attire within the decontamination and clean areas should be specified in the policies and procedures of the facility.

It might be necessary for visitors to enter restricted areas. Visitors should comply with facility policies and procedures. The responsibility and authority for enforcing traffic control policies and procedures should be specified in the facility policies and procedures, as should methods of compliance.

Rationale: Personnel and visitors can carry microorganisms into the processing areas, thus increasing the potential for environmental contamination in these areas. It is also important to protect personnel and visitors from the microorganisms present on contaminated items being processed and potentially hazardous chemicals used in the decontamination area.

4.3 **Physical facilities**

4.3.1 **General space requirements**

The needs of the facility should determine the size of the processing areas. Sufficient space should be provided for each function and include dedicated storage space.

Considerations for space requirements include:

- a) operational systems;
- b) equipment; and
- the anticipated workload in each functional work area. c)

Space requirements should be based on:

- a) the volume of work anticipated:
- b) the amount of product that will be routinely stored;
- c) disposal needs; and
- d) the degree of mechanization, the product mix (e.g., reusables vs. disposables), and the storage methods used, which might change over time.

There should be adequate space for:

- a) maneuvering, queueing, and unloading carts or other transportation systems at times of average daily peak workload; and
- b) record-keeping, either manual or computerized.

4.3.1.1 Space requirements in the decontamination area

In the decontamination area, sufficient space should be allocated for:

a) decontamination sink for manual cleaning;

GHTSLINKA)

- b) workspace to perform inspection by unaided eye and/or use of tools such as lighted magnification and/or a borescope;
- c) cleaning verification/equipment counterspace;
- d) trash bins;
- e) laundry bins;
- f) separate sink designated for hand hygiene;
- g) an emergency eyewash station that is separate from the decontamination sink;
- h) storage of cleaning chemicals;
- i) storage of cleaning implements;
- j) storage of PPE;
- k) sink and/or counterspace for leak testing;
- I) leak testing equipment;
- m) automated flushing systems;
- n) suction machines;
- o) drying (instrument air, adapters, connectors);
- p) servicing of the equipment;
- q) water treatment for critical water; and
- r) documentation manual or electronic and method to dispose of patient labels.
- NOTE It is permissible to combine handwashing sink and emergency eyewash station.

According to NFPA 99, *Health care facility code* [216], a separate vacuum system for performing suction in processing is needed.

Allocate sufficient space for filtration system and utilities for the AER. Adequate space for storage of detergents and disinfectants near the AER should also be considered.

4.3.1.2 Space requirements in the preparation area

The preparation area should be adjacent to the area used for sterilization or disinfection. Sufficient space should be allocated for:

- a) inspection and inspection equipment such as lighted magnification and/or a borescope;
- b) workspace to fully lay out an endoscope for inspection;
- c) instrument air, adaptors, and connectors;
- d) documentation manual or electronic which may include computer, printer, and label maker;
- e) storage for all packaging supplies (i.e., quality monitors, tape wrappers); and
- f) separate sink designated for hand hygiene (i.e., sink with soap and paper towels).

4.3.1.3 Space requirements for terminal sterilization

Sufficient space should be designed for:

- a) the appropriate sterilization equipment;
- b) the capacity of the sterilizer (i.e., number of endoscopes per sterilization cycle) combined with the cycle time of the sterilization process to accurately determine the number of sterilizers required in the space to meet turnaround expectations;
- c) space for sterilization supplies (e.g., BIs, CIs, test packs, pouches, wraps, rigid containment system, etc.); and
- d) servicing area for sterilizer.

4.3.1.4 Space requirements for manual high-level disinfection or manual liquid chemical sterilization

If a facility anticipates using manual high-level disinfection or manual liquid chemical sterilization, sufficient space should be allocated in the clean area for:

- a) manual containers placed close to a sink (AORN, 2019a [35]);
- b) separate sinks for rinsing;
- c) ventilation hoods, if needed;
- d) storage of HLD chemicals, sterilant chemicals, spill kits, PPE, instrument air, alcohol, adapters, connectors, and filters;
- e) water treatment for critical water;
- f) drying;
- g) documentation;
- h) sink designated for hand hygiene; and
- i) emergency eye wash station.
- NOTE It is permissible to combine handwashing sink and emergency eyewash station.

Rationale: Space requirements can vary significantly depending upon the specific processing needs of the facility and are often underestimated during the planning process. Adequate space is needed for effective and safe endoscope processing. Mechanical processing improves effectiveness, increases efficiency, minimizes personnel exposure to biohazardous materials and chemicals, and can be more successfully monitored for quality and consistency.

4.3.1.5 Space requirements for automated high-level disinfection or liquid chemical sterilization

If automated high-level disinfection is anticipated, sufficient space should be designed for:

- a) the appropriate high-level disinfection or liquid chemical sterilization equipment;
- b) the capacity requirements;
- c) filtration system and utilities for the AER;
- d) servicing area for automated equipment;
- e) storage of LCS/HLD chemicals, spill kits, PPE instrument air, alcohol, connectors, or filters;

GHTSLINKA)

- f) drying; and
- g) documentation.

4.3.2 Sinks and accessories

Processing areas should have dedicated plumbing and drains that meet the needs of the facility for volume and capacity.

NOTE Some jurisdictions have regulations that apply to plumbing. Uniform Plumbing Code (UPC) can be useful to reference.

Provisions for chemical disposal should be integrated into the design of the decontamination space as described in the manufacturer's written IFU and in accordance with local, state, and federal regulations.

Sinks should be deep enough to allow complete immersion of the endoscope to minimize aerosolization. The size of the sink should be adequate (i.e., a minimum of 16 inches x 30 inches) to ensure that the endoscope can be positioned without tight coiling. Sinks should be height-adjustable so that personnel do not have to bend over to clean endoscopes. An ideal decontamination sink is height-adjustable, approximately 36 inches (91 centimeters [cm]) from the floor and 8 to 10 inches (20 to 25 cm) deep, enabling a person of average size to work comfortably without undue strain on the back; foot stools should be readily available to accommodate shorter personnel.

At a minimum, two sinks or one sink with two separate basins should be used. Consideration should be given for additional space for delayed processing protocol. One sink or sink basin should be designated for leak testing and manual cleaning and the other only for rinsing. Optimally, three sinks or one sink with three separate basins should be used, with each function in a separate sink or basin.

The sink or sinks should have faucets or manifold systems, adapters that attach to the faucet, or other accessories that facilitate the flushing of instruments with lumens. Sinks should have attached solid counters or adjacent work surfaces on which to place the endoscope while attaching it to the leak tester, detach and separate removable components, and to inspect the endoscope for physical damage and cleaning effectiveness.

Lighting of the recommended illuminance should be placed above the sink and counter area so that personnel can adequately perform inspection activities as the endoscope is processed (see 4.3.8 and Table 1). A lighted magnifier should be available for inspection.

Instrument air along with a pressure regulator should be provided in the processing area. Instrument air with an upper limit of pressure as described in the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU should be provided at the sink for flushing lumened devices.

Critical water for final rinsing should be provided in necessary locations (see 4.3.11 and AAMI TIR34 [23]).

A hand hygiene sink, which is separate from utility sinks, should be located in the decontamination area (see also 4.3.9).

Rationale: The design and location of sinks can facilitate cleaning as well as employee safety. Tight coiling of the endoscope could damage components, including image or light bundles, internal channels, tubes, and/or angulation wires. Height-adjustable sinks enable personnel to avoid bending over to perform cleaning. Sinks located too high or too low increase the risk of back injury or strain. Current medical technology could require complex equipment and systems to inspect, maintain, or verify device performance.

4.3.3 Electrical systems

Electrical systems should be designed to allow for the safe and effective operation of the equipment (e.g., cleaning equipment, sterilization equipment, computers, telephones, lighting) used in the processing area. The emergency power service of the facility should be extended to include sterilization and processing equipment. The electrical engineers involved in the design processes should be informed of the work performed in the processing area and should be provided a detailed list of specific equipment used and installation specification specific to this equipment. Electric engineers should collaborate with managerial or other designated personnel when determining electrical system requirements. For some equipment, uninterruptible power sources are recommended. The equipment manufacturer's

installation and site-planning requirements should be reviewed and met. The need for data drops/lines should be reviewed.

Rationale: The complexity of processing and sterilization technologies, as well as patient and personnel safety, requires adequate, safe, and reliable electrical and data service.

4.3.4 Floors and walls

Floors in the processing areas should be level (i.e., should have no ridges or bumps), non-slip, monolithic or joint-free, and constructed of materials that will withstand daily or more frequent wet cleaning and the application of cleaning and disinfecting agents. Carpet should not be used in the processing areas.

Walls should be constructed of materials capable of withstanding frequent cleaning. Wall protectors should be installed at the level of possible cart impacts.

Materials used in floors and walls should be of a non-particulate or non-fiber-shedding composition.

Rationale: Uneven floors could make it difficult for personnel to push carts; also, uneven floors can cause items on carts to shake and even fall off the cart. Joints and crevices in floors could harbor microorganisms. Some sterilizer carts have blunt ends that can nick walls, eventually removing the cover material and exposing porous fibers that can shed into the environment and prevent effective cleaning.

4.3.5 Ceilings

Processing area ceilings should:

- a) be constructed to create a flush surface with recessed, enclosed fixtures;
- b) enclose pipes and duct work above work areas;
- c) be constructed of materials that are not of a particulate- or fiber-shedding composition; and
- d) be durable, smooth, and cleanable.

Rationale: A finished ceiling with enclosed fixtures limits condensation, dust accumulation, and other possible sources of contamination.

4.3.6 Doors

A door should provide access to the decontamination area from the corridor, and any door that provides access to the decontamination area must have a hazard warning sign (29 CFR 1910.1030) [231].

Doors in the processing area should be made of a durable, nonporous material that can withstand frequent bumping from back tables and carts and that can be cleaned and disinfected frequently. Doors should not have thresholds and should open easily following the one-way directional workflow. Doors should be hands-free, as personnel might be holding endoscopes with both hands.

Rationale: Carts are frequently pushed from one area to the next. Doors require frequent cleaning. It can be difficult for personnel to pull open a door and push a cart through it. The frequent bumping of doors by carts might damage the door surface and expose porous materials that could harbor bacteria and other contaminants and are difficult to clean. Bumping against a threshold can cause carts to spill and might necessitate picking up the cart to traverse the threshold.

4.3.7 Heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) operating parameters

Requirements for HVAC in the endoscope processing area should conform with the specifications of ANSI/ASHRAE/ASHE 170 [34] that were in effect when the HVAC system was initially installed or last upgraded. The health care facility should establish and implement systematic processes for monitoring HVAC performance parameters

and a mechanism for identifying and resolving variances within the rooms throughout the facility where processing occurs.

Facility engineering personnel or designated responsible personnel should establish policies and procedures for monitoring and maintaining HVAC parameters within the processing areas. Procedures should include maintaining records of monitoring results that are retrievable either from a central system or a local log.

If a variance in the HVAC parameters occurs, processing personnel in combination with a multidisciplinary team (e.g., facility engineer, infection preventionist, risk manager, endoscopy personnel, perioperative personnel, sterile processing manager or other designated personnel) should conduct a risk assessment. The processing department is defined by ANSI/ASHRAE/ASHE 170 [34] as a critical area.

Neither fixed nor portable fans should be permitted in the processing area, with the exceptions of exhaust fans on ventilation systems and installed and operated fume control hoods.

See also Annex A.

Rationale: The effect of the HVAC system parameters falling out of range is variable. A risk assessment provides necessary information to guide appropriate response measures. A small variance for a short period of time as defined in the risk assessment might not be of clinical concern, whereas a large variance for a longer period could have clinical significance. A risk assessment provides necessary information to guide appropriate response measures.

4.3.8 Lighting

Adequate lighting of work surfaces should be provided in accordance with the engineering practices and recommendations of the Illuminating Engineering Society of North America (IES) for minimum levels of illuminance for various categories of work environments.

The three levels of lighting for each category were calculated on the basis of the following factors:

- 1) the illumination needed varies from person to person, and with age, and so adequate illumination should be provided for all employees;
- the importance of speed or accuracy of the work done in the area (the greater the importance of speed or accuracy, the more illuminance needed); and
- 3) the amount of light reflection in the work area (lighter colors reflect light; darker colors absorb light; the greater the reflectance, the less illuminance required).

The correct illuminance for each workspace within the processing area should be determined (see 4.3.2 and Table 1). Generally, all functions performed within a processing area require detailed and accurate inspection. Ancillary lighting should be considered for areas where instruments are manually cleaned and inspected. Lighting fixtures should be selected and mounted in positions that focus the light in front of the employee so that they are not working in their own shadows.

Work area/function	Least illuminance	Average illuminance	Highest illuminance
General inspection	500 lux	750 lux	1,000 lux
	(50 foot-candles)	(75 foot-candles)	(100 foot-candles)
Detailed inspection	1,000 lux	1,500 lux	2,000 lux
	(100 foot-candles)	(150 foot-candles)	(200 foot-candles)
Sink areas	500 lux	750 lux	1,000 lux
	(50 foot-candles)	(75 foot-candles)	(100 foot-candles)
General work areas	200 lux	300 lux	500 lux
	(20 foot-candles)	(30 foot-candles)	(50 foot-candles)
Processed storage	200 lux	300 lux	500 lux
	(20 foot-candles)	(30 foot-candles)	(50 foot-candles)

Table 1—IES-recommended illuminance levels for work environments*

GHTSLINKA)

*Source: Illuminating Engineering Society of North America (IES), Rea, 1993 [263]

Lights and other fixtures should be recessed and sealed to prevent the accumulation of dust or soil and to facilitate cleaning.

Rationale: Adequate lighting is essential to the performance of decontamination, preparation, inspection, and other processing tasks. Dust on lighting fixtures can act as a carrier of microorganisms.

4.3.9 Hand hygiene facilities

Hand hygiene facilities (i.e., sink, soap dispenser, towel dispenser, or alcohol-based hand rub dispensers) should be conveniently located and designed to allow good hand hygiene practices. The hand hygiene sink should be separate from the sink used to process endoscopes (AORN, 2018e [39]). Hand hygiene facilities should be located in or near all areas where endoscopes and other devices are decontaminated and in the clean area where endoscopes are high-level disinfected or sterilized. The installation of hands-free equipment (e.g., foot controls, electronic sensors) for use with sinks, towel dispensers, and soap dispensers should be considered during the design of new facilities or existing facilities under renovation. If electronic sensors are used, there should be a backup system for operation during power outages.

State regulations might dictate when and where alcohol-based hand rubs may be used and placed within the facility. The health department of the particular state should be consulted for specific regulations.

Rationale: Conveniently located hand hygiene facilities and alcohol-based hand rub dispensers help to promote hand hygiene and increase compliance with hand hygiene policies and procedures. Handwashing in the sinks used for endoscope cleaning could leave handwashing soap and bacteria on the endoscopes or contaminate personnel's hands (AORN, 2018e [39]). The use of alcohol-based, waterless hand hygiene agents is an effective means of hand decontamination when hands are not visibly soiled. Hands-free equipment helps personnel avoid touching faucet handles, soap dispensers, or towel dispensers, and might help to decrease microorganism transfer between patients, personnel, and inanimate objects. Some electronic sinks and towel dispensers operate only by the use of electricity and cannot function if the electrical power is off; a backup power system for hands-free equipment will ensure its continued operation.

4.3.10 Emergency eyewash/shower equipment

Suitable eyewash units must be available for immediate emergency use in all places where chemicals are used (29 CFR 1910.151) [228]. The American National Standards Institute (ANSI) has established minimum performance criteria for eyewash units (ANSI Z358.1 [32]). ANSI Z358.1 requires that eyewash units provide a minimum of 0.4 gallons per minute continuously for at least 15-minutes, that they be designed to flush both eyes simultaneously, and that they have a "hands-free, stay open" feature once activated. Under the ANSI standard, drench hoses or eyewash bottles are not acceptable emergency eyewash units.

Eyewash stations should be located:

- a) so that travel time is no greater than 10 seconds from the location of chemical use or storage, or immediately next to or adjoining the area of chemical use or storage, if the chemical is caustic or a strong acid;
- b) on the same level as the hazard with the path of travel free of obstructions (e.g., doors) that may inhibit immediate use of the eyewash station (ANSI Z358.1 [32]); and
- c) in an area that does not require flushing of the eyes in the decontamination sink.

It is prudent to consider the stress and potentially compromised vision of the person and the availability of assistive personnel in the immediate area when determining the location of eyewash stations (ANSI Z358.1 [32]). For a strong acid or strong caustic, the eyewash unit should be immediately adjacent to the hazard. The eyewash facilities should be identified with a highly visible sign and should be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's written IFU. Before attempting to implement ANSI Z358.1, health care personnel should consult the standard to familiarize themselves with all its provisions [32].

Plumbed eyewashes/facewashes and showers should be activated weekly for a period long enough to verify operation and ensure that the flushing solution is available. When activating plumbed eyewashes, eye/facewashes, and showers,
personnel should also verify that they are providing lukewarm, tepid water (between 15 °C and 43 °C [60 °F and 110 °F]) (ANSI Z358.1 [32]). Routine testing should be documented.

Rationale: Many chemicals are classified as eye irritants. Eye contact with such chemicals can cause moderate to severe irritation, experienced as discomfort or pain, excessive blinking, and tear production, with marked redness and swelling of the conjunctiva.

The availability of eyewash units for immediate emergency use is required by OSHA. Maintenance of eyewash units is necessary to ensure adequate performance and to prevent contamination.

See Annex H. See also OSHA's Eye and Face Protection Standard (29 CFR 1910.133) [227], OSHA's Medical and First Aid Standard (29 CFR 1910.151) [228], and ANSI Z358.1 [32].

4.3.11 Water quality

Water quality is an important consideration in all stages of endoscope processing. It is important that the water quality that is identified in the manufacturer's written IFU is used during each stage of endoscope processing. To ensure that the correct water quality is used in each stage of processing, the user should review the manufacturers' written IFU for all equipment and supplies used, including:

- a) endoscope and accessories;
- b) AER; and

Downloaded by on January 20, 2023 Single-user license only. Copying, networking and distribution prohibited. Copyright AAMI

c) processing chemicals used.

Using the correct water quality helps to prolong the life of medical devices, facilitates their effective functioning, and, importantly, reduces the risk of medical device contamination.

The health care facility should monitor and control the water supply quality to endoscope processing sinks and equipment.

Major repairs of or changes to the water utility system should be treated as major repairs to the endoscope processing equipment (e.g., AERs), and equipment qualification testing should be performed before use.

Water quality evaluation should be conducted on installation of water-consuming equipment or the water supply, after repairs to water-consuming equipment or the water supply, after modification of water routing infrastructure, and during investigation of endoscope processing cycle failures.

See AAMI TIR34 [23].

5 Environmental cleaning

A multidisciplinary team should:

- a) define roles and responsibilities for environmental cleaning;
- b) select cleaning chemicals, materials, tools, and equipment for use in the endoscope processing setting;
- c) establish cleaning frequencies for high-touch objects and surfaces (e.g., decontamination area work surfaces and sinks);
- d) establish cleaning frequencies for all other surfaces including, but not limited to, storage shelves, endoscope storage cabinets, and similar objects;
- e) establish terminal cleaning frequency for endoscope processing areas, at a minimum daily if the space is used and more often as needed (e.g., large biohazardous spill, known MDRO contamination of the environment); and



f) define an area outside of the processing area where food and beverage are permitted.

Cleaning logs should be maintained for the cleaning of the endoscope storage cabinet.

Environmental cleaning verification tools such as ultraviolet light visible markers, protein tests and ATP bioluminescence tests can be used to measure the adequacy of environmental cleaning. Environmental cleaning and disinfection procedures should be performed routinely or as needed in areas used for any aspect of decontamination, preparation, high-level disinfection, or sterilization. Contaminated work surfaces shall be decontaminated after completion of procedures, immediately or as soon as feasible when surfaces are overtly contaminated, or after any spill of blood or other potentially infectious material. Floors and horizontal work surfaces should be cleaned and disinfected at least daily. Other surfaces, such as walls, storage shelves, endoscope storage cabinets, and registers and duct diffusers, should be cleaned and disinfected on a regularly scheduled basis and more often if needed (AORN, 2018e [63]). Stained ceiling tiles should be replaced, and any leaks causing the stains should be repaired. There should not be any rust in the processing area. If rust is identified, it should be removed, and the cause remediated. A cleaning schedule should be established and followed for lighting fixtures or covers, based on a facility needs assessment to reduce the collection of dust particles and other potential contaminants.

Care should be taken to avoid contaminating patient-ready devices such as endoscopes or compromising the integrity of packaging during cleaning. Special attention should be paid to the sequence of cleaning to avoid transferring contaminants from "dirty" to "clean" areas and surfaces. It is good practice to provide separate storage areas for environmental cleaning supplies for the decontamination and clean areas. If environmental cleaning is contracted, written policy and procedures, IFU for products that are used, and other support information should be provided to the contractor.

Rationale: Cleaning removes soil and reduces environmental contaminants, thus reducing the risk of transmission of microorganisms. Food and beverage contaminate the processing area as well as the items being processed. The OSHA Bloodborne pathogen regulation forbids food and drink in the decontamination room (29 CFR 1910.1030) [231]. Measurement with cleaning verification tools provides a mechanism for feedback to improve the thoroughness of cleaning.

6 Personnel

6.1 General considerations

This section provides guidelines for policies and procedures related to the processing areas, as well as processing time requirements, education, training, and competency verification, and criteria for hand hygiene, immunizations, attire, and PPE for processing personnel. Studies have shown that most endoscope reprocessing technicians are under pressure to complete steps rapidly, and some acknowledge skipping steps to save time (Ofstead, 2010 [245]; Ofstead, 2019a [240]). Non-adherence to recommended steps has been documented in several studies where personnel reported cutting corners to save time (Ofstead, 2018a [237]; Ofstead, 2018b [242]). A multisite study found that completing all of the reprocessing steps required at least 90-minutes (Ofstead, 2019b [241]). Institutions should ensure that reprocessing personnel are provided sufficient time to complete steps in accordance with regulations, standards, guidelines, and manufacturer IFU.

6.2 Policies and procedures

Policies and procedures for endoscope processing (see 13.2), which include processes for monitoring adherence to the policies and procedures and a chain of accountability, should include guidelines for

- a) delineating procedures for processing of endoscopes and endoscope accessories;
- b) confirming that current versions of the manufacturers' written IFU for the endoscope models, processing equipment, sterilizers, and all other devices are readily available to processing personnel;
- c) confirming that facility processing procedures are consistent with the written IFU of the manufacturers of the endoscopes, processing systems, and accessories and consumables used (see Section 15); and
- d) verifying processing personnel competency and consistent compliance with processing procedures.

Policies and procedures should be disseminated and readily available and used by all processing personnel. Managerial or other designated individuals should verify that processing personnel know the location of and can access facility policies and procedures. Processing personnel should inform manufacturers, as well as the FDA if applicable, if the IFU seems unclear or inadequate or are unable to be performed due to technical incompatibilities.

Policies and procedures should be reviewed by a multidisciplinary group (e.g., personnel representing GI, sterile processing, operating room, infection prevention and control, risk management, etc., as applicable to the facility) and updated at regular intervals established by the health care facility and/or local regulations.

Policies and procedures should be developed for the protection of processing personnel. These policies and procedures should include safety measures to protect personnel from exposure to pathogens and chemicals. In addition, policies and procedures should detail the exposure control plan. All policies and procedures designed for personnel protection should be developed in collaboration with the organization's infection prevention and employee/occupational health personnel.

NOTE Exposures to bloodborne diseases should be handled in accordance with OSHA regulations and current Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recommendations.

Rationale: The protection of patients, employees, and other individuals in the health care facility depends on the implementation of policies and procedures designed to reduce the risk of exposure to potentially pathogenic microorganisms.

6.3 Education, training, and competency verification

6.3.1 General considerations

All personnel performing endoscope processing shall complete formal training and competency verification in all aspects of endoscope processing prior to first assignment to perform these tasks independently. All personnel performing processing of endoscopes should be certified in flexible endoscope processing within two years of employment and should maintain that certification throughout their employment.

NOTE Information concerning education, training, and/or certification of endoscopy technicians with processing duties, sterile processing managers, and technicians can be obtained from the Certification Board of Sterile Processing and Distribution (CBSPD) (<u>www.cbspd.net</u>), the Healthcare Sterile Processing Association (HSPA) (<u>www.myhspa.org</u>), and the Society of Gastroenterology Nurses and Associates (SGNA) (<u>www.sgna.org</u>).

6.3.2 Frequency of education, training, and competency verification

Personnel involved in endoscope processing shall be provided education, training, and complete competency verification activities related to their duties upon initial hire; annually; at designated intervals; or whenever new endoscope models, new processing equipment, or products such as new chemicals are introduced for processing. Processing activities should be closely supervised until competency is verified and documented for each processing task, from point of use through storage of the endoscope and transport to the next point of use.

Rationale: Breaches in processing related to insufficient model-specific training and competence have resulted in patient exposures (FDA MDR 8811666, 2019 [346]; McFeeters, 2016 [210]; Bauman, 2014 [83]; Washington State, 2014 [373]; Minnesota Department of Health, 2010 [212]; Haluska and Kiszie v. Forbes, 2005 [170]).

6.3.3 Responsibilities of personnel providing training

Facility personnel providing orientation, education, training, or competency verification for personnel processing flexible endoscopes should:

- a) maintain the competence necessary to provide education, including the effective use of technologies to optimize practice and adherence to hand hygiene practices;
- b) use regulatory and evidence-based professional guidelines as the foundation for education and training activities; and

c) periodically, at least annually, re-educate and reassess the competency of processing personnel and document completion of education, training, and competency verification activities.

6.3.4 Education and training

6.3.4.1 Personnel handling flexible endoscopes at the point of use

Education and training of personnel handling flexible endoscopes at the point of use should include:

- a) proper endoscope handling;
- b) point of use treatment after the procedure for precleaning the endoscope;
- c) information to include in transport handoff, such as the completed procedure time and patient identifier, date and time of use, location, and time point of use treatment was completed (see 7.2.2);
- d) removal of single-use items; and
- e) transport of the endoscope and reusable accessories to the decontamination area as described in 7.3.2.

Rationale: Inadequate point of use treatment has contributed to processing failures (Ofstead, 2017 [246]; Ofstead, 2018a [237]) and patient exposure and infection (Kumarage, 2019 [203]; Ottawa Public Health, 2019 [250]).

6.3.4.2 Endoscope processing personnel

Education and training for endoscope processing personnel should include:

- a) proper endoscope handling;
- b) procedures for leak testing, cleaning, inspecting, disinfecting, sterilizing, packaging, and storing each specific endoscope make and model, including equipment and equipment connections;

NOTE Educational, training, competency verification, and other materials and information are available from endoscope manufacturers, AER manufacturers, sterilizer manufacturers, chemical solution and HLD manufacturers, professional associations, and professional journals.

- c) identification of items that are single use and intended to be discarded after use;
- all aspects of decontamination (e.g., disassembly, manual and mechanical cleaning methods and how to monitor their effectiveness, microbicidal processes, equipment operation, inspection, standard precautions, and engineering and work practice controls);
- e) the operation of the specific manual and mechanical cleaning processes and equipment, manual and mechanical HLD processes, and sterilizing systems used by the health care facility, and the methods and equipment used to verify operation;
- f) facility and processing area policies and procedures regarding high-level disinfection and sterilization, infection prevention and control, attire, hand hygiene, and compliance with local, state, and/or federal regulations;
- g) workplace safety related to chemical use and biological hazards (see also 6.4);
 - OSHA standards and requirements;
 - Applicable personnel exposure monitoring specific to chemicals used;
 - Recognizing and responding to exposure-related symptoms (e.g., difficulty breathing, skin irritation, eye tearing, mucous membrane irritation);
 - Location and correct use of PPE;

24

- Location and use of SDS;
- Location and use of chemical spill kit(s); and
- Workplace-specific policies and procedures related to endoscope processing, high-level disinfection, and sterilization;
- h) the process of leak testing when indicated in the manufacturer's written IFU;
- i) the process of obtaining and documenting quality control monitoring results;
- j) the process for visual inspection of endoscopes using lighted magnification and the use, care, and handling of a borescope;
- k) the process for cleaning verification procedures, including method(s) for conducting the testing and interpreting the results; and
- I) the process for removing a damaged endoscope from service and sending it for repair.

6.3.5 Competency verification

Competency verification activities should include monitoring processing personnel for their:

- a) compliance with facility policies and procedures and manufacturers' written IFU, and adherence to regulatory requirements, for each type of endoscope processed at the facility; and
- b) level of proficiency in processing procedures.

6.3.6 Documentation

Education, training, and competency verification activities should be provided and documented for all processing personnel on procedures for the processing of all endoscopes and the use of all AERs and sterilizers used at the facility.

Rationale: Initial and ongoing education, training, and competency verification can decrease the possibility of operator error during processing procedures and help to ensure that personnel are knowledgeable regarding the most current data and techniques for processing. Education, training, and competency verification are important aspects of any program intended to protect patients and employees from potential safety hazards and to help the employee recognize unsafe conditions or work practices and when, how, or why to employ protective measures. Health care facility policies and procedures are a necessary part of any education, training, and competency verification program. Providing education and training introduces new information and facilitates the development of knowledge and skills related to endoscope processing. Competency verification activities measure individual performance and provide a mechanism for documentation. Documentation of education, training, and competency verification is required by regulatory and accreditation agencies.

6.4 Standard precautions

Standard precautions represent a philosophy that assumes that all patients and all body fluids and items that have contacted body fluids are potentially infectious. Standard precautions include hand hygiene and wearing PPE to avoid contact with contaminated items, blood, or body fluids. Because it is not possible to specify a protective barrier for every situation that can occur, a risk assessment on the potential for exposure is necessary. The OSHA bloodborne pathogen regulation (29 CFR 1910.1030) [231] includes the following requirements:

- a) Precautions should be taken to prevent injuries from sharp objects (e.g., needles, scalpels, broken glass).
- b) Sharp objects must be placed in puncture-resistant, leak-proof on the sides and bottom, closeable containers, and labeled with an OSHA-compliant label.
- c) PPE should be used to prevent exposure to blood or body fluids.

RIGHTSLINKA)

- d) Hands and other skin surfaces that are contaminated with potentially infectious fluids should be immediately and thoroughly washed.
- e) Eating, drinking, smoking, applying cosmetics or lip balm, and handling contact lenses are prohibited in work areas where there is a reasonable likelihood of occupational exposure to chemical or biological materials.
- f) Food and drink should not be kept in refrigerators, freezers, or cabinets or on shelves, countertops, or benchtops where blood or other potentially infectious materials are present.
- g) Employees should receive education, training, and complete competency verification activities on bloodborne pathogens.

See also CDC (2002) [105] and CDC (2007) [106].

Rationale: If all items are treated as infectious, then the risk of personnel exposure is reduced, especially when handling items from patients whose infectious status is unknown.

6.5 Hand hygiene

Policies and procedures on hand hygiene should be developed and communicated to employees. Such policies should be approved by infection prevention and control personnel or the designated employee health personnel. Considerations include, but are not limited to, the following:

- a) Fingernails should be kept short and clean and should not extend beyond the fingertips.
- b) Artificial nails, including gels, extensions or tips, acrylic overlays, or other enhancements, should not be worn.
- c) Each facility should develop its own policy regarding the use of nail polish, including clear nail polish, as the issue remains unresolved and requires further study.
- d) Hands should be cleaned according to CDC or WHO guidelines (CDC, 2002 [105]; WHO, 2009 [377]).
- e) Hand hygiene with soap and water should be performed whenever the hands are visibly soiled.
- f) Alcohol-based hand sanitizers are the preferred method for hand hygiene when hands are not visibly soiled.
- g) Hand hygiene should be performed before and after glove use.

Rationale: Careful attention to hand hygiene can minimize the potential for acquiring or transmitting disease. Artificial nails can promote the growth of fungus under the nails (AORN, 2018c [37]; Baumgardner et al., 1993 [83]; Jeanes and Green, 2001 [183]; Porteous, 2002 [256]; Salman, et al., 2002 [285]; CDC, 2002 [105]).

6.6 Attire

6.6.1 General considerations

General considerations for attire to be worn in the processing area include the following:

- a) All personnel entering the processing area should change into clean uniforms that are provided by and donned at the facility.
- b) Attire should be changed daily or more often as needed (i.e., when wet, grossly soiled, or visibly contaminated with blood or other bodily fluids).
- c) Reusable uniforms should be laundered by a health care-accredited laundry (ANSI/AAMI ST65 [15]; AORN, 2018d [38]).
- All head and facial hair (except for eyebrows and eyelashes) should be completely covered (AORN, 2018d [38]).

- e) Jewelry and wristwatches should not be worn in the processing area (AORN, 2018d [38]).
- f) Shoes worn in the processing area must be clean, have non-skid soles, and be sturdy enough to prevent injury if an item drops on the foot. Liquid-resistant shoe covers should be worn if there is potential for shoes becoming contaminated and/or soaked with blood or other bodily fluids (29 CFR 1910.1030) [231].
- g) The use of cover apparel when employees leave the area to travel to other areas of the health care facility should be determined by each facility and should comply with state and local regulations (AORN, 2018d [39]). Reusable cover apparel should be laundered daily and changed when soiled.
- h) Remove uniform before leaving the health care facility unless the facilities are connected by an internal walkway (AORN, 2019a [35]).

Rationale: Clean attire minimizes the introduction of microorganisms and lint from personnel to items being processed and to the environment. Liquids can act as vehicles for the transfer of microorganisms from soiled materials and from the skin of personnel; therefore, wet surgical attire should be considered contaminated. Controlled laundering of garments reduces the risk of transferring pathogenic microorganisms from the health care facility to the home. Jewelry should not be worn because it is not easily or routinely cleaned, it can harbor microorganisms, it can become dislodged and damage items, and it can cause holes in gloves or other barrier protection. Wristwatches and rings, in particular, can catch on equipment or instruments, injuring personnel or damaging the item or packaging. Removing wristwatches and jewelry allows for more effective hand hygiene (CDC, 2002 [105]; Graves, 2006 [166]; Trick, 2003 [313]; Field, 1996 [148]).

6.6.2 Personal protective equipment

The OSHA bloodborne pathogen regulation (29 CFR 1910.1030) [231] and the OSHA Hazard Communication Standard (29 CFR 1910.1200) require that each facility have in place an exposure control plan that outlines the potential hazards that personnel might encounter while on the job. The plan should also identify the engineering controls, work-practice controls, and preventive and post-exposure medical care procedures that will be used to maintain the safety and health of employees. In the processing area, these measures will include the use of PPE. PPE should be selected and worn based on an assessment of the potential risk of exposure during the task to be performed and compliant with OSHA's Personal Protective Equipment Standards (29 CFR 1910.132 to 1910.138).

- a) In addition to the attire recommended in 6.6.1, personnel working in the decontamination area should wear general-purpose utility gloves and a liquid-resistant covering with long sleeves to the wrist (for example, a protective gown).
- b) Processing personnel should use a style of glove that prevents contact with contaminated water. For this purpose, exam gloves should not be used for decontamination. General-purpose utility gloves fitted at the wrist or above should be used.
- c) When performing decontamination duties, the highest level gown should be worn (ANSI/AAMI PB70 [9].

ANSI/AAMI PB70 barrier performance	Test	Result	Anticipated risk of exposure: Fluid amount, spray or splash, pressure on gown or drape
Level 1	AATCC 42:200	≤ 4.5 g	Minimum
Level 2	AATCC 42:2000 AATCC 127:1998	≤ 1.0 g ≥ 20 cm	Low
Level 3	AATCC 42:2000 AATCC 127:1998	≤ 1.0 g ≥ 50 cm	Moderate
Level 4	ASTM F1671:2003 (surgical gowns and other protective apparel)	Pass	High
	ASTM F1670:2003 (surgical drapes and drape accessories)	Pass	

Table 2—Barrier Gown liquid barrier performance class

IGHTSLINKA)

NOTE 1 The barrier performance class may be stated on the label as the barrier level or test method. Reprinted from AORN Guidelines.

NOTE 2 AATCC=American Association of Textile Chemists and Colorists and ASTM=American Society for Testing and Materials.

NOTE 3 Using TIR11:2005/(R)2015, Selection and use of protective apparel and surgical drapes in health care facilities [19], you can make your own table that reflects the AORN table. The first and last columns are taken from Table 3 and the second and third are from Table 2.

- d) PPE should also include a fluid-resistant face mask, liquid-resistant shoe covers (if there is potential for shoes to become contaminated and/or soaked with blood or other bodily fluids), and eye protection. PPE used to protect the eyes from splash could include goggles, full-length face shields, or other devices that prevent exposure to splash from all angles. If noise levels exceed OSHA permissible levels for the OSHA-designated time duration, hearing protection should be available (29 CFR 1910.95 g).
- e) Reusable gloves, glove liners, aprons, and eye-protection devices should be decontaminated, according to the manufacturer's written IFU, at least daily and between employees. If their integrity is compromised, items should be discarded. Torn gloves should be removed, and hands should be thoroughly washed before donning new gloves.
- f) When PPE worn during processing is removed, hand hygiene should be performed immediately.
- g) PPE should be changed between performing decontamination and handling disinfected endoscopes.
- h) Before leaving the cleaning area, employees should remove all protective attire, being careful not to contaminate the clothing beneath or their skin and perform hand hygiene. Designated areas, with the necessary containers, should be provided for donning and removing protective attire.

Rationale: Contaminated endoscopes and other medical devices are sources of microorganisms to which personnel could be exposed through nicks, cuts, or abrasions in skin or through contact with the mucous membranes of the eyes, nose, or mouth. PPE will minimize the potential for employee exposure to bloodborne and other disease- producing organisms and chemicals used in the processing of endoscopes. Wearing heavy-duty, waterproof gloves while handling contaminated items decreases the potential for puncture, limits the microbial burden on hands, and decreases the risk of cross-contamination. Gloves do not offer absolute protection, however, because they can develop small leaks as a result of the stresses of the cleaning process (DeGrott-Kosolcharoen and Jones, 1989 [130]). Gloves that are too short, do not fit tightly at the wrist, or lack cuffs might allow water to enter when the arms move up and down. Hand hygiene performed after removal of PPE can prevent further contamination of the worker or environment. When the integrity of reusable gloves, aprons, or protective eyewear is compromised, they cease to function as a protective barrier. See also FDA (2008) [342].

Fluid-resistant face masks are an OSHA requirement and help to protect personnel who are cleaning contaminated items from splash or splatter that could contain pathogens (29 CFR 1910.1030) [231]. Eye protection reduces the risk of eye contact or injury from blood, body fluids, or other potentially infectious materials or hazardous chemical agents. Liquid splashes and aerosols can contact the eyes from any direction, including settling out of the air from above.

7 Decontamination processes

7.1 General considerations

Cleaning is the most critical step in effective processing of flexible and semi-rigid endoscopes, beginning with point of use treatment, followed by meticulous manual cleaning in the endoscope processing area; all of which precedes the disinfection or sterilization process. Cleaning is intended to remove the clinical soil so that the subsequent disinfection or sterilization process is effective. Thorough attention to cleaning is crucial for overall processing effectiveness and patient safety. Failure to perform effective cleaning can result in disinfection failure (Kumarage, 2019 [203]; Ofstead, 2018a [237]; Ofstead, 2018b [242]; Ofstead, 2017 [246]; Ofstead, 2016 [247]; Ofstead, 2015 [235]) or sterilization failure (Ofstead, 2017 [246]) and outbreaks of infection can occur (Kumarage, 2019 [203]; Galdys, 2019 [158]; FDA MDR 8379810, 2019 [322]). Cleaning consists of manual and mechanical processes that include wiping, brushing, and

flushing all external surfaces and internal channels using detergent solutions and cleaning accessories. Thorough rinsing of all detergents is important to remove detergent residuals.

The cleaning process begins at the point of use. When allowed to dry, soils become more difficult to remove. Soils are also known for their corrosive effects on material. Risk of biofilm formation is also increased by surface damage. To help prevent formation of biofilm or endoscope damage, cleaning should occur as soon as possible after the endoscope is used. Biofilm consists of accumulated biomass of bacteria and extracellular materials that tightly adhere to a surface and are difficult to remove. Biofilm effectively protects microorganisms from ordinary cleaning methods. It can form on many surfaces but is particularly problematic on devices with lumens, such as endoscopes. Prompt cleaning reduces or eliminates the population of biofilm-forming microorganisms and thus can help prevent the formation of biofilm (ANSI/AAMI ST79 [17]). Failure to promptly and properly initiate cleaning of endoscopes after use can increase the difficulty of cleaning and decrease the effectiveness of disinfection and/or sterilization.

Effective processing, including cleaning, is a challenging task and prone to human error (Joint Commission, 2018 [187]; Ofstead, 2010 [245]; Ofstead, 2018a [237]; Ofstead, 2018b [242]; Ofstead, 2017 [246]; Armellino, 2018 [70]; Ofstead, 2019 [240]; California Health and Human Services Agency, 2017 [100]; CMS, 2015a [120]; CMS, 2015b [121]; CMS, 2015c [122].

7.1.1 The appropriate cleaning methods for flexible endoscopes are based on:

- a) the device manufacturer's written IFU;
- b) the type of cleaning solutions, accessories and equipment used to clean the device;
- c) the cleaning solution manufacturer's written IFU; and
- d) any processing equipment manufacturer's written IFU.

7.1.2 Endoscope, cleaning equipment, and cleaning solution IFU should be followed during the cleaning process for endoscopes. In the event of conflict, the endoscope manufacturer should be contacted for clarification. Cleaning steps include the following:

- a) point of use treatment;
- b) transporting the endoscope from the point of use to the processing area as soon as possible;
- c) leak testing;
- d) manual and/or FDA-cleared automated cleaning (see 7.6 and 7.7);
- e) thorough rinsing;
- f) exterior drying and channel purge; and
- g) inspection and testing for cleanliness.

Nonimmersible endoscopes should not be used, as they cannot be adequately processed.

7.2 Point of use treatment

RIGHTSLINKA)

7.2.1 General considerations

To prevent buildup of bioburden, development of biofilms, and drying of secretions, point of use treatment is performed immediately after completion of use of the device. It is imperative that the written IFU from the endoscope, cleaning equipment, and cleaning solution manufacturers are followed. When labelled for this purpose, commercially available sponges or wipes can be used for point of use treatment.

7.2.2 Procedure

The steps listed below are typical of the overall process for point of use treatment of a flexible or semi-rigid endoscope. Actual instructions for cleaning an individual endoscope will vary based on manufacturers' written IFU. Before the endoscope is detached from the light source and/or video processor:

- a) Don PPE. Personnel performing point of use treatment and handling contaminated flexible endoscopes should wear PPE that includes
 - 1) fluid-resistant surgical masks in combination with eye protection devices, such as goggles, glasses with solid side shields, or chin-length face shields;
 - 2) fluid-resistant gowns (see ANSI/AAMI PB70 [9]);
 - 3) general purpose utility gloves fitted at the wrist or above; and
 - 4) liquid-resistant shoe covers (if there is potential for shoes becoming contaminated and/or soaked with blood or other bodily fluids, see 6.6.1 and ANSI/AAMI ST79 [17]).
- b) Prepare a cleaning solution. The endoscope manufacturer's written IFU should be referenced for types of compatible cleaning agents, and the solution manufacturer's written IFU should be referenced for preparation of the chosen cleaning solution.
- c) Wipe the insertion tube according to the manufacturer's written IFU with a clean, non-linting cloth or wipe or a non-abrasive sponge soaked in water or freshly prepared cleaning solution as soon as possible after the endoscope is removed from the patient or the procedure is completed. Ensure that all endoscope controls are in the free and unlocked position. The cloth or sponge should be single-use and disposed of after use.
- d) Place the distal end of the endoscope in the cleaning solution and suction the solution through the instrument/suction channel as indicated in the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU.
- e) During point of use treatment of an endoscope with an elevator mechanism, while continuing the immersion and the aspiration, raise and lower the forceps elevator three times by turning the elevator control level or as per the manufacturer's written IFU for the endoscope.
- f) Flush the air/water channels with solution using the endoscope's cleaning adapter or by IFU-instructed air/water flow.
- g) Flush any other channels (e.g., auxiliary water or elevator channels) with solution.
- h) Flush each lumen as directed in the manufacturer's written IFU and until clear.
- i) Detach the endoscope from the light source and suction pump.
- j) Remove disposable accessories, if used.
- k) Attach a fluid-resistant cap over any electrical components, if applicable.
- I) Visually inspect the endoscope. If there is any evidence of damage, refer to the manufacturer's written IFU for further processing instructions. Tag the endoscope for further review. Refer to Section 14.
- m) Sinks should be cleaned, disinfected, and rinsed between uses with a disinfectant approved by a multidisciplinary team (see Section 5) and in accordance with the IFUs for the disinfectant and the sink.

Hand-off communication from point of use to the decontamination area shall include at minimum, patient identifier, date of procedure, and time of point of use treatment was completed. Other information that may be helpful is the completed procedure time, location of the procedure, and employee contact.

30

When there is a delay and/or failure to perform point of use treatment, the endoscope should be processed using delayed processing protocols described in the device manufacturer's IFU.

Rationale: Flushing helps to remove excess soil and ensures that the channels are not blocked, debris is removed, and channels are moistened for further processing.

7.3 Transport of contaminated endoscopes

7.3.1 General considerations

Improper containment and transport of contaminated endoscopes represents a potential risk of infection transmission to staff and patients. Precleaned endoscopes are still considered contaminated and appropriate precautions and procedures should be followed. Endoscopes should be transported immediately after point of use treatment to the decontamination area.

The manufacturer's written IFU should be reviewed to determine any necessary point of use treatment, disassembly, or safety precautions in preparation for transport of the endoscope, accessories (e.g., biopsy forceps) and components (e.g., valves) from the patient procedure area to the processing area.

7.3.2 Procedure

Each endoscope should be isolated and transported with its components in a closed container or closed transport cart to the next stage of processing, as it is considered containinated. The transport cart or container must be labeled with a visible fluorescent orange, orange-red, or red label containing a biohazard legend and must meet OSHA requirements (29 CFR 1910.1030) [231] for transporting hazardous items. The closed container or closed transport cart must be nonporous, leak-proof on its sides and bottom, puncture-resistant, and large enough to accommodate a single endoscope without the need to over-coil the insertion or light guide tubes. When endoscopes are transported on cart tops, a bag with an affixed biohazard label and designed for containment and transportation of soiled endoscopes may be used.

Soils on endoscopes and accessories should be kept moist, e.g., by applying a pretreatment solution, placing a towel moistened with water (not saline) over the items or placing items inside a package designed to maintain humid conditions, but not submerged in a solution. Keeping the endoscopes and accessories moist is not intended to extend time before processing.

Flexible endoscopes should be transported in a horizontal position, not suspended. When no other option is available and a dumbwaiter elevator or lift is used to transport both clean/sterile and contaminated supplies, they should be separated, and the transport carts should be covered or enclosed. All items, clean or soiled, should be contained in transport containers, and must be labeled biohazard.

Steps in the transport of endoscopes are as follows:

- 1) Separate endoscopy accessories from the contaminated endoscope to prevent puncture and penetration damage.
- 2) Place endoscopes and accessories in a container to prevent damage, including by naturally coiling each in large loops.
- 3) Hand-off communication from the transporter to the processing location should include:
 - a) confirmation that the endoscope was transported correctly, and all accessory parts are present;
 - b) the date and time of completion of use of that device;
 - c) the time of point of use treatment; and
 - d) patient identifier.

Rationale: Keeping the endoscope and accessories moist helps dilute, soften, and ease removal of organic soils (AORN, 2018e [39]). Allowing organic material to dry on the surface and in the channels of the endoscope makes the cleaning process more difficult. Fluid might leak from the contaminated endoscope if transported vertically. When suspended, the endoscope might become damaged because of compression on dependent components. Including completion of use time and point of use treatment time in the hand-off communication determines workflow for processing personnel.

7.4 Leak testing

7.4.1 General considerations

Leak testing, when applicable, should be performed as soon as possible after the endoscope arrives in the processing area and before immersion of the endoscope into processing solutions. Follow the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU for acceptance criteria of the leak testing protocol, including quality controls. Flexible endoscopes that cannot be leak tested should not be used. Automated leak testers should be placed on a calibration schedule to verify the leak tester is producing the correct pressure. Manual handheld leak testers and leak tester tubing should be inspected for damage, leakage, and pressure output (kPa). Pressure verification should be performed for each type of leak tester in the facility each day that endoscopes are used; calibration ensures that an endoscope will be challenged with the proper pressure each time when being tested for leaks. Documentation of testing results should be recorded. The manufacturer's written IFU for testing each type of leak tester (manual or mechanical) used in the facility should be followed to ensure they are properly functioning.

Rationale: Leak testing can detect damage to the endoscope that could, if undetected, allow for fluid invasion into the areas not designed for fluids and pose a potential risk of cross-contamination. These fluids can be a combination of accumulated water, chemicals, and/or biological matter that have collected from the time the endoscope's integrity was breached until the time the hole is identified. Over-coiling can mask a hole and allow it to go undetected.

7.4.2 Leak testing procedures

Multiple types of leak testing processes are available.

- a) Wet leak tests require immersion of the pressurized endoscope in clean water and inspection for bubbles emanating from the device, which signal a leak from the endoscope.
- b) Dry leak tests also pressurize the endoscope and detect a decrease in pressurization, which can signal a leak.
- c) Manual testing requires the user to select and maintain the selected pressure, whereas mechanical leak tests automatically achieve the selected pressure.

The manufacturer's written IFU for the selected leak test should be followed. General considerations include the following:

- a) Personnel performing the leak testing should wear PPE.
- b) Prior to leak testing, the fluid-resistant cap should be applied, if indicated in the manufacturer's written IFU.
- c) The largest surface counter or sink area available should be used to accommodate an open, minimally coiled endoscope for the test.
- d) At a minimum, the manufacturer's recommended time for pressurization should be followed to achieve an accurate test.
- e) Wet leak testing requires a clean sink with clean water without detergent.
- f) Leak testers shall be cleaned and decontaminated according to the facility's policy and the manufacturer's written IFU.

7.4.3 Manual (dry) leak testing

The endoscope and leak tester manufacturers' written IFU should be followed. Unless otherwise specified by the manufacturer's written IFU, the following steps are recommended:

- a) Remove all detachable parts from the endoscope (e.g., single-use valves and biopsy port covers).
- b) Ensure that the fluid-resistant cap is attached, if applicable.
- c) Attach the leak tester securely at the connector.
- d) Pressurize the endoscope to the indicated pressure on the leak tester gauge.
- e) Place the endoscope in a loose configuration.
- f) Gently rotate each directional knob and elevator control while watching for changes in the established pressure.
- g) Manipulate video or remote switches in a circular manner to detect holes more readily in these components.
- h) Manipulate the insertion tube and light guide tube, if applicable, to uncover hidden leaks due to the position of the coiled endoscope.
- i) Maintain pressure and inspection for a minimum of 30-seconds.
- j) Release air pressure from the endoscope before removal of the leak testing unit. In the event of a failure, see 7.4.8.
- k) If the endoscope passes the dry leak test, proceed to the next step of processing.
- I) Document the outcome of the leak test.
- m) Detach the leak test connector from the endoscope.

7.4.4 Manual (wet) leak testing

The endoscope and leak tester manufacturers' written IFU should be followed. Unless otherwise specified by the manufacturer's written IFU, the following steps are recommended:

- a) Remove all detachable parts from the endoscope (e.g., single-use valves and biopsy port covers).
- b) Ensure that the fluid-resistant cap is attached, if applicable.
- c) Attach the leak tester securely at the connector.
- d) Pressurize the endoscope to the indicated pressure on the leak tester gauge.
- e) Place the endoscope in a loose configuration in a large sink with a sufficient volume of clean water to completely immerse it.
- f) Using a new syringe, completely flush all channels with water to remove trapped air.
- g) Gently rotate each directional knob and elevator control, looking for bubbles at the bending rubber as well as at the knobs. Also watch for changes in the established pressure.
- h) Manipulate video or remote switches in a circular manner to detect holes more readily in these components.
- i) Manipulate the insertion tube and light guide tube, if applicable, to uncover hidden leaks due to the position of the coiled endoscope.



- j) Perform a complete visual inspection of the endoscope for leaks. If static bubbles are attached to the endoscope, brush them away and inspect to ensure that the bubbles do not return.
- k) Maintain pressure and inspection for a minimum of 60-seconds.
- I) Remove the entire endoscope from the test water.
- m) Depressurize according to the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU before removing the leak tester. Release air pressure from the endoscope before removal of the leak testing unit. In the event of a failure, see 7.4.8.
- n) If the endoscope is water-tight, proceed with cleaning and disinfection processes.
- o) Document the outcome of the leak test.
- p) Detach the leak test connector from the endoscope.

7.4.5 Mechanical (dry) leak testing

The endoscope and leak tester manufacturers' written IFU should be followed. Unless otherwise specified by the manufacturer's written IFU, the following steps are recommended:

- a) Prepare automated leakage tester and tubes.
- b) As applicable, power on the printer.
- c) Power on the automated leak tester.
- d) Position the endoscope(s) for leak testing as prescribed by the manufacturer's written IFU.
- e) Ensure that fluid-resistant caps are attached to the endoscope, as applicable.
- f) Connect the leak tester tubes to the endoscope(s).
- g) Scan or enter user and endoscope information.
- h) Select the "start" and allow the automated leak tester cycle to complete the test.
- i) If the endoscope receives a pass indication, proceed with the next step of processing.
- j) If the endoscope received a fail result, check connections and repeat the test. If failure occurs again, proceed with a wet leak test in the manual leak testing mode, as prescribed by the manufacturer's written IFU, to determine the leakage area. Once the leakage area is determined, see 7.4.8 for recommendations on processing a leaking endoscope.
- k) Document the outcome of the leak test.
- I) Detach the leak test connector from the endoscope.

7.4.6 Mechanical (wet) leak testing

The endoscope and leak tester manufacturers' written IFU should be followed. Unless otherwise specified by the manufacturer's written IFU, the following steps are recommended:

- a) Remove all valves and biopsy port covers.
- b) Ensure that the fluid-resistant cap is attached prior to immersion, if applicable.
- c) Attach the leak tester.

GHTSLINKA)

- d) Turn the air compressor on and pressurize the endoscope.
- e) Establish pressurization by confirming that the bending rubber has expanded.
- f) Place the endoscope in a loose configuration in a large sink with a sufficient volume of clean water without detergent to completely immerse it.
- g) Using a new syringe, completely flush all channels with water to remove trapped air until no bubbles emerge from the endoscope.
- h) Gently rotate each directional knob and elevator control, looking for bubbles at the bending rubber as well as at the knobs.
- i) Manipulate video or remote switches in a circular manner to challenge the integrity of these components while looking for bubbles.
- j) Manipulate the insertion tube and light guide tube, if applicable, to uncover hidden leaks due to the position of the coiled endoscope.
- k) Perform a complete visual inspection of the endoscope for leaks. If static bubbles are attached to the endoscope, brush them away and inspect to ensure that bubbles do not return.
- I) Maintain pressure and inspection for a minimum of 60-seconds.
- m) Remove the entire endoscope from the test water.
- n) Stop pressurization by turning off the air supply.
- o) According to the manufacturer's written IFU, remove the leak tester from the air compressor and listen for the sound of evacuated air.
- p) If the endoscope is water-tight, proceed with cleaning and disinfection processes. In the event of a failure, see 7.4.8.
- q) Document the outcome of leak test.
- r) Detach the leak test connector from the endoscope.

7.4.7 Mechanical leak testing using an AER

- a) Follow the endoscope and AER manufacturers' written IFU.
- b) Document the outcome of the leak test.

Conducting mechanical leak testing using an AER cannot substitute for the leak testing recommended in the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU.

7.4.8 Leak test failures

- a) If a leak has been identified, follow the modified processing steps according to the endoscope manufacturer's and/or repair company's written IFU or official company documentation.
- b) Re-evaluate the leak testing process if fluid invasion is a recurring problem.
- c) If the endoscope fails leak testing, affix a label to the device to identify defective equipment for repair, remove the endoscope from service, and follow facility guidelines for repair.
- d) Report the leak test failure per organizational policy and procedure, including the endoscope product identification and traceability information .

Downloaded by on January 20, 2023 Single-user license only. Copying, networking and distribution prohibited. Copyright AAMI

7.5 Cleaning

7.5.1 General considerations

Cleaning should begin as soon as possible after confirming that the endoscope does not have any leaks. The endoscope manufacturer's validated cleaning process should be followed. If there is a delay in processing the endoscope that exceeds the manufacturer's recommended time, the endoscope should be cleaned according to the manufacturer's written IFU for delayed processing (AORN, 2018e [40]). The cleaning steps listed in 7.6 represent typical cleaning flow for endoscopes, their removable parts, and endoscopic accessories; however, individual manufacturers' validated instructions might vary. Personnel performing manual cleaning, rinsing, and drying must wear PPE (29 CFR 1910.1030) [231].

Ensure that cleaning is initiated in the timeframe prescribed in the manufacturer's written IFU. If no timeframe is given, manual cleaning should be initiated within one hour or as determined by the facility based on their own documented risk assessment.

NOTE See ANSI/AAMI ST90:2017, 8.2.3 for guidance on risk assessment and corrective action [18].

7.5.2 Detachable parts

Detachable parts and valves pose unique concerns. To minimize risk of transmission of infection, any one of the following measures are recommended:

- 1) Use of single-use biopsy port caps and single-use valves.
- 2) Sterilization of reusable valves and caps, preferably using steam sterilization when materials are compatible.
- 3) High level disinfection of valves and caps, either keeping the valve/caps together with the endoscope as a set or tracking the individual valve/cap to the patient and the procedure.

7.6 Manual cleaning steps

The following steps are recommended:

- a) Use only compatible detergents recommended by the endoscope manufacturer or validated by the solution manufacturer for compatibility and efficacy (see Annex D).
- b) Prepare fresh cleaning solution in a clean sink or basin for each endoscope according to the detergent manufacturer's written IFU for temperature, concentration, and water quality. Monitor the temperature of the cleaning solution (if specified).
- c) Place the endoscope in the cleaning solution, keeping it completely immersed in the cleaning solution, according to the endoscope and cleaning solution manufacturers' written IFUs.
- d) Clean the endoscope's exterior surfaces with a fresh non-linting cloth or sponge. The cloth or sponge should not be reused from the point of use treatment. If brushes are used, follow the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU for the type of brush to be used.
- e) Clean all valve cylinders, openings, and forceps elevator housings with a cleaning brush of the length, width, and material designated in the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU (AORN, 2018e [40]).
 - 1) Clean the elevator mechanism and the recesses surrounding it with a cleaning brush of the length, width, and material specified in the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU (AORN, 2018e [40])).
 - 2) Raise and lower the elevator per the manufacturer's written IFU when flushing and brushing the elevator recess.
 - 3) Raise and lower the elevator throughout the cleaning process (AORN, 2018e [40])).

- f) Brush accessible channels (e.g., the instrument/suction channel) according to the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU until there is no visible debris and for the length of time specified. Use brushes of the length, width and material specified by the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU. Follow the brushing technique specified in the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU to clean the endoscope, keeping the endoscope immersed at all times.
- g) Use cleaning brushes that are either:
 - single-use and disposed of after cleaning (preferred), or
 - reusable and cleaned, high-level disinfected or sterilized after each use, according to the manufacturer's written IFU.
- h) Use the endoscope manufacturer's brush or equivalent cleaning device (see ASTM 3275-19 [44] and ASTM F3276-19 [45]).
- i) Aspirate (suction) cleaning solution through the instrument/suction channel as recommended by the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU, using the required adapters.
- Flush all channels according to the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU. If an automatic flushing system is used:
 - the manufacturer's written IFU should be followed;
 - a model-specific cleaning adapter, compatible and validated for use with the endoscope being processed by the flushing system manufacturer should be used;
 - all connections should be correctly secured;
 - a fresh cleaning solution should be used;
 - verify that solution flows through each lumen;
 - the endoscope channels should be flushed and exposed according to the endoscope, equipment, and cleaning solution manufacturers' written IFU;
 - the endoscope channels should be flushed with water of the specified type in the volume or for the length of time specified in the manufacturer's written IFU;
 - the connection tubing and equipment should be cleaned and disinfected according to the manufacturer's written IFU; and
 - any quality assurance testing recommended by the manufacturer (e.g., daily volume verification) should be performed and documented.

NOTE Use of suction during manual cleaning might still be a necessary step, even when using an automated flushing pump. Follow the endoscope and pump manufacturers' written IFU.

- Soak the endoscope in the detergent solution for the time specified in the detergent manufacturer's written IFU.
- Rinse the exterior and interior surfaces of the endoscope with copious amounts of utility water (see AAMI TIR34 [23]) until all cleaning solution and debris is visibly removed. Some cleaning solutions might require multiple rinses in fresh water. Follow the endoscope, equipment, and/or cleaning solution manufacturers' written IFU for the recommended amount of water, number of rinses, and pressure (i.e., psi) to flush each endoscope channel.

Downloaded by on January 20, 2023 Single-user license only. Copyring, networking and distribution prohibited. Copyright AAMI

- m) Inspect the endoscope (see 7.8). Repeat the cleaning, brushing, and rinsing steps until there is no visible residual debris or solution remaining on the endoscope. Endoscopes that have been exposed to synthetic lipids, radiographic medium, simethicone (Ofstead, 2016 [239]; Barakat, 2019 [79]; Ofstead, 2019 [240]; Van Stiphout, 2016 [365]; Olympus, 2018 [248]; Fujifilm, 2013 [154]; Pentax, 2014 [252]), or certain patient medications (e.g., fish oil, some diabetes medications) or that were used in procedures with poor patient preparation, emergency procedures, or bloody procedures might require additional cleaning.
- n) Dry the exterior surfaces of the endoscope with a clean, non-linting cloth.
- o) Purge all endoscope channels with instrument air or filtered air from a flushing pump at the pressure and for the time indicated in the manufacturer's written IFU.
- p) Clean, brush, and rinse all reusable and removable parts (e.g., valves, buttons, port covers, tubing) according to the manufacturers' written IFU.
 - Discard removable parts designed for single use (see 7.5.2).
 - Manually actuate the endoscope valves during cleaning.
- q) Clean reusable endoscopy accessories (e.g., forceps, wires, baskets) according to their manufacturers' written IFU.
- r) At a minimum, remove gloves and perform hand hygiene prior to inspection.
- s) Sinks should be cleaned, disinfected, and rinsed between uses with a disinfectant approved by a multidisciplinary team (see Section 5) and in accordance with the IFUs for the disinfectant and the sink.

Rationale: Starting the cleaning process as soon as possible after leak testing helps prevent soil from drying on the device and might prevent biofilm from forming. Soil that remains on the endoscope can interfere with the ability of the disinfection or sterilization process to effectively kill or inactivate microorganisms. Manually actuating the endoscope valves during cleaning helps ensure cleaning of all internal parts. Rinsing with copious amounts of utility water helps ensure that all cleaning solutions and debris are removed. Purging endoscope channels with instrument air helps evacuate residual rinse water. Single-use brushes are preferred to reduce the risk of using brushes that haven't been cleaned and decontaminated between uses.

7.7 Automated cleaning, rinsing, and drying

Some AERs have cleaning cycles that are validated and FDA-cleared to replace manual cleaning of some endoscopes prior to placing them into the AER. An automated cleaning cycle on an AER is not intended to replace point of use treatment, and most AER automated cleaning cycles also are not intended to replace manual cleaning of endoscopes prior to placing them into the AER. If considering replacement of manual cleaning with a validated and FDA-cleared automated cleaning cycle, facilities should convene a multi-disciplinary team to conduct a risk assessment (see 13.14.2). Consult your AER manufacturer for validated data concerning cleaning capability and allowed FDA 510(k) claims. Verify that they meet or exceed current cleaning requirements set forth by the FDA. For duodenoscopes, the FDA currently recommends that "the AER cleaning cycle only be used as a supplement to thorough manual cleaning according to the duodenoscope manufacturer's instructions" (FDA, 2018 [344]).

NOTE Manual cleaning can be used in conjunction with automated cleaning.

7.8 Inspection and cleaning verification

7.8.1 General considerations

Cleaning verification and inspection includes visual inspection and cleaning verification testing and can include borescopic examination.

Using cleaning verification indicators after manual cleaning helps verify that the desired soil removal goal was achieved, and that the device can safely proceed to the selected disinfection or sterilization process (see Section 8). Visual inspection with lighted magnification and evaluation provides an opportunity to identify and remove from service

38

defective items that might put patients at risk for infection or injury or that might further damage the device until these items are repaired (AORN, 2018e [39]]; Barakat, 2018 [79]; Thaker, 2018 [309]; Ofstead, 2017a [244]; Ofstead 2017b [246]; Ofstead, 2018a [237]; Ofstead, 2018b [242]). Recent outbreak investigations reinforced that visual inspection of endoscopes can identify defects or residual contamination (Galdys, 2019 [158]; Kumarage, 2019 [203]; Rauwers, 2019 [262]; Ottawa Public Health, 2019 [250]). An endoscope that appears clean can harbor debris that cannot be seen without magnification (AORN, 2018e [39]). Borescopes enter the lumen and allow for improved visual inspection (AORN, 2018e [39]).

An endoscope that has repeatedly failed a cleaning verification test or is suspected of having damage should be sent to an appropriate repair service for evaluation (Ofstead, 2017 [246]; FDA MDR 8579952, 2019 [347]; FDA MDR 8495252, 2019 [348]; FDA MDR 8392535, 2019 [349]).

Defective endoscopes, accessories, and equipment should be removed from service and repaired or replaced (AORN, 2018e [39]). A label should be affixed to the device to identify defective equipment for repair.

Ensure PPE are not grossly soiled, and gloves are changed after cleaning steps before completing inspection and cleaning verification.

Rationale: Studies and FDA MAUDE reports have documented cases where endoscopes that were sent out for evaluation after failing cleaning verification tests had critical defects and damage that required repair or refurbishment.

7.8.2 Visual inspection

Flexible endoscopes, accessories, and associated equipment should be visually inspected for cleanliness, integrity, and function before use, during the procedure, after the procedure, after cleaning, and before disinfection or sterilization (AORN, 2018e [39]).

Endoscopes, accessories, and equipment should be visually inspected and evaluated for:

- a) cleanliness;
- b) missing parts;
- c) clarity and integrity of the lenses;
- d) integrity of seals and gaskets;
- e) moisture;
- f) physical or chemical damage (e.g., cracks, peeling, buckling, stretching, holes);
- g) function (e.g., broken bending section, kinks, angulation, ability to focus, if applicable) (AORN, 2018e [39]);
 and
- h) changes in the endoscope's appearance.

Lighted magnification should be used to inspect endoscopes and accessories for external cleanliness and damage (AORN, 2018e [39]; FDA/CDC, 2018 [345]). Visual inspection should take place after manual cleaning in a well-lighted area with proper illuminance to enable detection of gross soil and other body substances (see 4.3.2, Table 1, and Annex C and Annex E). Where applicable, closely inspect the elevator and surrounding recess for visible soil. According to the FDA/CDC, it is recommended that areas of the endoscope at the distal end be inspected using at least 5x magnification, 10x magnification for duodenoscopes (see FDA/CDC culture method, 2018 [345]).

7.8.3 Borescopic inspection

The internal channels of a flexible endoscope that are accessible can be inspected by a borescope or other appropriate inspection method. Those conducting the inspection should be trained to identify damage and retained contaminants. Refer to the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU, maintenance bulletins, and other labeling for direction on what is

IGHTSLINKA)

considered a defective or damaged medical device that cannot be used and must be sent to the service provider for further inspection and potential service activities. If borescopic inspection findings are unclear, contact the endoscope manufacturer and/or repair service provider for guidance and refer to Annex E.

A borescope can be used periodically to inspect the accessible channels of flexible endoscopes at a frequency determined by the facility. When performed, this inspection step occurs on a dried endoscope after manual cleaning and prior to disinfection or sterilization. A dried endoscope can provide better visualization. If a borescope is used after disinfection/sterilization as a quality monitoring tool, the endoscope shall be processed again before clinical use.

An endoscope that has repeatedly failed a cleaning verification test or is suspected of having damage should be sent to an appropriate repair service for evaluation (see 13.5.2).

The borescope should be processed in accordance with the manufacturer's written IFU.

7.8.4 Cleaning verification

Before performing cleaning verification and inspection, personnel should ensure that PPE is not grossly soiled and that gloves are changed after cleaning steps.

High-risk endoscopes (e.g., duodenoscopes, linear ultrasound (EUS) endoscopes, bronchoscopes, endobronchial ultrasound (EBUS) endoscopes, ureteroscopes, cystoscopes, and as determined by the facility) shall be evaluated with cleaning verification tests after each use (see 13.5.3). Refer to Annex F for selection of an adequate cleaning verification tests. Manual cleaning of flexible endoscopes that are not determined to be high-risk shall be verified using cleaning verification tests when new endoscopes are purchased and at established intervals (e.g., at a statistically significant frequency based on the number of procedures performed). See F.4. Other factors to be considered when determining frequency include endoscope type, technician competency, procedural characteristics (e.g., duration, complexity, and heavy soiling), or delayed reprocessing.

8 High-level disinfection, liquid chemical sterilization, and terminal sterilization systems for flexible endoscopes

8.1 General considerations

There are a variety of biocidal methods available for disinfecting and sterilizing flexible endoscopes (see Annex I). To determine the method for a specific device, refer to the medical device manufacturer's written IFU and the intended use of the device. Ensure that the method is cleared by the FDA for use in health care facilities (www.fda.gov).

All flexible endoscopes that are introduced directly into the bloodstream or that contact a normally sterile tissue or body space during use are critical devices and shall be sterilized.

8.2 High-level disinfectant systems and liquid chemical sterilant processing systems and procedures

8.2.1 General considerations

High-level disinfection and liquid chemical sterilization are processes that use biocidal chemical solutions described by FDA as liquid chemical sterilants (LCS). Information on LCS/HLD solutions cleared by the FDA is provided on the FDA website. The list, which is updated periodically, provides information on the products' clearance for liquid chemical sterilization and/or high level disinfection, the contact times and temperatures required for each process, and whether the LCS/HLD solution is limited to use in an AER. To find LCS/HLDs cleared by FDA, go to www.fda.gov.

High-level disinfection is the minimum level of processing for semi-critical endoscopes. High-level disinfection traditionally is defined as a process that kills all microorganisms, in or on an instrument, except for bacteria spores when present in large numbers (see 3.30). The FDA further defines a high-level disinfectant as a sterilant used for a shorter contact time than when used for liquid chemical sterilization to achieve a 6-log10 kill of an appropriate *Mycobacterium species*.

Many LCSs and HLDs cleared by the FDA are labelled for use in both liquid processes. All HLD solutions are LCSs, based on passing the AOAC Sporicidal Activity Test as a sterilant. However, some HLD solutions require an extended

40

time (e.g., 22-32 hours) to pass the AOAC Sporicidal Test as a sterilant and therefore are labelled only for HLD and are not indicated for device liquid chemical sterilization.

Liquid chemical sterilization can be used to process semi-critical and critical heat sensitive endoscopes. Liquid chemical sterilization is different than thermal and gas (or vapor) low temperature sterilization. Liquid chemical sterilization is able to achieve a 6-log₁₀ kill of the appropriate bacterial spore shown most resistant to the process in a full cycle, and a SAL cannot be determined. The FDA recommends that liquid chemical sterilization be used for heat sensitive, critical medical devices only when terminal sterilization methods are not feasible or not available. The information in the literature suggests that treatment with liquid chemical sterilants may not necessarily ensure the same sterility assurance as terminal sterilization using thermal or gas/vapor low temperature sterilization methods (Rutala and Weber, 2008 [283]; Rutala and Weber, 2016 [281]). Devices are not wrapped during processing and may not be contained adequately after processing in a liquid chemical sterilant, and there is no assured way to maintain sterility after the devices are processed.

High-level disinfection and liquid chemical sterilization can be achieved with manual or automated processes. Manual high-level disinfection and liquid chemical sterilization is not recommended due to variability and inconsistency in the personnel responsible for the process (see 8.2.4). The automated processes utilize Automated Endoscope Reprocessors (AER) or endoscope washer-disinfectors which is equipment designed to deliver the LCS/HLD solution to all parts of the endoscope to achieve effective LCS/HLD of the endoscope and its components. Processing endoscopes in an AER includes immersion or spraying of the endoscope, filling, or circulating LCS/HLD solution through the device channels for a timed exposure period, and rinsing of the endoscope surfaces and internal channels with water to remove the LCS/HLD residues.

The microbial quality of the water used to rinse endoscopes is an important aspect of liquid chemical sterilant/high level disinfectant processing. It is important to recognize that the microbial quality of the water will vary based on the facility and may recontaminate the processed endoscope (Seidelman, 2019 [288]; Ofstead, 2016 [247]). The LCS/HLD manufacturer's instructions for high level disinfection or liquid chemical sterilization will provide information on the quantity and quality of rinse water as well as the number of rinses and time required for each rinse in manual processes to reduce chemical residues to a safe level. Users also should follow the endoscope manufacturers' IFU and their recommended microbial quality requirement of the water to be used for rinsing (also see AAMI TIR34 [23]).

Effective drying of endoscopes can reduce the risk of increasing (or accelerating) proliferation following LCS and HLD (e.g., recontamination of the endoscope by waterborne microorganisms during rinsing) (Kovaleva, 2017 [201]; Ofstead, 2016 [247]; Ofstead, 2018 [242]; Perumpail, 2019 [254]; Saliou, 2015 [284]). Certain waterborne microorganisms, such as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, can pose an infection risk to a portion of the endoscopy patient population, especially those undergoing a bronchoscopy procedure or endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) procedure (Kovaleva, 2013 [202]). Further, the presence of such microorganisms in conjunction with retained moisture can lead to the development of biofilms and further patient risk. This is a particular risk when tap water is used to rinse the endoscope following the antimicrobial process. As part of the facility water management plan, periodic microbial assessment of the AER and processing equipment should be considered to identify water contaminants or contaminated equipment which may contribute to recontamination of the device after high-level disinfection (Ofstead, 2016 [247]). Periodic microbial assessment of the water used for final rinse should be considered to identify any contaminants which can contribute to recontamination of the device after high-level disinfection (Ofstead, 2018 [242]; Seidelman, 2019 [288]; Ofstead, 2016 [247]).

Rationale: In studies where endoscopes harbored bacteria, including waterborne pathogens, following high-level disinfection despite adherence to processing guidelines, water used to rinse disinfected endoscopes was implicated (Ofstead, 2018 [242]; Seidelman, 2019 [288]; Ofstead, 2016 [247]).

8.2.2 Spill kits

RIGHTSLINK()

Spill kits should be on-hand to deal with the maximum possible spill. Information about how to deal with a spill is available on the SDS and spill kits for most high level disinfectants are commercially available.

8.2.3 Automated high-level disinfection and liquid chemical sterilization processes

8.2.3.1 Automated high-level disinfection/liquid chemical sterilization features

An automated process can be more efficient and consistent than a manual process, resulting in less user exposure and avoidance of prolonged endoscope exposure to the toxic liquid chemical sterilant (LCS/HLD). Depending on the make and model of the AER or LCSPS, features might include the following:

- a) a printer for documentation or electronic data transfer of cycle parameters, the endoscope ID, and the operator ID;
- b) adjustable cycle times;
- c) connector-less systems that do not require tubing attachments;
- d) automated cleaning, high-level disinfection and/or liquid chemical sterilization cycles which incorporate turbulent flow technology or ultrasonic cleaning capabilities;
- e) detection of channel obstruction;
- f) reservoirs with heating elements that will provide and maintain the temperature of the LCS/HLD solution at the indicated contact temperature for the process;
- NOTE Some LCS/HLD solutions have specific temperature requirements for effectiveness.
 - g) pressurized flow to fill the endoscope channels, bathe the exterior, and circulate the LCS/HLD continuously during the exposure time;
 - h) an automated MEC or MRC reader;
 - i) supplementary leak testing (see 7.4.7);
 - j) automatic rinsing with a programmable number of rinses;
 - k) an automatic alcohol flush;
 - I) an automatic air purge;
 - m) the ability to process two or more endoscopes in the same or separate chambers;
 - n) self-disinfection cycles;
 - o) pass through capability for separation of clean and dirty areas; and
 - p) a barcode scanner to facilitate the input of identifying information for each processed device.

8.2.3.2 Automated high-level disinfection/liquid chemical sterilization procedure

To ensure effective performance of AERs and LCSPSs, the user should observe the following:

- a) Remove the PPE used for cleaning the endoscope and perform hand hygiene. New, clean, non-latex procedure gloves should be worn when handing the clean endoscope and accessories unless otherwise indicated by the type of procedure or recommended by the manufacturer. PPE used for decontamination should not be worn when handling an endoscope or any accessories that have completed the disinfection process.
- b) Follow the AER or LCSPS manufacturer's written IFU for all procedures. Compare the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU to the AER or LCSPS manufacturer's written IFU. If there are any discrepancies between the two, a decision should be made by a multidisciplinary team based on the information available.

- c) Ensure that the specified time, temperature, and number and quality of rinses are within the capability of the AER.
- d) Filter incoming water and change the filter as recommended by the AER or LCSPS manufacturer's written IFU. The internal water piping system that does not come in contact with the LCS/HLD solution should be disinfected on a regular basis as directed by the manufacturer.
- e) Verify that the cleaning detergent and/or LCS/HLD are available for cycle and that they are in the appropriate location (e.g., reservoir or bottle attachment site).
- f) Document required information as per 13.4.1.
- g) Process accessories as specified by the manufacturer's written IFU.
- h) Use the quality testing device for the AER, if available, to ensure that solutions are flowing. Testing of this function should be performed at least weekly, after major repairs or whenever there is concern about equipment function.
- i) Place the endoscope in basin per AER manufacturer's recommendation. Connect the endoscope channels to the AER or LCSPS connectors, if applicable.
- j) Test the solution MRC or MEC according to the manufacturer's written IFU.
- k) Close the AER or LCSPS and select the cycle.
- I) Repeat the cycle if the original cycle is interrupted, because the liquid chemical sterilization/high-level disinfection of the device cannot be ensured if the cycle has been interrupted.
- m) If the endoscope manufacturer requires it as part of the validated reprocessing protocol, perform a final flush of the endoscope channels with alcohol. However, if alcohol use is a concern because of its fixative properties, a multidisciplinary team that includes infection preventionists, endoscopy and perioperative RNs, endoscopy processing personnel, endoscopists, and other involved personnel should review the effects of alcohol on the endoscopes and establish a policy on its use (Costa et al., 2017 [125]).
- n) Endoscopes that have completed an HLD cycle in an AER should undergo additional drying internally with instrument air to remove moisture, dried externally (see 8.2.5), and then stored in accordance with Section 11 to avoid contamination.
- o) LCSPSs may utilize a spore test strip. Follow the spore test strip and LCSPS manufacturers' written IFU and also see 13.6.1.
- p) Liquid chemically sterilized endoscopes intended to be used in a critical application should be used immediately after processing. They may also be used immediately in semi-critical applications. If not meant for immediate use, follow instructions for storage of high-level disinfected endoscopes.
- q) If an endoscope is left in the basin of an AER or LCSPS for an extended period of time (i.e., more than one hour), the endoscopes should be put back through the HLD/liquid chemical sterilization cycle before it is stored/used.
- r) If endoscope is transported to patient care room but not used, it shall be processed again prior to next patient use.

RIGHTSLINKA)

43

8.2.4 Manual high-level disinfection and liquid chemical sterilization processes

8.2.4.1 Manual processing procedure

Manual processing is not recommended but if necessary due to facility or resource limitations, consult the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU to determine the compatibility of the device with the selected LCS/HLD solution (see 8.2.4). To ensure safety and efficacy, the user should observe the following:

- a) Use only those LCS/HLD solutions recommended by the endoscope manufacturer or that have been validated for use for both efficacy and compatibility and cleared by the FDA.
- b) Use a timing device to assure correct soak time (AORN, 2018e [39]).
- c) Use a clean, dry container.
- d) While wearing PPE recommended in the manufacturer's written IFU, prepare the LCS/HLD product according to the manufacturer's written IFU.
- e) Devices should be thoroughly cleaned, rinsed and excess moisture should be removed before they are immersed in the solution to avoid adding debris to the solution or diluting the solution, both of which can shorten the efficacy period.
- Before immersion, check the expiration date of the solution. Completely immerse the device in the LCS/HLD f) solution to ensure that all surfaces are covered by the solution and that all appropriate lumens have been filled with the LCS/HLD, as recommended. A channel irrigation device or syringe might be needed to fill all lumens with the LCS/HLD.
- Use a solution test strip or chemical monitoring device to test the concentration of the active ingredients before g) each use. Only those solution test strips or chemical monitoring devices that have been cleared by the FDA for that LCS/HLD should be used. Quality control checks of the solution test strips, or chemical monitoring devices should be performed according to the manufacturer's written IFU.
- h) When the concentration of the active ingredients falls below the MRC or MEC, discontinue use of the solution.
- Ensure that the solution is at the minimum required temperature, as specified in the solution manufacturer's i) IFU. Document the temperature. Do not use a solution that is above or below the required temperature range. Use a calibrated thermometer to ensure that the soaking temperature meets that specified on the HLD label (AORN, 2018e [39]).
- Ensure that exposure to chemical solutions and vapors is kept to a minimum, and below OSHA and ACGIH® j) occupational exposure limits.
- Keep solutions covered to prevent evaporation. k)
- I) Solutions that evaporate or drain below the soak level may require additional solution to facilitate complete immersion of the device. Before adding solution, first consult the LCS/HLD manufacturer's IFU to ensure that adding solution is permitted. The solution cannot be used beyond the original soaking solution expiration date (use life). Before being used, the solution must be tested for MRC or MEC.
- m) Do not use solutions beyond the reuse period indicated on the label even if the concentration of the active ingredients is at or above the MRC or MEC. An LCS/HLD product might be labeled for multiple-day use or (if it is a concentrate) for one-time use.
- n) Do not use LCS/HLD solutions beyond their shelf life.
- Store unopened solutions in a cool, well ventilated area at the temperature recommended by the manufacturer.

GHTSLINKA)

- p) Dispose of LCS/HLD solutions and their containers in accordance with state and local regulations (e.g., neutralization of the product prior to disposal in the sewer system).
- q) Endoscopes that have completed manual high-level disinfection or liquid chemical sterilization and are intended for use in a semi-critical application are not packaged and are to be thoroughly rinsed, dried internally and externally (see 8.2.5), and stored in accordance with Section 11.

8.2.4.2 Manual rinsing

Follow the endoscope and LCS/HLD solution manufacturers' written IFU on the quantity and quality of rinse water as well as the number of rinses and the time required for each rinse to reduce chemical residues to a safe level. Each rinse should be performed using fresh water. To prevent recontamination of the endoscope, the container or sink used to perform the rinse should be clean and should not be the same container or sink that was used to clean or disinfect the endoscope. The microbial quality of the water used to rinse endoscopes is important (see 8.2.1 and AAMI TIR34 [23]). Users should follow the endoscope and LCS/HLD solution manufacturers' written IFU for the required microbial quality of the water to be used for rinsing (also see AAMI TIR34 [23]). The specific procedure for rinsing is as follows:

- a) Don fresh PPE, including gloves, skin and eye protection, fluid-resistant masks, and fluid-resistant shoe covers.
- b) Thoroughly rinse all surfaces and channels of the endoscope and its removed components according to the endoscope and LCS/HLD solution manufacturers' written IFU in order to remove all traces of the disinfectant.
- c) Use critical water for the final rinse (see AAMI TIR34 [23]) unless sterile water is specified by the manufacturer's written IFU. Follow the device manufacturer's written IFU for the specified rinse water quality.

Rationale: Following manufacturer's rinsing instructions prevents potential patient exposure and skin and mucous membrane injury from chemical residues. Use of sterile or critical water for the final rinse reduces the risk of contamination by waterborne microorganisms.

8.2.5 Endoscope drying

8.2.5.1 General considerations

The endoscope and its components should be dried after completion of the cleaning and disinfection process. Flexible endoscopes with channels should be dried for a minimum of 10-minutes with pressure-regulated forced instrument air or a minimum of HEPA-filtered air (Ofstead, 2018 [242]; Barakat, 2018 [79]; Perumpail, 2019 [254]; Alfa, 1991 [53]). If after 10-minutes of drying moisture is still observed, extend drying time until no moisture is visible. Refer to Annex K for information on drying verification. Consult the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU for the maximum psi.

Endoscopes should never be stored wet or before decontamination has been completed as such storage supports the growth of microorganisms and biofilms (AORN, 2019a [71]; Beilenhoff et al., 2018 [87]).

A forced-air nozzle or drying cabinet used to dry manually cleaned endoscopes could become contaminated with residual bioburden. This could be a concern if the forced-air nozzle or drying cabinets are also used for drying or storing high-level disinfected endoscopes. In order to avoid intermingling manually cleaned endoscopes that are being dried before sterilization with disinfected endoscopes being dried before storage, consider using separate forced-air systems and cabinets for high-level disinfected endoscopes and manually cleaned (pre-sterilization) endoscopes. Cabinets and nozzles used for manually cleaned endoscopes should be frequently cleaned and disinfected to reduce cross-contamination.

NOTE Consider performing a risk assessment if the same drying implements are used both after high level disinfection and after manual cleaning.

Rationale: See Annex K.



8.2.5.2 Manual drying

Unless otherwise directed by the endoscope manufacturer, drying of endoscope channels is accomplished by flowing instrument air or HEPA-filtered air through all endoscope channels for a specified period of time and pressure according to the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU. Research has demonstrated that a minimum 10-minute dry time is effective in drying the channels and should be implemented (Alfa, 1991 [53]; Ofstead, 2018 [242]; Barakat, 2019 [79]) (see Annex K). The exterior of the endoscope and removable endoscope parts are dried using unused, clean, or sterile non-linting cloths. Complete drying to thoroughly remove all residual fluid after high-level disinfection is necessary to prevent the growth of gram-negative bacteria and other potential pathogens.

Drying should be completed outside of the AER, even when the AER has an air purge or extended dry time feature.

Drying can be facilitated by use of a preliminary flush of 70 % to 90 % ethyl or isopropyl alcohol. Isopropyl alcohol is considered a fixative. If the use of alcohol is a consideration, a multidisciplinary team that includes infection preventionists, endoscopy and perioperative RNs, endoscopy processing personnel, endoscopists, and other involved personnel should conduct a risk assessment to determine whether endoscope lumens should be flushed with 70 % to 90 % ethyl or isopropyl alcohol (Costa et al., 2017 [125]).

The procedure for manual drying is as follows:

- a) Use pressure-regulated instrument air or HEPA-filtered air to dry the channels in accordance with the manufacturer's written IFU (Ofstead, 2018 [242]; Barakat, 2019 [79]). An assortment of adapters can be needed to accommodate various size lumens, depending on the configuration of the drying device. The use of syringes or a handheld compressed air gun to dry the channels is not recommended, even if their use is specified in the endoscope labelling.
 - 1) Refer to the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU for guidance on correlating the force of air pressure to channel size and select the air pressure accordingly.
 - Use the instrument air until no visible signs of moisture remain (or as recommended by the endoscope manufacturer). See Annex K for more information about methods to assess the efficacy of drying.
- b) Thoroughly dry endoscope exterior and all removable endoscope parts with a clean, non-linting cloth. Ensure that crevices (for example at the control knobs) are dry. Pressure-regulated instrument air or HEPA-filtered air may be directed at crevices to facilitate drying of these hard to reach endoscope areas.
- c) To reduce the risk of trapping liquid inside the endoscope, do not attach accessories (such as valves) to the endoscope during storage.
- d) The healthcare facility should assemble an interdisciplinary team that includes infection preventionists, endoscopy and perioperative RNs, endoscopy processing personnel, endoscopists, and other involved personnel to determine the methods that will be used (see Annex K).

The endoscope should be dried promptly after every reprocessing cycle. This means that the endoscope should be dried whether the endoscope is intended for immediate patient use or for storage (Rutala and Weber, 2016 [281]; Petersen et al., 2017 [255]), with the exception of liquid chemically sterilized endoscopes that are used immediately.

8.3 Terminal sterilization by gaseous or vaporized chemical sterilization processes

8.3.1 General considerations

With the infection risk that endoscopes present to the patient, sterilization is the preferred method of microbial inactivation and the only option for instruments to be used in "critical" uses entering sterile body cavities, tissues, or vascular spaces. Sterilization continues to be recommended for endoscopes. Terminal sterilization is also required for all endoscope accessories that penetrate the mucosa, such as biopsy forceps, sphincterotomes, etc. When sterilization is required, most endoscopes require low temperature sterilization. Compatibility with low-temperature sterilization processes varies with endoscope make and model. Compatible processes can include ethylene oxide (EO), hydrogen

46

peroxide with or without plasma phase, and hydrogen peroxide-ozone sterilization systems, provided that the endoscope and/or sterilizer manufacturer has performed validated efficacy and compatibility testing and recommends in the written IFU or official documentation. Steam sterilization is often not compatible with flexible and semi-rigid endoscopes but can be used when the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU provides data showing compatibility with steam processes.

Successfully sterilized endoscopes can provide an increased safety margin over high-level disinfected endoscopes. Terminally sterilized endoscopes are rendered completely dry, packaged (which reduces the chance of contamination for longer periods of time), and are patient-ready. Packaged endoscopes have tamper-evident seals that clearly distinguish "used" endoscopes from "patient-ready" endoscopes."

This section outlines special considerations for the terminal sterilization of flexible and semi-rigid endoscopes using gaseous or vaporized chemical sterilization processes. The primary sources of information about terminal sterilization of endoscopes are the FDA-cleared labeling and the written IFUs of the endoscope and/or sterilizer manufacturers. Users should use FDA-cleared sterilization packaging products and other accessories for the selected specific sterilization type.

8.3.2 Packaging for terminal sterilization

8.3.2.1 General considerations

It is important to select sterilization packaging that allows for sterilant penetration through the packaging and onto and into the endoscope that maintains sterility and allows for aseptic presentation. Many types of packaging are available for gaseous and vapor chemical sterilization, including Tyvek® sterilization pouches, nonwoven textile sterilization wrap material, and rigid sterilization containers that maintain sterility. Select a product that is FDA-cleared and specifically labeled by its manufacturer for use in the intended sterilization method and the specific sterilizer model/cycle to be used.

Follow the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU for the method of sterilization, the packaging, and preparation for sterilization (e.g., how to stabilize the endoscope on a tray, use of vent caps).

If there are inconsistencies between the endoscope, sterilizer, and packaging manufacturers' written IFU, the manufacturers should be consulted to determine the appropriate processes before proceeding. Additional information on sterilization packaging is in ANSI/AAMI ST58 [14].

8.3.2.2 Sterilization pouches

Only sterilization pouches that are FDA-cleared and labelled as appropriate for use with the selected sterilization method should be used. When using sterilization pouches, the pouch manufacturer's written IFU should be followed.

Sterilization pouches should be large enough to contain the endoscope component or accessories without crowding, twisting, or tightly coiling the endoscope.

If double pouching will be used, the user shall confirm that double pouching has been validated by the endoscope manufacturer and the sterilization pouch manufacturer. The pouch manufacturer's written IFU for packaging items using double pouching should be followed. If the accessories or components are to be packaged in double pouches, two sequentially sized pouches should be used, and the sealed inner pouch should fit inside the outer pouch without folding.

8.3.2.3 Sterilization wraps

RIGHTSLINKA)

Only sterilization wraps that are FDA-cleared and labelled as appropriate for use with the selected sterilization method, sterilizer model and cycle, and lumen dimension (when available) should be used. Do not exceed the maximum wrapped package content weight as documented in the sterilization wrap manufacturer's written IFU for the specified sterilization method.

When using sterilization wraps, the wrap manufacturer's written IFU should be followed. The wrap manufacturer should be contacted if additional information is needed regarding wrap compatibility with the proposed sterilization method or load characteristics.

The user should follow the recommended wrapping procedures outlined in ANSI/AAMI ST79 [17].

Rationale: Wrap material selected for sterilization is labeled for the sterilization method, sterilizer model and cycle, and load characteristics (e.g., lumen dimensions) for which it has been shown to be effective. Some sterilization wraps contain cellulose and are contraindicated for use in hydrogen peroxide gas and hydrogen peroxide–ozone sterilization processes.

8.3.2.4 Rigid sterilization containment systems

Only rigid sterilization containment systems that are FDA-cleared and labelled as appropriate for use with the selected sterilization method, sterilizer model and cycle, and lumen dimension (when available) should be used. Do not exceed the maximum load weight as indicated in the rigid sterilization containment system manufacturer's written IFU for the specified sterilization method.

When using reusable containment devices (e.g., organizing trays cases, cassettes), the endoscope, sterilizer, and containment device manufacturers' written IFU should be followed. When using cases or cassettes intended to be used in conjunction with other packaging for terminal sterilization, appropriate terminal sterilization packaging should be selected in accordance with the containment device and sterilizer manufacturers' written IFU.

When using rigid sterilization containers with prepositioning bracketing or organizing tray inserts, the containers should be loaded in the sterilizer in accordance with the container and sterilizer manufacturers' written IFU.

When using rigid sterilization container systems, appropriate accessories such as filters should be used in accordance with the containment system and sterilizer manufacturers' written IFU.

Rigid sterilization container systems should be cleaned before sterilization, either manually or mechanically, according to the container system manufacturer's written IFU and by personnel following accepted practices for decontamination and employee safety, including PPE.

8.3.3 Terminal sterilization procedures

The general procedure for a terminal sterilization process is as follows:

- a) Following point of use treatment, the endoscope and accessories should be cleaned, thoroughly dried, inspected (see 7.8), verified to be clean by a verification test as applicable (see 13.5.3 and F.3), and prepared for sterilization according to the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU. For low-temperature gaseous and vaporized chemical sterilization methods, vent caps may be required by the endoscope manufacturer to help protect the endoscope from damage due to pressure changes during the sterilization cycle.
- b) Package the endoscope in compatible organizing trays and packaging for the specific endoscope and terminal sterilization process. Ensure that the venting cap is attached when indicated by the endoscope and/or sterilizer manufacturer's written IFU. Refer to the endoscope, packaging, and sterilizer manufacturers' written IFU.
- c) Place a chemical indicator specific to the sterilization process selected in each package. A process indicator should be visible on the outside of the package or container (see 13.8.2). External chemical indicators (CIs) should be Type 1. Internal chemical indicators should be Type 3 or Type 4 but preferably Type 4 because these types of CIs provide the user with more information on the critical hydrogen peroxide sterilization parameters.
- NOTE For steam sterilization of compatible endoscopes and accessories, see ANSI/AAMI ST79 [17].
 - d) Label each package with the lot code (see 13.3).
 - e) Document all items in the load (see 13.4.1).

GHTSLINKA)

- f) Load the sterilization chamber as described in the endoscope and/or sterilizer manufacturers' written IFU.
- g) Place a BI in a process challenge device (PCD) in the load as recommended by the sterilizer manufacturer's written IFU or use another FDA-cleared BI PCD labelled for the process and cycle (see 13.3).
- h) Select the correct cycle.
- i) When the cycle is complete, verify that the sterilization cycle parameters have been met and remove the load. Verify that external process indicators have reached their endpoint response (see 13.4.1).
- j) Retrieve and incubate the BI in accordance with the manufacturer's written IFU and record the results (see 13.4.1).
- k) Review all quality control and monitoring documentation.
- I) Release load according to the health care facility policy.

8.3.4 Ethylene oxide gas sterilization

Ethylene oxide sterilization may be used for terminal sterilization of flexible and semi-rigid endoscopes when validated by the endoscope and/or sterilizer manufacturer and as described in the written IFU or documentation.

The endoscope and sterilizer manufacturers' written IFU, or documentation should be followed for cleaning, drying, and preparing the endoscope and its accessories for EO sterilization. The user should ensure that all water has been removed from the endoscope before sterilization. To aid in preparation of devices prior to sterilization, instrument air should be used to remove water from lumens or constricted areas. Channels should be dried for a minimum of 10-minutes with pressure-regulated forced instrument air or a minimum of HEPA-filtered air. Consult the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU for maximum pressure (psi). If after 10-minutes of drying moisture is still observed, extend drying time until no moisture is visible. Thoroughly dry with a non-linting cloth all removable endoscope parts. A drying cabinet may also be used to aid in the drying of devices prior to packaging and sterilization.

A venting method and/or removal of the soaking cap before sterilization may be indicated in the endoscope manufacturer or sterilizer manufacturer's written IFU.

The packaging manufacturer's written IFU should be followed, and the manufacturer contacted if additional information is needed regarding packaging materials' compatibility with the EO sterilization method or load characteristics.

Acceptable packaging materials may include:

- a) polyethylene plastic bags (designed for use as a sterile package and not more than 5 mm thick);
- b) peel pouches made of spun-bonded olefin (Tyvek®), polyethylene-polyester laminate, paper/polyethylene-polyester laminate;
- c) woven textile, nonwoven textile paper, coated and uncoated wraps;
- d) rigid sterilization container systems; and
- e) plastic trays with paper or Tyvek® lids.

The EO sterilizer should be loaded in accordance with the sterilizer manufacturer's written IFU.

A single-chamber process for EO sterilization and aeration should be used in accordance with EPA regulations (EPA, 2008) [318]. Endoscopes should not be unloaded from the EO sterilizer until the aeration cycle is complete.

The requirements of the OSHA Ethylene Oxide Standard (29 CFR 1910.1047 [232]) must be followed, and a copy of the standard should be readily available.

For additional information, the user should consult the EO Safety Data Sheet and ANSI/AAMI ST41 [12]. See also H.7.

8.3.5 Hydrogen peroxide and hydrogen peroxide-ozone sterilization

Hydrogen peroxide and hydrogen peroxide–ozone sterilization may be used for terminal sterilization of flexible and semi-rigid endoscopes when validated by the endoscope and/or sterilizer manufacturer and as described in the written IFU or documentation.

The endoscope and sterilizer manufacturers' written IFU, or documentation should be followed to ensure that the endoscope can be successfully sterilized in the hydrogen peroxide or hydrogen peroxide-ozone sterilizer. The FDA-cleared sterilizer's labelling will indicate the types of materials and the lengths and diameters of lumens that can be successfully sterilized and other factors that will have an impact on successful sterilization.

The endoscope and accessories should be cleaned, dried, and prepared for sterilization according to the endoscope and sterilizer manufacturers' written IFU.

- a) The user should ensure that all water has been removed from the endoscope before sterilization. To aid in preparation of devices prior to sterilization, instrument air should be used to remove water from lumens or constricted areas. Channels should be dried for a minimum of 10-minutes with pressure-regulated forced instrument air or a minimum of HEPA-filtered air. Consult the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU for maximum pressure (psi). If after 10-minutes of drying moisture is still observed, extend drying time until no moisture is visible. Thoroughly dry with a non-linting cloth all removable endoscope parts. A drying cabinet may also be used to aid in the drying of devices prior to packaging and sterilization.
- b) A venting method and/or removal of the soaking cap before sterilization may be indicated in the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU.

The packaging manufacturer's written IFU should be followed, and the manufacturer contacted if additional information is needed regarding packaging materials compatibility with the hydrogen peroxide or hydrogen peroxide–ozone sterilization method or load characteristics.

Acceptable packaging materials may include:

- a) non-cellulose based peel pouches;
- b) polypropylene wrap; and
- c) rigid sterilization container systems cleared for use in the specific type of hydrogen peroxide or hydrogen peroxide–ozone sterilizer.

The hydrogen peroxide or hydrogen peroxide-ozone sterilizer should be loaded in accordance with the sterilizer manufacturer's written IFU. Do not exceed the maximum chamber loading weight limit specified in the sterilizer manufacturer's FDA clearance and IFU for each type of sterilization cycle. Inadequate drying of the load prior to sterilization could lead to hydrogen peroxide and/or water droplets remaining following the cycle. ANSI/AAMI ST58 [14] recommends wearing chemical-resistant gloves when unloading the sterilizer. The package should be inspected for any signs of moisture.

OSHA permissible exposure limits apply to hydrogen peroxide and ozone (29 CFR 1910.1000, Table Z-1) [227]. For additional information, the user should consult the hydrogen peroxide and hydrogen peroxide–ozone sterilant Safety Data Sheet and ANSI/AAMI ST58 [14]. See also H.5 for hydrogen peroxide sterilization and H.6 for hydrogen peroxide-ozone sterilization.

Rationale: The rationale for the drying recommendations is that residual water droplets have the potential to cause residual chemicals to be present in a liquid form at the conclusion of the sterilization cycle, which can cause exposure to the chemical. Excess moisture can also cause the cycle to fail and the sterilizer to abort.

9 Sterile endoscope sheaths used as protective microbial barriers

Endoscope sheaths are available and FDA-cleared for use only with specified endoscopes (Ofstead, 2019 [234]). For all sheaths, after disposal of the single-use sheath, the endoscope should be thoroughly cleaned and high-level disinfected or sterilized according to the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU. The IFU for some of the cleared devices recommend alternative processing instructions to conventional liquid chemical sterilization/high-level disinfection when the sheath remains intact after endoscope use. For these endoscopes and sheaths, the endoscope and sheath manufacturers' written IFU should be followed (AORN, 2018 [367]). If the processing instructions from the endoscope manufacturer and the endoscope sheath manufacturer appear to differ or to conflict, health care facility personnel should contact each manufacturer to request additional information and make their own decision, in conjunction with an infection preventionist, based on all available information.

Endoscope sheaths may fall into two categories: sheaths that are intended to *reduce* the level of soiling of the endoscope (but the presence of the sheath does not impact the reprocessing procedures), and sheaths that are intended to *prevent* endoscope soiling and thus serve as microbial barriers (such that visually intact sheaths after use may allow for reduced reprocessing procedures of the endoscope). Endoscope sheaths may be used as an accessory device in conjunction with laryngoscopes, cystoscopes, esophagoscopes, bronchoscopes, and nasopharyngoscopes. The sheath is installed over the endoscope's insertion tube and might contain working channels through which irrigation, suction, and/or accessory equipment can be used.

10 Processing of endoscope accessories

10.1 General considerations

Processing certain reusable endoscope components, such as air/water and suction valves, biopsy port covers, water bottles, and tubing, requires the same level of inspection, cleaning, and high-level disinfection or sterilization as the endoscopes themselves. If compatible, valves should be subjected to sterilization (see 7.5.2). Alternatively, valves may be immersed in an LCS/HLD solution, following the manufacturer's written IFU, or single-use, disposable valves can be used.

Reusable endoscopic accessories that break the mucosal barrier (e.g., biopsy forceps, other cutting instruments) should be manually or mechanically cleaned as directed by the manufacturer's written IFU and then sterilized between each patient use (high-level disinfection is not recommended).

10.2 Procedure

The general procedure for processing endoscope accessories is as follows:

a) Remove all detachable parts from the endoscope and clean them individually prior to further processing.

NOTE For options for processing and tracking valves, see 7.5.2.

- b) Open or disassemble the endoscope components, completely immerse them in a compatible cleaning solution, and clean them according to the manufacturer's written IFU.
- c) Continue to brush and flush the valves until no visible soil remains.
- d) Rinse open components with copious amounts of utility water until all cleaning solution is visibly removed.
- e) Dry the accessories in accordance with the manufacturer's written IFU.
- f) Immerse the valves in HLD solution, following the manufacturer's written IFU for disinfectant contact time and temperature for manual processes.
- g) Rinse with specified water quality and repeatedly actuate valves during rinsing.
- Alternately, valves can be disinfected in an AER cleared for processing of valves or sterilized. Follow AER manufacturer's written IFU or the sterilization recommendations from the valve and/or sterilizer manufacturer. Only those accessories validated for processing in the specific AER should be processed with that AER.

11 Storage of processed endoscopes

11.1 General considerations

Effective storage of flexible and semi-rigid endoscopes is an important aspect of processing to ensure the devices are safe for patient use because it helps provide protection of the endoscopes and accessories and prevents recontamination of the devices. Identification of patient-ready endoscopes is important because it distinguishes LCS/HLD processed endoscopes from non-processed endoscopes.

Methods that employ active drying of endoscopes with filtered air are the preferred means of drying the internal channels of endoscopes after processing. Storage cabinets are used to secure and, in some cases, circulate air through the processed endoscopes.

There is no consensus on the maximum storage time that should be allowed for a high-level disinfected endoscope. After completion of a LCS processing cycle, critical endoscopes should be used immediately; semi-critical endoscopes should be used immediately or handled and stored in a manner similar to that of high-level disinfected endoscopes.

11.2 Storage of high-level disinfected or liquid chemically sterilized endoscopes

11.2.1 Storage procedures

Endoscopes are to be stored in an area that is clean, well-ventilated, and dust-free in order to keep the endoscopes dry and prevent exposure to potentially hazardous microbial contamination. They should be stored in a manner that will protect them from damage or contamination and in accordance with the endoscope and storage cabinet manufacturers' written IFU.

Before storage, the channels of the high-level disinfected endoscope should be dry to help prevent bacterial growth and the formation of biofilm (see 8.2.5). If a drying cabinet is not used, dryness can be checked by using dryness indicators.

Endoscopes should be stored suspended vertically or horizontally in a cabinet designed for storage in a way to allow circulation of air in accordance with the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU (e.g., pressure of air flow through channels, diameter of endoscope coil). When high-level disinfected or liquid chemically sterilized endoscopes are stored vertically, the insertion tube should be as straight as possible, with the distal tip hanging freely.

All valves and other accessories shall be removed in preparation for drying and during storage. A tip protector that is made of material that can retain moisture (e.g., sponge) can create an environment favorable for microbial growth. Tip protectors should not cover the opening of the tip. Tip protectors are meant to be single-use unless otherwise specified in the manufacturer's written IFU. Reusable endoscope parts may be stored dry in a containment device designed and intended for this purpose (see 7.5).

See 7.5 for processing options for reusable detachable parts. The devices and valves should be dry prior to being placed in a storage cabinet. Valves should be dried according to the manufacturer's written IFU.

If the endoscope has angulation locks or a flexibility adjuster, it should be stored according to the IFU.

There should be sufficient space between and around endoscopes to prevent them hitting one another, which can cause damage to the endoscopes.

All critical devices (e.g., ureteroscopes, bronchoscopes) not used immediately should be processed again before use. Endoscopes should not be left in the AER basin for extended amounts of time (e.g., more than one hour), otherwise the endoscope should be reprocessed through high level disinfection/liquid chemical sterilization process prior to storage or immediate clinical use. This section provides available information that can be used by health care facilities to determine maximum storage time.

Rationale: When flexible and semi-rigid endoscopes are hung in the vertical position, coiling or kinking is prevented. Following recommended storage practices facilitates drying and decreases the potential for contamination.

11.2.2 Storage cabinets

Two types of storage cabinets for HLD-processed endoscopes are currently available: drying cabinets and conventional cabinets. There is no clear consensus at this time among professional organizations as to which type of cabinet is best; however, drying cabinets have been shown in scientific studies to reduce the risk of retained moisture and microbial contamination (Perumpail, 2019 [254]; Saliou, 2015 [284]) (see Annex K). Endoscopes hung in HEPA-filtered storage cabinets that do not have drying capabilities need to be dried prior to storage. Both cabinets are designed to store endoscopes (with or without channels) in a controlled environment. Neither cabinet type is designed to clean and/or disinfect endoscopes (BS EN 16442 [47]).

Endoscopes processed with HLD or LCS should be stored in a cabinet that is of sufficient height, width, and depth to allow flexible endoscopes to hang vertically without coiling and without any components touching the bottom of the cabinet, or the cabinet should be designed and intended by the manufacturer for horizontal storage of flexible endoscopes (CDC, 2017 [108]).

Cabinets used for storage of flexible endoscopes should be situated in a secure location such as in the clean workroom of the endoscopy processing room in a two-room design or in a separate clean area close to, but not within, the endoscopy procedure room (AORN, 2018e, IX.a [39]). Situating the storage cabinet in a secure location helps protect inventories of flexible endoscopes and supplies that are vulnerable to misappropriation. Locating the storage cabinet in the clean workroom or in a clean area outside of the procedure room helps prevent contamination of processed endoscopes. Storage cabinets should have doors and be located at least 3 ft (0.9 m) from any sink. Ensuring that storage cabinets have doors and are separated from sinks by at least 3 ft (0.9 m) provides protection and reduces the potential for processed flexible endoscopes to be contaminated by water droplets (AORN, 2018e [39]). Cabinets should remain closed to protect the integrity of the disinfected endoscope.

Cabinets and endoscopes shall be visually inspected to ensure cleanliness when the endoscope is placed into the storage cabinet and also when the endoscope is removed for patient use. An endoscope that is removed from a visibly dirty cabinet or is not dry shall be processed before use (SGNA, 2018 [297]). Storage cabinets should be cleaned in accordance with the manufacturer's IFU, or at least weekly and when visibly soiled.

Rationale: Johnston et al., (2019) [185] found bioburden on the face shields of endoscopists and on face shields fastened more than 6 feet away from the procedure area, which indicates that anything stored in the procedure room may become contaminated.

11.2.2.1 Endoscope drying cabinets

Endoscope drying cabinets are closed cabinets designed for storage of flexible endoscopes that circulate HEPA-filtered or instrument air through the cabinet and each endoscope channel at continuous positive pressure. The collective evidence shows that drying-cabinets provide effective storage of flexible endoscopes to facilitate drying, decrease the potential for contamination, and provide protection from environmental contaminants (AORN, 2018 [367]). Within the drying cabinet, internal and external surfaces of the endoscope are intermittently or continuously dried, suppressing microbial growth. Studies related to the efficacy of drying cabinets compared with other methods of storage showed that drying cabinets effectively limited bacterial proliferation during storage of potentially incompletely dried endoscopes (Saliou, 2015 [284]; Perumpail, 2019 [254]).

Drying cabinets should be used in accordance with the drying cabinet manufacturer's IFU. See Annex K.

11.2.2.2 Conventional drying cabinets

Conventional cabinets are closed cabinets that enable circulation of HEPA-filtered or instrument air through the cabinet at passively or via continuous positive pressure, but do not include forced air through endoscope channels. When drying cabinets are not available, conventional cabinets may be used. Conventional cabinets should be cleaned in accordance with the manufacturer's IFU, at least weekly and when visibly soiled.

At a minimum, conventional cabinets with HEPA filtration should be used to store flexible endoscopes. When conventional cabinets are used, the facility should monitor for indications that the endoscope channels are not being dried before placement in the cabinet (results of drying verification tests (see Annex K), drip marks in the bottom of the

cabinet, etc.). If indications are noted, additional efforts should be taken to ensure drying (such as a drying time longer than 10-minutes, see 8.2.5.2 and Annex K).

Storage cabinets, unless modified to provide drying, or upgraded in accordance with a third-party drying manufacturer's IFU and approved by the storage cabinet manufacturer, do not meet criteria to be a drying cabinet.

If manual drying is used (see 8.2.5.2), verify the endoscope is dry per your health care facility's policy (see Annex K).

11.2.3 Identification of endoscopes during storage

Protocols should be developed to help ensure that users can readily identify an endoscope that has been processed and is ready for patient use.

The user should perform hand hygiene and don new, clean, non-latex gloves, according to the facility's policy, when handling processed endoscopes.

Before it is placed in the storage cabinet, a label or tag should be attached to the processed endoscope that includes:

- a) the processing date;
- b) the name(s) of the person(s) who performed the processing, optionally as specified by facility policy; and
- c) expiration date, based on facility's established risk assessment, if applicable.

Rationale: The CDC recommends that a policy and procedure be developed to ensure that end users know whether a particular endoscope has been processed, because when an endoscope is left on a cart or other surface, the status of the endoscope (i.e., used, or unused) might not be clear (CDC, 2017 [108]).

11.2.4 Maximum safe storage time for high-level disinfected endoscopes

11.2.4.1 General considerations

The accepted maximum safe storage time (previously referred to as "hang time" or shelf life) for processed endoscopes before they can no longer be considered safe for patient use is not well defined. There are a limited number of studies addressing this issue. The available data suggest that the risk of contamination is reduced when storage is performed according to the endoscope and storage cabinet manufacturers' written IFU. Multiple studies support the concept of viable but non-culturable cells that persist through disinfection and remain following extended storage (Cholley et al., 2020 [118]; Perumpail et al., 2019 [254]; Alfa et al., 2017 [61]). If bioburden is not eliminated prior to storage, it may become more resilient over time and continue to grow, especially if the endoscopes are stored before being completely dry.

11.2.4.2 Risk assessment

A multidisciplinary team that can include infection preventionists, endoscopy RNs, endoscopy processing personnel, endoscopists, risk management, and other involved personnel should conduct a risk assessment to determine the maximum storage time for an endoscope before it should be reprocessed (AORN, 2018e, IX.h [39]). A number of guidelines and recommended practices provide recommendations as to the maximum duration of storage time before the endoscope should be processed prior to the next use (SGNA, 2018 [297]; VA, 2014 [131]; Infection Control In Endoscopy, 2011; West Coast District Health Board, New Zealand, reviewed February 2013; Canadian Standards Association, 2008; NHS National Services Scotland, 2004, amended Sep 2007; Health Service Executive Standards and Recommended Practices for Endoscope Reprocessing Units). It is recommended that facilities research the current literature (see Annex J). Due to the lack of consensus and evidence on the storage time, it is recommended that the health care facility conduct a risk assessment to determine the maximum storage time for an endoscope before it needs to be processed for use on the next patient. Items for consideration in the risk assessment include:

a) complexity and type of endoscope (e.g., lumened or non-lumened);

54

- b) condition of the endoscope after processing (e.g., dry, or wet; flushed with alcohol prior to storage, instrument air purged);
- c) the results and trends of the cleaning verification tests, when conducted;
- d) staff competencies and compliance with facility policies and procedures;
- e) method of transporting the endoscope from processing to storage (use of fresh/clean gloves, removal of the endoscope in a clean environment, whether aseptic technique was used to remove the endoscope from the AER, and whether the gloves and gown worn by personnel placing the endoscope in the AER were changed before removal);
- conditions of storage environment (e.g., air-filtered or not air-filtered, temperature and humidity conditions, restricted access location);
- g) if available, cabinet manufacturer test data on the length of time that the cabinet can store endoscopes without additional microbial growth;
- h) excess handling during storage;
- i) manufacturer's written IFU for storage;
- j) compliance with professional organization guidelines for storage;
- k) relevant research studies;
- I) protective devices used to prevent contamination;
- m) frequency of use;
- n) patient population;
- o) frequency, type, and results and trends of quality monitoring of processing;
- p) quality of the final rinse water (see AAMI TIR34 [23]); and
- q) criticality of the endoscope's intended clinical use.

Based on the results of the risk assessment, the health care facility should develop policies and procedures to address the maximum endoscope storage time. Compliance should be audited to determine if changes to storage time need to be made. The facility should define circumstances or conditions that could occur during storage that would mean that an endoscope should be processed before use on the next patient (e.g., likely contamination with a water source, contact with surrounding environment).

Health care facilities should address cases where processing is to be done when the established maximum storage time has been exceeded (i.e., immediate processing or processing before the next patient use). Currently, there are limited data to give a definitive answer as to best practices for this question. Health care facilities should consider the potential risks and benefits associated with increased processing, including additional wear on the endoscopes.

11.2.5 Storage of liquid chemically sterilized endoscopes

Liquid chemically sterilized endoscopes intended to be used as critical devices should be used immediately after processing. They may also be used immediately in semi-critical applications. If liquid chemically sterilized but not meant for immediate use, follow instructions for storage of high-level disinfected endoscopes. (See Annex J.)

IGHTSLINKA)

11.3 Storage of terminally sterilized endoscopes and accessories

11.3.1 General considerations

Terminally sterilized endoscopes and accessories should be stored under controlled conditions in a manner that reduces the potential for contamination.

11.3.2 Storage area

Storage areas should be kept clean and dry. Sterile items should be:

- a) stored far enough away from the floor, the ceiling, and outside walls to allow for adequate air circulation, ease of cleaning, and compliance with local fire codes;
- b) stored at least 8 to 10 inches above the floor, at least 18 inches below the ceiling or the level of the sprinkler heads, and at least 2 inches from outside walls;
- c) stored in such a way that wrapped packages are not stored beneath rigid sterilization containers on the same shelf; and
- d) positioned so that packages are not crushed, bent, compressed, or punctured and so that their sterility is not otherwise compromised.

Access to the sterile storage area should be restricted to authorized personnel.

Sterile endoscopes, including those packaged in rigid sterilization container systems, should not be stored next to or under sinks, under exposed water or sewer pipes, or in any location where they could become wet.

Sterile endoscopes should not be stored on floors, on windowsills, or in areas other than designated shelving, counters, or carts.

The wrap manufacturer's IFU should be consulted for guidance on stacking trays. External shipping container and webedged corrugated boxes should not be in the storage area.

Closed or covered cabinets are recommended for sterile storage. Open shelving may be used, but requires special attention to traffic control, area ventilation, and environmental services.

Shelving, carts, and bins used for sterile storage should be maintained organized, clean, and dry. The bottom shelf of storage carts or shelving should be solid. The shelving or carts should be designed for the weight and configuration of the load.

Steps should be taken to ensure that stock rotation occurs between all sterilized endoscopes.

Rationale: Adequate space is needed around sterile materials to allow for air circulation in the room, to prevent contamination during cleaning of floors, and to prevent contact between sterile items and the condensation that might form on the interior surfaces of outside walls. Also, fire codes specify minimum distances below the ceiling (usually 18 inches) to ensure the effectiveness of sprinkler systems (NFPA 13 [215], NFPA 99 [216]). Compression of packages can force air and microorganisms into the package contents, cause seals to burst, or puncture the packaging, all of which lead to contamination. Sterile endoscopes that become wet are considered contaminated because moisture brings with its microorganisms from the air and surfaces. Stacking can result in damage to the wrap caused by undue pressure from the weight. Closed cabinets limit dust accumulation, discourage handling, and minimize inadvertent contact with the stored items. External shipping containers and web-edged corrugated cardboard boxes can collect dust, debris, or insects during shipment and bring contaminants into the facility.
12 Transport of processed endoscopes

Immediately before removing the endoscope from the storage cabinet, the user should perform hand hygiene and don new, clean, non-latex gloves, according to the facility's policy, unless otherwise specified by the procedure or the endoscope manufacturer's written IFU.

During transport to the point of use, the endoscope should be identified as clean and protected from contamination and damage. Unless transported through a controlled, connected corridor, the endoscope should be loosely coiled and placed in a clean, covered, solid protective container that is nonporous, leak-proof on its sides and bottom, puncture-resistant, and large enough to accommodate a single endoscope without the need to over-coil the insertion or light guide tubes.

The nonporous container may be a reusable container that shall be cleaned and disinfected between uses or a clean, single-use container. The container or liner should be visibly identified as clean.

Liquid chemically sterilized endoscopes that are to be used immediately in critical procedures should be transported within a closed processing container if one was used. If a closed processing container was not used, the endoscope should be removed using sterile gloves, transferred into a sterile bin, and covered with sterile drape. Use aseptic technique to avoid contaminating the device.

For endoscopes that are terminally sterilized for critical applications, transport the packaged endoscope within the sterile barrier system (see ANSI/AAMI/ISO 11607-1 [3] and ANSI/AAMI/ISO 11607-2 [4]).

Rationale: Disinfected and liquid chemically sterilized endoscopes can become recontaminated by hands and/or contact with surfaces while being handled and transported. Use of a barrier system can prevent recontamination. Recent research has demonstrated that soil and bioburden frequently remain on post-HLD, patient-ready endoscopes (Rex, 2017 [264]; Snyder, 2017 [293]; Bartles, 2018 [79]; Visrodia, 2014 [369]; Saliou, 2015 [282]; Ofstead, 2018a [245]; Ofstead, 2018b [240]). As such, gloves worn whenever handling endoscopes protects personnel and patients from exposure to contamination.

13 Quality control

13.1 General considerations

This section covers aspects of establishing policy and procedures, product identification and traceability, documentation and record-keeping, verification, and monitoring of the cleaning process, monitoring of high-level disinfection and sterilization processes, product recalls, and quality process improvement.

Quality control is a critical aspect of endoscope processing procedures. In all cases, manufacturers' written IFU, including those for the endoscope device, processing equipment, and other products used in processing, should be followed.

Quality control also includes verification and monitoring of personnel performance, work practices, and adherence to established policies and procedures.

13.2 Establishing policy and procedures for quality assurance and safety program

The health care facility should establish a multidisciplinary, comprehensive, written quality assurance and safety program for all aspects of endoscope processing. The program should include the following:

- a) Identification of all personnel roles involved in endoscopy procedures, specifying their position descriptions and responsibilities.
- b) Identification of all facility areas where endoscopes are used and processed.
- c) Identification of all endoscopes, endoscope accessories, and endoscope processing equipment used in the facility, including manufacturer, model, serial number or facility-specific identification number, and unique device identifiers (UDIs).

- d) Identification of the storage location, age, and status (e.g., maintenance schedule) of each endoscope.
- e) Procedures for verification that the endoscopes and accessories used in the facility and new equipment are compatible with facility processing equipment and supplies based on the manufacturers' written IFU. If the labeling is unclear regarding compatibility, complete the risk assessment in accordance with Annex D.
- f) Procedures for visual inspections and testing of the equipment and ancillary parts to identify conditions that could affect the cleaning or disinfecting processes (see 7.7 and Annex E).
- g) Procedures for use of cleaning verification tests and recording results, if applicable.
- h) Procedures for the use of microbial surveillance testing and recording results, if applicable.
- i) Procedures for the use of process monitors as recommended by the AER, LCS/HLD, and sterilizer manufacturers and recording results.
- j) Development and implementation of procedures that address specification evaluation, acquisition management, scheduled maintenance, and removal of equipment from use.
- k) Verification and maintenance of records documenting that all manufacturer-recommended maintenance schedules and services are performed for all endoscopes and processing equipment (e.g., AERs and sterilizers) used in the facility.
- I) Maintenance of records of the use of each endoscope, including model, serial number, and unique facility identifier or standardized UDI.
 - Records should document the patient upon whom the endoscope was used, the date and time of use, and the location of use.
 - Records should also show the system (model and serial number of the AER or sterilizer if applicable) used to process the endoscope and the identification of the person(s) responsible for processing the endoscope.
- m) Assignment of personnel responsibilities for tracking the useful life of endoscopes and accessory equipment, including equipment and supplies for processing.
- n) Audit and documentation of the introduction (and withdrawal from use) of all endoscopes, endoscope accessories, AERs, AER accessories such as endoscope connection devices, and sterilizers.
- establishment and documentation of education, training, and competency verification programs for all personnel responsible for processing endoscopy equipment and outline of schedules for periodic education and training updates and competency verification.
- p) Establishment of procedures for storage of processed endoscopes prior to patient use.
- q) Establishment of a method for detecting clusters of infections or suspected infections (i.e., pseudoinfections) associated with endoscopic procedures. If a cluster is suspected, the facility infection prevention staff should be contacted to complete case review and develop case definitions for the suspected infections. If it is confirmed or suspected to meet definition, the infections should be reported to appropriate risk management staff to report to the manufacturer of the endoscope and the endoscope accessories, the manufacturer of the chemical sterilant, sterilizer or AER, the FDA's MedWatch, and other relevant regulatory agencies. Facilities should develop a process for segregating and saving devices suspected of being defective for investigative purposes, Including, if possible, the packaging and identifying information such as lot or serial numbers.
- r) Establishment of a procedure to investigate lapses in processing.
- s) Availability of a spill kit capable of handling the maximum possible spill (see 8.2.2).

t) Procedures for the use of engineering controls such as exhausts, gas monitors, environmental controls (temperature, humidity, air flow) and records of equipment performance and maintenance as well as employee training as applicable.

13.3 Product identification and traceability

Each item or package intended for use should be traceable to a lot control identifier. The lot control identifier should designate:

- a) the device name and identifier (e.g., serial number);
- b) the identification number or code of the sterilizer, AER, or soaking container;
- c) the date processing was completed;
- d) the processing cycle number (if automated);
- e) the patient identifier; and
- f) the technician processing the device.

The health care facility's policy should determine when the lot control information is affixed to the package or correlated to the endoscope.

An instrument tracking system that provides endoscope traceability of the sterilizer's unique identifier and cycle and load number may be used in lieu of a sterilizer load label.

Lot control information should be documented and associated with the endoscope (e.g., via a logbook or electronic record).

Items that are processed for immediate use by means of a manual LCS/HLD soaking system require a means of identification of the items processed.

Rationale: Lot identification enables personnel to retrieve items in the event of a recall and to trace problems to their source. Quality control measures (e.g., the use of conventional BIs) might not yield results until after the processed load has been used. Quality control record-keeping is critical and relies heavily on historical data, especially where quality control measures yield conflicting evidence. Record-keeping is needed for both epidemiological tracking and ongoing assessment of the reliability of chemical sterilization and high-level disinfection processes.

13.4 Documentation and record-keeping

All recorded information may be incorporated into a paper log or preferably, an electronic record-keeping system or may be filed as individual documentation records. All records should be retained for a period of time not less than that specified by state or local statues and legal considerations (e.g., statues of limitations for lawsuits). If statutes are not specific, record retention should be determined by the facility's risks management personnel, legal counsel, and infection prevention and control personnel.

13.4.1 Documentation

- 1) For each processing cycle (including gaseous chemical sterilization, liquid chemical sterilization, or high level disinfection) the following information should be recorded and maintained:
 - assigned lot or load number (see 13.3 for information on lot code for individual items) to include the gaseous chemical sterilizer, AER, LCSPS or soaking container identification, cycle number, and date and time of the cycle;
 - b) identification of the operator;

- c) description of specific items/contents in the lot or load, including quantity of each item, processing area;
- d) name and/or unique patient identifier of the patient the endoscope was used in;
- e) procedure, physician and the serial number or other identification of the endoscope; and
- f) any results of microbial test of endoscopes or processing equipment.
- 2) In addition to point 1 for LCS/HLD cycles this information should also be recorded and maintained, as applicable:
 - a) Shelf-life date. the lot number, and the date that the original container of LCS/HLD was opened, the use-life of the open container; the date that the product was activated or diluted; the date that the activated, diluted, or ready-to-use solution was poured into a secondary container; and the reuse-life of the solution;
 - b) Exposure time and temperature and other critical parameters, if not provided by the physical monitors on the AER;
 - LCS/HLD type and concentration; pH test results if required by the facility policy or the manufacturer's written IFU;
 - d) Results of MRC or MEC solution monitoring test or CI, as applicable;

1) Any reports MRC or MEC failure testing results or CI, as applicable;

2)See 8.2.4.1 for actions to take with failed test results;

- e) LCS spore test strip results, if used, according to manufacturer's written IFU for the system manufacturer;
- Results of quality control testing of MRC or MEC test or CI, as applicable, if indicated by the written manufacturer's IFU;
- g) Results of recording chart, printout, or electronic recording of physical parameters of the AER. This data should be dated, and the operators should review and sign each cycle.
- 3) In addition to point 1 for gaseous chemical sterilization cycles, this information should also be recorded and maintained:
 - a) results of BI and appropriate control according to BI manufacturer's written IFU;
 - b) results of CI used in internal pack and external exposure monitoring;
 - c) any reports of positive BI, negative BI control, or failed CI results (see 13.10.2 for actions to take with failed results); and
 - d) results of recording chart, printout, or electronic recording of physical parameters from the sterilizer. This data should be dated, and the operators should review and sign each cycle.

Other documentation should be recorded and maintained:

- 1) A record of repairs and preventative maintenance should be kept for each reprocessor or sterilizer or mechanical soaking equipment.
- 2) Date on any personnel exposure liquid or chemical sterilants. OSHA requires that individual employee exposure records should be kept for at least the duration of the employment.

a) For EO, OSHA requires that records be kept for the duration of employment plus 30 years.

Also consult federal, state, and local regulations.

Rationale: Documentation helps ensure monitoring of the process as it is occurring, verifies that critical cycle parameters have been met, and establishes accountability. In addition, documentation helps personnel determine whether recalls are necessary and the extent of recalls, if evidence subsequent to lot release, such as a positive BI or spore test strip, nonresponsive CI, failed solution test strip, or chemical monitoring device suggests processing problems. Knowing the contents of the lot or load enables personnel to decide how critical a recall might be. Digitization of the process can allow quick access to load information, thus facilitating a quick response. In addition, this documentation provides evidence of a processing area's quality control program. Electronic records of process monitoring results, including specific load item identification, are recommended because of their better legibility, accuracy, traceability, security, and data integrity. The length of time to retain sterilization and/or HLD records depends on many different factors and may vary from facility to facility depending on policy and applicable regulations.

13.4.2 Expiration dating for terminally sterilized endoscopes

Each packaged item in a sterilization load should be labeled with a control date for stock rotation and the following statement (or its equivalent): "Contents sterile unless package is opened or damaged. Please check before using." This information can be incorporated into the lot identification on the label or imprinted or affixed separately on the outside of the package. If the product contains material that degrades over time (e.g., latex), the product package should be labeled with a clearly identifiable expiration date that takes this degradation into account or is based on the device manufacturer's written IFU. If a time-related shelf-life system is used, the product package should be labeled with an expiration date.

Rationale: Labeling items with a lot control number and an expiration statement or (when applicable) expiration date is necessary for stock rotation.

13.5 Verification and monitoring of the cleaning process

13.5.1 General Considerations

Satisfactory cleaning processes should reduce clinical soil to a level that allows the subsequent disinfection or sterilization process to be effective. Cleaning of flexible endoscopes is a challenging process due to the complex design and heavy bioburden that is commonly present after a patient procedure. Verification involves both visual inspection and the use of rapid cleaning verification indicators. Both are important as part of a comprehensive quality control program.

Visual inspection is greatly enhanced with the use of magnification and illumination. Visual inspection can include the use of borescopes to inspect the inner channels/lumens present in many flexible endoscopes (see Annex E).

Visual inspection alone is not able to determine if the reduction in clinical soil is sufficient for an effective cleaning result but is critical to determine any defects or potential damage to the endoscope.

Cleaning verification indicators provide an independent, objective assessment of the cleaning process. Benchmarks can be determined by the facility based on guidelines, independent research or information provided by the product manufacturer. Cleaning verification is also used for surgical instruments and environmental surfaces to assess the cleanliness of the item.

Proper rinsing in accordance with the manufacturers' written IFU can help avoid potential residual detergent/disinfectant interference.

There are various markers that can be detected in clinical soil that can provide important information to the user, identify inadequate cleaning processes, and serve as a quality control tool.

Cleaning verification tests are performed following cleaning and are used to verify the effectiveness of a cleaning process in removing or reducing to an acceptable level the clinical soil that occurs during the use of an endoscope. These types of indicators do not measure microbial contamination.

RIGHTSLINK4)

High-risk endoscopes (see 3.31) and/or those that are of complex design (e.g., duodenoscopes, linear ultrasound (EUS) endoscopes, bronchoscopes, endobronchial ultrasound (EBUS) endoscopes, ureteroscopes, cystoscopes and as determined by the facility) shall be monitored with cleaning verification tests after each cleaning. Manual cleaning of flexible endoscopes that are not determined to be high-risk should be verified using cleaning verification tests when new endoscopes are purchased and at established intervals (e.g., at a statistically significant frequency based on the number of procedures performed). See Annex F, particularly F.4, for statistical frequency determination.

It is not recommended to perform a cleaning monitor test after the AER cycle as these tests are meant to verify cleaning efficacy and do not measure microbial contamination.

Rationale: Visual inspection alone is not sufficient for assessing the efficacy of cleaning processes. The use of methods that are able to identify organic residues that are not detectable using visual inspection should be considered in facility cleaning policy and procedures.

13.5.2 Visual inspection after manual cleaning

Cleaning verification of flexible and semi-rigid endoscopes by users should include the following:

- a) Visual inspection combined with other verification methods (see 13.5.3) that allow the assessment of both external surfaces and internal housing and channels. Visually inspect the distal ends of endoscopes using lighted magnification (e.g., 10x).
- b) Testing of the cleaning efficacy of mechanical equipment.
- c) Monitoring of key cleaning parameters (e.g., cleaning agent dose, temperature).

The endoscope should be visually inspected. If any damage is observed during or after the cleaning process, the device should be removed from service and evaluated for repair. See Section 14.

Tools such as video borescopes of an appropriate dimension (i.e., length and diameter) can be used to visually inspect the accessible internal channels and document their condition.

Several methods can be used to evaluate the results of the cleaning process. The most common is visual inspection. Careful visual inspection should be conducted to detect the presence of any residual soil. Inspection using magnification and additional illumination will identify residues and/or damage more readily than the unaided eye. Direct visual inspection is not possible for all inner components of medical devices that have lumens or that are of nonsealed tubular construction (e.g., flexible endoscope channels, laparoscopic accessory devices, and biopsy forceps) without the use of special equipment (e.g., borescope). Not all residual contamination or microorganisms can be detected by visual inspection as they are not accessible to visual inspection. Further, residual organic soil and microbial contamination may be present on an accessible surface even though the device looks clean (Visrodia et al., 2014 [369]).

13.5.3 Cleaning verification tests for users

Cleaning verification tests are performed following cleaning and before disinfection or sterilization and are used to verify the effectiveness of a cleaning process to remove or reduce to an acceptable level the clinical soil that occurs during the use of an endoscope.

Methods that are able to quantitatively or chemically detect organic residues that are not detectable using visual inspection should be implemented.

High-risk endoscopes (see 3.31) and/or those that are of complex design (e.g., duodenoscopes, linear ultrasound (EUS) endoscopes, bronchoscopes, endobronchial ultrasound (EBUS) endoscopes, ureteroscopes, cystoscopes and as determined by the facility) shall be monitored with cleaning verification tests after each cleaning. Manual cleaning of flexible endoscopes that are not determined to be high-risk should be verified using cleaning verification tests when new endoscopes are purchased and at established intervals (e.g., at a statistically significant frequency based on the number of procedures performed). See Annex F, particularly F.4 for statistical frequency determination.

Annex F provides information related to user verification of cleaning procedures and cleaning equipment, including the currently available test methods that apply to in-use evaluation of, respectively, efficacy of cleaning of medical devices and efficacy of washer-disinfectors used for flexible and semi-rigid endoscope processing. An example of a cleaning verification program is also provided.

Several technologies are available that can be used to measure the levels of organic soil and microbial contamination on the cleaned device. The published studies that have evaluated the specific markers that can be used to determine cleaning efficacy have indicated that the following markers are useful for benchmarking purposes by the user: protein, carbohydrate, hemoglobin (blood), adenosine triphosphate (ATP), and an enzyme that detects specific bacteria (Alfa et al., 2012 [58]; Alfa et al., 2013 [36]; Alfa et al., 2014 [56]; Visrodia et al., 2014 [369]; Alfa, 2020 [63]).

Two basic components of user verification of cleaning efficacy are as follows:

- a) Establishing a reasonable benchmark; this is the level of cleaning that can be achieved consistently using specific soil markers relevant to devices used for patients;
- b) Using rapid, easy-to-perform methods that reliably demonstrate that the cleaning benchmarks have been achieved.

This testing should include, at a minimum, monitoring of the instrument/suction channel (ANSI/AAMI ST58 [14]).

Facilities should establish benchmarks based on their facility practices, types of endoscopes, types of equipment, training available, and cleaning verification test used. Realistic benchmarks depend on what can be achieved by routine cleaning and the limit of detection of the method used. Check with specific cleaning verification test manufacturers' written IFU for their recommended benchmark or pass/fail threshold value. See F.2.

The benchmarks for residual soil and bioburden levels after cleaning might become more definitive as more data become available and/or more efficient cleaning methods are developed. Users should review current literature along with the manufacturer's data to formulate policies and procedures for verification of cleaning efficacy. A study has shown that some benchmarks can be significantly lowered due to the increase in cleaning efficacy achieved by automated pump-assisted cleaning (Alfa et al., 2014 [56]).

Some cleaning verification systems provide quantitative results that can be tracked and trended over time. Some systems additionally have record-keeping or data capture systems that can aid in identifying endoscopes with repeated failed cleaning results.

NOTE It is not recommended to perform a cleaning monitor test after the AER cycle as these tests are meant to verify cleaning efficacy.

Rationale: Visual inspection alone is not sufficient for assessing the efficacy of cleaning processes; the use of methods that are able to measure organic residues that are not detectable using visual inspection should be considered in facility cleaning policy and procedures.

13.5.4 Testing cleaning efficacy

The facility's quality assurance program should include ways to verify that the cleaning equipment is working and that the cleaning process is effective. Automated cleaning equipment should be tested upon installation, during routine use, and on all cycles used after repairs, and when changing to a new type of cleaning solution. The automated cleaning efficacy test and equipment manufacturer's written IFU should be followed.

When developing a user verification procedure for the cleaning process (see Annex F), processing personnel should ensure the following:

- a) The endoscope manufacturer has provided a written IFU detailing the recommended cleaning process.
- b) The facility has established, clarified, and documented a standard cleaning process for the device (see Section 7).

- c) High-risk endoscopes (see 3.31) are monitored with cleaning verification tests after each use. Manual cleaning of flexible endoscopes that are not determined to be high-risk should be verified using cleaning verification tests when new endoscopes are purchased and at established intervals (e.g., at a statistically significant frequency based on the number of procedures performed) [see 7.8.4 and F.4].
- d) Cleaning verification results are documented.
- e) The facility has established, clarified, and documented a process to address cleaning verification failures and trends.
- f) The facility has established an education, training, and competency assessment program that verifies that personnel are consistently achieving the expected level of cleaning.

Rationale: Meticulous manual cleaning is essential for the removal of organic contamination that can interfere with the subsequent disinfection or sterilization process. The manual cleaning step is prone to error (Dirlam-Langley, 2013 [135]; Ofstead, 2010 [245]; ASGE, 2017 [28]; Ofstead, 2015 [235]; Ofstead, 2016 [247]) and therefore should be monitored on a routine basis at least as frequently as is recommended for the cleaning equipment. Testing the equipment upon installation, during routine use and on all cycles used, after repairs, and when changing to a new type of cleaning solution allows the user to verify its continued effectiveness (AORN, 2018 [367]).

13.6 Monitoring of liquid chemical sterilization/high-level disinfection

13.6.1 Monitoring of manual processes

13.6.1.1 Physical monitors

Physical monitoring of manual liquid chemical sterilization/high-level disinfection processes using a thermometer and timer should be completed for each cycle. The results of physical monitoring should be documented (see 13.4.1).

The calibration of thermometers, timers, and other monitoring equipment should be verified periodically, according to facility policy.

A reusable HLD solution should be visually inspected before each use and discarded if precipitates (e.g., crystallization) or particulates are observed, even if the solution is within its use-life. The solution manufacturer's written IFU should be followed for specific guidance. The solution container should be covered. The contact time and temperature of LCS/HLD solutions should be documented.

If the interpretation of the physical monitors or visual inspection of the solution suggests inadequate processing, the items should not be dispensed or used. Follow-up measures should be initiated per facility policy.

Rationale: Physical monitoring is needed to help ensure that the parameters are correct for every cycle and to detect malfunctions as soon as possible so that corrective action can be taken. Calibrating thermometers and timers used for physical monitoring helps ensure accuracy and precision. Covering the solution container prevents evaporation of the solution and exposure to light, both of which can affect the efficacy of the chemical agent.

13.6.1.2 Solution test strips or chemical monitoring devices

13.6.1.2.1 General considerations

Solution test strips or chemical monitoring devices are designed to determine whether the concentration of the active ingredient in the LCS/HLD solution is at the MRC or MEC for the LCS/HLD for both manual and automated processes. These solution test strips, or chemical monitoring devices assist the user in determining when the solution should no longer be used. All solution test strips, or chemical monitoring devices should be used according to the manufacturer's written IFU.

Rationale: The manufacturer's written IFU provides information on the reliability, safety, and performance characteristics of the product.

GHTSLINKA)

13.6.1.2.2 Using solution test strips or chemical monitoring devices

Processing personnel should use the solution test strip or chemical monitoring device cleared by the FDA for use with the specific LCS/HLD product. The manufacturer's written IFU should provide information on the reliability, safety, and performance characteristics of the product, including the interpretation of the solution test strip or chemical monitoring device reaction, the MRC or MEC that the solution test strip or chemical monitoring device is designed to detect, and the shelf life and storage requirements. Any necessary quality control test of the solution test strip or chemical monitoring device should be performed according to their manufacturer's written IFU.

Rationale: Solution test strips or chemical monitoring devices are needed to detect inadequate concentration of the active ingredient of the LCS/HLD.

13.6.1.2.3 Frequency of use

The LCS/HLD solution should be tested before or during each use.

Rationale: The manufacturer's written IFU will identify a solution test strip or chemical monitoring device to be used with the product or a suitable FDA-cleared alternative. The concentration of an active ingredient in the LCS/HLD solution will decrease with dilution by water, the presence of organic or other extraneous materials, and exposure of the solution to light. Checking the concentration of the active ingredient before use can reduce the risk associated with use of an ineffective LCS/HLD solution.

13.6.1.2.4 Interpretation

Unless otherwise directed by the solution or equipment manufacturer, the solution test strip or chemical monitoring device shall be read before the LCS/HLD solution is used. Processing personnel should receive education, training, and complete competency verification regarding the performance characteristics of the solution test strip or chemical monitoring device to be used.

Users should follow the manufacturer's written IFU when interpreting solution test strips or chemical monitoring devices. If the interpretation suggests that the concentration of active ingredients is inadequate, the solution should be discarded even if it is within its use-life. Suppliers of solution test strips or chemical monitoring devices that change color often provide visual color interpretation reference charts. If available, these charts should be obtained and used for education of and referenced by processing personnel.

Color-blind testing should be done for all processing personnel to ensure that they will be able to compare the test strip results to the interpretation reference charts.

13.6.1.2.5 Inadequate processing

If the solution test strip or chemical monitoring device indicates that the concentration of the active ingredient is inadequate and if items have been processed in this ineffective solution and used, the following actions should be taken to identify these items:

- a) The supervisor or other designated person and the designated infection prevention and control personnel should be verbally notified immediately, and this notification should be followed by a written report. The report and notification should include:
 - 1) the time and date of the questionable processing cycles;
 - 2) a description of the soaking or processing container and the load, including lot control numbers, product and patient names, and other identifying information;
 - 3) the results of physical monitoring and the solution test strip or chemical monitoring device obtained from the user; and
 - 4) any other information that could be useful in determining whether the results of the solution test strip or chemical monitoring device are valid or questionable.

- b) Items processed since the last cycle for which the solution test strip or chemical monitoring device indicated an adequate concentration should be considered unprocessed. They should be retrieved, if possible, and processed. The LCS/HLD solution in question should be discarded.
- c) After the cause of the processing failure has been determined and addressed, the LCS/HLD solution should be tested with a solution test strip or chemical monitoring device. If the solution test strip or chemical monitoring device indicates that the concentration of the active ingredient is inadequate, the solution should be discarded and replaced with freshly prepared solution.
- d) Determine whether a product recall is necessary. Refer to 13.12.

Rationale: Following the recommended protocol when the solution test strip or chemical monitoring device indicates that the concentration of the active ingredient is inadequate can provide valuable data in support of corrective actions and can aid in identifying potential improvements in work practices.

13.6.2 Monitoring of automated processes

13.6.2.1 General considerations

Process monitoring devices (such as spore test strips, solution test strips, or chemical monitoring devices) should be used to monitor the processing conditions in automated processing equipment that use LCSs/HLDs. The process monitoring devices defined by the manufacturer of the chemicals and/or processing equipment should be used and interpreted according to the manufacturer's written IFU.

Unless otherwise directed by the solution or equipment manufacturer, solution test strips and chemical monitoring devices should be used to test automated equipment before or during each use. The use and interpretation of these strips and chemical monitoring devices to monitor the concentration of active ingredients in LCS/HLD solutions are described in 13.6.2.2. Some AERs have built in mechanisms to monitor MEC/MRC and record the results.

Rationale: The devices to be used are determined by the written IFU from the manufacturer of the chemicals and/or automated processing equipment. Process monitoring devices might not be commercially available for all automated processes.

13.6.2.2 Use of physical monitors and process monitoring devices

Physical monitors reflect the parameters of the automated processing equipment and include displays, digital printouts, and gauges. Some processing systems include on-board diagnostics that enable the machine to perform routine physical self-testing. The user should obtain information from the manufacturer of the monitoring device regarding the accuracy and precision of the monitor, what parameters are measured, and any maintenance and/or calibration required to ensure the continued adequate performance of the equipment.

At the end of the cycle and before items are removed from the processing equipment, the operator should examine and interpret the printout to verify that cycle parameters were reviewed and met and should initial it to allow later identification of the operator. Automated processing equipment that does not have physical-monitor recording devices should not be used. Electronic software programs are also available that provide a real-time, paperless, permanent recording of physical parameters. Automated processing equipment without electronic data transfer, recording, or printing capabilities should not be used.

NOTE It is important that any chart or printout is readable.

If the interpretation of the physical monitors or process monitoring devices (such as spore test strips, solution test strips, or chemical monitoring devices) or visual inspection of the chemical solution, as defined by the manufacturer, suggests inadequate processing, the items should not be dispensed or used. The interpreter should inform the designated supervisor or delegated individual, who should initiate follow-up measures.

Rationale: Physical monitoring provides real-time assessment of the automated processing equipment cycle conditions and provides permanent records by means of chart recordings, digital printouts, or electronic records. Physical monitoring is needed to detect malfunctions as soon as possible so that corrective actions can be taken. Process

66

monitoring devices (such as spore test strips, solution test strips, or chemical monitoring devices) provide additional information about the effectiveness of the process and assist in determining the reasons for a process failure.

13.6.2.3 Automated processing equipment malfunction

If the physical-monitoring records or process monitoring devices (such as spore test strips, solution test strips, or chemical monitoring devices) indicate any malfunction or suspicious operation, the load shall be considered inadequately processed and should not be used. The processing equipment manufacturer's written IFU should be reviewed for troubleshooting information. After examination, if the malfunction cannot be corrected immediately, the cycle should be terminated according to the manufacturer's written IFU and the processing equipment removed from service. All items in the terminated cycle should be reprocessed. The health care facility engineer, or maintenance contract service personnel or technician should then be notified, and the malfunction should be corrected. Faulty processing equipment cannot be made operational without identifying and correcting the underlying problem; merely extending the cycle time, for example, is not sufficient.

Many liquid chemical sterilization/high-level disinfection automated processing equipment computer programs are designed to detect inadequate cycle conditions. Computer-controlled equipment will often abort the cycle when the required parameters for the process have not been met. Some automated equipment will also provide various types of alerts regarding equipment performance. Users of the equipment should be educated and trained to distinguish between alerts that represent fail conditions and those that do not, and what actions need to be taken to ensure adequate processing. Refer to the manufacturer's written IFU or documentation.

When repairs involve parts that are usually replaced under preventive maintenance procedures, verification of the processing equipment's operation to the manufacturer's specifications should be performed prior to returning the equipment to service.

Rationale: Altering the cycle parameters of malfunctioning processing equipment might not correct a problem. Adequate processing of future loads will be jeopardized if the processing equipment continues to be used without repair and requalification. To restore processing equipment to full performance, it is necessary to identify the exact cause of the malfunction.

13.6.2.4 Inadequate processing

If any process monitoring device (such as spore test strips, solution test strips, or chemical monitoring devices) defined for use with liquid chemical sterilization/high-level disinfection indicates the concentration of the active ingredients or specific process parameter during a cycle was inadequate, the actions described below should be taken to identify the reasons for this failure:

- a) Follow the manufacturer's written IFU to troubleshoot the problem.
- b) If troubleshooting was not successful, a description of the processing equipment failure should be included in a written report and notification to health care facility designated management.
- c) Any processing equipment in question should be removed from service.
- d) Unless otherwise indicated, infection prevention and control, sterile processing, and facility maintenance personnel should attempt to determine the cause of the processing failure.
- e) After the cause of the processing failure has been determined and corrected, the complete processing system should be tested according to the manufacturer's written IFU, including any associated diagnostic cycles and/or testing with process monitoring devices (such as BIs, spore test strips, CIs, solution test strips, or chemical monitoring devices). If the physical-monitoring results and the process monitoring devices for the cycle are satisfactory, the processing equipment can be returned to service.

Rationale: Conducting the above protocol when the solution test strip or chemical monitoring device indicates that the concentration of the active ingredient is inadequate will provide valuable data in support of any corrective action required and potential improvements in work practices.

13.6.3 Microbiological surveillance of endoscopes

Contaminated endoscopes and failures in processing have been associated with outbreaks of health care-associated infections (Kovaleva et al., 2013 [202]; O'Horo et al., 2016 [224]; Kumarage, 2019 [203]; Sorbets, 2019 [300]). Many of these outbreaks have been investigated by the microbiological sampling of flexible endoscopes and/or associated equipment (such as AERs, water bottles and accessories). The use of microbiological surveillance testing of endoscopes as a quality assurance measure is advised in the processing guidelines of several international organizations, including the Gastroenterological Society of Australia (GESA), and the European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy/European Society of Gastroenterology and Endoscopy Nurses and Associates (ESGE/ESGENA) (Taylor et al., 2011 [308]; Beilenhoff et al., 2007 [89]). Recent investigations of Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE) infections associated with endoscopes have also suggested the benefits of increased microbiological surveillance to reduce the risk of patient to patient microbial transmission associated with certain types of endoscopes (Galdys, 2019 [158]; Bourigault et al., 2018 [97]; Yang et al., 2017 [378]; Kovaleva et al., 2013 [202]; O'Horo et al., 2016 [224]; Ross et al., 2015 [270]). To date, in the USA, guidelines on the processing of flexible gastrointestinal endoscopes (ASGE, 2017 [29]; AORN, 2018e [40]; Petersen et al, 2017 [255]; SGNA, 2018 [297]) do not specifically recommend microbiological surveillance.

The FDA, CDC, and American Society for Microbiology (ASM) together with other experts released validated protocols for surveillance sampling and culturing of duodenoscopes ("Duodenoscope Surveillance Sampling and Culturing – Reducing the Risks of Infection," Department of Health and Human Services Collaboration, FDA, 2018 [345]). Although this protocol is specific to duodenoscopes, aspects of it may be applied to other types of flexible endoscopes. Although the use of this protocol is voluntary for health care facilities, sampling and culturing data can be used as part of an overall quality control program for endoscope processing. A recently published interim report by the FDA on mandated surveillance testing of duodenoscopes by manufacturers of those endoscopes found that 5.4 % have cultured positive for organisms of concern (FDA, 2019 [344]).

Conducting endoscope surveillance sampling and culturing is a time- and resource-intensive process (De Wolfe et al., 2019 [129]; Almario et al., 2015 [67]; Kohli et al., 2017 [198]). Although there are methods to assess the quality of the cleaning processes, such as ATP and other assays, those methods are not intended to be used after high-level disinfection or sterilization of medical devices. Two published studies evaluated the efficacy of a rapid test method for gram negative bacteria and did find this method proved to correlate with traditional culturing methods for detecting Gram negative bacteria (Alfa, 2020 [63], Washburn and Pietsch, 2018 [372]). Health care facilities should consider their own needs and available resources to implement this type of procedure (see FDA, 2018 [344]). Health care facilities that choose to implement surveillance sampling and culturing should be aware of the following:

- a) The results of microbiological sampling cannot be used to verify that an endoscope is free of microbes or sterile.
- b) Surveillance sampling should not be considered a replacement for a comprehensive quality assurance and safety program for all aspects of endoscope processing (13.1).
- c) Endoscope surveillance sampling and culturing is a shared responsibility of multiple departments within a health care facility. Those departments should jointly:
 - 1) identify the necessary resources and training required to implement surveillance sampling and culturing of endoscopes;
 - determine the specific procedures that will be implemented for surveillance sampling and culturing (e.g., each health care facility should determine the frequency of sampling, whether to release or quarantine endoscopes pending culturing results, and whether to perform additional endoscope processing procedures following sampling); and
 - 3) develop an action plan for culture results, which might range from actions such as review of processing procedures to endoscope removal and patient notification and follow-up.

The FDA/CDC/ASM protocol includes multiple options for different duodenoscope models and options for culturing techniques. Duodenoscopes should be sampled from the instrument channel, elevator recess, and elevator wire

68

channel (when accessible). The culturing process should include concentration of the sample (by filtration or centrifugation), followed by enrichment using non-selective bacterial media. The specified sampling procedure followed by filtration and plating has been validated and shown to extract most, but not all, microbes that were deposited on duodenoscopes. Health care facilities that choose to use this protocol should select the sampling and culturing options and develop the microbial limits and action plans that meet the needs of their site. More information is available at the FDA website.

Advantages	Disadvantages		
 Advised in guidelines of several international 	 Not advised in current US guidelines. 		
organizations. — Monitor effectiveness and quality of processing.	 Interpretation of data on low-concern organisms (e.g., non-pathogenic organisms or 		
 In comparative studies, can provide feedback on efficacy of corrective interventions. 	environmentals) is difficult as persistent levels can indicate a problem with processing or a problem		
 Can assist in detecting endoscopes requiring service. 	with improper aseptic technique during endosco sampling.		
 Can help identify sources of contamination. 	 Does not culture viruses, fungi, or all bacteria of concern, resulting in false negative results. 		
 Can reduce risk of patient infection or pseudo- infection associated with endoscope reuse. 	 False-positive and false-negative rates and limits of detection not established, and sensitivity of routine 		
 Can aid in the interpretation of results of clinical samples obtained by aspiration through an endoscope (e.g., is the patient sick or is the endoscope/clinical sample contaminated?). 	cultures might not be reliable for detecting organisms associated with outbreaks.		
	 Negative culture does not guarantee that effective processing occurred. 		
	 If quarantine of endoscopes is specified until culture results have been obtained, does not allow for rapid reuse of endoscope, and could lead to delays in patient care. 		
	 Resource-intensive; requires additional expenses for testing and time for personnel to collect and process microbiological samples. 		

Table 2 Misrabialagiaal auto	re eurocillence complin	a advantages and	dia advantanaa*
Table 3—Microbiological cultu	re surveinance samplin	g auvantages and	a disadvantages"

*NOTE Based on: Van Wicklin S. *Microbiological culture surveillance of flexible endoscopes: A systematic review. Canadian* Journal of Infection Control 31(2):79-84, 2016. [367]

13.7 Monitoring gaseous and vapor chemical sterilization processes

13.7.1 Physical monitors

Physical monitors include time, temperature, and pressure recorders, displays, digital printouts, and gauges. The user should obtain information from the manufacturer of the monitoring device certifying the accuracy and precision of the monitor and describing any maintenance required to ensure the continued adequate performance of the equipment.

For sterilizers with recording charts, the operator should ensure at the beginning of the cycle that the recording chart is marked with the correct date and the sterilizer number. For sterilizers, the operator should:

- a) check to verify that the cycle identification number has been recorded and that the pen or printer is functioning;
- b) at the end of the cycle and before items are removed from sterilizer, examine, and interpret the chart or printout to verify that cycle parameters were met;
- c) initial the printed record to allow later identification of the operator;
- d) ensure that the printed record is readable; and
- e) retain documents as in 13.4.1.

Sterilizers should not be used without a means for record-keeping and cycle verification.

Most temperature sensors indicate temperature in the sterilizer chamber, not at the center of packs. Incorrect load configuration or package composition can interfere with air evacuation and sterilant penetration, conditions that will not be revealed in the temperature recording. Therefore, physical monitoring and other indicators of sterilizer performance should never be considered a substitute for careful adherence to prescribed packaging and loading procedures.

If the interpretation of the physical monitors suggests inadequate processing, the items should not be dispensed or used. The interpreter should inform the supervisor or delegated individual, who should initiate follow-up measures.

Rationale: Physical monitoring provides real-time assessment of the sterilization cycle conditions and provides permanent records by means of chart recordings or digital printouts. Physical monitoring is needed to detect malfunctions as soon as possible, so that corrective actions can be taken in the event of failures.

13.7.2 Gaseous and vaporized chemical sterilizer malfunction

If the physical-monitoring records indicate any malfunction or suspicious operation, the cycle load should be considered unsterile and not used. In addition, the following steps should be taken:

- a) The supervisor or delegated individual should be notified.
- b) The manufacturer's written IFU should be reviewed for troubleshooting information.
- c) After examination, if the malfunction cannot be corrected immediately, the cycle should be terminated according to the sterilizer manufacturer's written IFU, and the sterilizer removed from service.
- d) All wrappers and disposable products from the aborted cycles should be replaced, and new process indicators should be used.
- e) The health care facility engineer, or maintenance contract service personnel should be notified, and the malfunction corrected.

A faulty sterilizer cannot be made operational without identifying and correcting the underlying problem; merely extending the cycle time, for example, is not sufficient. After a major repair of a sterilizer, it should be requalified according to the manufacturer's written IFU (see also ANSI/AAMI ST41 [12] and ANSI/AAMI ST58 [14]).

Users of the equipment should be educated and trained to distinguish between alerts that represent fail conditions and those that do not.

Removing a load from an aborted cycle can present a risk of worker exposure to residual sterilant. The manufacturer's written IFU should be followed, safety precautions should be observed, and personnel should wear PPE. Items from aborted cycles should be removed from packaging, cleaned if needed to remove residual chemicals, repackaged, and processed according to manufacturer's written IFU.

Rationale: When a sterilizer malfunctions, the load is considered unsterile. Simply altering the cycle parameters of a malfunctioning sterilizer will not correct a problem. The sterility of future loads will be jeopardized if the sterilizer continues to be used without repair and requalification to verify that the sterilizer performs to specifications after the correction of a malfunction. To restore a sterilizer to full performance, it is necessary to identify the exact cause of the malfunction.

A major repair is a repair outside of normal maintenance, such as rebuilding or upgrading controls. When repairs involve parts that are usually replaced under preventive maintenance procedures, the sterilizer can be returned to service after verification of the sterilizer's operation to the manufacturer's specifications.

Sterilizer software controls are designed to detect inadequate cycle conditions and will often abort the cycle when the required parameters for the process have not been met. Some sterilizers will also provide various types of alerts regarding equipment performance.

13.8 Chemical indicators

13.8.1 General considerations

Chemical indicators are sterilization process monitoring devices that are designed to respond with a chemical or physical change to one or more of the physical conditions within the sterilizing chamber. Chemical indicators assist in the detection of potential sterilization failures that could result from incorrect packaging, incorrect loading of the sterilizer, or malfunctions of the sterilizer. The "pass" response of a CI does not prove that the item monitored by the indicator is sterile. The use of CIs is part of an effective quality assurance program; CIs should be used in conjunction with physical monitors and BIs to demonstrate the efficacy of the sterilization process. All CIs should be used according to the CI manufacturer's written IFU.

13.8.2 Using chemical indicators

Health care personnel should use the CI cleared by the FDA for use with a specific sterilization system. The CI manufacturer should be consulted for information on the reliability, safety, and performance characteristics of the product. The CI manufacturer's written IFU should be consulted to explain the frequency of CI use, the placement of CIs, the interpretation of CI results, the reliability of the CI in maintaining end-point response during storage of sterilized items, the sterilization conditions that the CI will detect, the shelf life of the CI, and the storage requirements for the CI before and after sterilization.

NOTE The IFU for the CI provides information about the sterilization methods and systems with which it can be used.

An external CI should be used on the outside of each package unless the internal indicator is visible. The external CI should be examined after sterilization and also before use of the item to verify that the item has been exposed to the sterilization process.

An internal CI should be used inside each package, tray, pouch, or containment device (rigid sterilization container system, instrument case, cassette, or organizing tray) to be sterilized. The CI should be placed in that area of the package, tray, or containment device that creates the greatest challenge to sterilant penetration. The CI should be retrieved at the time of use and interpreted by the user.

The user shall receive education and training and demonstrate competency about the performance characteristics of the CI and the interpretation of the results.

For general information about CIs, see ANSI/AAMI/ISO 11140-1 [2] and ANSI/AAMI/ISO 15882 [6].

Rationale: Examining the CI after sterilization and before use enables the user to verify that the item has been exposed to the sterilization process.

13.8.3 Nonresponsive or inconclusive chemical indicators

If the interpretation of the CI suggests inadequate processing, the contents of the package should not be used. The interpreter should inform the designated supervisor, who should return the complete unused package, including load identification and the CI, for follow-up. The supervisor or delegated individual in the sterilizing area should then decide whether to recall that sterilized load. This decision should be based on the results of physical monitoring; the results of CIs elsewhere in the load; and, if applicable, the results of BI monitoring. If BI monitoring was performed but the results are not yet available, the remaining packages from the same load should be quarantined and should not be used until the BI results are obtained.

Rationale: If a CI is nonresponsive or inconclusive, it is possible that the entire load is nonsterile (i.e., the sterilization process failed). It is also possible that errors in loading or packaging have resulted in sterilization failures in some, but not all, packages in the load. Therefore, a single nonresponsive or inconclusive CI should not be considered definitive evidence that the entire load is nonsterile.

13.9 Biological indicators

13.9.1 General considerations

Biological indicators are sterilization process monitoring devices consisting of a standardized, viable population of microorganisms (usually bacterial spores) known to be resistant to the mode of sterilization being monitored. A negative BI does not prove that all items in the load are sterile or that they were all exposed to adequate sterilization conditions.

Process challenge devices are challenge test packs containing a BI or a BI and a CI. A PCD is used to assess the effective performance of a sterilization process by providing a challenge to the process that is equal to or greater than the challenge posed by the most difficult item routinely processed.

All BIs and PCDs should be used in accordance with the manufacturer's written IFU.

Rationale: Biological indicators are the only sterilization process monitoring devices that provide a direct measure of the lethality of the process. Various types of BIs are available, each with different response characteristics and incubation requirements. To provide useful information about the lethality of the sterilization process, the appropriate BI must be chosen for the sterilization cycle and used correctly (in accordance with the manufacturer's written IFU). Manufacturers of BIs are required to provide written instructions on the storage, handling, use, and microbiological testing of their products. Biological indicators consist of spores in or on a carrier and provide a direct measure of lethality of a cycle. Self-contained BIs (SCBIs) include incubation media with the spore carrier in a single vial. Biological indicators are incubated for various periods of time (depending on the specific product) until it is determined whether the microorganisms grow (i.e., survived the sterilization process) or fail to grow (i.e., were killed by the sterilization process). Biological indicators are intended to demonstrate whether the conditions were adequate to kill a large number of highly resistant bacterial spores.

13.9.2 Using biological indicators and process challenge devices

Processing personnel should use the BIs and PCDs cleared by the FDA for use with that system, or BIs and PCDs cleared by the FDA as substantially equivalent. Consult the manufacturer's written IFU on the storage, handling, use, and microbiological testing of their products.

NOTE BIs and commercially available PCDs used in health care facilities are medical devices that require FDA premarket clearance. The IFU for the BI or PCD provides information about the sterilization methods and systems with which it can be used.

Processing personnel should receive education, training, and complete competency verification activities regarding the performance characteristics of the BI and PCD and the interpretation of the results.

For general information about BIs, see ANSI/AAMI/ISO 11138-1 [1] and ANSI/AAMI/ISO 14161 [5]. For general information on PCDs, see AAMI TIR31 [22].

Process challenge devices containing BIs should be used for sterilizer qualification testing after installation before initial use of the sterilizer; after relocation, major repairs, or malfunctions of the sterilizer; and after sterilization process failures. A PCD with a BI should also be used daily, but preferably in every sterilization cycle or per the sterilizer manufacturer's recommendations.

Rationale: The condition of the sterilizer equipment, the expertise of the sterilizer operator, and other factors determining the success or failure of a sterilization cycle could vary from one cycle to another. The less frequently the sterilizer is used, the greater the opportunity for the occurrence of an unnoticed event that could affect the safety or sterility of the device.

13.10 Sterilizer testing

13.10.1 General considerations

All gaseous and vapor chemical sterilizers should be tested using BI PCDs daily or preferably every load, and upon installation, relocation, sterilizer malfunctions, major repairs, and sterilization process failures. Sterilizer testing after installation, relocation, and major repairs should be conducted in the health care facility by processing personnel in cooperation with the manufacturer. The testing should be performed between the time the sterilizer is installed,

relocated, or repaired and the time it is released for use or returned to service in the health care facility. Processing personnel should follow the manufacturer's written IFU, which should include the BI and PCD to use, the placement of the BI PCD in the load or chamber, whether the chamber should be full or empty, and the number of cycles to run.

Rationale: The use of BIs provides evidence of efficacy by challenging the sterilizer with a large number of highly resistant bacterial spores and the PCD is used to provide a challenge to the process that is equal to or greater than the challenge posed by the most difficult item routinely processed in the sterilization cycle. The purpose of testing a sterilizer after installation or relocation is to assess sterilizer performance in the environment in which it will be used. Satisfactory test runs verify that the sterilizer is in good working condition after shipment from the manufacturer or relocation from its previous site and that it will function effectively. Sterilizer testing after major repairs is intended to ensure that the sterilizer performs to specifications after the correction of a malfunction or a sterilization process failure.

13.10.2 Qualification test procedure and acceptance criteria

The test procedure is as follows:

- a) Before being exposed to the sterilization cycle, the PCD should be labeled with sterilizer lot and load information.
- b) The PCD should be positioned in the load or chamber according to the sterilizer and PCD manufacturers' written IFU, and a normal cycle should be run.
- c) Upon completion of the sterilization cycle, the manufacturer's written IFU for removing the PCD from the load or chamber and the BI from the PCD should be followed. During the removal and transfer process, processing personnel should be careful to avoid contamination of the BI or injury to themselves. The BI should be identified and then incubated according to the written IFU of the BI manufacturer.
- d) Each day that test BIs are run, at least one BI that is from the same lot and that has not been exposed to the sterilant should be incubated as a control to verify the presterilization viability of the test spores, the ability of the media to promote growth of the test spores, and the incubation temperature. Test and lot control numbers should be recorded. Upon completion of the incubation period, the test and control results should be read and recorded. If the control BI from a lot fails to grow, it should be assumed that the test BIs from that lot are not viable or that improper incubation occurred. Therefore, the results from the test BIs should be considered invalid and the control and test BIs should be repeated.

NOTE If several test BIs from the same lot are run on the same day and in the same incubator, only one control BI from that lot need be used.

All monitoring results, including results from BI controls, should be interpreted by a qualified individual, and should be included in the sterilizer records.

Rationale: Negative results from the test BIs or spore test strips, positive results from control BIs, and cycle printout records demonstrating correct and complete sterilization cycles provide verification that the sterilizer has been installed or repaired and that it will function effectively in the facility in which it is installed.

13.10.3 Routine test procedure

The test procedure is as follows:

RIGHTSLINKA)

- a) Before being exposed to the sterilization cycle, the PCD should be labeled with sterilizer and lot information.
- b) The PCD should be positioned in the load according to the sterilizer and PCD manufacturers' written IFU, and the cycle should be run.
- c) EO sterilizers should be tested using BI PCDs in every load. All other gaseous or vaporized chemical sterilizers should be tested using BI PCDs daily when the sterilizer is in use, but preferably in every sterilization cycle.

- d) Upon completion of the sterilization cycle, the PCD should be removed from the load and the BI removed from the PCD according to the manufacturer's written IFU. During the removal and transfer process, processing personnel should be careful to avoid contamination of the BI or injury to themselves. The BI should be identified and then incubated according to the written IFU of the BI manufacturer.
- e) Each day that test BIs are run, at least one BI that is from the same lot and that has not been exposed to the sterilant should be incubated as a control to verify the presterilization viability of the test spores, the ability of the media to promote growth of the test spores, and the incubation temperature. Test and lot control numbers should be recorded. Upon completion of the incubation period, the test and control results should be read and recorded. If the control BI from a lot fails to grow, it should be assumed that the test BIs from that lot are not viable or that improper incubation occurred. Therefore, the results from the test BIs should be considered invalid and the control and test BIs should be repeated.
- NOTE If several test BIs from the same lot are run on the same day, only one control BI from that lot need be used.

13.10.4 Routine test acceptance criteria

An acceptable process is evidenced by negative results from all test BIs in the PCD, positive results from control BIs, and readings from physical monitors and CIs showing that the sterilization cycle was correct and complete. All monitoring results, including results from BI controls, should be interpreted by a qualified individual, and should be included in the sterilizer records.

13.10.5 Positive BI results

The following actions should be taken if a BI test is positive:

- a) Positive BI results (other than those from viability/positive controls) should be verbally reported immediately to the sterile processing supervisor or other designated personnel and to infection prevention and control personnel. This notification should be followed by a written report. The report and notification should include:
 - 1) the time and date of the questionable sterilizer cycle;
 - 2) a description of the sterilizer and load, including the lot control number, product and patient name, and other identifying information;
 - 3) the results of physical monitoring and of CIs, if applicable, as obtained from the user; and
 - 4) any other information that could be useful in determining whether the report is valid or is questionable because of human error.
- b) Because a sterilization failure has occurred, items processed in that sterilizer since the sterilization cycle having the last negative BI should be considered unsterile. They should be retrieved, if possible, and reprocessed. The sterilizer in question should be taken out of service.
- c) A presumptive identification of the microorganisms present on the "failed" (positive) BI should be performed in accordance with the BI manufacturer's written IFU, and, if applicable, the BI transfer technique should be reviewed. The load recall should *not* be delayed while this testing is being performed. The recalled items can be quarantined until the presumptive test results are known.
- d) Microbiology, sterile processing, and facility maintenance personnel should attempt to determine the cause of the positive BI and sterilization process failure and arrange for corrective action.
- e) After the cause of the sterilization process failure has been determined and corrected, if required by the investigation, the sterilizer in question should be immediately rechallenged with BI PCDs. Until the results of retesting are satisfactory, the performance of the sterilizer should be considered in question.

Rationale: Conducting the recommended protocol when positive BI results occur will provide valuable data in support of corrective actions and aid in identifying potential improvements in work practices.

74

13.10.6 Positive BI microbiological verification testing

For positive BIs, a presumptive identification should be performed according to the BI manufacturer's written IFU to determine whether the recovered microorganism is the test microorganism from the BI or an accidental contaminant.

Rationale: Presumptive identification distinguishes accidental contamination of the BI after removal from the PCD from a true positive BI that resulted from sterilization failure. In the latter case, there would be incomplete destruction of the test microorganisms on the BI.

13.11 Product release

Product release should be an active decision based on evaluation of all available data from the sterilization or highlevel disinfection process for the particular load. Loads that do not meet the criteria for release should be clearly identified so that they are not mistakenly distributed.

Rationale: Releasing processed devices based on all quality control measures is critical in providing safe and effective products for the care and treatment of patients.

13.12 Product recalls

13.12.1 General considerations

Written policies and procedures for the recall of issued or stored packaged items that have been processed with LCSs/HLDs or terminal sterilization should be developed in cooperation with the infection prevention and control committee and the risk management committee of the health care facility. Written policies and procedures for the identification of items not packaged or stored but immediately used should also be developed. Policies and procedures should be documented, and records should be maintained. The supervisor or designated individual should decide on the basis of the health care facility's policies and procedures, the manufacturer's written IFU, the circumstances surrounding the event, or other relevant information, whether a recall of processed supplies should be implemented. Whenever there is evidence of a sterilization or LCS/HLD process failure, the infection preventionist and other involved personnel (e.g., the director of the area where the suspect items were used) should be notified so that follow-up surveillance of patients can be conducted. Written policies and procedures should be developed for compliance with the Safe Medical Devices Act of 1990 as it pertains to failures of reusable medical devices (i.e., FDA's Medical Device Reporting [MDR] regulations of 21 CFR 803). For additional information on user facility MDR requirements, see FDA (1996) [338].

Rationale: Establishing recall procedures can help ensure patient safety, compliance with the user facility reporting requirements of the FDA's MDR regulations, facilitate the identification and retrieval of items suspected to be unsterile or incorrectly high-level disinfected, and provide for adequate follow-up actions (e.g., quarantine of the sterilizer or automated processing equipment, notification of physicians and affected areas, surveillance of patients).

13.12.2 Recall procedure

A recall procedure should:

- a) be written;
- b) outline the circumstances for issuing a recall order;
- c) designate the person or people authorized to issue a recall order; and
- d) designate the personnel responsible for reporting on the execution of a recall order.

13.12.3 Recall order

A recall order should:

a) include all items processed back to the last negative BI (if applicable) or the last passing MRC indicator (if applicable);

RIGHTSLINK4)

- b) be immediately communicated to affected areas and followed by a written order;
- c) identify products to be recalled by lot number (if applicable), product or patient name, or other information;
- d) identify the people or areas to whom the order is addressed;
- e) require the recording, in terms of kind and quantity, of the products obtained in the recall; and
- f) specify the action to be taken by the people receiving the order (e.g., destruction or return of product).

13.12.4 Recall summary report

A summary report of a recall order should:

- a) identify the circumstances that prompted the recall order;
- b) specify the corrective actions taken to prevent a recurrence;
- c) state, in terms of the total number of products intended to be recalled, the percentage of products actually located in the recall; and
- d) provide verification that the recalled items were processed or destroyed.

13.13 Outbreak report

The people responsible for the health care facility's infection prevention and control program and risk management function should report any outbreaks associated with chemical sterilization or high-level disinfection processes to the local or state department of health, which will complete the investigation and report to the CDC. The health care facility should report the results of the investigation to the FDA, the medical device manufacturer, the processing equipment manufacturer, and the manufacturer of the LCS, HLD, and/or chemical processing/sterilization system (ASGE, 2003 [77]).

13.14 Quality process improvement

13.14.1 General considerations

This section identifies performance measures and process monitors that can be used for continuous quality improvement (CQI) programs. CQI programs are recognized as an effective means of improving the performance of any process. For chemical sterilization and high-level disinfection, a CQI program encompasses the entire process: decontamination, preparation, packaging (if applicable), chemical sterilization or high-level disinfection, quality control, storage (if applicable), and product distribution.

Procedures for cleaning, high-level disinfection, and chemical sterilization, and terminal sterilization should be based on the manufacturers' written IFU (endoscope, cleaning solution, LCS/HLD, AER, and/or sterilizer, as applicable) as part of a documented quality process that measures objective performance criteria. (See Annex D.) This quality process should be developed in conjunction with designated personnel and integrated into the overall quality process in the health care facility. Variables in the system can be controlled to achieve assurance of product quality and process efficacy. Monitoring frequency will vary, depending on the quality improvement goals, health care facility policies and procedures for the handling of unfavorable or unplanned events, and type of process variable.

A root cause analysis should be completed for any problem relating to any aspect of cleaning, high-level disinfection, or chemical sterilization processing that could pose a risk to personnel or patients. The root cause analysis should define and resolve the problem, and the system should be monitored to ensure that the problem has been corrected.

There should be a planned, systematic, and ongoing process for verifying compliance with procedures. Quality processes can be enhanced by audits that are conducted on a regular basis. The information from these activities should be summarized and made available to designated individuals or groups (see ANSI/AAMI ST90 [18]).

Rationale: Measurements of process performance allow cleaning, high-level disinfection, and chemical sterilization processes to be monitored against a predetermined level of quality. Evaluation of findings provides a method of identifying problems or shifts in activities and facilitates informed decision-making on policies and procedures. Ongoing auditing provides data essential to assessing the effectiveness of the processes and making improvements in performance.

13.14.2 Risk analysis

Risk analysis = risk assessment + risk management + risk communication

Disinfection is not sterilization, but a high-level disinfected device is one that should be free of viable pathogens, excepting spores such as those of *Clostridioides difficile (C. diff)*. The Spaulding Classification of the device will define the level of disinfection or sterilization required. Devices that require at a minimum high-level disinfection with a chemical disinfectant are usually classified as semi-critical devices, as they are in contact with mucous membranes or non-intact skin. As with sterilization, it is recognized that the effectiveness of these processes cannot be fully verified by subsequent inspection and testing of the product. For this reason, high-level disinfection processes are validated for use and the performance of the process is monitored routinely, including any associated equipment. This is also the case for sterilization processes.

A quality system for processing medical devices in health care facilities is based on a validated system, including manual or automated steps in the process (see ANSI/AAMI ST90 [18]). For automated equipment, validation will involve the AER or sterilization process manufacturer and designated representatives of the health care facility, who will conduct installation qualification and operational qualification testing. The individual device manufacturer and the AER manufacturer recommend validated means of cleaning and/or disinfecting or sterilizing the specific devices to be processed, in lieu of a formal performance qualification.

NOTE The "validated cycle" provided by the medical device manufacturer is often based on the assumption that the device is to be processed alone.

In health care facilities, a processing risk analysis, in its broadest sense, includes risk assessment, risk management, and risk communication:

- a) **Risk assessment** involves identifying the source of a failure, estimating the likelihood that such a failure will occur, assessing the consequences if that failure does occur, and assessing how prepared the facility is to manage the failure. It should be assumed that at some time a failure will occur.
- b) **Risk management** entails determining which of the failures identified in the risk assessment process require management and selecting and implementing the plans or actions that are needed to ensure that those high-level disinfection failures are controlled.
- c) **Risk communication** involves an interactive dialogue between sterile processing personnel, operating room personnel, endoscopy personnel, infection preventionists, and risk management professionals that actively informs the other concerned parties, including patients. This process is the facility's recall procedure.

The processing risk analysis should be part of the health care facility's overall infection prevention and risk control analysis in accordance with accreditation agency requirements. It should be performed at least annually and should be reevaluated whenever significant changes occur.

13.14.3 Point of use

RIGHTSLINKA)

Procedures for decontamination, which begins at point of use, should be based on a documented quality process that measures objective performance criteria. This quality process should be developed in collaboration with designated personnel and should be integrated into the overall quality process in the health care facility. Written policies and procedures should consider CDC recommendations, national voluntary standards and recommended practices, and the recommendations of the flexible endoscope manufacturer. Variables in the system should be controlled to achieve assurance of quality and process efficacy. Performance measures should be developed to monitor environmental, performance, and process factors, including tests for monitoring and verifying the parameters of the point of use

treatment. Monitoring frequency will vary, depending on the quality improvement goals, on the health care facility's policy and procedures for the handling of untoward events, and on the type of performance measure.

A root cause analysis should be completed when a patient safety event occurs (not primarily related to the natural course of the patient's illness or underlying condition) results in death, permanent harm, or severe temporary harm (Joint Commission, 2015 [188]).

Rationale: Measurements of process performance allow the system to be monitored and the results compared with a predetermined level of quality. Evaluation of the findings provides a method of identifying problems or shifts in activities and facilitates informed decision-making on policies and procedures. Ongoing auditing provides data that can be used to assess the effectiveness of the process and make ongoing improvements in performance.

13.14.4 Decontamination

Procedures for decontamination should be based on a documented quality process that measures objective performance criteria. This quality process should be developed in collaboration with designated personnel and should be integrated into the overall quality process in the health care facility. Written policies and procedures should consider federal, state, and local regulations; CDC recommendations; national voluntary standards and recommended practices; and the recommendations of medical device and processing equipment manufacturers. Variables in the system should be controlled to achieve assurance of quality and process efficacy. Performance measures should be developed to monitor environmental, performance, and process factors, including tests for monitoring and verifying the parameters of the cleaning process. Monitoring frequency will vary, depending on the quality improvement goals, on the health care facility's policy and procedures for the handling of untoward events, and on the type of performance measure.

A root cause analysis should be completed for any problem with any aspect of decontamination that can pose a risk to personnel or patients. The root cause analysis should define and resolve the problem, and the system should be monitored to ensure that the problem has been corrected. There should be a planned, systematic, and ongoing process for verifying compliance with procedures. Auditing results should be routinely summarized and submitted to the infection prevention and control personnel for review.

Rationale: Measurements of process performance allow the system to be monitored and the results compared with a predetermined level of quality. Evaluation of the findings provides a method of identifying problems or shifts in activities and facilitates informed decision-making on policies and procedures. Ongoing auditing provides data that can be used to assess the effectiveness of the process and make ongoing improvements in performance.

13.14.5 Liquid chemical sterilization, high-level disinfection, and gaseous and vaporized chemical sterilization

Procedures for liquid chemical sterilization, high-level disinfection, and gaseous and vapor chemical sterilization should be based on a documented quality process that measures objective performance criteria. The quality process should be developed in conjunction with designated personnel and integrated into the overall quality process in the health care facility. Monitoring frequency will vary depending on the quality improvement goals, on the health care facility's policy and procedures for the handling of untoward events, and on the type of performance measure.

- a) Use of LCSs/HLDs. Performance measures should include, but are not limited to, the following:
 - verification of training and continuing education;
 - correct choice of and use of LCSs/HLDs and PPE;
 - correct loading of items into the solution container or automated processing equipment;
 - selection of LCS/HLD cycle parameters;
 - selection and use of CIs, spore test strips, and solution test strips or chemical monitoring devices;
 - accurate load records;

- documentation of physical and chemical monitoring; and
- adherence to device, LCS/HLD, and automated processing equipment manufacturers' written IFU.
- b) **Gaseous and vapor chemical sterilization processes.** Performance measures should include, but are not limited to, the following:
 - verification of training and continuing education;
 - correct loading of items into the sterilizer chamber;
 - selection of chemical sterilization cycle parameters;
 - selection and use of CIs and BIs;
 - accurate load records;
 - documentation of physical, chemical, and biological monitoring; and
 - adherence to device and sterilizer manufacturers' written IFU.
- c) Handling and transfer. Performance measures should include, but are not limited to, the following:
 - selection and use of attire;
 - correct techniques for unloading the sterilizer, automated processing equipment, or solution container; and
 - correct techniques for transferring items to the point of use.

A root cause analysis should be completed when a patient safety event occurs (not primarily related to the natural course of the patient's illness or underlying condition) results in death, permanent harm, or severe temporary harm (Joint Commission, 2015 [188]).

Rationale: Controlling variables in the system can help to ensure quality and process efficacy. Ensuring that high-level disinfection or liquid or gaseous and vapor chemical sterilization has been achieved will minimize the potential risk to patients. Measurements of process performance allow the system to be monitored and the results compared with a predetermined level of quality. Analysis of this information provides a method of identifying problems or shifts in activities and making improvements in the system.

13.14.6 Functional areas for product and process improvement

13.14.6.1 Workplace design

Optimization of product and process performance relies on efficient workplace design. Problems such as crosscontamination, excessive processing costs, product failures, inefficient time usage, and so on can be created or exacerbated by poor workplace design. Workplace design encompasses the following:

- a) the physical layout of the processing area;
- b) the functional workflow patterns;
- c) the physical facilities (e.g., the mechanical and electrical systems, lighting, plumbing, ventilation, environmental controls); and
- d) the types and locations of processing equipment and supplies.

Downloaded by on January 20, 2023 Single-user license only. Copyring, networking and distribution prohibited. Copyright AAMI

13.14.6.2 Processing policies and procedures

Evaluating and monitoring the effectiveness of the process should be an ongoing effort and is critical to maintaining control over and determining methods for improvement of the product and process. The review of records and of documented quality control procedures that have been implemented should serve as the basis for monitoring and evaluating the process. Written procedures should be reviewed, and current practices should be audited for compliance in the areas included in the CQI program. Examples of CQI program areas include the following:

- a) training, continuing education, and competency verification;
- b) product identification and traceability (i.e., lot control numbers and load records);
- c) monitoring cleaning effectiveness;
- d) monitoring manual processes that use LCSs/HLDs;
- e) monitoring automated processes that use LCSs/HLDs;
- f) monitoring gaseous and vapor chemical sterilization processes;
- g) product testing;
- h) product recalls; and
- i) workplace safety training (including safe use of chemicals and safe handling of biohazards).

13.14.6.3 Product use

Evaluating the performance of products that have been or will be used can offer important feedback on the effectiveness of the process and the products selected. Performance measures can come from internal evaluations, end-user feedback, supplier testing, and repair records:

- a) Internal evaluations. Internal evaluations can be used to audit the quality of finished products. For example, instruments can be checked for functionality, packaging, and delivery. Preprocessing decontamination can be evaluated by visually examining instruments for contamination. Product recalls can be evaluated by reviewing records of actions following documented chemical sterilization or high-level disinfection process failures. Periodic product monitoring can be evaluated on the basis of the loads or cycles tested and the actions taken as a result of failures.
- b) End-user feedback. A formal documented system to log, investigate, and resolve complaints and product failures should be established. Issues such as patient infections, PPE failures, and malfunctioning endoscopes should be documented, monitored, and tracked over time. A procedure should be established for investigation and remediation of serious and repeat problems.
- c) Supplier testing. The manufacturer should thoroughly analyze concerns relative to the performance of products or supplies through testing or other means. Processing personnel should make a written request to and receive a response from any vendor whose products, supplies, or services are in question. All correspondence should be filed with the corresponding complaint, including details of the investigation, the findings, and any actions taken by the vendor to resolve the problem.
- d) **Repair records.** Review of instrument repair records might show a pattern. Once identified, the cause for the repair can be reviewed, corrected, and then monitored to ensure that the problem has been resolved.

13.14.6.4 Implementation of product and process improvements

There is no single right way to implement a CQI program. The program should be customized to the individual facility. However, a team approach has been proven to be successful because it allows direct input from multiple employees and results in a superior program.

Employees who are actively involved in and responsible for the day-to-day functions outlined in the plan should be members of the team. This approach should generate input from those most knowledgeable in methods of effectively improving the program. Additionally, such involvement may promote a sense of ownership that may lead to a higher degree of commitment on the part of those endoscope processing team members implementing the program.

The single most important issue for those charged with implementing a CQI program is the accurate collection of data using the facility plan for documenting process monitoring and product performance (developed as part of the CQI program). The frequency and type of information generated will vary depending on the level of control established in the documentation plan. Facilities with processes that are uncontrolled or highly variable will require increased process monitoring and documentation, which can be reduced over time as the program brings these processes under improved control.

Occupational safety is symbiotic with patient safety and is a key part of the quality system. Occupational safety records that should be kept as part of the quality system include

- a) maintenance records such as exhaust air flow checks;
- b) exposure records from gas monitors;
- c) employee safety training (chemicals used on-site, OSHA Hazard Communication Standard, emergency procedures, work instructions for safe use of equipment); and
- d) medical evaluation of personnel using respirators.

The CQI program should assess all components of chemical sterilization and high-level disinfection processes for the ongoing ability to achieve the desired outcome of consistently delivering an efficacious product to the user. Performance improvement plans, when needed, should be implemented to enhance chemical sterilization and high-level disinfection processes on the basis of this assessment. Examples of measures to be considered when assessing chemical sterilization and high-level disinfection processes include trending data over a defined time period related to

- a) the number of items processed;
- b) the number of failed cleaning verification tests, if applicable;
- c) the number of BI tests, if applicable;
- d) the number of BI failures for each chemical sterilization process, if applicable;
- e) the number of physical parameter failures;
- f) the number of failed CIs, if applicable;
- g) the number of spore test strips, if applicable;
- h) the number of spore test strip failures, if applicable;
- i) the number of solution test strip or chemical monitoring device failures for processes that use LCSs/HLDs;
- j) competency verification (the percentage of endoscope processing team members successfully completing education, training, and competency verification activities);
- k) timing and completeness of preventive maintenance of gaseous and vapor chemical sterilizers and automated processing equipment;
- ability to locate all items during recalls;
- m) completeness of test records;

Downloaded by on January 20, 2023 Single-user license only. Copyring, networking and distribution prohibited. Copyright AAMI

- n) results of microbial surveillance culturing, if applicable; and
- o) occupational safety records.

For more information about implementing a quality management system approach, see ANSI/AAMI ST90 [18].

14 Device repair and loaned endoscopes

14.1 General considerations

Flexible and semi-rigid endoscopes and accessories shall be carefully inspected to identify defects or malfunctions during each step of processing and prior to patient use. Defects and malfunctions identified during use shall be clearly described as to the location and nature of the defect or malfunction and reported according to facility procedure. Routine preventive maintenance should be addressed in each facility policy and procedure. Processing staff should be aware of endoscope preventive maintenance and repair strategies.

Transport or shipping is done following decontamination and disinfection or sterilization procedures, including drying, for damaged endoscopes. A device to be shipped for repair should be placed in a securely sealed, leak-proof primary container. If the endoscope is considered contaminated, the package must be clearly identified as contaminated material and must be packaged, labeled, and shipped in accordance with the manufacturer's written IFU, the requirements of the carrier (U.S. Postal Service or private carrier), and the applicable U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) regulations (49 CFR 170–178). Endoscopes that are processed are packaged, labeled, and shipped in accordance with the manufacturer's written IFU, the requirements of the carrier (U.S. DOT regulations (49 CFR 170–178). The shipper is responsible for correct packaging and labeling.

A facility-specific policy and procedure shall be in place with details on communication and method when a defect or malfunction is detected at the point of use. The policy and procedure should specify the:

- a) responsibility and accountability for defect and/or malfunction documentation;
- b) processing procedures for repair handling;
- c) records to be kept, including repair information;
- d) review of repair records to determine trends; and
- e) review of repair records to identity endoscopes and/or accessories requiring replacement or follow-up.

Regulatory reporting can be required.

14.2 Point of use detection and communication

At the point of use, an endoscope and/or accessories in need of repair should be clearly identified before processing and removed from service until processed, repaired, and processed before reuse. For removal from service and transport, the endoscope and/or accessories should be placed in a containment device to prevent additional damage.

For a device identified as defective or malfunctioning at the point of use, a tag should be affixed and include the following information:

- a) flexible or semi-rigid endoscope serial number or unique identifier;
- b) date of occurrence;
- c) time of occurrence;
- d) department or procedure room where procedure was performed (e.g., Procedure Room 3);
- e) endoscopist;

- f) a clear description of the malfunction or defect (e.g., "foggy" view, unable to articulate distal end, irrigation not flowing, suction not working, unable to pass biopsy forceps through channel); and
- g) name of individual completing the report.

14.3 Processing area detection and communication

Flexible and semi-rigid endoscope and/or accessories identified for repair should be placed in a designated location to be processed, following the manufacturer's written IFU for damaged endoscope processing, before additional examination, repair, or shipping to another facility for repair.

Following processing, the damaged endoscope and/or accessories should be delivered to the designated location for repair.

Additional information should be added to the defect/malfunction tag initiated at the point of use:

- a) failed or passed leak test, for endoscope to be repaired;
- b) condition of all channels (e.g., cleaning brush passed easily, channel easily flushed);
- c) condition of accessories (e.g., suction valve cannot be inserted);
- d) condition of external surface (e.g., head of endoscope scratched in area of biopsy port);
- e) date of processing;
- f) time of processing;
- g) process used to achieve high-level disinfection or sterilization;
- h) name of individual completing the processing; and
- i) name of individual completing the report.

14.4 Health care facility point of repair transfer

The facility's designated process should be in place to notify the repair person or vendor.

Documentation should include the tracking number or identification of the individual picking up the items for repair, the date, and the time.

14.5 Return to health care facility from repair

Documentation from the repair service should include the following:

- a) method, date, and time of return;
- b) decontamination procedure performed by repair facility;
- c) type of service performed;
- d) parts replaced; and

IGHTSLINKA)

e) recommendations for future prevention of damage.

Upon return from repair, the endoscope and/or accessories should be carefully inspected by the receiving facility for defects or malfunction prior to return to service.

The endoscope and/or accessories returned from repair shall be fully processed in accordance with the health care facility processing policy before patient use.

83

14.6 Loaned endoscopes

14.6.1 Policy and procedure

There should be a facility policy and procedure for lending or borrowing flexible or semi-rigid endoscopes. The policy should be developed in conjunction with infection prevention and control, risk management, materials management, perioperative services, Gl/endoscopy, clinical engineering, and other personnel as deemed necessary. Personnel should be knowledgeable in the facility's policies and agreements for loaned endoscopes. A request for a loaned endoscope to be used during the repair period should be made only after facility policies established to maintain records, including patient traceability, are considered. The policy and procedure should address the following:

- a) Upon receipt, inspect the loaned endoscope for damage and consistency with the original endoscope.
 - 1) Ensure that the manufacturer's written IFU have been provided for the specific loaned endoscope.
 - If any differences are noted in the loaned endoscope compared to the endoscope it replaces (e.g., it has an additional channel), in-service all staff members, with competencies verified, in processing the endoscope.
 - 3) Confirm that correlating processing accessories and connection adapters are available for effective processing.
 - 4) If any damage is noted in the loaned endoscope, contact the facility or company that loaned the endoscope to report the damage and request a replacement.
 - 5) Document the loaned endoscope by manufacturer, model, date received and serial number.
- b) Completely process the loaned endoscope, according to the manufacturer's written IFU, before use.
- c) Prior to return, completely process the loaned endoscope.
- d) Inspect the loaned endoscope for damage. Document the condition of the endoscope and date of return.

For more information on management of loaned instruments, see AAMI TIR63 [24].

14.7 Use of loaned endoscopes during microbial surveillance

It might be necessary for health care facilities performing microbial surveillance to use loaned endoscopes while awaiting culture results from quarantined endoscopes. The same policy and procedures outlined in 14.6.1 apply.

14.8 Quality measures for repairs

Repeated failed cleanliness testing and/or persistent positive microbial culture surveillance results could be an indication of a damaged endoscope. The device should be removed from service and examined by a trained repair technician.

Failed functional testing (e.g., failed leak testing, angulation issue) is an indication of a damaged endoscope. The device should be removed from service and examined by a trained repair technician.

Repair history documentation should be reviewed on a periodic basis to identify trending by the following:

- a) model of endoscope;
- b) individual endoscope (serial number or unique identifier);
- c) type of repair;
- d) processing method;
- e) individual(s) performing processing;

GHTSLINKA)

- f) individual performing clinical procedure; and
- g) procedure type in which the endoscope was used.

A preventive maintenance program should be in place to plan thorough inspection of all channels and working mechanisms of endoscopes and accessories for function or defects.

Infection prevention and control, processing, clinical engineering, and procedure area personnel should be part of the quality review team to:

- a) review repair documentation;
- b) maintain a perpetual physical inventory of semi-rigid and flexible endoscopes;
- c) review competency testing results; and
- d) make recommendations based on trending.

15 New product evaluation

15.1 General rationale

Periodically, new products enter the market for which AAMI does not offer guidance for application. Some products do not fall within AAMI's purview. For those that do, AAMI applies a rigorous consensus review process that includes committee discussion, balloting, public review, and subsequent publication; this consensus review process can be quite lengthy. When any product is being considered for use within a facility, it is the responsibility of the intended users to evaluate the product using a systematic process of product evaluation and to establish policies and procedures that reflect this process and that are appropriate to the health care organization. This is especially true when the health care organization is considering a product for which there are no guidelines from AAMI or other similar professional organizations.

15.2 Considerations

The following are considerations associated with conducting a product evaluation:

- a) Establish a multidisciplinary committee with representation from those who will be affected by the new product. For example, for a product related to steam, low-temperature, or chemical sterilization, representation could include, but not necessarily be limited to, infection prevention and control, operating room, sterile processing, endoscopy, risk management, and staff development/education personnel.
- b) Collect and distribute to the multidisciplinary committee information related to the product. Such data should include, but not necessarily be limited to, the following:
 - FDA clearance documentation, if applicable;
 - relevant research articles published in peer-reviewed journals;
 - literature and written IFU from the device, equipment and/or chemical manufacturer;
 - experts' opinions; and
 - reports from peers who are using or have trialed the product.
- c) In addition to evaluating the product's intended application, consider the following:
 - ease of understanding the manufacturer's written IFU;
 - contribution to patient and employee safety;

- any legal implications associated with use of the product;
- cost/value analysis (return on investment);
- personnel education necessary to implement use;
- ease of use of the product;
- related safety issues;
- compatibility of the product with existing equipment and products;
- environmental impact;
- availability of ongoing support from the vendor for such services as maintenance; and
- impact on standardization of product inventory.
- d) If a product trial is indicated, consider the following guidelines:
 - establish a time limit for the trial;
 - identify the personnel and departments that should trial the product;
 - establish the amount of product that should be evaluated;
 - evaluate the manufacturer's written IFU;
 - develop evaluation tools through the multidisciplinary committee identified above;
 - determine and implement the education and demonstrations needed for the trial;
 - define the desired outcome; and
 - analyze the data and compare the actual outcome with the desired outcome.

For more comprehensive information on the evaluation of new products, see AORN (2018f) [41].

Annex A

(informative)

Alternatives for keeping cool in the processing environment

A.1 Introduction

The healthy human body maintains a core temperature of about 98.6 °F (37 °C). Core body temperature will stay basically the same no matter what the temperature of the surrounding area might be or what the activity level of the person might be. A healthy safe core temperature is between 98 °F and 100 °F for most people. Some individuals might naturally have a core temperature that is slightly lower or higher than 98.6 °F. If a person is exposed to an environment that is very warm or very cool, the body will take steps to bring the core temperature back to the healthy range. The process of regulating core temperature is called thermoregulation.

The hypothalamus controls thermoregulation. When core temperature becomes too high or too low, the hypothalamus issues instructions to muscles, organs, glands, and the nervous system. If the body needs to cool down, the instructions will cause sweating and vasodilation to occur. As sweat evaporates, it will cool the skin, which will help lower core temperature. The central nervous system can cause the capillaries under the skin to open or dilate, which increases blood flow to the skin surface and allows the body to release heat.

There are steps that can be taken to heat or cool the body as needed. In winter, people wear additional layers of clothing, and in summer people wear lighter-weight clothing. In addition, eating cool foods like ice cream or iced drinks and cooling the pulse points of the body can help to cool the body. The opposite is also true. Eating warm foods and warming the body's pulse points will help to warm the body.

The American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE) has a standard on thermal comfort, ANSI/ASHRAE 55-2013, *Thermal environmental conditions for human occupancy* [33]. This standard provides information on working in various environmental conditions and what most people would consider to be comfortable. The University of California Berkeley Center for the Built Environment has developed a tool to assist companies in determining whether the environment in a particular room meets this standard. This tool can be found at no cost on the Internet. The tool measures thermal comfort based on sustained activity for one hour. Functionality to evaluate comparisons of different variables is available. Several variables can be addressed in the tool. Detailed help information on how to use the thermal comfort tool is available through a help link on the tool's website. Information on determining the metabolic rate to be used can be found in ISO 8996, *Ergonomics of the thermal environment*—Determination of *metabolic rate* [48]. Information regarding the impact of clothing can be found at ISO 9920, *Ergonomics of the thermal environment*—Determination of *metabolic rate* [48]. Information regarding the impact of clothing can be found at ISO 9920, *Ergonomics of the thermal environment*—Determination of *metabolic rate* [48].

It is possible that the protective attire worn in the decontamination area could cause workers to feel overheated and to perspire. Lowering the ambient temperature might not be an efficient mechanism for reducing body temperature. This Annex discusses alternatives for how personnel can keep cool in the sterile processing environment.

A.2 Decontamination environment

The temperature and relative humidity of the decontamination area/room of the sterile processing department is controlled to minimize potential growth of bacteria, fungi, and molds and to provide a comfortable working environment. The personal protective equipment (PPE) required to be worn when working in the decontamination area/room can be uncomfortable even when the temperature of the decontamination area is within the recommended range. Some individuals might feel overheated when working in this area and wearing PPE. Lowering the room temperature is not effective in lowering the body temperature of individuals wearing PPE because not enough skin is exposed to the air for perspiration to evaporate and cool the body. More effective alternative measures can be taken to make workers comfortable.

RIGHTSLINKA)

A.3 Protective attire

Protective attire worn in the decontamination area might be uncomfortable because it does not allow the body to disperse heat that is generated while working. Many of the protective gowns and aprons used in the decontamination area are made of plastic or other fluid-resistant materials. The plastic or other fluid-resistant material provides an excellent barrier to bloodborne pathogens, but it does not allow for the body to disperse any excess heat that might build up. This heat can cause employees to sweat, which can be uncomfortable.

A.4 Alternative cooling methods for personnel working in the decontamination area/room

Rather than being exposed to heat for extended periods of time during the course of the job, workers should, wherever possible, be permitted to distribute the workload evenly over the day and incorporate work/rest cycles. Work/rest cycles give the body an opportunity to get rid of excess heat, slow down the production of internal body heat, slow down the heart rate, and provide greater blood flow to the skin. In the evaluation of an appropriate work/rest schedule, shorter work periods and more frequent rest periods should be considered:

- a) as temperature rises;
- b) as humidity increases;
- c) when there is no air movement;
- d) when protective clothing or gear is worn; and
- e) for heavier work.

In general, more frequent, shorter periods of exposure to heat are better than fewer longer exposures. Individual requirements can vary greatly (OSHA, 2019 [225]).

It is important that a person is well hydrated before donning PPE. Hydration will help to keep the body cool. Employees can take breaks to maintain hydration.

Cooling devices worn under PPE could provide additional comfort. Cooling devices can be reusable or single-use and include:

- a) cooling bandanas, skull caps, or head bands;
- b) cooling neck scarfs or towels; and
- c) cooling vests.

Frequent breaks might also be needed so that cooling devices or cool water can be applied to body pulse points. Pulse points include the back of the neck, the inside of the wrists, the inside of the elbows, the back of the knees, the inside groin area, and the head, between the temple and ear. Applying cool water or ice to these areas can help to cool the body.

Because no two facilities or individuals are the same, it is important to establish policies and procedures to provide for the comfort and safety of the personnel working in the SPD decontamination area/room environment.

- a) The plan should address the preferences of the individual worker in relation to environmental temperature and humidity and the design and capacity of the HVAC system.
- b) A multidisciplinary team that includes at least representatives from infection prevention and control, facilities management, risk management, human resources, and SPD should establish the policies and procedures.

88

c) All staff working in the decontamination area/room should receive education and training in the dynamics of cooling the body and measures that can be taken to work comfortably while wearing PPE in the decontamination area/room.



Annex B

(informative)

Purchase considerations in selecting AERs and LCSPSs

Information about an AER or LCSPS considered for purchase for cleaning, disinfecting, or liquid chemically sterilizing flexible and semi-rigid endoscopes should be previewed by a committee that includes risk management, infection prevention and control, nursing, endoscopy, and sterile processing personnel. Cost is important but patient safety should always be the overriding factor when choosing any type of medical device. Cost considerations include the following:

- a) purchasing cost;
- b) cost of engineering controls such as dedicated exhaust, gas monitoring equipment, and cost of installation;
- c) cost per cycle, including expenditures for service, support, energy, and disinfectants and other consumables; and
- d) cost of initial and ongoing personnel education, training, and competency verification.

The following are considerations in the evaluation and selection of AERs and LCSPSs prior to purchase. Regardless of the features, when looking to purchase an AER or LCSPS, facilities should consider the following:

- a) Is it FDA-cleared?
 - Review the manufacturer's written IFU.
 - Acquire and review white papers and other literature on the specific model/type of AER or LCSPS.
 - Can the institution follow all requirements of the IFU?
- b) Does the system provide a suitable processing outcome, i.e., liquid chemical sterilization or high-level disinfection of devices as determined to be preferred or required by the facility's medical staff?
- c) Can the AER or LCSPS process the types of endoscopes currently in inventory?
 - Has the manufacturer provided a list of each make and model of endoscope that can be processed?
 - Has the endoscope manufacturer validated the use of an AER or LCSPS with its endoscope(s)?
 - How will the AER or LCSPS manufacturer provide updates for new endoscopes that are introduced to the market after the purchase of the equipment, and how will the AER/LCSPS process the new endoscopes?
 - What type and how many different connectors/adapters are needed and how are they processed and maintained?
 - Can the endoscope and endoscope components be effectively processed with the AER/LCSPS (e.g., the elevator guide wire channel of some duodenoscopes might not be effectively disinfected by most AERs and this step should be performed manually)?
 - Are model-specific processing protocols from the endoscope and the AER/LCSPS manufacturers compatible?
- d) What accessories can the AER or LCSPS process?

90

IGHTSLINK()

- Is the AER or LCSPS cleared by the FDA to process any of the peripheral endoscopy accessories currently in the inventory?
- e) Is the LCS/HLD solution that is used in the AER/LCSPS FDA-cleared?
 - Can more than one type of LCS/HLD solution be used in the model?
- f) Is there sufficient space in the area for the unit?
- g) What utilities and specifications are needed?
- h) Does the processing area need any room or air monitoring while the AER or LCSPS is in operation?
- i) Is an air handling system, such as a fume hood, needed?
- j) If the AER or LCSPS has cleaning claims, is it clear how those claims are applied to the current practice?
- k) What is the recommended preventive maintenance? Who is certified and available to perform the maintenance?
- I) What is the servicing frequency and who is responsible?
- m) Does the equipment monitor flow or pressure of fluids and/or air for endoscope channel flushing?
- n) Are there rinse cycles that follow the cleaning and LCS/HLD cycles? Are these cycles followed by an air purge to remove excess fluid?
- o) What are the AER's cycle time parameters?
- p) Does the LCS/HLD processing equipment have a self-disinfection cycle?
- q) Does the LCS/HLD processing equipment have a notification alarm for dirty or clogged filters?
- r) Are the physical parameters for each cycle recorded in a print or electronic record?
- s) Does the LCS/HLD processing equipment automatically detect chemical supply levels and alert the user when replacement is needed?
- t) Can the facility meet the utility requirements called for, such as water quality, temperature, and pressure?
- u) Are instructions of neutralization methods for chemicals to be used in the AER provided in IFU, if required? (See Annex H)

Annex C

(normative)

Reference material for repairs

This Annex is intended to provide sections of the key regulations and standards related to repair and servicing of flexible endoscopes and highlight the facility responsibilities. This Annex also covers qualification considerations for repair providers.

C.1 Repair of flexible endoscopes

CFR §482.41(d)(2): "...equipment must be maintained to ensure an acceptable level of safety and quality" if the facility is to meet CMS's condition of participation.

- The equipment is needed for day-to-day operations.
- The equipment must be inspected and tested for performance and safety before initial use and after major repairs or upgrades.
- Equipment maintenance policies, procedures, and programs, as well as specific equipment maintenance inventories, activities, and schedules, fall under the purview of the hospital's clinical maintenance personnel, safety department personnel, or other personnel who have been assigned responsibility for equipment maintenance by hospital leadership.
- The health care facility is in compliance with the regulation when it follows the manufacturer-recommended maintenance activities and schedule, or the equipment is maintained in accordance with an alternative equipment management program based on accepted standards.

ANSI/AAMI EQ56:2013, Recommended practice for a medical equipment management program [8]:

- "The health care organization should develop standard procedures that delineate its expectations when repairs are made to its equipment." (8.1.1, Rationale)
- "Equipment users need to know how to obtain repairs on the equipment they are using. This minimizes the
 probability of equipment being used that is not in good repair and may be potentially dangerous to either the
 user or a patient. (8.1.1, Rationale)
- "The health care organization shall establish and implement policies for the removal from service of equipment determined to be unsafe ..." (8.4)

AORN 2018(e), Guideline for cleaning and processing flexible endoscopes and endoscope accessories, Recommendations VII and X [40]:

- VII.d. "Defective endoscopes, accessories, and equipment should be removed from service and repaired or replaced."
- VII.d.1 "Medical equipment being sent for repair must be decontaminated to the fullest extent possible and a biohazard label attached before transport."
- **X.a** "Records related to flexible endoscope processing should include:
 - o "The disposition of defective items or equipment.
 - "The maintenance of water systems, endoscopes, and endoscope accessories, and processing equipment."
C.2 Loaned flexible endoscopes

ANSI/AAMI EQ56:2013 [8]

5.3 Non-hospital owned equipment

"Non-hospital-owned equipment is any equipment used in, but not owned by, the facility. These devices include physician or contractor owned, leased, rented, demonstration, loaned, and patient-owned equipment. Equipment in this category still needs to meet all of the sections of this standard. The maintenance history and culture history of these devices are often unknown. A facility is still liable for equipment used in that facility and needs to ensure that it is safe to use, able to be located for recalls, and properly maintained."

At acceptance of a loaned endoscope:

- 1) The owner shall provide repair and maintenance history of the device.
- 2) The owner shall provide culture data if culturing has been performed.
- 3) The device shall be entered into the facility database and tracked as if the device were owned by the facility.
- 4) The device shall be processed per the facility's policies in accordance with the manufacturer's IFU.

At return of the loaned endoscope:

- 1) Information concerning the function of the endoscope shall be provided to the owner and receipt verified.
- 2) Culture information should be provided to the owner and receipt verified if it exists.
- The device shall be reprocessed per the facility's policies in accordance with the manufacturer's IFU prior to return.

C.3 Qualification considerations for repair providers

Repair providers should have at least the following qualifications and abilities:

- The engineering capabilities to discern processes, reverse engineer parts, and validate components;
- A quality management system (QMS) for service processes and employee skills;
- The ability to perform durability testing of processes and components;
- The ability to perform analyses of trended repair needs, including cause, effect, and prevention;
- Documented cost-reduction programs to address equipment damage trends.



Annex D (informative)

Manufacturer's written instructions for use (IFU) conflict management

The selection of an appropriate processing method is complex because of the huge variety of reusable items and manufacturers and the wide range of available processes. There are diverse and often conflicting recommendations for handling supplies and equipment and for controlling biological hazards through decontamination, disinfection, and/or sterilization methods. These diverse recommendations have been provided to health care personnel by professional organizations, government agencies, device, equipment, and chemical manufacturers' written instructions for use, as well as by evidence-based literature/research, consultants, and educational speakers. There is clearly a need for consistency in guidelines, with supporting rationale, for processing techniques.

Prior to purchase or use of reusable medical devices, or changes in equipment, suppliers, or chemicals, the following should be completed:

- Review the device, equipment, and chemical manufacturers' written IFU.
 Identify variations in process instruction.
 - If conflicting instructions are identified, contact each manufacturer to request clarification or explanation and/or modification of the IFU:
 - o Clarification should be provided in writing, preferably on company letterhead.
 - The manufacturer's communication should be dated and include the name, job title, and signature of the person responding.
 - o At minimum, clarifications may be provided in email.
- b) Review applicable standards and guidance documents.

When there is a conflict between two or more manufacturers' written IFU, it is recommended that the healthcare facility conduct a risk assessment and provide specific recommendations and guidance for the processing of the device(s) with the conflicting IFU. The following should be considered and completed:

- 1) Contact the manufacturers of the products being used (e.g., endoscopes, AER, cleaning agents).
- 2) Utilize a team approach for review and risk assessment. Designate the members of the team, preferably a multidisciplinary team with representation from each affected area (e.g., infection prevention and control, sterile processing, end users, procurement, risk management, and the device manufacturer). The team should:
 - review the IFU and the literature;
 - review standards and regulations from each applicable organization;
 - create standard operating procedures and process improvements; and
 - conduct a risk and/or needs assessment.
- 3) Create a standard operating procedure for each phase of the device life cycle.
- Complete product quality assurance testing and/or product verification testing on the created standard operating procedures.

GHTSLINKA)

Annex E

(informative)

Endoscope visual inspection

E.1 General considerations

This Annex describes methods and areas of an endoscope to consider when visually inspecting it for defects/damage, moisture or retained items.

E.2 Overview

Each time an endoscope is handled, it should be inspected for any damage. It is important to be able to identify damage to the endoscope that could compromise patient safety and endoscope integrity. Current methods used to identify damage can range from inspection with the unaided eye to the implementation and use of magnification and borescopes. Endoscopes should be inspected with proper lighting and magnification. This is supported by standards and guidelines. ANSI/AAMI ST79:2017 states: *"Inspection using enhanced visualization tools such as lighted magnification and video borescopes might identify residues not observable by the unaided eye."* [17]

The FDA supports visual inspection of any medical device. The FDA guidance document "Reprocessing Medical Devices in Health Care Settings: Validation Methods and Labeling Guidance for Industry and Food and Drug Administration Staff" (updated in 2017) [328] states the following: "All routine cleaning instructions should include instructions for visual inspection, which may include use of magnification and adequate lighting. The instructions should advise the user that if the device is determined not to be visually clean at the end of the cleaning step, the user should either repeat the relevant previous cleaning steps or safely dispose of the device. Additionally, the visual inspection instructions should identify acceptance or failure criteria related to device performance (e.g., unacceptable deterioration such as corrosion, discoloration, pitting, cracked seals), as well as instructions to properly dispose of devices that fail."

E.3 Anatomy of an endoscope

The visual inspection process should be broken down using the anatomy of the endoscope (see Figure E.1). The following points are items that should be visually inspected during processing and prior to each case.



NOTE This is an example of a flexible endoscope. Not all endoscopes are identical in design.



{SOURCE: Educational Dimensions. Available: <u>https://www.educationaldimensions.net/eLearn/endoscope/anatomy.php.}</u>

GHTSLINKA)

Figure E.2 provides an example of a duodenoscope. Not all duodenoscopes are identical in design.



Figure E.2—Anatomy of endoscope elevator mechanism of duodenoscope distal end

E.4 Visual Inspection process

The minimum standard of care for a visual inspection process is using the unaided eye. Inspection aids, such as handheld magnifiers, lighted magnifiers, and/or borescopes, additional inspection should be used. Magnifiers and borescopes are used to inspect where the unaided eye cannot see, including assessment for defects in functionality, damage including pitting, stains, repair needs, missing or damaged components, imperfections, retained items, compromised integrity of materials and seals, and residual moisture in or on the endoscope. An endoscope may be removed from service based upon inspection findings and potentially in accordance with the endoscope manufacturer's IFU.

Manufacturers of endoscopes suggest that health care personnel visually inspect endoscopes for defects and, if any are found, send the endoscope for recleaning or repair. Unfortunately, many IFUs do not provide much direction on where and what to look for when it comes to defects. Recent articles have suggested that the use of the unaided eye for inspecting endoscopes is not enough and the use of enhanced visual inspection is helpful in ensuring that any endoscope is as defect-free as possible (Barakat, 2018 [79]; Thaker, 2018 [309]; Galdys, 2019 [158]; Ofstead, 2017 [244] [246]; Ofstead, 2018 [242]; Rauwers, 2019 [262]; Alfa, 2020 [63]).

Facilities can create their own index of pictures, starting with a new endoscope and taking pictures of key areas so staff can be trained on what they are looking for in the visual inspection of each model/type of endoscope used at the facility.

Based on standards, guidelines, manufacturers' written IFU, and articles both peer and non-peer reviewed, visual inspection for an endoscope should include:

- 1) Unaided eye, no magnification.
- Enhanced visual inspection, using one or more of the following, for external surfaces: 2)
 - Hand-held magnification; a)
 - Tabletop/swivel arm magnification; b)
 - Lighted magnification; c)
 - USB/computer supported magnification. d)

Enhanced visual inspection using a borescope can be used for internal channels and ports.

TS

E.5 Implementation of visual inspection of endoscopes

The unaided eye is the first step in optical inspection but by itself it cannot see all the possible defects of an endoscope. Health care personnel should inspect the channel openings, distal tip, and elevator recess of endoscopes and can inspect the instrument/suction channels of endoscopes and the internal lumens of other medical devices to determine if there are any signs of damage or retained debris. Magnification and a borescope are tools to help ensure that endoscopes are without defects. The best way to implement this type of enhanced visual inspection is to do a gap analysis/risk assessment for each endoscope and its process, then use ANSI/AAMI ST90 [18] as a guidance document to start implementing visual inspection of each endoscope.

E.6 Borescope inspection of an endoscope

When using a borescope, there are many areas in an endoscope to inspect for damage or retained debris, including the instrument/suction channel, channel openings/valve housings, distal tip, and forceps elevator recess.



Figure E.3—Areas to inspect for damage on endoscope



{SOURCE: Healthmark, Inc.} [171]

E.7 Damaged adhesive

Adhesive is used to form a water-tight seal at the distal end, including around the lens, light guide, air/water nozzle, and fixed distal endcap for side-viewing endoscopes. Damaged or missing adhesive can lead to ingress of fluids, soils, or bioburden. Carefully visually inspect the distal end and remove from use any endoscopes with damaged or missing adhesive.

E.8 Inspection of components

E.8.1 Light guide connector, light guide tube, control body (including valves and switches)

These areas can be inspected with the unaided eye or with lighted magnification for retained soil, chemical damage, functionality, and defects. Damage should be noted in the repair records for the endoscope, and an evaluation of functionality should be performed. Any retained debris would warrant recleaning of the device. Chemical damage such as peeling creates a surface that is difficult if not impossible to disinfect properly; therefore, the component should be taken out of service and sent for repair.

Downloaded by on January 20, 2023 Single-user license only. Copyring, networking and distribution prohibited. Copyright AAMI



- Angulation Control Knobs
- Free / Engage Lever
- Suction
- Air / Water Valve (clean lens)
- Switch Unit (buttons)
- Biopsy Port



Figure E.4—Control body (including valves and switches)

E.8.2 Insertion tube

Inspection of the insertion tube on the outer part of the endoscope can be performed with the unaided eye and with magnification.

Insertion tube defects include the following:

a) Coating peeling, tearing, ripping, or scratching (Figures E.5 and E.6). If seen, the endoscope should be sent for repair.



Figure E.5—Examples of insertion tube peeling and scratching



Figure E.6—Additional example of insertion tube defects

b) Dents, crush marks (Figure E.7): Denting and crush marks can signal damage to inner components, such as restricted channels, fiberoptic breakage, and angulation component damage.



Figure E.7—Examples of denting and crush marks

c) Buckling (Figure E.8): Buckling occurs when the inner coil of the insertion tube becomes compromised and the polymer coating separates from the inner coil of the insertion tube or light guide tube, which can damage inner components.

LINK

GHTS





Figure E.8—Examples of buckling

E.8.3 Biopsy port

The biopsy port of the endoscope can be inspected with a borescope to properly inspect inside the lumen/channel. Any crack, nick, chip, loosened part, or other damage seen in this area, even if it seems minor, can trap soils, and have an impact on effective processing.



Figure E.9—Biopsy port

E.8.4 Distal tip

The bending section and distal tip should be inspected with magnification. To inspect the biopsy channel terminus at the distal tip, a correctly sized borescope can be used to look into the lumen.

Distal tip defects include the following:

a) Cracked or damaged distal c-cover (Figure E.10). This type of damage can cause sharp edges or pieces that could separate from the endoscope.



Figure E.10—Examples of cracked or damaged distal c-cover

b) Cracked or chipped objective or light guide lens (Figure E.11). This type of damage can cause sharp edges or glass fragments to come loose in the patient.



Figure E.11—Examples of cracked or chipped objective or light guide lens

c) Residue buildup or staining (Figure E.12 and E.13). Using an endoscope that has chemical buildup from improper rinsing or one that has residue buildup can cause patient infection or cross-contamination.



Figure E.12—Examples of residue buildup or staining

GHTS



- d) Laser burns. Laser burns can cause melted distal end components, sharp edges, and an area to harbor microorganisms.
- e) Nozzle loose or damaged. This type of damage can cause patient injury due to sharp edges or improper irrigation, or the nozzle could fall out in the patient if not properly secured.



Figure E.13—Examples of residue buildup or staining

The duodenoscope provides inspection challenges because the distal tip has working parts. The use of the unaided eye alone is insufficient for proper inspection. Magnification, preferably lighted, should be used to inspect these areas of the endoscope. Areas to inspect are the elevator wire area around both sides of the forceps elevator, the air/water nozzle area, the light guide, and the objective lens.

E.8.5 Bending section

Bending section defects include the following:

a) Bending rubber glue joint separation (Figure E.14). This is an area that will harbor patient debris and might have sharp edges that could injure the patient. If a bending joint separation is found, remove the endoscope from service.



Figure E.14—Examples of bending section rubber glue joint separation

b) Cracks in glue joints (Figure E.15). This is an area that can harbor patient debris and have sharp edges that could injure the patient. Severe cracks can cause the glue joint to separate from the distal end.



Figure E.15—Examples of cracks in glue joints

c) Bending rubber. Visually inspect the bending rubber for cuts or punctures (Figure E.16).



Figure E.16—Examples of cuts or punctures

- d) Articulation (Figure E.17). Improper or irregular articulation can result from worn or damaged inner angulation components, and could result in patient injury, or prevent the user from being able to properly perform the procedure.
- e) Stiff controls. Stiff controls might be an indication of fluid invasion or worn/damaged inner components and could prevent the user from being able to properly perform the procedure.



RIGHTSLINK()



Figure E.17—Examples of articulation

E.8.6 Channel

When a borescope inspection is performed, it is recommended that the length of the instrument/suction channel be inspected from the biopsy port to the distal tip. Depending on the length of the borescope, this is accomplished by either inspecting the entire length of the channel in a single direction or by inspecting from each end to the center. The channel should be inspected for damage, debris, simethicone, retained items such as sutures, and moisture. If damage is found, the endoscope should be removed from service according to the health care facility's policy and sent out for repair. If retained items are noted, the endoscope should be recleaned and reinspected to determine if the items are still found within the lumen. If moisture is found (Figure E.18), the facility policies for drying should be adjusted to ensure that endoscopes are dry prior to storage.





Figure E.18—Examples of moisture



Annex F

(informative)

User verification of cleaning processes¹

F.1 General considerations

Verification of a cleaning process consists of:

- a) defining a cleaning process that can be accomplished with comprehensive personnel training and verified through observation that it can be followed consistently; and
- b) implementing a testing system that verifies adequate, consistent results.

Two principles are involved in verifying a cleaning process. The first consists of establishing, clarifying, and documenting a standard cleaning process that is based on device manufacturers' written IFU and published recommended practices or guidelines. The second concerns measuring and evaluating residual contaminants on medical devices after applying the established cleaning process.

FDA has not reviewed the effectiveness of cleaning verification assays; rather, the manufacturers of cleaning verification assays develop their own methods and criteria for assessing the effectiveness of their products.

The medical device manufacturer must validate that the device can be cleaned and disinfected or sterilized adequately to allow the device to be reused and provide the information in the written instructions for the handling, cleaning, disinfection, packaging, and sterilization of medical devices in a health care facility. (ANSI/AAMI/ISO 17664 [7], AAMI TIR12 [20] and AAMI TIR30 [21] address the issues related to manufacturers' validation testing for cleaning of medical devices.)

Medical device manufacturers should be familiar with cleaning, disinfection, and sterilization technologies used in health care facilities and with the kinds of soil and microbial contamination encountered as a result of patient use. Users establish an appropriate cleaning policy and procedures for the reusable medical devices they process. The procedures should be based on the validated recommendations of the device manufacturer and the cleaning solution manufacturer, published data on the cleaning efficacy for the medical devices (if available), and published recommended practices or guidelines.

Cleaning efficacy tests are used to verify the ability of a cleaning process to remove or reduce to an acceptable level the clinical soil so that the subsequent disinfection or sterilization process can be effective.

Ideally, cleaning verification should include:

- a) visual inspection combined with other verification methods that allow the assessment of both external surfaces and the inner housing and channels of medical devices;
- b) testing the cleaning efficacy of equipment and the cleaning process; and
- c) monitoring key cleaning parameters (e.g., temperature). Manufacturers provide users with such tests so that medical devices can be tested directly after cleaning in a way that will not damage the device or require recleaning.

¹ Adapted from ANSI/AAMI ST79:2017, Annex D.

A more objective and sensitive method than visual inspection is to measure the levels of organic soil on the cleaned device. There are commercially available tests that allow users to rapidly verify that adequate cleaning has been performed.

A facility's quality assurance program should include ways to verify that the cleaning equipment is working properly and that the cleaning process is effective. Automated cleaning equipment should be tested upon installation, per the manufacturer's written IFU or each day that it is used if frequency is not specified, on all cycles used after repairs, and when changing to a new type of cleaning solution. The automated cleaning efficacy test and equipment manufacturers' written IFU should be followed.

Simple monitoring tools that provide objective, real-time quality control checks can help to verify staff competency and compliance with cleaning guidelines.

Basic components of user verification of cleaning efficacy are:

- a) select an appropriate rapid, easy-to-use test that represents a soil marker relevant to the devices used;
- b) establish reasonable benchmarks for the level of cleaning that can be achieved; and
- c) determine frequency of use based on facility factors (e.g., types and condition of devices, etc.)

F.2 Markers (analytes)

Cleaning is the removal of organic material (e.g., patient secretions), inorganic material (e.g., salts), and microbial contamination (acquired from the patient procedure, the environment or during handling) to ensure that adequate disinfection or sterilization can be achieved, thereby making the device safe for subsequent use on patients. Published studies that have evaluated the specific markers that can be used to determine cleaning efficacy have indicated that one or more of the following markers are useful for benchmarking purposes (Washburn et al., 2018 [372]; Sethi et al., 2017 [290]; Alfa et al., 2014 [59]):

a) protein;

NOTE 1 Protein detection by chemical reaction interpreted as a visible color change or a quantitative measure of residue (utilizing a color chart [semi-quantitative] or photometric device). Samples may be collected by swabbing, flushing, or direct application of reagent.

- b) carbohydrate;
- c) hemoglobin (blood); and

NOTE 2 Hemoglobin detection by chemical reaction. Interpreted as a visible color change or a quantitative measure of residues. Samples may be collected by swabbing or flushing.

d) adenosine triphosphate (ATP).

NOTE 3 Detection of ATP by chemical reaction. Measurement of fluorescent light reported as a numeric value. Samples can be collected by swabbing or flushing.

Different cleaning verification methods have benchmarks that have been established and, in some cases, validated by the cleaning indicator manufacturer or through independent studies. Facilities should determine whether the benchmarks pertain to the tests they intend to use based on the endoscope type, component tested, and whether the units or measurements are applicable.

Realistic benchmarks depend on what can be achieved by routine cleaning and the limit of detection of the method used. Data indicate that for flexible endoscopes that have been cleaned after use on patients, the average level of soil markers in the suction/biopsy channel are as follows (Alfa et al., 2013 [55] [60] [61], 2012 [58]):

- e) protein, <6.4 µg/cm²;
- f) carbohydrate, <1.8 µg/cm²;

GHTSLINKA)

- g) hemoglobin, <2.2 µg/cm²;
- h) sodium ion, <1 µmole/cm²;
- i) endotoxin, <2.2 EU/cm²;
- j) bioburden, <4 log₁₀ CFU/cm²;
- k) ATP, <22 femtomoles/cm².
- NOTE Research has found that reduced protein and bioburden cut offs can be achieved.

F.2.1 ATP

ATP has been validated against other common markers including protein, carbohydrate, and bioburden. (Alfa et al., 2002 [57], 2012 [58], 2013 [55] [60] [61]).

The unit of measure for ATP is femtomole (1 X 10⁻¹⁵ mole). An ATP monitoring system converts ATP to light, and the amount of femtomoles of ATP present in a sample is detected by a measuring device that can read the amount of light generated by the ATP. The measuring device gives a readout of that light value in Relative Light Units (RLUs), which is directly proportional to the amount of femtomoles of ATP present in the sample. As different systems are available with various measuring devices, a benchmark value of <22 femtomoles of ATP/cm², has been correlated to the equivalent values of other markers including the established protein benchmark of 6.4 μ g/cm² (200 RLU converts to 22 femtomoles/cm² for the system cited in Alfa, 2013a [55]; Alfa, 2014 [56] [59]; Alfa, 2013b [60]).

For the specific ATP system cited in the_literature, 200 RLU was correlated to the equivalent values of other markers. For that system, the ATP values can be converted from 200 RLU to femtomoles/cm² by using the conversion factor of 9 RLUs/femtomole of ATP which provides a correlated value of 22 femtomoles of ATP/cm² (196 RLUs/cm² divided by 9 femtomoles of ATP/RLU). Other ATP systems might have different conversion factors.

NOTE ATP test manufacturers use varying scales. Check with the ATP test manufacturer for the recommended benchmark or the femtomole-to-RLU conversion factor.

F.2.2 Protein

A number of methods for protein detection and quantification have been developed and validated for a variety of purposes, including cleaning verification testing. These include:

- a) Pyrogallol Red method (Fujita et al., 1983 [156]): This is a color reaction between Pyrogallol Red-molybdate complex and protein. The complex binds to basic amino acid groups of protein molecules. The increase in absorbance is directly proportional to protein concentration in the sample. Results can be read visually for color change (qualitative test) or using a color interpretation chart (semi-quantitative test), or with a spectrophotometer for quantitative results.
- b) Bromophenol Blue method (Flores et al., 1978 [150]): Protein is detected using the pH indicator Bromophenol blue. At a low pH Bromophenol blue is yellow in the absence of protein. Presence of a protein slightly increases the pH of the solution. This increased pH causes Bromophenol blue to change its color from yellow to greenish blue. This color change can be read visually for color change (qualitative test), compared to a color chart (semi-quantitative) or with a spectrophotometer for quantitative results.

F.2.3 Hemoglobin

Peroxidase test method (Geissler et al., 1977 [162]; Liem et al., 1979 [206]): Relies on the peroxidase-like activity of hemoglobin in blood to catalyze the oxidation of some compounds in the presence of hydrogen peroxide to yield colored substances, which are easily detected. This reaction can show blood residues by a color change to blue. This color change can be read visually for color change (qualitative test), compared to a color chart (semi-quantitative) or with a spectrophotometer for quantitative results.



F.2.4 Carbohydrates

Glucose oxidase test method (Jakobsen, 1960 [182]): Specifically tests for glucose. This test is based on a sequential enzyme reaction. Glucose oxidase converts the glucose to gluconic acid and hydrogen peroxide. A second enzyme, peroxidase, catalyses the reaction of peroxides to produce a positive color change. This color change can be read visually (qualitative test), compared to a color chart (semi-quantitative) or with a spectrophotometer for quantitative results.

F.3 Cleaning verification tests for users

There are a number of commercially available validated test methods for rapid detection of organic residues on flexible endoscopes.

Ideally, cleaning tests for in-use verification of medical device processing should be:

- a) rapid;
- b) easy to perform;
- c) sensitive (i.e., meet realistic benchmarks);
- d) accurate;
- e) repeatable;
- f) free of interfering substances; and
- g) robust (i.e., do not require exacting conditions or time constraints that cannot be achieved in routine processing areas).

To be of most utility to users, cleaning verification tests should enable users to quickly test medical devices directly after cleaning and in a way that will not damage the device or require recleaning. Moreover, easy-to-perform tests are also needed to verify the functionality of automated washers. Such tests should not lead to the introduction of interfering or extraneous materials that could remain on medical devices post-testing.

For verification of routine cleaning processes, users should incorporate test methods that verify the functionality of the mechanical cleaning equipment (if used) and the cleanliness of specific devices after manual or mechanical cleaning is completed. These verification tests are part of continuous quality improvement to demonstrate continued compliance with cleaning benchmarks once these benchmarks have been defined.

F.3.1 Verification tests for ultrasonic cleaners

- a) Test for cavitation in ultrasonic bath: Indication can be physical measurement or visual assessment.
- b) **Test for soil removal (external) in ultrasonic bath:** Indication is visual assessment or absence of marker on a coupon placed in the ultrasonic bath.
- c) **Test for soil removal (internal within lumens) in ultrasonic bath:** Indication is visual assessment or absence of marker on a coupon placed in the ultrasonic bath.

F.3.2 Verification test for mechanical washers

a) **Test for soil removal:** Indication is visual assessment or absence of marker on a coupon placed in the washer.

F.4 A program for verification of the efficacy of the manual cleaning during endoscope processing: An example

The purpose of verifying manual cleaning efficacy is to ensure that the manual cleaning step performed during endoscope processing is consistently performed correctly according to established thresholds. Implementation of a cleaning verification program should be part of a complete endoscope processing quality control program.

A manual cleaning verification program has two goals.

- 1) **Quality control.** Is each endoscope effectively cleaned before HLD or sterilization? In this case, the efficacy of the manual cleaning process is verified for every endoscope after every use.
- 2) Process control. Is the manual cleaning process under control? This approach verifies the efficacy of manual cleaning for a percentage of endoscopes over a specified number of processing cycles to assess if the manual cleaning process is under control. This approach can highlight undesirable variability in the efficacy of the manual cleaning process. Verification data can be used to assess if changes or improvements in processing procedures are working as intended (e.g., reducing variability in the number and frequency of manual cleaning failures).

A comprehensive manual cleaning verification program is not a substitute for other quality control measures (e.g., culturing of endoscopes after processing by high-level disinfection or sterilization).

A complete cleaning verification program contains the following components:

1) Establish policies and procedures

Policies and procedures for a manual cleaning verification program should include the following:

- a) Designation of a person or department responsible for defining, establishing, and implementing a routine manual cleaning verification program.
- b) Designation of a person or department responsible for ensuring that all personnel implementing the cleaning verification program are adequately trained and that, at a minimum, annual competency verifications are performed.
- c) A method for verification data capture and storage.
- d) A process for routine review and analysis of verification data.
- e) A process for addressing cleaning verification failures.
- 2) Identify which endoscope types will be routinely monitored
 - a) Identify high-risk endoscopes (see 3.31). Additional endoscope types may be added to the high-risk category depending on individual facility manual cleaning performance. Evidence of endoscope-associated infections due to cross-contamination or outbreak situations could result in the temporary addition of any endoscope type to the high-risk category.
 - b) Identify those endoscopes that are not high-risk.
 - c) Ideally, all endoscope types should be included in a cleaning verification program.
- 3) Determine test points for each type of endoscope

Test points should include at a minimum:

a) suction/biopsy (working) channel;

- b) elevator mechanism if present;
- c) elevator channel if present.

Consider periodic assessment of irrigation accessories, the external distal tip of the endoscope, the control handle, valve housings, the biopsy port, and reusable valves (buttons).

- 4) Determine pass/fail thresholds
- a) Pass/fail thresholds should be pre-determined before verification testing begins.
- b) Pass/fail thresholds vary depending on the cleaning verification technologies used. The manufacturer's written recommendations for pass/fail thresholds should be followed.
- c) Pass/fail thresholds should be established related to the area of the endoscope sampled and should be validated for use with endoscopes.
- d) Health care facilities may establish pass/fail thresholds for their unique facilities. These thresholds should be based on solid statistical methodology.
- 5) Frequency of testing

Cleaning verification should take place after manual cleaning and before high-level disinfection or sterilization. The frequency of verification testing depends on the type of endoscope (see 11.2.4.2 for risk assessment):

- a) High-risk endoscopes should be monitored after every use.
- b) Those endoscopes that are determined NOT to be high-risk shall be verified:
 - when new endoscopes are purchased;
 - when loaned endoscopes are received for temporary use; and
 - at established intervals (e.g., after each use, daily) or, at a minimum, at a statistically significant frequency based on the number of procedures.

Endoscopes should be randomly selected for verification testing to avoid repeated testing of the same endoscopes.

The frequency of testing should be increased if tests done as process controls identify cleaning failures for a substantial proportion of endoscopes. If the process is not under good control, then the tests should be done every time for quality control until cleaning consistently succeeds at removing soil.

6) Data analysis

Verification data should be reviewed on a regular basis so that adverse issues can be addressed in a timely manner. Examples of how cleaning verification data can be used include the following:

- a) verification that education and training of personnel responsible for manual cleaning of endoscopes is effective;
- b) verification of processing technician competency in manual cleaning procedures. Managers should review verification data for each processing technician at least quarterly;
- c) identification of ongoing systematic errors in the manual cleaning process;
- d) identification of aging or damaged endoscopes that are difficult to clean;
- e) identification of other factors that may be contributing to problems with cleaning effectiveness, such as sitting used during lengthy procedures, substantial bleeding or secretions, a lack of adequate point-of-care treatment, necrosectomy, or delayed reprocessing;
- f) verification that an endoscope has met a pre-determined threshold for cleanliness and is ready for high-level disinfection or sterilization (quality control);
- g) verification that the manual cleaning process is under control (process control);

GHTSLINK()

 h) assessment of whether changes or improvements made to manual cleaning procedures are effective in reducing variability in the number and frequency of cleaning failures. Manual cleaning verification data <u>cannot</u> be used to verify that an endoscope has been adequately high-level disinfected or sterilized and is safe for use on a patient.



Annex G

(informative)

Effects of simethicone on flexible endoscopes

Simethicone is an anti-foaming agent and is the active ingredient in a variety of anti-gas medications. It consists of a silicon-containing polymer called polydimethyl siloxane, or dimethicone, and silicon dioxide. Simethicone is an inert substance that is very difficult to remove due to its hydrophobicity, and the drug formulation might contain additives such as sugars for flavoring or thickeners for viscosity. During an endoscopic procedure, simethicone drops might be injected into irrigation water bottles or directly into endoscope channels to reduce bubbles that can interfere with visualization. Clinical series demonstrate enhanced polyp and adenoma detection rates with use of simethicone for selected patients in whom adequate visualization otherwise cannot be achieved (Kutyla et al., 2018 [204]). According to endoscope manufacturers and the FDA, this off-label use of simethicone should be avoided (Olympus, 2018 [248]; Pentax, 2014 [252]; Fujifilm, 2013 [155]).

Multiple studies have documented the persistence of simethicone in endoscope channels, despite repeated cleaning and disinfection procedures (Ofstead et al., 2016 [239] [247]; Barakat, 2019 [80]; Ofstead, 2019 [234] [240] [241]; Van Stiphout, 2016 [365]). Simethicone can form crystal deposits that may occlude narrow lumens, such as the water-jet channel (Van Stiphout, 2016 [365]). Accumulation of these deposits can interfere with proper flushing of the channel during cleaning, increasing the risk of growth of microorganisms and biofilm formation. The sugars and thickeners present in the simethicone drug formulation might also contribute to growth of microorganisms. To further complicate matters, simethicone can be difficult to detect in flexible endoscopes. In one study (Barakat, 2019 [80]), researchers found a correlation between the concentration of simethicone used and the retention of observed water droplets. Endoscopes exposed to 0.5 % simethicone averaged 5.81 water droplets (± 2.77), while endoscopes exposed to 1 % simethicone had $13.47 (\pm 5.64)$ droplets and endoscopes exposed to 3 % simethicone had $17.3 (\pm 6.61)$ droplets. A control group with water had an average of 6.3 visible droplets (± 3.52).

The Canadian Association of Gastroenterology (CAG) reviewed the evidence of the effects of simethicone on endoscopes and published a Position Statement in 2018 (Benmassaoud and Parent, 2018 [91]). Although simethicone itself has not been associated with healthcare-associated infections, it might contribute to the formation of biofilms, which have been implicated in outbreaks of post-ERCP bacteremia. The CAG does not ban the use of simethicone during endoscopic procedures, but recommends following the endoscope manufacturers' IFUs, strictly adhering to high-level processing protocols, and considering the performance of regular microbial surveillance. The CAG also suggests that endoscopy units reconsider the routine addition of simethicone to the water during procedures, and, if it is used, using only the lowest effective volume.

In addition to the statement by the CAG, the major GI endoscope manufacturers recommend against the use of simethicone, citing the difficulties in removal of simethicone even when reprocessing instructions are followed. If used, the manufacturers also advise employing only the lowest effective concentration in the smallest amounts through the biopsy channel alone, and not in the wash bottle or through smaller inaccessible water flush channels. However, recent studies have shown that, even when used at very low concentrations, simethicone persists in endoscope lumens after reprocessing (Barakat, 2019 [78] [80]). Throughout this standard, emphasis has been placed on the importance of cleaning. Failure to perform satisfactory cleaning can result in disinfection or sterilization failure and outbreaks of infection (CDC, 2008 [109]). Disinfection and sterilization depend on the removal of both organic and inorganic materials.

Furthermore, the FDA has not approved the use of simethicone for use in bowel preparation (ASGE, Technology Assessment Committee, 2009 [28]. Multiple recalls of simethicone have taken place over the years, resulting from contamination with debris, yeasts, molds, and potential bacterial pathogens that exceeded the USP specification for maximum microbial content (Major Pharmaceuticals, 2019 [207]; Sutton, 2012 [305]; Drucker, 2008 [140]).

Annex H

(informative)

Safety considerations for high-level disinfectants and liquid chemical sterilants

This Annex is intended to provide important considerations in the use of liquid chemical sterilants and HLDs for endoscope processing and information on the characteristics of LCSs and HLDs and associated safety requirements.

The information provided in this annex was accurate at the time the standard was approved for publication. However, sterilization and high-level disinfection processes evolve over time, and FDA-cleared manufacturers' label claims and IFU change accordingly. Therefore, it is essential that health care personnel obtain up-to-date information for the products that they use or are considering using and refer to manufacturers' current label directions and written IFU.

If any eye contact should occur with any HLD or LCS, the eye should be rinsed immediately with plenty of water for at least 15-minutes; the eyelids should be held apart forcibly to ensure flushing of the entire eye surface.

H.1 Glutaraldehyde solutions

H.1.1 Introduction

Glutaraldehyde-based products are effective sterilants and disinfectants used primarily for medical devices that cannot be steam sterilized, particularly heat-sensitive, lensed instruments that are commonly subjected to high-level disinfection between patient uses. If used properly, glutaraldehyde-based products can be used without tissue irritation or other adverse health effects. However, dermatologic, respiratory, and ocular effects have occurred in overexposed personnel and skin sensitization has been reported with less pronounced exposure; therefore, adequate precautions should be taken when using glutaraldehyde-based products (Nayebzadeh, 2007 [219]; Takigawa, 2006 [307]; Ballantyne, 1995 [75]).

This section covers the properties and applications of glutaraldehyde; occupational exposure considerations specific to glutaraldehyde, including vapor monitoring and procedures for handling spills; and the disposal of glutaraldehyde solutions.

NOTE Glutaraldehyde is a major component of many LCS/HLD products. Chemical and toxicological properties are unique to any given chemical, so the properties of glutaraldehyde discussed here should not be generalized to other components that a formulation might contain. The product manufacturer should be consulted for further details on the formulation and for an SDS.

H.1.2 Properties and applications of glutaraldehyde

The biocidal properties of 2 % glutaraldehyde in alkaline aqueous solution were discovered in the early 1960s (Borick, Dondershine, and Chandler, 1964 [96]). This basic formulation was later refined to include, when appropriate, corrosion inhibitors, wetting agents, and buffers to control the pH of the solution. Other formulations with higher sterilant concentrations (e.g., 3.4 %) also have been developed.

Several companies now produce glutaraldehyde-based LCSs and HLDs. These products are sometimes referred to as either "acid glutaraldehyde" or "alkaline glutaraldehyde." Products designated as "alkaline" are usually supplied in two parts (active glutaraldehyde solution and activator buffer), which require mixing before use to impart an alkaline pH to the solution (a pH of approximately 8). Those designated as "acid" usually do not require an activator.

Glutaraldehyde-based sterilants usually are used as HLDs for semi-critical devices. Conditions for high-level disinfection generally range from 5-minutes to 90-minutes at 20 °C to 35 °C (68 °F to 95 °F), depending on the product formulation and glutaraldehyde concentration (Table H.1). For currently available products, the contact time for sterilization is 10-hours at temperatures ranging from 20 °C to 25 °C (68 °F to 77 °F) or 7-hours and 40-minutes at 35 °C (95 °F), depending on the product formulation and glutaraldehyde concentration. Depending on the product, the device sterilization contact conditions indicated in the labeling of a cleared LCS/HLD could be based only on the AOAC Sporicidal Activity Test or on additional simulated-use testing with devices.

Table H.1—Examples of labeled contact conditions for high-level disinfection by FDA-cleared glutaraldehyde products

Glutaraldehyde solution	Contact conditions
12 % glutaraldehyde, 1.93 % phenol-phenate solution	25 °C (77 °F), 20-minutes
4 % to 2.6 % glutaraldehyde solution without surfactants	20 °C to 25 °C (68 °F to 77 °F), 45-minutes
4 % to 2.5 % glutaraldehyde solution with surfactants	20 °C to 25 °C (68 °F to 77 °F), 45- to 90-minutes
5% glutaraldehyde solution with surfactants	35 °C (95 F), -minutes
3.0 % to 4.0 % glutaraldehyde solution with surfactants	20 °C to 25 °C (68 °F to 77 °F), 20- to 90-minutes
4 % glutaraldehyde, 20.1 % isopropanol	20 °C (68 °F), 10-minutes

NOTE 1 A complete list of FDA-cleared HLDs and LCSs can be found at the FDA website.

NOTE 2 The 5 % glutaraldehyde solution must be used in an AER with the FDA-cleared capability of maintaining the solution at 35 °C. Glutaraldehyde-based products can be used in automated or manual high-level disinfection processes. Many automated reprocessors are equipped with temperature-control devices, computerized processing cycles, and bacteria-retentive filters for rinse water, as well as filters for removing suspended materials from the reused disinfectant solution. Although automated reprocessors might control the temperature of the solution in the reservoir, they might not be capable of maintaining the temperature of the solution in the processing chamber during high-level disinfection; the user should check with the manufacturer of the automated reprocessor. It should be noted that formulations containing surfactants might not be suitable for automated systems because of the potential for foaming.

Because the health care industry has used glutaraldehyde for many decades to disinfect and sterilize medical devices, there is a large amount of information in the literature regarding its mechanism of action, the role of pH control, its compatibility with the various materials used to manufacture medical devices, the effect of temperature on the rate of microbial kill, and the procedures that should be used for the safe handling of glutaraldehyde solutions (Alvarado and Reichelderfer, 2000 [68]; Chervenak, 2002 [115], 2003 [116]; Jordan, 1995 [190]; Rubbo, Gardner, and Webb, 1967 [271]; Russell, 1994 [274]; Stonehill, Krop, and Borick, 1963 [304]). Despite this, recent evidence has suggested that some types of microorganisms demonstrate resistance to the antimicrobial effects of glutaraldehyde and might not be inactivated by such disinfectants. Strains of nontuberculous mycobacteria and *Pseudomonas* have shown unique resistance to glutaraldehyde, some of which has been associated with infection outbreaks (Guimarães, 2016 [168]; Neves, 2016 [222]; Fisher, 2012 [149]). Some cyst and even vegetative forms of protozoa also demonstrate resistance to the effects of glutaraldehyde (Barbee et al., 1999 [81]; Coulon et al., 2010 [126]).

The Australian government's 1994 assessment report, *Glutaraldehyde: Priority existing chemical no. 3*, concludes that "glutaraldehyde can be used safely if the proper control measures are in place. The main health effects of glutaraldehyde are irritation of the skin, eyes and respiratory system." For safe and effective use of a product, users should consult the labeling, because the directions vary according to the manufacturer's formulation.

Glutaraldehyde reacts with proteins forming large polymeric molecules by cross-linking (Block, 2001 [94]). On the other hand, small non-toxic amounts of glutaraldehyde remain on the synthetic surfaces of endoscopes after disinfection and rinsing due to its polar properties (Van Drongelen et al., 2006 [366]; Emmrich et al., 2014 [143]). These glutaraldehyde residues react with tissue and body fluids by forming larger molecules and deposits, when the endoscope is used on the next patient. Deposits can be easily identified by means of the white markings on the endoscope after repeatedly manual or automated disinfection with glutaraldehyde. The markings are yellow/brown up to the point where the endoscope is inserted into the patient but continue to be white at other locations (Ofstead et al., 2017 [238] [244] [246]; Biering, 2014 [92]). See Figure H.1. Internal channels of the endoscope, like the biopsy channel, exhibit these yellow/ brown deposits as well (Tucker et al., 1996 [315]).



Figure H.1—Endoscope markings example

Glutaraldehyde is compatible with most device materials used today and can be used to process medical devices containing heat-sensitive materials. Most glutaraldehyde-based chemical sterilants are labeled for reuse for 14- to 28-days. During the recommended reuse period, the concentration of the active ingredients in the solution should be tested with the solution test strips or chemical monitoring devices recommended by the manufacturer, and the testing should be performed according to the label instructions. If the concentration of the active ingredients in the solution falls below the MRC or MEC, the solution should be discarded regardless of how many days it has been in use.

H.1.3 Effective use of glutaraldehyde

To ensure efficacy, the user should observe the following guidelines:

- a) The medical device manufacturer's written IFU should be consulted to determine the compatibility of the device with the selected glutaraldehyde solution.
- b) If an automated reprocessor is to be used, the device manufacturer and automated reprocessor manufacturer should be consulted to determine the advisability of using glutaraldehyde products containing a surfactant (which might not be suitable for automated systems because of the potential for foaming).
- c) The glutaraldehyde product should be mixed according to the label instructions.
- d) Devices should be thoroughly cleaned, the exterior should be dried, and interior channels should be drained or evacuated of all water before they are immersed in the HLD solution to avoid adding debris to the solution or diluting the solution, both of which can shorten the duration of efficacy.
- e) Devices should be thoroughly and completely immersed in the HLD solution to ensure that all surfaces are covered by the solution and that all appropriate lumens have been filled with the HLD, as recommended.
- f) A solution test strip or chemical monitoring device should be used to test the concentration of the active ingredients before each use. Only those solution test strips, or chemical monitoring devices recommended by the glutaraldehyde product manufacturer should be used. Quality control checks of the solution test strips, or chemical monitoring devices should be performed according to the manufacturer's written IFU.
- g) When the concentration of the active ingredients falls below the MRC or MEC, the solution should no longer be used.
- h) Solutions should be kept covered to prevent evaporation.
- i) Solutions that evaporate or drain below the soak level might require additional solution to facilitate complete immersion of the device. Before adding solution, the user must first consult the HLD manufacturer's IFU to

G H T S L I N K4)

115

ensure that the manufacturer permits the adding of solution. The solution cannot be used beyond the original soaking solution expiration date (use life). Before being used, the solution must be tested for MEC or MRC.

- j) Solutions should not be used beyond the reuse period indicated on the label even if the concentration of the active ingredients is at or above the MRC or MEC. A glutaraldehyde product might be labeled for 14-day use, for 28-day use, or (if it is a concentrate) for one-time use.
- k) Any deviations from the label instructions for contact time should be documented; the documentation should include a rationale.
- I) Glutaraldehyde solutions should not be used beyond their shelf life.
- m) Unopened solutions should be stored in a cool, well ventilated area at the temperature recommended by the manufacturer.

H.1.3.1 Safe use of glutaraldehyde

H.1.3.1.1 General considerations for occupational exposure

Procedures should be developed that will prevent contact with glutaraldehyde solution and reduce exposure to glutaraldehyde vapor to the lowest reasonably obtainable level below the ACGIH® TLV®-C (Ceiling Threshold Limit Value). Personnel should always wear appropriate PPE when using glutaraldehyde solutions (see 6.6.2 and H.1.3.2.3).

Rationale: Exposure to glutaraldehyde vapor, even at levels below the ACGIH® TLV®-C, can cause symptoms such as headaches and irritation of eyes, nose, and throat. These symptoms should disappear when the individual leaves the area of glutaraldehyde use. Exposure to glutaraldehyde vapor can also cause asthma-like symptoms in some individuals.

H.1.3.2 Health effects of glutaraldehyde

H.1.3.2.1 Potential health effects of short-term exposure

Glutaraldehyde is an irritant to the skin, eyes, gastrointestinal tract, and respiratory system.

Skin contact can cause minor irritation with itching and slight local redness. Prolonged skin contact causes mild to moderate local redness and swelling. Even in low concentrations, there is a potential for liquid glutaraldehyde to be a contact sensitizer, through the dermal route of exposure, in a small percentage of exposed individuals. Glutaraldehyde in concentrations of less than 10 % is not known to be absorbed through the skin in harmful amounts. Glutaraldehyde is a protein cross-linking agent, and its reactivity with skin proteins is a major factor in limiting percutaneous absorption.

Glutaraldehyde in concentrations of more than 0.1 % is irritating to the eyes. Eye contact causes moderate to severe irritation, experienced as discomfort or pain, excessive blinking, and tear production, with marked redness and swelling of the conjunctiva. Ocular contact with aqueous solutions containing 2 % or higher concentrations of glutaraldehyde can cause severe eye irritation and damage, including minor to moderate corneal injury that can persist and, if not adequately and promptly treated, result in permanent impairment of vision.

If swallowed, glutaraldehyde in concentrations of less than 5 % can be mildly to moderately irritating to the mouth, throat, and stomach. There could be abdominal discomfort or pain, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, dizziness, and weakness. Nose and throat irritation and general tightness of the chest have been reported by workers exposed to glutaraldehyde vapor.

Vapors generated from glutaraldehyde can be irritating to the respiratory tract, and current information suggests that inhalation of the vapor can cause asthma-like symptoms as well as aggravate pre-existing asthma and inflammatory or fibrotic pulmonary disease. Nosebleeds have also been reported in workers exposed to glutaraldehyde but are rare. For these reasons, all glutaraldehyde solutions should be used in well ventilated areas or in free-standing or vented chemical fume hoods. These symptoms are generally temporary and should subside when the individual leaves the area of glutaraldehyde exposure.

116

Evidence indicates that skin and respiratory irritant effects are exacerbated on repeated exposure to glutaraldehyde. The information in this section is based on Ballantyne (1995) [75], Ballantyne and Jordan (2001) [76], and—in the case of the information on skin effects of prolonged contact with glutaraldehyde—Fowler (1989) [151]. Reports describing asthma-like symptoms resulting from overexposure to high vapor concentrations have been published. It is unknown whether these symptoms are associated with an immune-mediated mechanism or are provoked by irritating concentrations, because the current body of evidence is inconclusive.

H.1.3.2.2 Potential health effects of long-term exposure

Respiratory irritation and skin-sensitizing effects of glutaraldehyde have been confirmed (Beauchamp et al., 1992 [85]). There is no evidence that exposure to glutaraldehyde causes adverse reproductive health effects, and a mortality study did not reveal an increased incidence of cancer deaths. Animal studies have shown no evidence of any target organ toxicity. Case reports have suggested an association between glutaraldehyde and asthma-like symptoms (Chan-Yeung et al., 1993 [112]; Stenton et al., 1994 [303]; Gannon et al., 1995 [159]; Di Stefano et al., 1999 [132]). To date, only a very small number of cases have been diagnosed as asthma based on both clinical features and appropriate investigational procedures.

Glutaraldehyde is listed as a Group 3 carcinogen ("unclassifiable as to carcinogenicity to humans") by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) and as "not classifiable as a human carcinogen" by ACGIH®.

NOTE IARC and ACGIH® carcinogen classifications have specific meanings and are based on specific types of evidence. For an explanation of the IARC carcinogen classifications, see IARC (2010) [179]. For an explanation of ACGIH® carcinogen classifications, see ACGIH® (2022 [70].

H.1.3.2.2.1 Occupational exposure limits

Ceiling threshold limit values for glutaraldehyde should be measured and documented on a schedule that is consistent with facility policy and procedures. Currently, ACGIH® recommends a TLV®-C for glutaraldehyde of 0.05 parts per million volume (ppmv) (ACGIH®, 2022) [70]. A threshold limit value is the airborne concentration of a substance to which "it is believed that nearly all workers may be repeatedly exposed day after day without adverse health effects. Because of wide variation in individual susceptibility, however, a small percentage of workers may experience discomfort from some substances at concentrations at or below the threshold limit; a smaller percentage may be affected more seriously by aggravation of a pre-existing condition, or by development of an occupational illness" (ACGIH®, 2022) [70]. However, federal OSHA can enforce exposure limits, including the currently ACGIH®-recommended TLV®-C for glutaraldehyde, by means of its General Duty Clause, which is designed to ensure that each employer provides a workplace for employees that is free from recognized hazards. Additionally, states with federally approved state OSHA programs can opt to enforce exposure limits as originally promulgated in the Air Contaminants Standard or their own stricter standards.

NOTE The occupational exposure limits discussed above were current at the time this document was published. However, it is essential that health care personnel keep informed of the status of federal, state, and local regulations applicable to glutaraldehyde, as well as with professional guidelines published by such organizations as ACGIH®. Certain EPA regulations also apply to glutaraldehyde. Users should contact the federal EPA office or their state EPA offices for information on EPA requirements. Additional regulatory information can be obtained from the manufacturer's SDS.

H.1.3.2.3 Personal protective equipment and first aid

H.1.3.2.3.1 Eye protection

RIGHTSLINKA)

Splashproof goggles or both safety glasses with side shields and a wraparound full-face shield should always be worn when working around glutaraldehyde-based LCSs/HLDs. For eye protection, both safety glasses and face shields are needed, because many face shields alone do not offer total protection against eye contamination, and their use should be considered an adjunct to safety glasses to protect facial skin. If any eye contact should occur, the eye should be washed immediately and continuously with flowing water for at least 30-minutes. (Flushing with water dilutes and removes the glutaraldehyde.) Contact lenses should be removed after the first 5-minutes and the washing continued. The employee should then receive prompt medical attention, preferably from an ophthalmologist.

H.1.3.2.3.2 Skin protection

For glutaraldehyde, nitrile and butyl rubber are the most impervious materials; gloves made of polyethylene and certain man-made copolymers give protection for several hours (Jordan, et al., 1996 [191]). The permeability of gloves varies considerably, depending on the manufacturer; therefore, the recommendations of the glove manufacturer and the LCS/HLD manufacturer should be consulted. Polyvinyl chloride and neoprene gloves do not give adequate protection from glutaraldehyde and can absorb the chemical: therefore, the use of these types of gloves is not recommended. The use of latex gloves also is not recommended, because they are not designed to protect against chemical exposures. Permeation and degradation periods should be considered when selecting gloves for specific activities and use with chemicals.

Personnel who have come into contact with liquid glutaraldehyde should immediately remove contaminated clothing and shoes and thoroughly wash contaminated skin with flowing water for 15- to 20-minutes. Exposed personnel should receive prompt medical attention from a physician-ideally an occupational health physician-immediately after these emergency measures. Contaminated reusable clothing should be laundered before it is worn again, and rubber goods should be rinsed thoroughly before use. Any heavily contaminated clothing, shoes, or equipment that cannot be thoroughly washed and decontaminated should be discarded.

NOTE 1 Information on current OSHA regulations can be obtained at OSHA's website, http://www.osha.gov. Information on current ACGIH® guidelines can be obtained at ACGIH's website, http://www.acgih.org, or by contacting the American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists, Technical Affairs Office, Kemper Woods Center, 1330 Kemper Meadow Drive, Cincinnati, OH 45240, (513) 742-2020, fax (513) 742-3355.

NOTE 2 Information on current EPA regulations can be obtained at EPA's website, http://www.epa.gov, or by contacting the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Ariel Rios Building, 1200 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Washington, DC 20460, (202) 272-0167.

H.1.3.2.3.3 **Respiratory protection**

See 4.4.4 of ANSI/AAMI ST58:2013/(R)2018 [14].

H.1.3.3 Ventilation

Glutaraldehyde solutions should be prepared and used in a well ventilated area or in freestanding or vented chemical fume hoods (see H.1.3.1).

H.1.3.4 **Preparing activated solutions**

Glutaraldehyde solutions should be prepared and activated according to the manufacturer's written IFU. Appropriate PPE should be worn (see 6.6.2), and every effort should be made to minimize splashing, spilling, and personnel exposure. Preparation of activated solutions should be performed only in a properly ventilated area. The date of activation (mixing date) and the expiration date should be recorded on the activated solution container and documented according to facility policies and procedures.

Rationale: The recommended ventilation, spill prevention procedures, and appropriate PPE are intended to protect the worker from the irritating and sensitizing effects of glutaraldehyde. The activation and expiration dates should be recorded to ensure that the solution will not be used longer than its effective use life.

H.1.3.5 Pouring activated solutions

The solution should be poured from the original container into a clean, dry immersion container by a method that will prevent employee contact with the chemical solution and reduce exposure to glutaraldehyde vapor to the lowest reasonably obtainable level below the TLV®-C. Agitation and splashing during transfer should be minimized. Examples of methods of minimizing contact with the solution or vapor include the use of closed transfer devices, local exhaust hoods, and/or ductless fume hoods and strict adherence to the use of appropriate PPE.

Rationale: Avoiding contact with glutaraldehyde-based products prevents skin and eye injury and minimizes the potential for skin sensitization, which has been reported in a small proportion of users. Minimizing agitation and splashing during transfer also minimizes the potential for increased vapor. See also H.1.3.2.

H.1.3.6 Transporting solutions

Transport of glutaraldehyde solutions in secondary containers such as trays or buckets should be avoided. If it is absolutely necessary to transport an activated solution to another area, that area should be properly ventilated, and a transport method should be selected that will minimize the potential for spills and the possibility of personnel exposure to the solution or vapor.

Rationale: Transporting solutions in secondary containers increases the risk of spills. Spills increase the surface area of the solution and thus increase the potential for vapor to raise the air concentration above the TLV®-C. Spills also increase the potential for skin and eye contact and irritation.

H.1.3.7 Storing activated and unused solutions

Glutaraldehyde should be stored in a closed container or system in a well ventilated area. Soaking containers should always be covered and clearly labeled, in accordance with the OSHA Hazard Communication Standard (21 CFR 1910.1200[f][5]) [230], with appropriate warnings, precautionary statements, and first-aid instructions. The surface area of the containers should be as small as possible; containers should be narrow and deep rather than large, long, and shallow. The lid should be kept on the soaking container at all times except when items are being placed into or taken out of the solution. Automated systems should be designed to prevent the escape of glutaraldehyde vapor and liquid.

Rationale: A closed system will minimize evaporation of the glutaraldehyde and subsequent personnel exposure to vapor.

H.1.3.8 Immersing items to be high-level disinfected or sterilized

Personnel should wear appropriate PPE when placing instruments or other items into the activated solution; this activity should take place in a properly ventilated area. The worker should gently place clean, dry items into the activated solution, taking care to disturb and agitate the surface of the solution as little as possible.

NOTE Ensure that there are no air bubbles remaining on the surface of the device during the exposure time. When manually irrigating or flushing the solution through internal channels or lumens of an instrument, personnel should be careful to avoid being splashed or sprayed with the solution. The syringe should be carefully filled with the solution and securely attached to the channel opening or all-channel irrigator. The solution in the syringe should be slowly pushed into the channel; too much force can cause the syringe to disconnect from the channel opening or all-channel irrigator. A new syringe should be used each time.

Gloved hands should be rinsed thoroughly with water before the cover is replaced on the solution container to avoid contaminating the surface of the container with solution. The instruments or other items should be allowed to soak for the amount of time and at the temperature specified by the manufacturer to achieve high-level disinfection or sterilization. (See the device manufacturer's written IFU for additional recommendations on high-level infection and sterilization.)

Rationale: These procedures will help prevent worker exposure to glutaraldehyde and help ensure the effectiveness of the high-level disinfection or sterilization process. Reusing syringes for irrigation or flushing could lead to contamination of the solution.

H.1.3.9 Rinsing high-level-disinfected or sterilized items

Personnel should wear appropriate PPE when removing items from the activated solution; this activity should take place in a properly ventilated area. Before removing the device from the solution, personnel should remove the solution from the internal channels or lumens of the device by flushing each channel several times with a syringe filled with air. Personnel should be careful to avoid being splashed with the solution. The device should be totally immersed in the solution, and the syringe should be securely attached to the channel opening or all-channel irrigator. The plunger should be pushed slowly; too much force can cause the syringe to disconnect from the channel opening or all-channel irrigator or cause the solution to squirt from the channel opening.

The instruments should be gently removed from the solution and rinsed thoroughly in clean, utility water or (if the items are to be used in a sterile field) sterile water. (Personnel should don a new pair of gloves and then replace the cover on the solution container.) To remove all residual solution, personnel should rinse the external surfaces of the items

RIGHTSLINK4)

and any removable parts with copious amounts of clean running water; should immerse them in successive containers of clean water (the rinse solution should be discarded after each use, not reused); or should otherwise rinse the device in accordance with the manufacturer's written IFU. For instruments with interior channels, each channel or the all-channel irrigator should be flushed several times with clean water until all residual solution is removed from the channels (at least 500 milliliters [mL] of water during each separate rinse, unless the device manufacturer instructs otherwise). The flushing procedure should be repeated with air. For instruments with interior channels, the channels should be flushed with 70 % to 90 % ethyl or isopropyl alcohol, followed by forced air, to facilitate drying. (However, see the device manufacturer's written IFU.)

Additional care should be taken to ensure that the recommended number of freshwater rinses are performed to ensure that residual levels of glutaraldehyde are removed, due to toxicity concerns. The external surfaces of instruments should be thoroughly wiped dry with a sterile, non-linting cloth.

Rationale: Proper procedures for rinsing, flushing, drying, and storing instruments will help prevent worker exposure to glutaraldehyde and help ensure that residual glutaraldehyde is not introduced into patient tissue. Running water or successive immersions in water is recommended for rinsing in order to further dilute the solution and to prevent the retention of solution that could occur in standing water (Durante, et al., 1992 [141]). The flushing of channels with alcohol followed by air greatly reduces the possibility of recontamination of instruments by waterborne microorganisms. See also ASGE [54] and SHEA (2011) [105].

H.1.4 Procedures for cleaning up glutaraldehyde spills

NOTE Glutaraldehyde spills need not be reported to regulatory authorities responsible for air quality (e.g., state health or environmental authorities such as a state Air Control Board, OSHA, or EPA). Glutaraldehyde does not have a reportable quantity(RQ) established by EPA under the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA), nor is it on the toxic release inventory (TRI) list established under the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986 (SARA), Title III. Glutaraldehyde concentrations of 1 % or more are listed in some states' right-to-know regulations. Because glutaraldehyde contains no levels of listed substances that California has found to cause cancer, birth defects, or other reproductive harm, it is not listed under Proposition 65.

H.1.4.1 General considerations

All spills, no matter how small, should be cleaned up immediately. The glutaraldehyde concentration, the volume of the spill, the temperature of the room and the solution, and the type of ventilation in the area of the spill will affect whether it can be cleaned up safely without the use of inactivating chemicals and respiratory equipment. It is safer not to use a volume measurement to differentiate between a drip, a splash, a small spill, and a large spill but instead to provide recommendations based on the assumption that anything larger than a drip or splash might need to be inactivated. Personnel might need to wear respirators, depending on the volume of the spill and the area ventilation. Use of a respirator is required for any spill with unknown vapor concentrations.

H.1.4.2 Deactivating chemicals

Several chemicals can be used to reduce the glutaraldehyde concentration in solutions and reduce ambient vapor levels in spill situations; there are also a number of commercially available products designed for this purpose. Such chemicals have varying degrees of activity; some are used to deal with the solution, some with vapor. Before using a glutaraldehyde-based product, health care personnel should be familiar with the manufacturer's specific written recommendations and supporting technical data for chemicals to be used to clean up spills.

H.1.4.3 Drips and splashes

It is important that all spills, including drips and splashes, be cleaned up immediately. All necessary cleanup equipment, including a mop and bucket, plastic dustpans, plastic trash bags, and sponges and towels, should be readily available. All appropriate PPE should be worn (see 6.6.2 and H.1.3.2.3).

Drips and splashes can be wiped up quickly with a sponge, towel, or mop. Alternatively, the glutaraldehyde solution can be neutralized with an appropriate chemical agent (see H.1.4.2) and then wiped up with a sponge, towel, or mop. The sponge, towel, or mop should be thoroughly rinsed with large amounts of water, and the water should be discarded down the drain. After being rinsed, reusable sponges, towels, or mop heads should be placed in the appropriate

container to be laundered before reuse. After being rinsed, disposable sponges, towels, or mop heads should be disposed of according to the procedures designated by the glutaraldehyde spill containment response team.

Rationale: The most important thing is to clean up the glutaraldehyde solution quickly to control vapor and prevent contact with skin or eyes. For small drips and splashes, it is not necessary to neutralize the glutaraldehyde, because the amount being rinsed down the drain will not exceed 5 ppm by the time it reaches a sewage treatment plant, nor is it likely to cause the room vapor to exceed the TLV®-C. However, there is no harm in neutralizing the glutaraldehyde, regardless of the amount.

H.1.4.4 Large spills

Any glutaraldehyde spill larger than a small drip or splash can cause vapor levels to increase above the TLV®-C. The spill should be cleaned up by a team equipped with the appropriate respiratory equipment for the ambient air concentration of glutaraldehyde vapor (see H.4.4); the appropriate PPE (including rubber boots or shoe protection); and the necessary cleanup tools: mop, sponges, towels, squeegee, plastic dustpan, plastic scoop, and a chemical for deactivating the glutaraldehyde (see H.1.4.2).

Large spills should be contained and neutralized or contained and collected for disposal. When spills are contained, it might be possible to neutralize the spilled solution with an appropriate chemical agent (see H.1.4.2). Depending on the amount of solution and the environmental conditions, some heat and fumes could be liberated by the reaction. When large spills are collected using an absorbent, the absorbed medium can be disposed of or incinerated according to appropriate federal, state, and local regulations.

After the glutaraldehyde solution is collected and disposed of, the area where the glutaraldehyde solution was collected should be thoroughly rinsed. The cleanup tools should be rinsed with large amounts of water, and the water should be discarded down the drain. Reusable cleanup tools, such as sponges, towels, or mop heads, should be placed in an appropriate container to be laundered before reuse. After being rinsed, disposable sponges, towels, or mop heads should be disposed of according to the procedures designated by the glutaraldehyde spill containment response team.

Rationale: Immediate neutralization and cleanup of spills minimizes the potential for chemical exposure. Spills increase the surface area of the glutaraldehyde solution and, if left unattended, will increase the air concentration of glutaraldehyde. Larger spills present increased risk because the TLV®-C could be exceeded; also, additional considerations are necessary for disposal of contaminated equipment and the neutralized solution. Proper respirators, appropriate PPE, and training are essential to preventing overexposure of workers and others in the area (see also H.1.3.2.3).

H.1.5 Disposal of glutaraldehyde solutions

Five-day biological demand and aquatic metabolism studies indicate that glutaraldehyde degrades readily. Also, glutaraldehyde does not inhibit the growth of unacclimated sewage microorganisms at concentrations less than 5 milligrams/liter (mg/L) or 5 ppm.

Regulations for disposal of chemicals into the public sewer system vary with location. Check with your local public wastewater authority for applicable regulations. Because glutaraldehyde is diluted by other waste streams in a municipal sewage system and because it is deactivated by proteinaceous components of sewage effluent, some authorities have concluded that the disposal of spent glutaraldehyde will have no adverse effects on the sewage treatment plant. Solution containers should be rinsed according to label directions before being discarded.

NOTE Bio-oxidation studies were conducted by Union Carbide Corporation according to APHA (1976) [26]. For additional information, see Dow Chemical Company (2003) [137].

NOTE The Australian Government's 1994 Assessment Report, Glutaraldehyde: Priority existing chemical no. 3, estimated "that concentrations of glutaraldehyde in sewage treatment plants will remain below 200 mg/L." Such levels do not constitute a significant environmental hazard and will be reduced further by biodegradation during sewage treatment."

H.2 Hydrogen peroxide solutions

H.2.1 Introduction

Hydrogen peroxide-based solution products have been cleared by the FDA for use as HLDs and LCSs used primarily for heat-sensitive medical devices (e.g., flexible endoscopes). This section covers the properties and applications of hydrogen peroxide solutions; the occupational exposure considerations specific to hydrogen peroxide, including vapor monitoring and procedures for handling spills; and the disposal of hydrogen peroxide solutions.

H.2.2 Properties and applications of hydrogen peroxide

Hydrogen peroxide-based solution products are generally used as HLDs for heat-sensitive and submersible medical devices such as flexible or rigid endoscopes. Hydrogen peroxide products do not require activation, being formulated as ready-to-use liquid chemical germicides. They are generally odorless, reusable, and can be used in manual soak applications or automated endoscope processing systems.

One product contains 2 % hydrogen peroxide, buffers, chelating agents, and a corrosion inhibitor. The labeled contact conditions are 8-minutes at 20 °C (68 °F). The product has a reuse life of 21-days at or above its MRC/MEC of 1.5 % hydrogen peroxide.

A second product contains 7.5 % hydrogen peroxide, 0.85 % phosphoric acid, and 91.65 % inert ingredients. The labeled contact conditions for HLD are 30-minutes at 20 °C (68 °F); for sterilization, the labeled contact conditions are 6 hours at 20 °C (68 °F). The product has a reuse life of 21 days at or above its MRC/MEC of 6 % hydrogen peroxide.

Before each processing cycle, both products should be checked to verify that the concentration of the active ingredient (hydrogen peroxide) is at or above the MRC/MEC with the appropriate solution test strips or chemical monitoring devices recommended by the manufacturer. This hydrogen peroxide product might cause cosmetic damage (e.g., discoloration) to a device. As in all cases, it is recommended that before using a disinfectant, users should consult with the device and disinfectant manufacturers to ensure device compatibility.

H.2.3 Effective use of hydrogen peroxide solutions

To ensure efficacy, the user should observe the following guidelines:

- a) The medical device manufacturer's written IFU should be consulted to determine the compatibility of the device with hydrogen peroxide. If the IFU does not specifically reference hydrogen peroxide, it is recommended that before using the solution, users should consult with the device manufacturer to ensure device compatibility.
- b) If an automated reprocessor is to be used, the manufacturer should be consulted to determine the compatibility of the equipment with the specific hydrogen peroxide product.
- c) Devices should be disassembled and thoroughly cleaned and dried before they are immersed in the solution in order to avoid adding debris to the solution or diluting the solution, both of which can shorten the efficacy period.
- d) A solution test strip or chemical monitoring device should be used to test the concentration of the solution before each processing cycle. Only those solution test strips, or chemical monitoring devices recommended by the hydrogen peroxide product manufacturer should be used. Quality control checks of the solution test strips, or chemical monitoring devices should be performed according to the manufacturer's written IFU.
- e) Devices should be thoroughly and completely immersed in the hydrogen peroxide solution to ensure that all surfaces are covered by the solution and that all appropriate lumens have been filled with hydrogen peroxide, as recommended.
- f) When the concentration of hydrogen peroxide falls below the MRC/MEC, the solution should no longer be used.
- g) Solutions should be kept covered to prevent evaporation.

GHTSLINKA)

- h) Solutions that evaporate below the level that permits immersion of the device should not be topped off. Instead, the entire solution should be discarded, and a fresh solution prepared.
- i) Solutions should not be used beyond the reuse period indicated on the label even if the concentration of hydrogen peroxide is at or above the MRC/MEC.
- j) Solutions should not be used beyond their shelf life. Manufacturer's written IFU should be consulted to determine the unopened-container and opened-container shelf life of the product.
- k) Unopened solutions should be stored in a cool, well-ventilated area at the temperature recommended by the manufacturer.

H.2.4 Safe use of hydrogen peroxide solutions

H.2.4.1 Occupational exposure

H.2.4.1.1 General considerations

Procedures should be developed that will prevent contact with hydrogen peroxide solution and reduce exposure to hydrogen peroxide vapor to the lowest reasonably obtainable level below the OSHA PEL of 1 ppm.

Care should be taken to avoid contact with the hydrogen peroxide solution. Concentrations of hydrogen peroxide above 6 % can cause bleaching of the skin and in some cases chemical burns. When using hydrogen peroxide solutions, users must wear appropriate PPE, including gloves and eye protection (e.g., splash goggles). Hydrogen peroxide solutions should only be used in well ventilated areas, preferably with local exhaust to remove vapors. If any contact with the skin should occur, the area should be washed with large amount of water. If the hydrogen peroxide solution contacts the eyes, flush the eyes immediately with water in an eye wash station and then seek medical attention.

Personnel should always wear appropriate PPE when using hydrogen peroxide solutions (see H.2.4.1.4).

H.2.4.1.2 Health effects of hydrogen peroxide

H.2.4.1.2.1 Potential health effects of short-term exposure

The manufacturer's SDS should be consulted regarding potential health effects from exposure to hydrogen peroxide. The effects of exposure can vary from product to product and manufacturer to manufacturer.

The 7.5 % hydrogen peroxide solution is severely irritating and corrosive to the eyes, skin, and gastrointestinal tract. Excessive exposure could cause irreversible tissue damage to the eyes, including blindness. Inhalation of vapors can be severely irritating to the nose, throat, and lungs.

The 2 % hydrogen peroxide solution is a mild irritant to the eyes and a slight irritant to the skin. Any tissues that come in contact with the 2 % hydrogen peroxide solution should be rinsed immediately. Inhalation of hydrogen peroxide vapors can be irritating to the nose, throat, and lungs.

H.2.4.1.2.2 Potential health effects of long-term exposure

IARC, NTP, and OSHA do not list hydrogen peroxide as a carcinogen. ACGIH® lists hydrogen peroxide as an A3 animal carcinogen.

NOTE IARC and ACGIH® carcinogen classifications have specific meanings and are based on specific types of evidence. For an explanation of the IARC carcinogen classifications, see IARC (2010) [179]. For an explanation of ACGIH® carcinogen classifications, see ACGIH® (2022) [70].

H.2.4.1.3 Occupational exposure limits

The OSHA PEL for hydrogen peroxide vapor is 1 ppm as an 8-hour TWA.

RIGHTSLINKA)

H.2.4.1.4 Personal protective equipment and first aid

H.2.4.1.4.1 Eye protection

For the 2 % hydrogen peroxide solution, safety glasses or goggles should be worn. For the 7.5 % hydrogen peroxide solution, cup-type chemical goggles, a full-face shield, or both should be worn. If any eye contact should occur, the eye should be flushed immediately with plenty of water for at least 15-minutes. Medical advice should be sought.

H.2.4.1.4.2 Skin protection

Rubber, neoprene, vinyl, or nitrile gloves should be worn to protect hands. Other appropriate protective clothing, including long sleeves, should be worn to minimize exposure to the skin. If any skin contact should occur, the affected area of the skin should be thoroughly washed and rinsed according to the manufacturer's written IFU and the SDS.

H.2.4.1.4.3 Respiratory protection

See 4.4.4 of ANSI/AAMI ST58:2013/(R)2018 [14].

H.2.4.2 Ventilation

Hydrogen peroxide solutions should be used in a well-ventilated area (see H.2).

H.2.4.3 Pouring solutions

The solution should be poured from the original container into a clean, dry immersion container by a method that will prevent employee contact with the chemical solution and reduce exposure to hydrogen peroxide to the lowest reasonably obtainable level below the OSHA PEL. Agitation and splashing during transfer should be minimized. Examples of methods for minimizing contact with the solution or vapor, where necessary, include the use of closed transfer devices, local exhaust hoods, and/or ductless fume hoods and strict adherence to the use of appropriate PPE.

Rationale: Avoiding contact with hydrogen peroxide products prevents skin and eye injury. Minimizing agitation and splashing during transfer also minimizes the potential for increased vapor. See also H.2.4.1.2.

H.2.4.4 Transporting solutions

Transport of hydrogen peroxide solutions in secondary containers such as trays or buckets should be avoided. If it is absolutely necessary to transport a solution to another area, that area should be properly ventilated, and a method of transport should be selected that will minimize the potential for spills and the possibility of personnel exposure to the solution or vapor.

Rationale: Transporting solutions in secondary containers increases the risk of spills. Spills increase the surface area and thus increase the potential for vapor to raise the air concentration above the TLV®. Spills also increase the potential for skin and eye contact and irritation, as described in H.2.4.1.2.

H.2.4.5 Storing unused solutions

Hydrogen peroxide solutions should be stored in vented, closed containers or systems in a well-ventilated area. Soaking containers should always be covered and clearly labeled, in accordance with the OSHA Hazard Communication Standard (21 CFR 1910.1200[f][5][i]) [230], with appropriate warnings, precautionary statements, and first-aid instructions. The surface area of the containers should be as small as possible; containers should be narrow and deep rather than large, long, and shallow. The lid should be kept on the soaking container at all times except when items are being placed into or taken out of the solution.

Automated systems should be designed to prevent the escape of hydrogen peroxide vapor and liquid.

Rationale: A closed system will minimize evaporation of the hydrogen peroxide solution and subsequent personal exposure to vapor.

H.2.4.6 Immersing items to be high-level disinfected or sterilized

Personnel should wear appropriate PPE when placing instruments or other items into the solution; this activity should take place in a properly ventilated area. Personnel should gently place clean, dry items into the solution, taking care to minimize splashing. When the solution must be manually irrigated or flushed through internal channels or lumens of an instrument, personnel should take care to avoid being splashed or sprayed with the solution. The syringe should be carefully filled with the solution and securely attached to the channel opening or all-channel irrigator. The solution in the syringe should be slowly pushed into the channel; too much force can cause the syringe to disconnect from the channel opening or all-channel irrigator. A new syringe should be used each time.

Gloved hands should be rinsed thoroughly with water before the cover is replaced on the solution container to avoid contaminating the surface of the container with solution. The instruments or other items should be allowed to soak for the amount of time and at the temperature specified by the manufacturer to achieve HLD or sterilization. (See the device manufacturer's written IFU for additional recommendations on HLD and sterilization.)

Rationale: These procedures will help prevent worker exposure to hydrogen peroxide and help ensure the effectiveness of the HLD or sterilization process. Reuse of syringes for irrigation or flushing could lead to contamination of the solution.

H.2.4.7 Rinsing disinfected or sterilized items

Personnel should wear appropriate PPE when removing items from the solution; this activity should take place in a properly ventilated area. Before removing the device from the solution, personnel should remove the solution from the internal channels or lumens of the device by flushing each channel several times with a syringe filled with air. Personnel should be careful to avoid being splashed with the solution. The device should be totally immersed in the solution, and the syringe should be securely attached to the channel opening or all-channel irrigator. The plunger should be pushed slowly; too much force can cause the syringe to disconnect from the channel opening or all-channel irrigator or cause the solution to squirt from the channel opening. The instruments should be gently removed from the solution and rinsed thoroughly in clean, utility water or (if the items are to be used in a sterile field) sterile water. Personnel should rinse their gloved hands with water and then replace the cover on the solution container. The product-specific rinsing instructions should be followed to ensure that all external surfaces of the items and any removable parts are free of all residual solution.

The rinse solution should be discarded after each use. For instruments with interior channels, each channel or the allchannel irrigator should be flushed according to the manufacturer's written IFU with clean water until all residual solution is removed from the channels. The flushing procedure should be repeated with air. For instruments with interior channels, the channels may be flushed with 70 % to 90 % ethyl or isopropyl alcohol, followed by forced air, to facilitate drying. Check the device manufacturer's written IFU regarding device internal channel compatibility with alcohol. The external surfaces of instruments should be thoroughly wiped dry with a sterile, non-linting cloth.

Rationale: Proper procedures for rinsing, flushing, drying, and storing instruments will help prevent worker exposure to hydrogen peroxide and help ensure that residual hydrogen peroxide is not introduced into patient tissue. Complete immersion in water ensures that all external surfaces of the device come into contact with the rinse water.

H.2.5 Hydrogen peroxide spills

Spilled hydrogen peroxide solutions should be collected, confined, and diluted to a safe concentration, or absorbed into inert media and disposed of appropriately. The best method will depend on the size of the spill and concentration of the hydrogen peroxide and should be included in the facility's safety plan.

H.2.6 Disposal of hydrogen peroxide solutions

Hydrogen peroxide solutions should be diluted with a large amount of water, and the hydrogen peroxide should be allowed to decompose. Higher concentrations of hydrogen peroxide should be allowed to decompose. The diluted solution may then be discharged into a suitable treatment system in accordance with federal, state, and local regulations. Solution containers should be rinsed according to label directions before being discarded.



H.2.7 Vapor monitoring

Gas and vapor emissions can occur from even the best made equipment and odor is an unreliable indicator of the presence and concentration of hydrogen peroxide below hazardous concentrations. Continuous gas monitoring systems are available to help employers satisfy the requirement to provide a safe work environment by providing alerts in case of potentially hazardous concentrations, informing workers when it is safe to return after a release and provide record keeping. Review the SDS and consult the suppliers of the hydrogen peroxide, and the manufacturers of the sterilizer and the gas monitoring equipment for more information.

H.3 Ortho-phthalaldehyde solutions

H.3.1 Introduction

Ortho-phthalaldehyde (OPA) based products have been cleared by the FDA for use as an HLD for processing heat sensitive medical devices. This section covers the properties and applications of OPA; occupational exposure considerations specific to OPA, including vapor monitoring and procedures for handling spills; and the disposal of OPA.

H.3.2 Properties and applications of OPA

Ortho-phthalaldehyde solution is an HLD intended for use in processing heat-sensitive devices. It is particularly active against certain strains of mycobacteria, but some strains show high-level resistance to OPA (Svetlikova, et al., 2009 [306]; McDonnell, 2007 [210]). Some cyst and even vegetative forms of protozoa also demonstrate resistance to OPA (Barbee, et al., 1999 [81]; Coulon, et al., 2010 [126]). Ortho-phthalaldehyde solutions do not require activation. These solutions have no odor to mild odor. Several OPA products contain 0.55 % to 0.60 % OPA, corrosion inhibitors, chelating agents, and a dye in phosphate buffer. They have been cleared for use as an HLD for manual processing (12-minutes at 20 °C [68 °F]) and for processing in automated endoscope reprocessors (5-minutes at 25 °C [77 °F]) that have FDA-cleared capability to maintain solution temperature at 25 °C (77 °F). If the solution temperature cannot be maintained at 25 °C (77 °F) in an AER, the device should be processed using the parameters for manual processing. In both applications, the products have a reuse life of 14-days.

Another OPA formulation is designed for single use in an automated system. In this system, concentrated (5.75 %) OPA is diluted with buffers, chelating agents, corrosion inhibitors, and a dye to its 0.05 % "in-use" solution. The labeled contact conditions for HLD are 10-minutes at 50 °C to 55 °C (122 °F to 131 °F). Although OPA products—and all FDA-cleared HLDs—must pass the AOAC Sporicidal Test (Horwitz and Latimer, 2010 [175]), there is no sterilization claim for them.

Ortho-phthalaldehyde solution should not be used to process any urological instrumentation used to treat patients with a history of bladder cancer. In rare instances, OPA solution has been associated with anaphylaxis-like reactions in bladder cancer patients undergoing repeated cystoscopies (Joshi and Rosenfeld, 2004 [193]; Sokol, 2004a [298], 2004b [299]). As in all cases, it is recommended that before using a disinfectant, users should consult with the device and disinfectant manufacturers to ensure device compatibility.

For additional information on OPA as a HLD, see Alfa and Sitter (1994) [53], Rutala and Weber (2001) [276], Gregory, et al. (1999) [167], and Walsh, et al. (1999) [370].

H.3.3 Effective use of OPA

To ensure efficacy, the user should observe the following guidelines:

- a) The medical device manufacturer's written IFU should be consulted to determine and provide in writing the compatibility of the device with the selected OPA solution.
- b) If an automated reprocessor is to be used, the manufacturer should be consulted to determine the compatibility of the equipment with OPA solution.
- c) Blood, other body fluids, and lubricants must be thoroughly cleaned from the surfaces and lumens of medical devices before the devices are processed in the disinfectant. Blood and other body fluids should be disposed of according to all applicable regulations for infectious waste disposal. The medical device manufacturer's written IFU for device disassembly, decontamination, and leak testing should be followed.

IGHTSLINK4)

- d) All surfaces and lumens of cleaned devices should be thoroughly rinsed and rough-dried.
- e) The date that the OPA container was opened should be recorded on the container label and documented. After the container is opened, the solution remaining in the container may be stored for up to 75-days until used (provided that the 75-days does not extend past the expiration date on the container).
- f) The reusable solution in the secondary container can be used for a period of up to 14-days. The solution should be discarded after 14-days even if the OPA solution test strip or chemical monitoring device indicates a concentration at or above the MRC or MEC.
- g) The device should be completely immersed in the OPA solution, filling all lumens, and eliminating air pockets, for at least 12-minutes at a minimum temperature of 20 °C (68 °F).
- h) A solution test strip or chemical monitoring device should be used to test the concentration of OPA before each processing cycle. Only those solution test strips, or chemical monitoring devices recommended by the OPA product manufacturer should be used. Quality control checks of the tests strips or chemical monitoring devices should be performed according to the manufacturer's written IFU.
- i) Solutions should be kept covered to prevent evaporation.
- j) Solutions that evaporate below the level that permits immersion of the device should not be topped off. Instead, the entire solution should be discarded, and a fresh solution prepared.
- k) Ortho-phthalaldehyde solutions should not be used beyond their shelf life.
- I) Unopened solutions should be stored in a cool, well-ventilated area at the temperature recommended by the manufacturer.

H.3.4 Safe use of OPA

H.3.4.1 Occupational exposure

H.3.4.1.1 General considerations

Procedures should be developed that will prevent contact with OPA solutions. Personnel should always wear appropriate PPE, including gloves, long sleeves, and splash proof monogoggles, when using OPA solutions (see H.3.4.1.4).

H.3.4.1.2 Health effects of OPA

H.3.4.1.2.1 Potential health effects of short-term exposure

Breathing OPA vapors may be irritating to the nose, throat, or respiratory system and may cause coughing, chest discomfort and tightness, difficulty with breathing, or headache. Preexisting bronchitis or asthma conditions can be aggravated by exposure to OPA solutions, as can skin conditions such as dermatitis. Ocular contact with diluted solutions of OPA can cause eye irritation and damage. OPA can also stain skin and, if processed instruments are not rinsed properly, patient tissue. At use concentrations, OPA can be a contact sensitizer through the dermal route of exposure. OPA is a potent sensitizer that, in susceptible individuals, might induce anaphylaxis (Joshi and Rosenfeld, 2004 [193]; Sokol, 2004a [298], 2004b [299]).

H.3.4.1.2.2 Potential health effects of long-term exposure

Neither IARC nor ACGIH® has established carcinogen classifications for OPA.

H.3.4.1.3 Occupational exposure limits

Currently, there is no OSHA PEL for OPA, nor is there an ACGIH®-recommended TLV®.



H.3.4.1.4 Personal protective equipment and first aid

H.3.4.1.4.1 Eye protection

Splashproof monogoggles should be worn. If any eye contact should occur, the eye should be rinsed immediately with plenty of water for at least 15-minutes. Medical advice should be sought.

H.3.4.1.4.2 Skin protection

Polyvinylchloride and nitrile or butyl rubber gloves are suitable for routine use. The permeability of gloves varies considerably, depending on the manufacturer; therefore, the written recommendations of the glove manufacturer and the LCS/HLD manufacturer should be consulted. If any skin contact should occur, the affected area should be washed immediately with soap and water and rinsed for at least 15-minutes. If a skin reaction occurs, medical advice should be sought.

H.3.4.1.4.3 Respiratory protection

See 4.4.4 of ANSI/AAMI ST58:2013/(R)2018 [14].

H.3.4.2 Ventilation

Solutions containing OPA should be used in a well-ventilated area (see H.3.4).

H.3.4.3 Pouring solutions

The solution should be poured from the original container into a clean, dry disinfection container by a method that will prevent personnel contact with the chemical solution and reduce exposure to OPA. Agitation and splashing during transfer should be minimized. Examples of methods for minimizing contact with the solution or vapor include the use of closed transfer devices, local exhaust hoods, and/or ductless fume hoods and strict adherence to the use of appropriate PPE.

Rationale: Avoiding contact with OPA prevents skin and eye injury and protects the worker from the sensitizing effects of OPA. Minimizing agitation and splashing during transfer also minimizes the potential for increased vapor. Avoiding contact with OPA solution prevents staining of the skin. See also H.3.4.1.2.1.

H.3.4.4 Transporting solutions

Transport of OPA solutions in secondary containers such as trays or buckets should be avoided. If it is absolutely necessary to transport a solution to another area, that area should be properly ventilated, and a method of transport should be selected (e.g., empty secondary container along with the bottle of OPA) that will minimize the potential for spills and the possibility of personnel exposure to the solution or vapor.

Rationale: Transporting solutions in secondary containers increases the risk of spills. Spills increase the surface area and thus increase the potential for vapor to raise the air concentration of OPA. Spills also increase the potential for skin and eye contact and irritation, as described in H.3.4.1.2.1.

H.3.4.5 Storing opened solutions

Solutions containing OPA should be stored in closed containers or systems in a well-ventilated area. Soaking containers should always be covered and clearly labeled, in accordance with the OSHA Hazard Communication Standard (21 CFR 1910.1200[f][5] [230]), with appropriate warnings, precautionary statements, and first-aid instructions. The surface area of the containers should be as small as possible; containers should be narrow and deep rather than large, long, and shallow. The lid should be kept on the soaking container at all times except when items are being placed into or taken out of the solution. Automated systems should be designed to prevent the escape of OPA vapor and liquid.

Rationale: A closed system will minimize evaporation of OPA and subsequent personnel exposure to vapor.
H.3.4.6 Immersing items to be high-level disinfected

Personnel should wear appropriate PPE when placing instruments or other items into the solution; this activity should take place in a properly ventilated area. The worker should gently place clean, dry items into the solution, taking care to disturb and agitate the surface of the solution as little as possible.

When manually irrigating or flushing the solution through internal channels or lumens of an instrument, personnel should be careful to avoid being splashed or sprayed with the solution. The syringe should be carefully filled with the solution and securely attached to the channel opening or all-channel irrigator. The solution in the syringe should be slowly pushed into the channel; too much force can cause the syringe to disconnect from the channel opening or all-channel irrigator. A new syringe should be used each time.

Gloved hands should be rinsed thoroughly with water before the cover is replaced on the solution container to avoid contaminating the surface of the container with solution. The instruments or other items should be allowed to soak for the amount of time and at the temperature specified by the manufacturer to achieve disinfection. (See the device manufacturer's written IFU for additional recommendations on disinfection.)

Rationale: These procedures will help prevent worker exposure to OPA and help ensure the effectiveness of the disinfection process. Reuse of syringes for irrigation or flushing could lead to contamination of the solution.

H.3.4.7 Rinsing disinfected items

Personnel should wear appropriate PPE when removing items from the solution; this activity should take place in a properly ventilated area. Before removing the device from the disinfecting solution, personnel should remove the solution from the internal channels or lumens of the device by flushing each channel several times with a syringe filled with air. Personnel should be careful to avoid being splashed with the solution.

The device should be totally immersed in the solution, and the syringe should be securely attached to the channel opening or all-channel irrigator. The plunger should be pushed slowly; too much force can cause the syringe to disconnect from the channel opening or all-channel irrigator or cause the solution to squirt from the channel opening. The instruments should be gently removed from the solution and rinsed thoroughly in clean, utility water or (if the items are to be used in a sterile field) sterile water. (Workers should rinse their gloved hands with water and then replace the cover on the solution container.)

To remove all residual solution, personnel should rinse the external surfaces of the items and any removable parts with copious amounts of clean running water; should immerse them in successive containers of clean water (the rinse solution should be discarded after each use, not reused); or should otherwise rinse the device in accordance with the manufacturer's written IFU. For instruments with interior channels, each channel or the all-channel irrigator should be flushed several times with clean water until all residual solution is removed from the channels (at least 500 mL of water during each separate rinse, unless the instrument manufacturer instructs otherwise). The flushing procedure should be repeated with air. To facilitate drying of instruments with interior channels, the channels can be flushed with 70 % to 90 % ethyl or isopropyl alcohol, followed by forced air. See the device manufacturer's written IFU for specific instructions. Additional care should be taken to ensure that the recommended number of freshwater rinses are performed to ensure that residual levels of OPA are removed, due to toxicity concerns. The external surfaces of instruments should be thoroughly wiped dry with a sterile, non-linting cloth.

Rationale: Proper procedures for rinsing, flushing, drying, and storing instruments will help prevent worker exposure to OPA and help ensure that residual OPA is not introduced into patient tissue. Running water or successive immersions in water is recommended for rinsing in order to further dilute the solution, to prevent the retention of solution that could occur in standing water (Durante, et al., 1992 [362]), and to prevent staining of patient tissue.

H.3.5 OPA spills

RIGHTSLINK4)

Personnel responsible for cleanup of OPA spills should have demonstrated competency in hazardous material spill cleanup procedures and should wear appropriate PPE, which should include at least:

a) splash proof monogoggles;

- b) polyvinylchloride, nitrile, or butyl rubber gloves;
- c) rubber boots or other shoe protection; and
- d) for spills larger than one gallon, an OSHA/NIOSH-approved reusable or disposable breathing mask equipped with an organic vapor cartridge filter.

For spill neutralization, there are several commercial products available to neutralize OPA. Alternatively, the following procedure should be followed:

- 1) The spilled liquid should be collected with sponges, mopped into a plastic container suitable for the size of the spill, or both.
- 2) Approximately 25 grams of glycine (free base) powder per gallon of estimated OPA volume should be sprinkled on the spill. The glycine should be thoroughly blended into the spill with a mop or other tool and allowed to neutralize the OPA for one hour.
- 3) The spill area should be mopped down with soap and water and then rinsed with water. All liquid should be flushed down the drain, followed by large amounts of water.
- 4) The cleanup tools should be rinsed with soap and water and then rinsed with large amounts of water. The rinse water should be discarded down the drain, followed by large amounts of water.
- 5) The neutralized OPA solution should be poured down the drain, followed by large amounts of water.

H.3.6 Disposal of OPA solutions

Spent OPA solutions should be disposed of in accordance with federal, state, and local regulations. Spent OPA solutions may be discarded down the drain if applicable regulations permit. Solutions containers should be rinsed according to label directions before being discarded.

H.3.7 Vapor monitoring

Gas, vapor, and droplet emissions can occur from manual use and even the best made equipment. Although the vapor pressure for OPA is low, OPA has potential health effects and odor is an unreliable indicator of the presence and concentration of OPA below hazardous concentrations. However, continuous gas/vapor monitoring systems are not currently available to detect potentially hazardous concentrations. Review the SDS and consult the suppliers of OPA-based disinfectants for advice on safe use.

H.4 Peracetic acid–hydrogen peroxide solutions

H.4.1 Introduction

Peracetic acid solutions exist as equilibrated solutions of hydrogen peroxide, acetic acid, peracetic acid, and water. They typically have a vinegar-like odor, which can be strong depending on the concentration of acetic acid and peracetic acid. The strong microbicidal effects and broad-spectrum activity of peracetic acid (also referred to as peroxyacetic acid) at relatively low concentrations have been known since the early 1900s (Freer and Novy, 1902 [154]; Block, 2001 [94]).

Peracetic acid alone is highly unstable and normally cannot exist without hydrogen peroxide and acetic acid. Therefore, all aqueous solutions of peracetic acid contain hydrogen peroxide. The relationship between the concentrations of peracetic acid, acetic acid, and hydrogen peroxide is determined by the composition of the mixture and the chemical equilibrium constant. Peracetic acid solutions can vary significantly, such as from 35 % peracetic acid and 6 % hydrogen peroxide to 5 % peracetic acid and 26 % hydrogen peroxide. Peracetic acid–hydrogen peroxide formulations can be formulated to include buffers, surfactants, and anticorrosive for specific applications. These will range in antimicrobial efficacy, safety considerations, and device compatibility. To ensure compatibility, users are advised to consult the medical device manufacturer's written IFU before using the product.

This section covers the properties and applications of peracetic acid–hydrogen peroxide solutions; occupational exposure considerations specific to peracetic acid and hydrogen peroxide, including vapor monitoring and procedures for handling spills; and the disposal of peracetic acid–hydrogen peroxide solutions.

H.4.2 Properties and applications of peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide solutions

A variety of peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide solutions are available for HLD and sterilant applications. They vary considerably in their antimicrobial activity and manufacturer's written IFU (including contact times, exposure temperatures, and reuse recommendations). They range in their peracetic acid and hydrogen peroxide concentrations, with typical HLD claims ranging from 5 to 30-minutes and sterilant contact times of 6-minutes to 8-hours.

One peracetic acid formulation is designed for single use in an automated system. This sterilant formulation is FDAcleared for the liquid chemical sterilization of manually cleaned, immersible, reusable critical and semi-critical heat sensitive medical devices, including endoscopes and their accessories. Devices processed in this system are chemically sterilized using a peracetic acid LCS and rinsed with extensively treated, utility water. In this system, concentrated (35 %) liquid peracetic acid is diluted within a buffered system to its ~0.2 % (~2,000 ppm) "use dilution."

The labeled contact conditions for liquid sterilization are 6-minutes at 45.5 °C to 60 °C (114 °F to 140 °F). During the sterilization cycle, time and temperature are automatically controlled and monitored. The cycle is completed by rinsing with extensively treated utility water to remove sterilant residues. The processor treats utility water using a three-stage process: pre-filtration, UV irradiation, and 0.1 micron (μ) filtration.

The pre-filtration stage reduces particulates present in the utility water. The UV irradiation stage inactivates waterborne pathogenic viruses in the unlikely event that they are present in utility water. The dual membrane, 0.1 μ pharmaceutical sterilizing-grade filter effectively removes bacteria, fungi, and protozoa larger than 0.1 μ m from the rinse water. The efficacy of this filtration process depends on the quality of the incoming utility water (EPA, 2012 [376]). The typical cycle time is about 23-minutes.

Chemical indicators designed for this system are available from the manufacturer. A spore test strip has also been cleared for use in this system. A variant of this system provides 0.2 micron filtered rinse water instead of extensively treated rinse water. This system is indicated only for use with semi-critical devices. It completes the same processing cycle using the same sterilant under identical exposure conditions in 18–19-minutes.

U.S. Department of Transportation shipping restrictions apply to concentrated solutions of peracetic acid (including 35 % to 43 % solutions), which are categorized as organic peroxides and corrosive. Special handling procedures for the concentrated liquid are listed in the manufacturer's SDS. Unless otherwise noted, the SDS applies only to the concentrate, not to the "use dilution" in the processor. Safety information about the diluted solution can be obtained from the manufacturer and other authoritative sources.

Prediluted and ready-to-use formulations are also available. These formulations are indicated for use in liquid chemical sterilization and HLD of cleaned, immersible, reusable medical and surgical devices. For example, one formulation contains 1 % hydrogen peroxide and 0.08 % peracetic acid; the contact time for sterilization is 8 hours at 20 °C (68 °F), and the contact time for HLD is 25-minutes at 20 °C (68 °F). This formulation is reusable for up to 14-days. Another formulation contains 8.3 % hydrogen peroxide and 7.0 °% peracetic acid; the contact time for sterilization is 5-hours at 25 °C (77 °F), and the contact time for HLD is 5-minutes at 25 °C (77 °F). This formulation is reusable for up to 5-days.

Unlike the more concentrated solutions, the ready-to-use solutions may not be labeled as skin irritants and may not cause dermal sensitization. Toxic inhalation effects can vary depending on the formulation, but users should avoid breathing the vapors. Formulations are considered corrosive to ocular tissue.

Peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide solutions are typically formulated to include buffers, surfactants, and anticorrosives. These formulations vary in their efficacy, stability, and materials compatibility. Peracetic acid can be directly corrosive to metals, including copper, brass, and stainless steel, although these effects are significantly reduced by buffers and anticorrosives in individual formulations. Cosmetic material effects can include discoloration of colored aluminum and removal of paint from surfaces. As in all cases, it is recommended that before using a disinfectant, users should consult with the device and disinfectant manufacturers to ensure device compatibility.

RIGHTSLINKA)

Peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide solutions are able to destroy and remove glutaraldehyde-protein deposits (Tucker et al., 1996 [315]) and discoloration when switching from glutaraldehyde- to peracetic acid-based disinfectants (Ofstead et al., 2017 [238]). The following effects can be observed in the transition period:

- a) Brightening of the markings on the external surfaces of endoscopes;
- Ease of cleaning instrument channels. Glutaraldehyde-protein deposits initially hamper cleaning with a brush, but this later subsides after a number of reprocessing cycles and complete elimination of the deposits (Biering, 2014 [92]).

H.4.3 Effective use of peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide solutions

To ensure efficacy when using the concentrated formulation, the user should observe the following guidelines:

- a) The medical device manufacturer's written IFU should be consulted to determine the compatibility of the device with peracetic acid–hydrogen peroxide solutions.
- b) Devices should be disassembled and thoroughly cleaned. The reprocessor manufacturer's written IFU should be consulted regarding whether it is essential that devices be dry before processing.
- c) The device and reprocessor manufacturers' written IFU for placing and connecting the device within the reprocessor should be followed.
- d) The reprocessor manufacturer's written IFU should be followed.
- e) The process should be monitored with a CI and/or a spore test strip as recommended by the reprocessor manufacturer.
- f) Solutions should not be used beyond their shelf life.
- g) The concentrated peracetic acid should be stored in a well-ventilated area at the temperature recommended by the manufacturer.

To ensure efficacy when using the prediluted formulations, the user should observe the following guidelines:

- a) The medical device manufacturer's written IFU should be consulted to determine the compatibility of the device with peracetic acid–hydrogen peroxide solutions.
- b) If an automated reprocessor is to be used, the manufacturer should be consulted to determine the compatibility of the equipment with the peracetic acid–hydrogen peroxide solution.
- c) Devices should be disassembled and thoroughly cleaned and dried before they are immersed in order to prevent adding debris to the solution or diluting the solution, both of which can shorten the efficacy period.
- d) Devices should be thoroughly and completely immersed in the solution to ensure that all surfaces are covered by the solution and that all appropriate lumens have been filled with the solution, as recommended.
- e) A solution test strip or chemical monitoring device should be used to test the concentration of the active ingredients before each use. Only solution test strips or chemical monitoring devices recommended by the product manufacturer should be used. Quality control checks of the solution test strips, or chemical monitoring devices should be performed according to the manufacturer's written IFU.
- f) When the concentration of the active ingredients falls below the MRC or MEC, the solution should no longer be used.
- g) Solutions should be kept covered to prevent evaporation or formation of precipitate from airborne contaminants.

GHTSLINKA)

- h) Solutions that evaporate below the level that permits immersion of the device should not be topped off. Instead, the entire solution should be discarded, and a fresh solution prepared.
- Solutions should not be used beyond the reuse period indicated on the label even if the concentration of the active ingredients is at or above the MRC or MEC. (For the currently available products, the reuse period is 5- to 14-days.)
- j) Solutions should not be used beyond their shelf life.
- k) Unopened solutions should be stored in their original containers in a cool, well-ventilated area at the temperature recommended by the manufacturer.
- I) Devices should be adequately rinsed in accordance with the manufacturer's written IFU prior to patient use.

H.4.4 Safe use of peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide solutions

H.4.4.1 Occupational exposure

H.4.4.1.1 General considerations

Procedures should be developed that will prevent contact with peracetic acid–hydrogen peroxide solutions and reduce exposure to peracetic acid and hydrogen peroxide vapor. Personnel should always wear appropriate PPE when handling undiluted peracetic acid–hydrogen peroxide solutions (see H.4.4.1.4). The sterilant manufacturer's written IFU should be consulted regarding when personnel should wear appropriate PPE when using the diluted product.

H.4.4.1.2 Health effects of peracetic acid and hydrogen peroxide

H.4.4.1.2.1 Potential health effects of short-term exposure

The manufacturer's SDS and other authoritative sources such as National Research Council (2010) [218] should be consulted regarding potential health effects from exposure to peracetic acid. The effects of exposure can vary from product to product and manufacturer to manufacturer, depending on the concentration and exposure time. Eye contact with undiluted peracetic acid–hydrogen peroxide solutions is corrosive and can cause irreversible eye damage, including blindness. Skin contact with undiluted peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide solutions can cause severe burns (FDA MDR 8180902, 2018 [362]); hydrogen peroxide burns are indicated by a whitening of the skin.

Inhalation of vapors and mists will irritate the eyes, nose, throat, and lungs. Coughing, breathing difficulty (FDA MDR 8551998, 2019 [361]), headaches (FDA MDR 8287449, 2019 [360]), and nausea (FDA MDR 8287449, 2019 [360]) can occur. Higher exposures can cause a buildup of fluid in the lungs (pulmonary edema), a medical emergency with shortness of breath (New Jersey Department of Health and Senior Services, 2004 [223]).

H.4.4.1.2.2 Potential health effects of long-term exposure

Long-term health effects vary with the concentration of the peracetic acid product and extent and duration of exposure. In addition to the short-term symptoms, high or repeated exposure can also affect the liver and kidneys (New Jersey Department of Health and Senior Services, 2004 [223]). The product SDS and other authoritative sources should be consulted to evaluate potential health hazards and any worker protection standards. Some peracetic acid–hydrogen peroxide solutions are considered sensitizing. Some formulations' ingredients, present at low concentrations, are listed by the IARC as ''possibly carcinogenic to humans.''

Hydrogen peroxide is listed as a Group 3 carcinogen ("unclassifiable as to carcinogenicity to humans") by the IARC and as an animal carcinogen by ACGIH®.

NOTE IARC and ACGIH® carcinogen classifications have specific meanings and are based on specific types of evidence. For an explanation of the IARC carcinogen classifications, see IARC (2010) [179] or the IARC website. For an explanation of ACGIH® carcinogen classifications, see ACGIH® (2022) [70].

H.4.4.1.3 Occupational exposure limits

There is no OSHA permissible exposure limit for peracetic acid, but there are recommended 8-hour TWA limits for hydrogen peroxide vapor (1 ppm) and acetic acid (10 ppm).

The NIOSH recommended exposure limit (REL) for hydrogen peroxide is 1 ppm as a time-weighted average for up to a 10-hour workday and a 40-hour work week.

The ACGIH®-recommended TLV® for hydrogen peroxide is 1 ppm as an 8-hour TWA (ACGIH®, 2022 [70]). ACGIH[®] recommends a 0.4-ppm short-term exposure limit (STEL) for peracetic acid; for acetic acid, ACGIH® recommends a 10-ppm TWA and a 15-ppm short-term exposure limit (STEL).

The EPA has published Acute Exposure Guidelines for peracetic acid, with an 8-hour TWA of:

- EPA AEGL 1: 0.52 mg/m³ (0.17 ppm);
- EPA AEGL 2: 1.6 mg/m³ (0.51 ppm);
- EPA AEGL 3: 4.6 mg/m³ (1.3 ppm).

The AEGL limits are defined as follows (EPA, 2012b [317]):

- AEGL-1 is the airborne concentration, expressed as parts per million or milligrams per cubic meter (ppm or mg/m³) of a substance above which it is predicted that the general population, including susceptible individuals, could experience notable discomfort, irritation, or certain asymptomatic non-sensory effects. However, the effects are not disabling and are transient and reversible upon cessation of exposure.
- AEGL-2 is the airborne concentration (expressed as ppm or mg/m³) of a substance above which it is predicted that the general population, including susceptible individuals, could experience irreversible or other serious, long-lasting adverse health effects or an impaired ability to escape.
- AEGL-3 is the airborne concentration (expressed as ppm or mg/m³) of a substance above which it is predicted that the general population, including susceptible individuals, could experience life-threatening health effects or death.

Peracetic acid can be detected by several methods, and monitors for continuously measuring the peracetic acid vapor concentrations in the workplace are also available.

H.4.4.1.4 Personal protective equipment and first aid

H.4.4.1.4.1 Eye protection

Personnel should wear safety glasses or goggles when handling peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide solutions. If any eye contact should occur, the eye should be rinsed immediately with plenty of water for at least 15-minutes. Medical advice should be sought.

H.4.4.1.4.2 Skin protection

Rubber or neoprene gloves should be worn. If any skin contact should occur, the affected area should be washed with large amounts of water according to the manufacturer's written IFU and the SDS. If irritation occurs, medical advice should be sought.

H.4.4.1.4.3 Respiratory protection

See 4.4.4 of ANSI/AAMI ST58:2013/(R)2018 [14].

H.4.4.2 Ventilation

Peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide solutions should be used in a well-ventilated area (see 4.3.7). For specific ventilation requirements, the chemical manufacturer's written IFU should be consulted.

H.4.4.3 Pouring solutions

The solution should be poured from the original container into a clean, dry immersion container by a method that will prevent employee contact with the solution and reduce exposure to peracetic acid and hydrogen peroxide vapor. Agitation and splashing during transfer should be minimized. Examples of methods for minimizing contact with the solution or vapor include the use of closed transfer devices, local exhaust hoods, and/or ductless fume hoods and strict adherence to the use of appropriate PPE.

Rationale: Avoiding contact with peracetic acid–hydrogen peroxide products prevent skin and eye injury. Minimizing agitation and splashing during transfer also minimizes the potential for increased vapor. See also H.4.4.1.2.

H.4.4.4 Transporting solutions

Transport of peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide solutions in secondary containers such as trays or buckets should be avoided. If it is absolutely necessary to transport a solution to another area, that area should be properly ventilated, and a method of transport should be selected that will minimize the potential for spills and the possibility of personnel exposure to the solution of vapor.

Rationale: Transporting solutions in secondary containers increases the risk of spills. Spills increase the surface area and thus increase the potential for vapor to raise the air concentration above the exposure limits in H.4.4.1.3. Spills also increase the potential for skin and eye contact and irritation, as described in H.4.4.1.2.

H.4.4.5 Storing solutions

Peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide solutions should be stored in vented, closed containers or systems in a wellventilated area. Soaking containers should always be covered and clearly labeled, in accordance with the OSHA Hazard Communication Standard (21 CFR 1910.1200[f][5][i]) [230], with appropriate warnings, precautionary statements, and first-aid instructions. The surface area of the containers should be as small as possible; they should be narrow and deep rather than large, long, and shallow. The lid should be kept on the soaking container at all times except when items are being placed into or taken out of the solution. Automated systems should be designed to prevent the escape of vapor and liquid.

Unused peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide solutions should be stored in a manner that allows for stock rotation. They should be disposed of after the labeled expiration date.

Rationale: A closed system will minimize evaporation of the peracetic acid–hydrogen peroxide solution and subsequent personnel exposure to vapor. The manufacturer's expiration date should not be exceeded because the solution will no longer be effective.

H.4.4.6 Immersing items to be high-level disinfected or sterilized

Personnel should wear appropriate PPE when placing instruments or other items into the solution; this activity should take place in a properly ventilated area. The worker should gently place clean, dry items into the solution, taking care to disturb and agitate the surface of the solution as little as possible.

Personnel should ensure that their exposure to peracetic acid vapor does not exceed safe limits.

When manually irrigating or flushing the solution through internal channels or lumens of an instrument, personnel should be careful to avoid being splashed or sprayed with the solution. The syringe should be carefully filled with the solution and securely attached to the channel opening or all-channel irrigator. The solution in the syringe should be slowly pushed into the channel; too much force can cause the syringe to disconnect from the channel opening or all-channel irrigator. A new syringe should be used each time.

Gloved hands should be rinsed thoroughly with water before the cover is replaced on the solution container to avoid contaminating the surface of the container with solution. The instruments or other items should be allowed to soak for the amount of time and at the temperature designated by the manufacturer to achieve HLD or sterilization. (See the device manufacturer's written IFU for additional recommendations on HLD and sterilization.)

Devices to be sterilized or high-level disinfected in an automated reprocessor should be loaded in the reprocessor in accordance with the manufacturer's written IFU.

Rationale: These procedures will help prevent worker exposure to peracetic acid and hydrogen peroxide and help ensure the effectiveness of the HLD or sterilization process. Reuse of syringes for irrigation or flushing could lead to contamination of the solution.

H.4.4.7 Rinsing disinfected or sterilized items

Personnel should wear appropriate PPE when removing items from the solution or from a reprocessor that does not include rinsing in the cycle; this activity should take place in a properly ventilated area.

For devices that are processed manually or in a reprocessor that does not include rinsing in the cycle, personnel should remove the solution from the internal channels or lumens of the device before removing the device from the solution; this can be accomplished by flushing each channel several times with a syringe filled with air. Personnel should take care to avoid being splashed with the solution.

The device should be totally immersed in the solution, and the syringe should be securely attached to the channel opening or all-channel irrigator. The plunger should be pushed slowly; too much force can cause the syringe to disconnect from the channel opening or all-channel irrigator or cause the solution to squirt from the channel opening. The instruments should be gently removed from the solution and rinsed thoroughly in clean, utility water or (if the items are to be used in a sterile field) sterile water. (Workers should rinse their gloved hands with water and then replace the cover on the solution container.)

To remove all residual solution, personnel should rinse the external surfaces of the items and any removable parts with copious amounts of clean running water; should immerse them in successive containers of clean water (the rinse solution should be discarded after each use, not reused); or otherwise rinse the device in accordance with the manufacturer's written IFU.

For instruments with interior channels, each channel or the all-channel irrigator should be flushed several times with clean water until all residual solution is removed from the channels (at least 500 mL of water during each separate rinse, unless the instrument manufacturer instructs otherwise). The flushing procedure should be repeated with air. For instruments with interior channels, the channels should be flushed with 70 % to 90 % ethyl or isopropyl alcohol, followed by forced air, to facilitate drying. (However, see the device manufacturer's written IFU.)

The external surfaces of instruments should be thoroughly wiped dry with a sterile, non-linting cloth.

Some automated reprocessors include rinsing in the HLD or sterilization cycle.

Rationale: Proper procedures for rinsing, flushing, drying, and storing instruments will help prevent worker exposure to peracetic acid and hydrogen peroxide and help ensure that residuals of these chemicals are not introduced into patient tissue. Running water or successive immersions in water is recommended for rinsing in order to further dilute the solution and to prevent the retention of solution that could occur in standing water (Durante, et al., 1992 [141]).

H.4.4.8 Transport and storage of processed devices

After instruments or other items are removed from the reprocessor, they should be aseptically transferred and presented at the point of use or stored between uses according to the device manufacturer's written IFU and health care facility protocol.

H.4.5 Peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide spills

In the case of undiluted peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide solutions, all sources of ignition should be removed, and the area should be ventilated. Personnel wearing appropriate PPE should flush the material with large quantities of water until all material is dissolved (diluted 1:20). Unopened containers should be placed in a sink of water and submerged, then opened and diluted.

Spilled PAA solutions should be collected, confined, and diluted to a safe concentration, or absorbed into inert media and disposed of appropriately. The best method will depend on the size of the spill and concentration of the PAA/hydrogen peroxide and should be determined in advance as part of the facility's safety (hazard communication program) plan.

In the case of ready-to-use peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide solutions, see the manufacturer's written IFU.

H.4.6 Disposal of peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide solutions

Peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide solutions should be diluted with at least 20 parts of water and then disposed of in accordance with federal, state, and local regulations. Undiluted material should not be allowed to enter storm or sanitary sewer systems. Peracetic acid-hydrogen solutions should not be mixed with hypochlorite solutions. Solution containers should be rinsed according to label directions before being discarded.

H.4.7 Vapor monitoring

Gas and vapor emissions can occur from even the best made equipment and odor is an unreliable indicator of the presence and concentration of peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide below hazardous concentrations. Continuous gas monitoring systems are available to help employers satisfy the requirement to provide a safe work environment by providing alerts in case of potentially hazardous concentrations, informing workers when it is safe to return after a release and provide record keeping. Review the SDS and consult the suppliers of the peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide, and the manufacturers of the sterilizer and the gas monitoring equipment for more information.

H.5 Hydrogen peroxide gas sterilization

H.5.1 Introduction

Hydrogen peroxide gas sterilization processes are particularly suited for sterilizing heat-sensitive materials because temperatures within the load currently do not exceed 55 °C (131 °F) and sterilization occurs in a low-moisture environment. FDA-cleared hydrogen peroxide gas sterilizers, either with or without plasma, are currently available in the United States. This section covers the properties and applications of hydrogen peroxide gas sterilization; occupational exposure considerations, including vapor monitoring and procedures for handling spills; and sterilant disposal.

H.5.2 Properties and applications of hydrogen peroxide gas sterilization systems

Medical devices that should be sterilized are those that have been validated and indicated in device manufacturer's IFU for hydrogen peroxide gas sterilization. Since the cycle times and characteristics also vary among manufacturers and systems, the user should consult the device manufacturer's written IFU to identify suitable sterilizer and cycle type.

The currently available hydrogen peroxide gas sterilization systems follow similar steps for their sterilization processes. It involves the following sequential steps: items to be sterilized are placed into the sterilization chamber, the chamber is closed, and a vacuum is drawn. An aqueous solution of hydrogen peroxide is injected into the chamber, where it vaporizes and surrounds the items to be sterilized.

Different technologies employ different cycle characteristics. All of the currently marketed hydrogen peroxide gas sterilizers evacuate the chamber to a specific pressure in preparation for one or more repeated injections of hydrogen peroxide, which may include up to four identical injections. After the last injection, the sterilizer will go into a programmed aeration or a plasma phase sequence to reduce the hydrogen peroxide residual associated with the processed medical device. At the end of the process, no toxic residues are left, and the remaining oxygen and water vapor are exhausted into the room as byproducts. Items inside the chamber are now ready for use. Chemical and biological indicators are available and cleared by the FDA for the specific sterilizer that they are designed to monitor.

As in all cases, it is recommended that before using a sterilization system, users should consult with the device and sterilizer manufacturers to ensure device compatibility. The written IFU will specify any limitations, including the minimum internal diameter and length for any lumen-containing medical devices (such as rigid and flexible endoscopes). Liquids, powders, and items made from cellulose cannot be processed in these systems.

For additional information on vaporized hydrogen peroxide sterilization, see Block (2001) [94]; Rutala, et al. (1998) [278]; and McDonnell (2007) [210].

H.5.3 Effective use of hydrogen peroxide gas sterilizers

To ensure efficacy when using a hydrogen peroxide gas sterilizer, the user should observe the following guidelines:

- a) The medical device and sterilizer manufacturers' written IFU should be consulted to determine the compatibility of the device with hydrogen peroxide gas sterilization.
- b) No cellulose-based products should be included inside or outside the package to be sterilized. (Cellulosebased products such as towels, gauze, or paper are absorptive and can interfere with the sterilization process. These types of materials can cause cycle cancellation.)
- c) Devices should be thoroughly cleaned and dried before sterilization because excessive moisture can cause cycle cancellation.
- d) Ratcheted instruments should be unlatched.
- e) Devices should be packaged in Tyvek®-Mylar® pouches, polypropylene wrap, or reusable rigid sterilization container systems cleared by the FDA for use in the specific type of hydrogen peroxide gas sterilizer.
- f) To ensure adequate sterilant contact, personnel should load the sterilizer as recommended in the sterilizer manufacturer's written IFU. For those processes that employ a plasma phase, and to prevent impeding plasma formation or arcing, personnel should not stack items or allow items to contact the RF electrode.
- g) Chemical indicators and *Geobacillus stearothermophilus* biological indicators cleared by the FDA for use in the specific hydrogen peroxide gas sterilizer should be used to monitor the process.

H.5.4 Safe use of hydrogen peroxide gas sterilizers

H.5.4.1 Occupational exposure

H.5.4.1.1 General considerations

Procedures should be developed that will minimize exposure to hydrogen peroxide. Personnel should always wear appropriate PPE when using hydrogen peroxide gas sterilizers (see H.5.4.1.4).

H.5.4.1.2 Health effects of hydrogen peroxide

H.5.4.1.2.1 Potential health effects of short-term exposure

Contact with highly concentrated hydrogen peroxide solutions is corrosive and severely irritating to skin (FDA MDR 8693427, 2019 [353]; FDA MDR 8219836, 2019 [350]; FDA MDR 8574795, 2019 [352]), eyes (FDA MDR 9282407, 2019 [356]; FDA MDR 8978106, 2019 [354]), nose, throat, lungs, and the gastrointestinal tract. Eye contact can cause irreversible eye damage, including blindness. Inhalation of vapors or mists from highly concentrated hydrogen peroxide solutions can be severely irritating to the nose, throat, and lungs; (FDA MDR 9282407, 2019 [356]; FDA MDR 9239844, 2019 [357]) in severe cases, it can result in pulmonary edema and permanent lung damage.

H.5.4.1.2.2 Potential health effects of long-term exposure

Hydrogen peroxide is listed as a Group 3 carcinogen ("unclassifiable as to carcinogenicity to humans") by the IARC and as an animal carcinogen by ACGIH®.

NOTE IARC and ACGIH® carcinogen classifications have specific meanings and are based on specific types of evidence. For an explanation of the IARC carcinogen classifications, see IARC (2010) [179] or the IARC website. For an explanation of ACGIH® carcinogen classifications, see ACGIH® (2022) [70].

H.5.4.1.3 Occupational exposure limits

The OSHA PEL for hydrogen peroxide is 1 ppm as an 8-hour TWA (29 CFR 1910.1000, Table Z-1) [227]. The ACGIH® recommended threshold limit value (TLV®) for hydrogen peroxide is 1 ppm as an 8-hour TWA (ACGIH®, 2022) [70].

The NIOSH recommended exposure limit (REL) for hydrogen peroxide is 1 ppm as a time-weighted average for up to a 10-hour workday and a 40-hour workweek.

H.5.4.1.4 Personal protective equipment and first aid

H.5.4.1.4.1 Eye protection

Direct hydrogen peroxide contact with the eyes can cause irreversible tissue damage. For any necessary eye PPE, see the manufacturer's written IFU. If eye contact occurs, the eyes should be immediately flushed with large amounts of water according to the manufacturer's written IFU and the SDS, and a physician should be consulted immediately.

H.5.4.1.4.2 Skin protection

When items have been properly prepared (thoroughly cleaned, rinsed, and dried prior to packaging) and the sterilization cycle successfully completes, the risk of hydrogen peroxide contact when removing the load from the sterilizer is negligible. However, as a precaution to protect users from potential hydrogen peroxide contact in the event that items have not been properly prepared, personnel should wear polyvinylchloride or nitrile gloves when removing items from the sterilizer after a cycle has canceled, or at any time the items in the load have any visible moisture or liquid, as hydrogen peroxide could be present (FDA MDR 8219836, 2019 [350]; FDA MDR 8527290, 2019 [351]; FDA MDR 8574795, 2019 [352]). If any skin contact with hydrogen peroxide should occur, the skin should be washed with large amounts of water according to the manufacturer's written IFU and the SDS.

H.5.4.1.4.3 Respiratory protection

Respiratory protection is not usually required during normal operation of the sterilizer. The manufacturer's written IFU should be consulted for information on respiratory protection needed in the event of a sterilizer malfunction or aborted cycle.

NOTE Overexposure is unlikely to occur unless there is a cycle cancellation and the items in the load have visible moisture or liquid.

H.5.4.2 Ventilation

Hydrogen peroxide gas sterilizers should be used in a well ventilated area.

H.5.4.3 Safety guidelines

To ensure safe use of the hydrogen peroxide gas sterilizer, the user should observe the following guidelines:

- a) Sterilant cassettes/cartridges or cups should be checked for integrity before use. Cassettes/cartridges or cups that are leaking should not be opened.
- b) Gloves should be worn when disposing of spent cassettes/cartridges or cups and when removing packages from a canceled cycle.

H.5.5 Spills

Personnel should wear eye protection and chemical-resistant gloves when cleaning up spills. Spills should be contained and absorbed with an inert absorbent material and then placed in a disposable container. Spilled hydrogen peroxide solution should be kept away from combustible material.

H.5.6 Sterilant disposal

Hydrogen peroxide solutions must be disposed of in accordance with appropriate U.S. federal and state regulations and international regulations. If unaltered by use, hydrogen peroxide solutions may be disposed of by treatment at a permitted facility or as advised by the local hazardous waste regulatory authority. Solution containers should be rinsed according to label directions before being discarded.

H.5.7 Vapor monitoring

RIGHTSLINKA)

Vapor monitoring is recommended if there is the potential for the hydrogen peroxide vapor concentration to exceed the OSHA recommended permissible exposure limits. Emissions from properly operated and maintained chemical vapor sterilizers should be well below the OSHA PEL (see H.5.4.1.3), but sterilizers and exhaust systems, as with any other

complex equipment, can and sometimes do fail. If monitoring is deemed necessary, continuous personal and area monitors for hydrogen peroxide are commercially available.

Gas and vapor emissions can occur from even the best made equipment and odor is an unreliable indicator of the presence and concentration of hydrogen peroxide gas below hazardous concentrations. Continuous gas monitoring systems are available to help employers satisfy the requirement to provide a safe work environment by providing alerts in case of potentially hazardous concentrations, informing workers when it is safe to return after a release and provide record keeping. Review the SDS and consult the suppliers of the hydrogen peroxide solutions and the manufacturers of the sterilizer and the gas monitoring equipment for more information.

H.6 Hydrogen peroxide–ozone sterilization

H.6.1 Introduction

Hydrogen peroxide–ozone sterilization processes are particularly suited for sterilizing heat-sensitive materials because temperatures within the load do not exceed 41°C (106 °F) and sterilization occurs in a low-moisture environment. One FDA-cleared hydrogen peroxide-ozone sterilizer is currently available in the United States. This section covers the properties and applications of hydrogen peroxide–ozone sterilization; occupational exposure considerations, including vapor monitoring and procedures for handling spills; and sterilant disposal.

H.6.2 Properties and applications of hydrogen peroxide-ozone gas sterilization systems

Hydrogen peroxide–ozone sterilization uses a single cycle for all types of loads. It has been cleared by the FDA for the sterilization of general instruments, rigid endoscopes, and flexible endoscopes, including multichannel gastrointestinal endoscopes such as duodenoscopes, colonoscopes, and gastroscopes. The items to be sterilized should be thoroughly cleaned and dried before sterilization following the device manufacturer's IFU. Chemical and biological indicators are available and cleared by the FDA for monitoring the sterilization process.

The currently available hydrogen peroxide-ozone sterilization process involves the following sequential steps.

- a) Cleaned and packaged items to be sterilized are placed on the loading rack and into the sterilization chamber.
- b) The chamber is closed, the cycle is started, and a vacuum is drawn.
- c) An aqueous hydrogen peroxide solution is vaporized, injected in the chamber, and surrounds the items to be sterilized, until a pre-set pressure differential is achieved.
- d) Ozone is injected into the chamber and surrounds the items to be sterilized. Ozone is generated from oxygen within the sterilizer's self-contained ozone generator.
- e) The load is exposed to the sterilant for the specified time.
- f) The sterilizer evacuates the sterilants from the chamber.
- g) A second sterilization phase is executed and included repetition of steps c) to f).
- h) The sterilizer goes into a programmed aeration sequence to reduce the hydrogen peroxide and ozone residual associated with the processed medical device. At the end of the process, no toxic residues are left, and the remaining oxygen and water vapor are exhausted into the room as by-products.
- i) Items inside the chamber are now ready for use.

As in all cases, it is recommended that before using a sterilant, users should consult with the device and sterilizer manufacturers to ensure device compatibility. The written IFU will specify any limitations, including the minimum internal diameter and length for any lumen-containing medical devices (such as rigid and flexible endoscopes). Liquids, powders, and items made from cellulose cannot be processed in this system.

H.6.3 Effective use of hydrogen peroxide-ozone gas sterilization

To ensure efficacy when using the hydrogen peroxide gas sterilizer, the user should observe the following guidelines:

- a) The medical device and sterilizer manufacturers' written IFU should be consulted to determine the compatibility of the device with the sterilizer system.
- b) No cellulose-based products should be included inside or outside the package to be sterilized. (Cellulose based products such as towels, gauze, or paper are absorptive and can interfere with the sterilization process. These types of materials can cause cycle cancellation.)
- c) The only lumened items that should be sterilized are those with lumen sizes cleared by the FDA for the hydrogen peroxide-ozone sterilizer being used. FDA-cleared lumen internal diameter and length vary among manufacturers and sterilizer models. The user should consult the sterilizer manufacturer's written IFU to identify specific items appropriate for sterilization.
- d) Devices should be thoroughly cleaned and dried before sterilization because excessive moisture can cause cycle cancellation.
- e) Any hinged instruments should be opened.
- f) Devices should be packaged in Tyvek® pouches, polypropylene wrap, or reusable rigid sterilization container systems cleared by the FDA for use in the specific type of hydrogen peroxide-ozone sterilizer.
- g) Only trays and mats recommended by the sterilizer manufacturer and cleared by the FDA for use with the sterilizer should be used.
- h) To ensure adequate sterilant contact, personnel should load the sterilizer as recommended in the sterilizer manufacturer's written IFU and respect the recommended load temperatures.
- i) Chemical indicators and *Geobacillus stearothermophilus* BIs cleared by the FDA for use in the hydrogen peroxide-ozone sterilizer should be used to monitor the process.

H.6.4 Safe use of hydrogen peroxide-ozone gas sterilizer

H.6.4.1 Occupational exposure

H.6.4.1.1 General considerations

Procedures should be developed that will minimize exposure to hydrogen peroxide and ozone. Personnel should always wear appropriate PPE when using hydrogen peroxide-ozone sterilizers (see H.6.4.1.5).

H.6.4.1.2 Health effects of hydrogen peroxide

H.6.4.1.2.1 Potential health effects of short-term exposure

Contact with hydrogen peroxide solutions is corrosive and severely irritating to skin, eyes, nose, throat, lungs, and the gastrointestinal tract. Eye contact can cause irreversible eye damage, including blindness. Inhalation of vapors or mists can be severely irritating to the nose, throat, and lungs; in severe cases, it can result in pulmonary edema and permanent lung damage.

H.6.4.1.2.2 Potential health effect of long-term exposure

Hydrogen peroxide is listed as a Group 3 carcinogen ("unclassifiable as to carcinogenicity to humans") by the IARC and as an animal carcinogen by ACGIH®.

NOTE IARC and ACGIH® carcinogen classifications have specific meanings and are based on specific types of evidence. For an explanation of the IARC carcinogen classifications, see IARC (2010) [179] or the IARC website. For an explanation of ACGIH® carcinogen classifications, see ACGIH® (2022) [70].



H.6.4.1.3 Health effects of ozone

H.6.4.1.3.1 Potential health effects of short-term exposure

Exposure to ozone causes dryness of the mouth, coughing, and eye, throat, nose, and chest irritation. Ozone exposure may cause breathing difficulties, headache, and fatigue, and it also may increase sensitivity to bronchoconstrictors, including allergens.

The sharp odor of ozone can be detected at low concentrations (0.01 to 0.05 ppm).

H.6.4.1.3.2 Potential health effects of long-term exposure

The effects of long-term exposure to ozone can include inflammation and permanent lung damage.

H.6.4.1.4 Occupational exposure limits

H.6.4.1.4.1 Hydrogen peroxide

The OSHA PEL for hydrogen peroxide is 1 ppm as an 8-hour TWA (29 CFR 1910.1000, Table Z-1) [227].

The ACGIH® recommended threshold limit value (TLV®) for hydrogen peroxide is 1 ppm as an 8-hour TWA (ACGIH®, 2022).

The NIOSH recommended exposure limit (REL) for hydrogen peroxide is 1 ppm as a time-weighted average for up to a 10-hour workday and a 40-hour workweek.

H.6.4.1.4.2 Ozone

The OSHA PEL for ozone is 0.1 ppm (8-hour TWA), and OSHA recommends using a STEL of 0.3 ppm (15-min TWA), through the latter is not currently enforceable. The ACGIH® recommended TLV®s for ozone range for 0.05 ppm TWA to 0.20 ppm TWA, depending on the conditions and duration exposure.

H.6.4.1.5 Personal protective equipment and first aid

H.6.4.1.5.1 Eye protection

Direct hydrogen peroxide contact with the eyes can cause irreversible tissue damage. For any necessary eye PPE, see the manufacturer's written IFU. If eye contact occurs, the eyes should be immediately flushed with large amounts of water according to the manufacturer's written IFU and the SDS, and a physician should be consulted immediately.

H.6.4.1.5.2 Skin protection

When items have been properly prepared (thoroughly cleaned, rinsed, and dried prior to packaging) and the sterilization cycle successfully completes, the risk of hydrogen peroxide contact when removing the load from the sterilizer is negligible. However, as a precaution to protect users from potential hydrogen peroxide contact in the event that items have not been properly prepared, personnel should wear polyvinylchloride or nitrile gloves when removing items from the sterilizer after a cycle has canceled, or at any time the items in the load have any visible moisture or liquid, as hydrogen peroxide could be present. If any skin contact with hydrogen peroxide should occur, the skin should be washed with large amounts of water according to the manufacturer's written IFU and the SDS.

H.6.4.1.5.3 Respiratory protection

Respiratory protection is not usually required during normal operation of the sterilizer. The manufacturer's written IFU should be consulted for information on respiratory protection needed in the event of a sterilizer malfunction or aborted cycle.

NOTE Overexposure is unlikely to occur unless there is a cycle cancellation and the items in the load have visible moisture or liquid.

H.6.4.2 Ventilation

Hydrogen peroxide-ozone gas sterilizers should be used in a well-ventilated area (see 4.3.7).

H.6.4.3 Safety guidelines

To ensure safe use of the hydrogen peroxide-ozone gas sterilizer, the user should observe the following guidelines:

- a) Sterilant solution bottles should be checked for integrity before use. Bottles that are leaking should not be used. Users should not attempt to open sterilant solution bottles as they are designed to be safely loaded closed into the sterilizer.
- b) Gloves should be worn when disposing of spent bottles and when removing packages from a canceled cycle.
- c) The user should verify that the sterilizer has been installed in accordance with the manufacturer's written IFU and should follow the manufacturer's written IFU.

Users do not handle the ozone during the process and, by design, cannot be exposed to ozone.

H.6.5 Spills

Personnel should wear eye protection and chemical-resistant gloves when cleaning up hydrogen peroxide spills. Spills should be contained and absorbed with an inert absorbent material and then placed in a disposable container. Spilled hydrogen peroxide solution should be kept away from combustible material.

Ozone spills cannot occur because ozone is a gas that cannot be found in a liquid state at room temperature.

H.6.6 Sterilant disposal

Hydrogen peroxide solutions must be disposed of in accordance with appropriate U.S. federal and state regulations and international regulations. If unaltered by use, hydrogen peroxide solutions may be disposed of by treatment at a permitted facility or as advised by the local hazardous waste regulatory authority.

Ozone disposal is unnecessary for the currently available sterilization system. The sterilizer is designed so that all of the ozone produced is converted after use to oxygen by means of a catalytic converter.

H.6.7 Vapor monitoring

Vapor monitoring is recommended if there is the potential for the hydrogen peroxide or ozone concentrations to exceed the OSHA recommended permissible exposure limits. Gas and vapor emissions can occur from even the best made equipment and odor is an unreliable indicator of the presence and concentration of hydrogen peroxide or ozone gas below hazardous concentrations. Continuous gas monitoring systems are available to help employers satisfy the requirement to provide a safe work environment by providing alerts in case of potentially hazardous concentrations, informing workers when it is safe to return after a release and provide record keeping. Review the SDS and consult the suppliers of the hydrogen peroxide solutions and the manufacturer of the sterilizer and the gas monitoring equipment for more information.

H.7 Ethylene oxide sterilization

H.7.1 Introduction

EO is a well understood and characterized low temperature sterilization process suitable for heat and moisture sensitive medical devices. This section covers the properties and applications of EO sterilization, occupational exposure considerations, and sterilant disposal. Also see ANSI/AAMI ST41 [12].

H.7.2 Properties and applications of ethylene oxide sterilization

Ethylene oxide is an efficacious sterilant because EO molecules can permeate through most polymeric materials while retaining integrity. EO has good materials compatibility with a wide variety of materials used in medical devices. EO can penetrate long narrow lumens, such as those in flexible GI endoscopes and is not typically limited by diameter or length. For many years EO sterilization was the primary low-temperature process used by hospitals for sterilization of

medical devices that were not compatible with steam sterilization. EO is still available and used in hospitals throughout the world, although other low-temperature technologies have reduced EO usage in many facilities because of faster cycle times. EO is used extensively in industrial sterilization of medical devices that are not compatible with radiation or steam sterilization.

The critical parameters for EO sterilization are:

- Time;
- Temperature;
- EO gas concentration;
- Relative humidity.

EO characteristics that allow good materials penetration trade-off is the devices must be aerated for sufficient time to remove residual EO prior to patient use. Aeration is a process that flushes heated air over the device to remove EO molecules as they dissipate from the surface of the device.

EO systems cleared for use in the U.S. healthcare facilities utilize 100 % EO single-dose gas cartridges of liquid EO. Under pressure and temperature, the EO is vaporized to become a gas. Typical cycle temperatures are 37° C to 55° C and exposure times range from 1-hour to 4-hours. The items in the chamber are then aerated for a time recommended by the device manufacturer, which typically ranges from 12- to 20-hours. Exposure and aeration are required to be completed in a single chamber.

Users of EO systems should refer to the device manufacturer's and the EO sterilizer manufacturer's written IFU for information on how to process the device, aeration times, and compatible packaging.

EO systems are monitored with FDA-cleared biological and chemical indicators used as quality control tools.

H.7.3 Effective use of ethylene oxide sterilization

To ensure efficacy when using EO sterilization, the user should observe the following guidelines:

- a) The written IFU of the medical device manufacturer and the sterilizer manufacturer should be consulted to determine the compatibility of the device with EO sterilization.
- b) Fluids should not be sterilized by this method.
- c) Devices with lumens can be sterilized by EO. The sterilizer manufacturer's written IFU should be followed.
- d) Devices should be thoroughly cleaned and dried before sterilization.
- e) Any ratcheted instruments should be unlatched.
- f) Devices should be packaged in nonwoven pouches or reusable rigid sterilization container systems.
- g) To ensure adequate sterilant contact, the sterilizer should be loaded as recommended in the sterilizer manufacturer's written IFU.
- h) Chemical indicators and self-contained biological indicators (using Bacillus atrophaeus) cleared by the FDA for use with EO should be used to monitor the process.

144

H.7.4 Safe use of ethylene oxide sterilizers

H.7.4.1 Occupational exposure

H.7.4.1.1 General considerations

Procedures should be developed that will minimize exposure to EO and comply with the OSHA Ethylene Oxide Standard (CFR 29 1010.1047) [226] and other application regulations. (See AAMI TIR67 [25]).

EO must be handled with care due to its toxicological profile, and it is potentially flammable or explosive if not handled safely. Exposure to EO should be avoided.

H.7.4.1.2 Health effects of ethylene oxide

H.7.4.1.2.1 Potential health effects of short-term exposure

Contact with EO liquid or gas is toxic and can cause serious eye irritation, skin irritation, respiratory system damage, might cause drowsiness or dizziness, might cause cancer, and is suspected of mutagenic effects.

Exposure to EO should be avoided.

H.7.4.1.2.2 Potential health effects of long-term exposure

EO is listed with the following classifications:

- a) Flammable Gas: Category 1;
- b) Gas Under Pressure: Liquefied gas;
- c) Acute Toxicity (inhalation): Category 3;
- d) Serious Eye Damage/Irritation: Category 2A;
- e) Skin Corrosion/Irritation: Category 2;
- f) Reproductive Toxicity: Category 2;
- g) Carcinogenicity: Category 1A;
- h) Germ Cell Mutagenicity: Category 1B;
- i) Specific Target Organ Toxicity (single exposure): Category 1;
- j) Specific Target Organ Toxicity (single exposure): Category 3.

The following are guidelines for preventing exposure:

- a) Obtain special instructions before use.
- b) Do not handle until all safety precautions have been read and understood.
- c) Keep away from heat/sparks/open flames/hot surfaces. No smoking.
- d) Do not breathe gas/mist/vapors or spray.
- e) Use only in a well ventilated area.
- f) Wear protective gloves and eye/face protection.
- g) Do not eat, drink, or smoke when using handling EO cartridges.

h) Wash hands thoroughly after handling.

H.7.4.1.3 Occupational exposure limits

The OSHA PEL for ethylene oxide is 1 ppm as an 8-hour TWA (29 CFR 1910.1947 [232]), and the OSHA recommended STEL is 5 ppm (29 CFR 1910.1947 [232]).

The ACGIH® recommended threshold limit value (TLV®) for ethylene oxide is 1 ppm as an 8-hour TWA (ACGIH®, 2022).

H.7.4.1.4 Personal protective equipment and first aid

H.7.4.1.4.1 Eye protection

Select and use eye/face protection to prevent contact based on the results of an exposure assessment. The following eye/face protection(s) are recommended: indirect vented goggles.

H.7.4.1.4.2 Skin protection

Select and use gloves and/or protective clothing approved to relevant local standards to prevent skin contact based on the results of an exposure assessment. Selection should be based on use factors such as exposure levels, concentration of the substance or mixture, frequency and duration, physical challenges such as temperature extremes, and other use conditions. Consult with the glove and/or protective clothing manufacturer for selection of appropriate compatible gloves and protective clothing.

Gloves made from the following material(s) are recommended: butyl rubber.

H.7.4.1.4.3 **Respiratory protection**

An exposure assessment might be needed to decide whether a respirator is required. If a respirator is needed, use respirators as part of a full respiratory protection program.

Based on the results of the exposure assessment, select from the following respirator type(s) to reduce inhalation exposure: full-facepiece supplied-air respirator.

For questions about suitability for a specific application, consult with the respirator manufacturer.

H.7.4.2 Ventilation

EO sterilizers should be used in a well ventilated area according to the sterilizer manufacturer's recommendations. The ventilation system should meet the requirements in the manufacturer's defined site planning and installation specifications. See also ANSI/AAMI ST41 [12].

EO gas must be ventilated to the outside or to an abatement device vented to the outside.

H.7.4.3 Safety guidelines

- a) Do not use in a confined area with minimal air exchange. Do not handle until all safety precautions have been read and understood.
- b) Keep away from heat/sparks/open flames/hot surfaces.
- c) Take precautionary measures against static discharge. Do not breathe gas/mist/vapors/spray.
- d) Do not get in eyes, on skin, or on clothing.
- e) Do not eat, drink, or smoke when using EO.
- f) Do not wear heavy perfumes as they can set off alarms.

GHTSLINKA)

- g) Wear gloves and wash hands thoroughly after handling. Avoid release to the environment.
- h) Eliminate all ignition sources.
- i) Avoid contact with oxidizing agents (e.g., chlorine, chromic acid etc.)
- j) Use personal protective equipment (gloves, respirators, etc.) as required.
- k) Store cartridges in an upright position in an approved flammable liquid storage cabinet vented to the outside atmosphere, or in an area suitable for storage of flammable liquids appropriately vented to the outside atmosphere, or into a non-recirculating dedicated exhaust system, continuously.
- I) Keep all sources of ignition away from the sterilizer and cartridges.
- m) Check local fire protection codes for additional requirements.

H.7.5 Spills and leaks

If an EO cartridge is wet or feels cold to touch, it might be damaged or leaking. The following are guidelines for dealing with spills and leaks:

- a) Evacuate the area. Eliminate all ignition sources if safe to do so. Keep away from heat/sparks/open flames/hot surfaces. No smoking.
- b) Ventilate the area with fresh air.
- c) With appropriate respiratory protection and PPE, seal the leaking container, if possible. Place leaking containers in a well ventilated area, preferably in an operating exhaust hood, or, if necessary, outdoors on an impermeable surface until appropriate hazard packaging for the leaking container or its contents is available.
- d) Refer to manufacturer's SDS for information regarding physical and health hazards, respiratory protection, ventilation, and personal protective equipment.

H.7.6 Sterilant disposal

Empty cartridges should be disposed of in a chemical waste container according to facility policy.

Partial or full cartridges should be run in an empty sterilizer cycle.

EO is considered hazardous waste and must only be disposed of in compliance with applicable local/regional/national/ regulations.

H.7.7 Vapor monitoring

Gas and vapor emissions can occur from even the best made equipment, and odor is an unreliable indicator of the presence and concentration of ethylene oxide below hazardous concentrations. Continuous gas monitoring systems are available to help employers satisfy the requirement to provide a safe work environment by providing alerts in case of potentially hazardous concentrations, informing workers when it is safe to return after a release, and provide record keeping. Review the SDS and consult the suppliers of the ethylene oxide and the manufacturers of the sterilizer and the gas monitoring equipment for more information.

EO sterilizers currently used in the United States are designed in such a way that a leak is unlikely, because the system is under vacuum. If a leak occurs, EO will not be released, but air will enter the system. Pressure sensors are used to detect abnormal conditions.



Annex I (informative)

Endoscope microbiocidal methods

There are a variety of biocidal methods available for disinfecting and sterilizing flexible endoscopes (see Section 8). Table I.1 provides characteristics of the available methods.

Characteristic	High-level	Liquid Chemical	Health Care Terminal		
	Disinfectants (HLD) Sterilants (LCS)		Sterilization Systems		
Composition of Biocide	Liquid	Liquid	Chemical Gas or Vapor		
Manual Use Option (not recommended)	Yes	Yes	No		
Manual Chemical Contact Time Required (fill and rinse time not included)	5 – 90-minutes	2 – 12 hours	Not applicable		
Minimum Achieved Organism Kill	6 logs Most Resistant Mycobacteria species (1,000,000)	6 logs Most Resistant Bacterial Spore (1,000,000)	12 logs Most Resistant Bacterial Spore (1,000,000,000,000 ^A)		
Minimum Required Sterility Assurance Level (SAL)	Not applicable	Cannot be calculated for liquid based biocides	10 ⁻⁶ There is less than or equal to one chance in a million that a single, viable microorganism is present on a sterilized item ^A		
Estimated Automated Cycle Time ^B	22 – 45-minutes or more depending on HLD used and other factors ^B	18 - 23-minutes	19-minutes – 15-hours		
Quality Control Options	 Physical parameters (time, temperature). Minimum Effective Concentration (MEC) Solution Test Strip or Minimum Required Concentration (MRC) Solution Test Strip. 	 Physical parameters (time, temperature)Chemical Indicator, Minimum Effective Concentration (MEC) Solution Test Strip or Minimum Required Concentration (MRC) Solution Test Strip. Spore Test Strip (automated system only). 	 Physical parameters. External Chemical Indicators. Internal Chemical Indicators. Biological Indicators. Biological Indicators. Process Challenge Devices for Routine Efficacy Testing (not readily available for H₂O₂.only sterilization systems). 		
Post Processing Conditions	Endoscope is wet post processing with nonsterile rinse water. Immediate drying is required. Perform drying according to endoscope manufacturer's written IFU.	Liquid chemically sterilized endoscopes intended to be used in a critical application should be used immediately after processing. They may also be used immediately in semi-critical applications. If not meant for immediate use, follow instructions for storage of high-level disinfected endoscopes.	Endoscope is ready for use, can be stored open when anticipated use is in soiled organs, or retained in sterile packaging (terminal sterilization) for subsequent anticipated use in sterile environments. If using EO sterilization, ensure proper aeration time is completed prior to use.		

Table I.1—Characteristics of microbicidal methods for endoscope processing

^ATheoretical 12 logs most resistant bacterial spore (1,000,000,000,000) is based on doubling the 6-log reduction achieved during half cycle validation.

^B Estimated time **excludes** cleaning, inspection, and packaging (when applicable); range is wide because processing time is dependent on many variables including, as applicable, endoscope, processing equipment, chemical IFU, processing temperature, water supply, and options selected.



Annex J

(informative)

Endoscope storage risk assessment

In addition to 11.2:

- a) Endoscopes are stored so that residual fluid does not remain in the channels.
- b) Endoscopes are stored, with their detachable parts dismantled, in a manner that keeps them secure and together with the endoscope as a unique set.
- c) Endoscopes are stored suspended vertically in a cabinet designed for flexible endoscope storage, or horizontally, if so, instructed within the cabinet manufacturer's written IFU.
- d) Tracking is available for each endoscope, including last episode of HLD.
- e) If a storage cabinet is used, all manufacturer's written IFU should be followed and documented.
- f) Endoscope internal channels receive additional drying by flushing with instrument quality air or HEPA filtered air even after AER processing or they are mechanically dried, verified to be dry or stored in a drying cabinet.
- g) Non-linting cloths used to dry external surfaces.
- h) Processed endoscopes are appropriately tagged with the date last processed.
- i) Storage cabinet is kept closed.
- j) If storage cabinets meet the standard EN 16442-2015 [47], the cabinet manufacturer recommends a maximum safe storage time based on validated test methods.
- k) Processed endoscopes are handled with new, clean, non-latex gloves when moved from AER, to drying, to hanging and to the procedure room.
- I) A method of air circulation (HEPA filter, instrument air, drying cabinet, etc.) is used.
- m) Endoscopes are transported to the storage cabinet in accordance with Section 11.

(informative)

Endoscope drying

K.1 Introduction

This annex reviews information about the importance of drying flexible endoscopes after processing, methods for flexible endoscope drying and the current state of drying verification. Drying of processed endoscopes lowers the risk of transmission of residual bacteria to subsequent patients. The collective research evidence, practice guidelines, and manufacturers' instructions for use (IFUs) all emphasize the importance of drying as a terminal step in endoscope processing to lower risk of microbial growth post-processing.

K.2 Importance of drying

Drying of gastrointestinal endoscopes after washing and high-level disinfection is an essential component in processing. Residual moisture allows microorganisms to survive and multiply. Because bacteria can double in population every 20- to 30-minutes, an inadequately dried endoscope contaminated with only one or two viable bacteria can, after eight hours of storage, be contaminated with tens of thousands to millions of bacteria, magnifying the risk of transmission of infectious organisms to the next patient Alfa, et al. [54]. Therefore, the exterior surface and all interior channels of flexible endoscopes should be thoroughly dried before reuse or storage.

K.2.1 Literature review

Research has demonstrated that several modalities, air types, and durations have been efficacious in the drying of flexible endoscopes. Forcing HEPA filtered or instrument air through endoscope channels facilitates drying, can evacuate and/or accelerate the evaporation of residual alcohol (if used), and reduces the likelihood of progressive contamination of the endoscope by waterborne pathogens.

In 1983, Gerding et al. [163] demonstrated that the institution of forced air drying significantly reduced bacterial contamination of stored endoscopes, presumably by removing the wet environment favorable for bacterial growth. In a 1991 study, Alfa et al. [54] demonstrated culture positive contamination in the majority of 21 processed endoscopes, with marked overgrowth of gram negative bacteria over the subsequent 48-hours of storage following processing. Without other interventions, the institution of 10-minutes of drying time using programmed cycles in an automated endoscope reprocessor (AER) following HLD, or tabletop delivery of forced medical air, through all channels markedly reduced contamination and prevented the proliferation of bacteria that had been seen in the absence of drying cycles. In a current era, study of drying modalities, Barakat et al. [78] demonstrated only a single water droplet in 69 endoscope cycles following 10-minutes of 'automated' forced filtered air purge of all channels, compared to modest numbers of persistent droplets after 5-minutes and extensive fluid after manual targeting of channels with a forced air gun. Perumpail et al., [254] recently demonstrated that use of a drying cabinet which directs compressed air into all endoscope channels yielded drying of all lumens within one hour. Multiple studies have demonstrated similar results, with superior drying by delivery of HEPA filtered medical air into all channels for sufficient durations [53], [213], [284], [247], [236], compared to absence of dedicated channel drying [236], use of brief air pistol flushing of channels [53], [246] or more limited 5-6 minute drying intervals [53], [242]. Reliance on vertical hanging storage alone, without prior dedicated channel flushing or prolonged flushing during storage does not yield reliably dry instruments [213], [236], [284]. No studies have directly compared 10-minutes of forced air drying of all channels to prolonged (1-hour or more) forced air channel drying in "drying cabinets." Table K.1 summarizes the elements or techniques in drying addressed in the published primary data.



Table K.1—Summary of endoscope drying studies and methods of evaluation

Study	Drying Time/ Modality	Microbial Culture	Humidicator	Borescope	Clinically Used	Simulated- Use
Gerding, 1982 [163]	Х	Х			Х	
Alfa ,1991 [54]	Х	Х			Х	
Saliou, 2015 [284]	Х	Х			Х	
Ofstead, 2016 (Assessing residual contamination) [247]		X		X	X	
Osftead, 2016 (<i>Practical toolkit</i>) [236]		х			X	
Ofstead, 2017 <i>(Longitudinal)</i> [246]		х		Х	X	
Ofstead, 2018 (Residual moisture) [242]	X	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Ofstead, 2018 (Bronchs) [237]	X	Х		Х	Х	
Thaker, 2018 (Duodenoscope reprocessing practices) [310]						
Thaker, 2018 (Inspection of endoscope channels) [309]				Х		
Barakat, 2019 (Comparison of automated vs manual drying) [78]	X	X	X	X	X	
Barakat, 2019 (Simethicone retention) [80]				Х	Х	
Perumpail, 2019 [254]	X	Х	Х			X
Barakat, 2018 (Scoping the scope) [79]				Х	Х	
Alfa, 2017 (Sterile RO water) [51]		х		Х		Х
Alfa, 2017 (Novel PTFE- channel model) [51]		Х		X		X

K.3 Drying verification

Research has not yet established an acceptance criterion for adequate "dryness." Verification of endoscope drying is challenging to accomplish due to the limitations imposed by the length and diameter of internal endoscope channels, the lack of validated technologies for confirmation of absolute exclusion of moisture and the limits of detection (LOD) of the few available test methods currently used. Existing written endoscope IFUs provided by the endoscope manufacturers state the endoscope must be thoroughly dry prior to being placed in storage, but they provide limited guidance on how to verify that end.

Given these conditions, the alternative for ensuring an endoscope is as dry as reasonably achievable include use of validated drying parameters of time, temperature, air flow, and humidity, or use of a test for detection of moisture. However, since at present there are no defined criteria by which all drying methods or devices are measured for effectiveness and validity. Performing the drying steps listed in the IFU may not provide the requisite assurance that an endoscope is reproducible dried. Therefore, it may be necessary to reevaluate the drying process as additional tools become available to verify effectiveness of drying.

The primary test used in research studies of endoscope processing efficacy, channel damage and retained moisture has been with direct observation with a video borescope [54], [236], [237], [246], [247], [284] with either real-time visual inspection or recorded video for offline review and documentation. A variety of borescopes of varying caliber, length, and image definition are available for many medical and nonmedical uses. It is important to understand that not all internal channels of an endoscope can be visualized using a borescope because channel features such as small internal diameter and/or sharp bends limit entry of the borescope into the channels. As a result, the limit of detection for borescope examination of residual moisture has not been established. In addition to the physical limitations (length,

diameter) and technical limitations (resolution, magnification), detection of moisture with a borescope presents a further challenge, as it requires cleaning and, likely, disinfection prior to inspection of the next flexible endoscope. Further, inspection of a fully processed endoscope likely requires that the endoscope itself be processed (at a minimum repeated HLD) after inspection. Hence, borescope inspection of every clinically-used endoscope after each use is likely not practical. A more practical approach, in most instances, is to use the borescope as part of a routine audit program that involves thorough visual inspection of an endoscope (see F.4 for guidance on determining sampling frequency). As part of the audit, a fully processed endoscope (including drying procedures) can be inspected for visible signs of moisture retention. Borescopes can also prove highly useful tools for inspection of endoscope channels during assessment for suspected damage, chronic culture positivity, or in studies of drying parameters.

Several studies [78], [242], [254] have employed moisture detection test papers, i.e., "humidicators," containing cobalt chloride to qualitatively assess color change in the presence of moisture as a means of assessing drying. The assessment is performed by directing a 15 PSI air purge through the lumen of interest toward the detection paper positioned just below. In one study [254], testing for moisture in duodenoscopes was sensitive down to 250 μ L of water per air water channel, 100 μ L per suction-biopsy channel and 50 μ L per elevator channel. Evaluation for moisture in the air-water and suction-biopsy channels of colonoscopes detected 100 and 150 μ L of fluid [60]. Drying also correlated strongly with a reduction of inoculated bacteria over time.

Another study [242] correlated moisture detection using cobalt test paper to visual detection utilizing a borescope [59]. Test strips detected water in 22 endoscopes, of which 21 were visually confirmed (95 % positive predictive value for moisture detection). All 23 negative test strips yielded negative borescope exams as well (100 % negative predictive value).

K.4 Outstanding issues

Several questions pertinent to drying efficacy and efficiency remain unanswered and warrant investigation, including:

- a) What degree of endoscope drying after high level disinfection is necessary or optimal before patient use or endoscope storage? Dryness is not a binary (i.e., "either-or") state, and the degree of drying required to kill possible residual microbes after high level disinfection and to prevent microbial proliferation during storage is not clear. This will require understanding the relationship between degrees of dry, subsequent risk of pathogenic microbial presence and risk of transmissibility of infection.
- **b)** What is the efficacy (best feasible performance in research settings) and effectiveness (performance in practice) of currently available methods for confirmation of endoscope drying after high level disinfection?
- c) What constitutes optimal quality assurance (QA) for endoscope drying performance? This may include confirmation of adherence to established parameters (i.e., drying for a prescribed duration using correct air delivery systems, quality, and pressure) or use of validated moisture detection tools in a predetermined schedule to demonstrate consistent outcome of endoscope drying.
- **d)** How do existing drying modalities compare in performance to achieve a dry endoscope when employing optimal air quality (i.e., HEPA-filtered or instrument air), air pressure, humidity, and temperature parameters? How do these drying modalities compare in cost effectiveness?
- e) What are the optimal drying parameters (i.e., air quality, pressure, flow, temperature, and humidity) for varied endoscope channel lengths and diameters? Existing endoscopes have variable channel lengths and diameters, which undoubtedly will require different airflow parameters (i.e., pressure and time to dry) to achieve effective endoscope drying without causing damage to the endoscope.
- f) What parameters for drying, including air quality, pressure, temperature, time, and endpoints, should be standardized for development of drying devices or cabinets and for incorporation into labelling claims? The variability among clinical practice recommendations and endoscope drying studies performed thus far make the development and standardization of drying equipment challenging.
- **g)** What expectations for drying modalities, parameters, and durations should be included in endoscope manufacturers' instructions for use (IFUs)?

Downloaded by on January 20, 2023 Single-user license only. Copyring, networking and distribution prohibited. Copyright AAMI h) Do different practices for handling, transport, and storage affect the condition of the endoscope during or subsequent to drying? Endoscope care following drying is important for the maintenance of a patient-ready endoscope.

K.5 Summary

Drying of endoscopes remains one component of processing for which inconsistent expectations and performance may contribute to ongoing risk of infection transmission. Current evidence suggests drying an endoscope with forced air through all channels may be employed to limit this risk. This can be accomplished with several varied devices and cabinets for delivery of airflow through the channels. Methods for detecting moisture, including borescopes and moisture detection test papers, have been used in research studies, but have not been standardized or validated for regular clinical use. Most guidelines from domestic and international organizations have incorporated guidance on drying, with varied detail regarding modalities and monitoring of performance [46] [47] [68].

K.6 Commonly accepted terminology

- Storage Cabinet: Designed to store endoscopes in the vertical position. Such cabinets do not have forced air circulation but generally do have ports to allow passive air flow through the cabinet.
- Conventional Storage Cabinet: Designed to store endoscopes in the vertical position with HEPA filtered forced air circulated throughout the cabinet. Air may or may not be forced into the lumens of the endoscope.
- Drying Storage Cabinet: Designed to store endoscopes with forced air flow (instrument quality or at a minimum HEPA filtered) directed into the lumens of the endoscope utilizing direct channel attachments to completely dry the internal channels of the endoscope within a set amount of time. Some cabinets are validated to store the endoscope for a specific period of time without microbial growth.
- Drying Aid: A device used to assist in the drying of the endoscope. HEPA filtration required as a minimum standard.
- Manual (Mechanical) Drying: Drying of channels by manual direction of compressed air into the channels of an endoscope with a compressed air gun.
- Compressed Air: Air that has been compressed to a pressure higher than atmospheric pressure.
- HEPA: High Efficiency Particulate Air is filtered to a minimum of 99.97 % or .3 microns.
- Automated Drying: Using a device or apparatus to direct a specific amount of compressed air for a predetermined amount of time into all the channels of an endoscope to dry the endoscope.
- Instrument Air: As defined by ANSI/ISA S-7.0.01, is controlled for Particulate, Moisture, and hydrocarbons.
- Medical Air: As defined by ISO and ANSI standards is utilized for patient respiration and has minimum and maximum standards for Particulate, Moisture, and Oils as well as oxygen and nitrogen. This type of air is not necessary to be used to dry endoscopes.

Bibliography

- [1] ANSI/AAMI/ISO 11138-1:2017, Sterilization of health care products—Biological indicators—Part 1: General requirements. American National Standard. Association of the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 2017
- [2] ANSI/AAMI/ISO 11140-1:2014, Sterilization of health care products—Chemical indicators—Part 1: General requirements. American National Standard. Association of the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 2014
- [3] ANSI/AAMI/ISO 11607-1:2019, Packaging For Terminally Sterilized Medical Devices Part 1: Requirements For Materials, Sterile Barrier Systems, And Packaging Systems. American National Standard. Association of the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 2019
- [4] ANSI/AAMI/ISO 11607-2:2019, Packaging For Terminally Sterilized Medical Devices Part 2: Validation Requirements For Forming, Sealing And Assembly Processes. American National Standard. Association of the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 2017
- [5] ANSI/AAMI/ISO 14161:2009, Sterilization of health care products—Biological indicators—Guidance for the selection, use, and interpretation of results. American National Standard. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 2009
- [6] ANSI/AAMI/ISO 15882:2008/(R)2013, Sterilization of health care products—Chemical indicators—Guidance for selection, use and interpretation of results. American National Standard. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 2008
- [7] ANSI/AAMI/ISO 17664:2017, Processing of health care products—Information to be provided by the medical device manufacturer for the processing of medical devices. Supersedes ST81. American National Standard. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 2017
- [8] ANSI/AAMI EQ56:2013, *Recommended practice for a medical equipment maintenance program*. American National Standard. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 2013.
- [9] ANSI/AAMI PB70:2012, Liquid barrier performance and classification of protective apparel and drapes intended for use in health care facilities. American National Standard. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 2012
- [10] ANSI/AAMI ST8:2013/(R)2018, *Hospital steam sterilizers*. American National Standard. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 2013
- [11] ANSI/AAMI ST24:1999/(R)2018, Automatic, general purpose ethylene oxide sterilizers and ethylene oxide sterilant sources intended for use in health care facilities. American National Standard. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 1999
- [12] ANSI/AAMI ST41:2008/(R)2018, Ethylene oxide sterilization in health care facilities: Safety and effectiveness. American National Standard. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 2008
- [13] ANSI/AAMI ST55:2016, *Table-top steam sterilizers*. American National Standard. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 2016
- [14] ANSI/AAMI ST58:2013/(R)2018, Chemical sterilization and high-level disinfection in health care facilities. American National Standard. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 2018
- [15] ANSI/AAMI ST65:2008/(R)2018, Processing of reusable surgical textiles for use in health care facilities. American National Standard. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 2008
- [16] ANSI/AAMI ST77:2013/(R)2018, *Containment devices for reusable medical device sterilization.* American National Standard. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 2018



- [17] ANSI/AAMI ST79:2017, Comprehensive guide to steam sterilization and sterility assurance in health care facilities. American National Standard. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington (VA), 2017
- ANSI/AAMI ST90:2017, Processing of health care products—Quality management systems for processing in [18] health care facilities. American National Standard. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation, Arlington (VA), 2017
- [19] AAMI TIR11:2005, Selection and use of protective apparel and surgical drapes in health care facilities. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. Arlington, VA, 2005
- AAMI TIR12:2020, Designing, testing, and labeling reusable medical devices for reprocessing in health care [20] facilities: A quide for medical device manufacturers. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation Technical Information Report. Arlington (VA), 2020
- [21] AAMI TIR30:2011/(R)2016, A compendium of processes, materials, test methods, and acceptance criteria for cleaning reusable medical devices. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation Technical Information Report. Arlington (VA), 2016
- [22] AAMI TIR31:2008. Process challenge devices/test packs for use in health care facilities. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation Technical Information Report, Arlington (VA), 2008
- [23] AAMI TIR34:2014/(R)2021, Water for the reprocessing of medical devices. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation Technical Information Report. Arlington (VA), 2014
- [24] AAMI TIR63:2014/(R)2020. Management of loaned critical and semi-critical that require sterilization or highlevel disinfection. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation Technical Information Report. Arlington (VA), 2014
- [25] AAMI TIR67:2018, Promoting safe practices pertaining to the use of sterilant and disinfectant chemicals in health care facilities. Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation Technical Information Report. Arlington (VA), 2018
- American Public Health Association. Standard methods for the examination of water and waste water. Parts [26] 507 and 508. Washington (DC): APHA, 1976.
- American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE), Endoscope repair by original equipment [27] manufacturers and independent service organizations. Technology Status Evaluation Report, 2003.
- [28] American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE), Colonoscopy preparation. Gastrointestinal Endoscopy. 69(7):1201, 2009
- American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE), Multi-society guideline for reprocessing flexible [29] gastrointestinal endoscopes: 2016 update. Gastrointestinal Endoscopy. 85(2):282-294.e1, 2017
- American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air-Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE). Ventilation for [30] acceptable indoor air quality. Standard 62.1-07. American Society of Heating and Air-Conditioning Engineers, 2007a, Peachtree, GA
- American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air-Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE). ASHRAE handbook. [31] American Society of Heating and Air-Conditioning Engineers, 2007b, Peachtree, GA
- ANSI Z358.1:2009, Emergency eyewash and shower equipment. New York: ANSI, 2009. [32]
- [33] ANSI/ASHRAE 55-2013, Thermal environmental conditions for human occupancy. American Society of Heating and Air-Conditioning Engineers, 2013, Peachtree, GA
- ANSI/ASHRAE/ASHE 170-2017, Ventilation of health care facilities. American Society of Heating and Air-[34] Conditioning Engineers, 2017, Peachtree, GA
- [35] Association of periOperative Registered Nurses (AORN). Guideline for manual chemical high-Level disinfection In: Guidelines for Perioperative Practice. Denver: AORN, 2019a



IGHTSLINK4)

- [36] Association of periOperative Registered Nurses (AORN). Guideline for cleaning and care of surgical instruments. *In: Guidelines for Perioperative Practice*. Denver: AORN, 2018a
- [37] Association of periOperative Registered Nurses (AORN). Guideline for environmental cleaning. *In: Guidelines for Perioperative Practice*. Denver: AORN, 2018b
- [38] Association of periOperative Registered Nurses (AORN). Guideline for hand hygiene. *In: Guidelines for Perioperative Practice*. Denver: AORN, 2018c
- [39] Association of periOperative Registered Nurses (AORN). Guideline for surgical attire. *In: Guidelines for Perioperative Practice*. Denver: AORN, 2018d
- [40] Association of periOperative Registered Nurses (AORN). Guideline for cleaning and processing flexible endoscopes and endoscope accessories. *In: Guidelines for Perioperative Practice*. Denver: AORN, 2018e
- [41] Association of periOperative Registered Nurses (AORN). Guideline for medical device and product evaluation. In: Guidelines for Perioperative Practice. Denver: AORN, 2018f
- [42] Association of periOperative Registered Nurses (AORN). 2018 Poster #86; Kovach S; Development of Enhanced Visual Inspection Products for CSSD. AORN, 2018
- [43] Association of periOperative Registered Nurses (AORN). AORN guideline for processing flexible endoscopes. *Revised February 2016 for publication in Guidelines for Perioperative Practice*, 2016
- [44] ASTM F3275-19, Standard Guide for Using a Force Tester to Evaluate Performance of a Brush Part Designed to Clean the Internal Channel of a Medical Device
- [45] ASTM F3276-19, Standard Guide for Using a Force Tester to Evaluate the Performance of a Brush Part Designed to Clean the External Surface of a Medical Device
- [46] CAN/CSA-Z314-18, Canadian medical device reprocessing. Published by CSA Group in 2018, 375 pages SKU: 2425924, 2018
- [47] EN 16442:2015, Controlled environment storage cabinet for processed thermolabile endoscopes. 2015
- [48] ISO 8996:2004, Ergonomics of the thermal environment determination of metabolic rate. International Standards Organization, 2004
- [49] ISO 9920:2007, Ergonomics of the thermal environment estimation of thermal insulation and water vapour resistance of a clothing ensemble. International Standards Organization, 2007
- [50] Aleccia J. Undisclosed superbug sickened dozens at Virginia Mason. Seattle Times, 21-Jan-2015
- [51] Alfa MJ, Singh H, Nugent Z, Duerksen D, Schultz G, Reidy C, DeGagne P, Olson N. Sterile reverse osmosis water combined with friction are optimal for channel and lever cavity sample collection of flexible duodenoscopes. Front Med (Lausanne). 4:191, 7 November 2017
- [52] Alfa MJ, Ribeiro MM, da Costa Luciano C, et al. A novel polytetrafluoroethylene-channel model, which simulates low levels of culturable bacteria in buildup biofilm after repeated endoscope reprocessing. Gastrointest Endosc. 86(3):442-451.e441, 2017
- [53] Alfa MJ, Sitter DL. In-hospital evaluation of ortho-phthalaldehyde as a high-level disinfectant for flexible endoscopes. J Hosp Infect. 26(1):15-26, 1994
- [54] Alfa, M.J., Sitter, D.L. In-hospital evaluation of contamination of duodenoscopes: a quantitative assessment of the effect of drying. J Hosp Infect. 19(2):89-98, 1991
- [55] Alfa M, Iram F, Olson N. The adenosine triphosphate test is a rapid and reliable audit tool to assess manual cleaning adequacy of flexible endoscope channels. Am J Infect Control. 41(3):249-253, 2013
- [56] Alfa MJ, Olson N, Murray B. Comparison of clinically relevant benchmarks and channel sampling methods used to assess manual cleaning compliance for flexible gastrointestinal endoscopes. Am J Infect Control. 42(1):e1-e5, 2014

157

© 2022 Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation
ANSI/AAMI ST91:2021



- [57] Alfa MJ, Olson N, DeGagne P, Jackson M. A survey of reprocessing methods, residual viable bioburden, and soil levels in patient-ready endoscopic retrograde choliangiopancreatography duodenoscopes used in Canadian centers. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 23(4):198-206, 2002
- Alfa MJ, Olson N, DeGange P, Simmer PJ. Development and validation of rapid use scope tests to determine [58] the efficacy of manual cleaning for flexible endoscope channels. Am J Infect Control. 40(9):860-865, 2012
- Alfa MJ, Olson N, Murray BL. Comparison of clinically relevant benchmarks and channel sampling methods [59] used to assess manual cleaning compliance for flexible gastrointestinal endoscopes. Am J Infect Control. 42(1):e1-e5, 2014
- [60] Alfa M, Fatima I, Olson N. The adenosine triphosphate test is a rapid and reliable audit tool to assess manual cleaning adequacy of flexible endoscope channels. Am J Infect Control. 41(3):249-253, 2013
- [61] Alfa M, Fatima I, Olson N. Validation of adenosine triphosphate to audit manual cleaning of flexible endoscope channels. Am J Infect Control. 41(3):245-248, 2013
- [62] Alfa MJ, Singh H, Nugent Z, et al. Simulated-use polytetrafluorethylene biofilm model: repeated rounds of complete reprocessing lead to accumulation of organic debris and viable bacteria. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 38(11):1284-1290, 2017
- [63] Alfa MJ, Singh H. Impact of wet storage and other factors on biofilm formation and contamination of patientready endoscopes: a narrative review. Gastrointest Endosc. 91(2): 236-247, 2020
- [64] Alipour N, Karagoz A, Taner A, et al. Outbreak of hospital infection from biofilm-embedded pan drug-resistant Pseudomonas aeroginosa, due to a contaminated bronchoscope. J Prev Med. 2(2). doi: 10.21767/2572-5483.100014.2017
- [65] Allen JI. Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection during endoscopy: Reply. Gastroenterology. 93:1451, 1987
- Allen JI, Allen MO, Olson MM, Gerding DN, Shanholtzer CJ, Meier PB, Vennes JA, Silvis SE. Pseudomonas [66] infection of the biliary system resulting from use of a contaminated endoscope. Gastroenterology. 92(3):759-763, 1987
- Almario CV, May FP, Shaheen NJ, et al. Cost utility of competing strategies to prevent endoscopic transmission [67] of carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae. Am J Gastroenterol. 110(12):1666-1674, 2015
- Alvarado CJ, Reichelderfer M. APIC guideline for infection prevention and control in flexible endoscopy. Am J [68] Infect Control. 28(2):138-155, 2000
- [69] Alvarado CJ, Stolz SM, Maki DG. Nosocomial infections from contaminated endoscopes: a flawed automated endoscope washer. An investigation using molecular epidemiology. Am J Med. 91:272S-280S, 1991
- American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists. 2022 TLVs® and BEIs®: Threshold limit values [70] for chemical substances and physical agents & biological exposure indices. Cincinnati (OH): ACGIH®, 2022
- [71] Armellino D, Cifu K, Wallace M, et al. Implementation of remote video auditing with feedback and compliance for manual-cleaning protocols of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography endoscopes. Am J Infect Control. 46(5):594-596, 2018
- Aumeran C, Poincloux L, Souweine B, et al. Multidrug-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae outbreak after [72] endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. Endoscopy. 42(11):957-9, 2010
- [73] Aumeran C, Thiberta E, Chapellea FA, Hennequinc C, Lesensb O, and Traoréa O. Assessment on experimental bacterial biofilms and in clinical practice of the efficacy of sampling solutions for microbiological testing of endoscopes. J Clin Microbiol. 50(3):938-942, 2012
- [74] Bajolet O, et al. Gastroscopy-associated transmission of extended spectrum beta-lactamase producing Pseudomonas aeruginosa. J Hop Infect. 83(4):341-3, 2013
- [75] Ballantyne B. Toxicology of glutaraldehyde: Review of studies and human health effects. Danbury (CT): Union Carbide, 1995

IGHTSLINKA)

- [76] Ballantyne B, Jordan SL. Toxicological, medical and industrial hygiene aspects of glutaraldehyde with particular reference to its biocidal use in cold sterilization procedures. J Appl Toxicol. 21(2):131-151, 2001
- [77] Banerjee S, Shen B, Nelson DB, Lichtenstein DR, Baron TH, et al. *Infection control during GI endoscopy*. American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE) Standards of Practice Committee. Gastrointest Endosc. 67(6):781-90, 2008
- [78] Barakat MT, Huang RJ, Banerjee S. Comparison of automated and manual drying in the elimination of residual endoscope working channel fluid after reprocessing. GIE Journal. 89(1):124-132.e2, 2019
- [79] Barakat MT, Girotra M, Huang RJ, Banerjee S. Scoping the scope: endoscopic evaluation of endoscope working channels with a new high-resolution inspection endoscope (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 88(4):601-611, 2018
- [80] Barakat MT, Huang RJ, Banerjee S. Simethicone is retained in endoscopes despite reprocessing: impact of its use on working channel fluid retention and adenosine triphosphate bioluminescence values (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 89(1):115-123, 2019
- [81] Barbee SL, Weber DJ, Sobsey MD, Rutala WA. Inactivation of cryptosporidium parvum oocyst infectivity by disinfection and sterilization processes. Gastrointest Endosc. 49(5):605-611, 1999
- [82] Bartles RL, Leggett JE, Hove S, et al. A randomized trial of single versus double high-level disinfection of duodenoscopes and linear echoendoscopes using standard automated reprocessing. Gastrointest Endosc. 88(2):306-313, 2018
- [83] Bauman V. Seattle Children's reports cleaning lapse left some patients at risk. Puget Sound Business Journal. 2014. Accessed 2019. <u>http://www.bizjournals.com/seattle/blog/health-care-inc/2014/01/roughly-100-seattlechildrens.html</u>
- [84] Baumgardner CA, et al. Effects of nail polish on microbial growth on fingernails. AORN J. 58(1):84–88, 1993
- [85] Beauchamp RO Jr, St. Clair MB, Fennell TR, et al. *A critical review of the toxicology of glutaraldehyde.* Crit Rev Toxicol. 22(3-4):143-74, 1992
- [86] Becker S. Becker's GI & Endoscopy. 35 Statistics about GI Endoscopy. 28 September 2010
- [87] Beilenhoff U et al. Reprocessing in GI endoscopy: *ESGE–ESGENA Position Statement Update 2018.* Endoscopy. 50:1205–1234, 2018
- [88] Beilenhoff U et al. Prevention of multidrug-resistant infections from contaminated duodenoscopes: *ESGE– ESGENA Position Statement*. Endoscopy. 49(11):1098-1106, 2017
- [89] Beilenhoff U et al. and the ESGE Guideline Committee. ESGE-ESGENA guideline for quality assurance in reprocessing: Microbiological surveillance testing in endoscopy. Endoscopy. 39:175-181, 2007
- [90] Benedict M, Devereaux E, Athan R, Brown R, Greig SM, Jones DM, Bailey FK, Wallis DJ, Singh R. Australian infection control in endoscopy consensus statements on carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae. First published: 21 October 2018 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jgh.14511</u>
- [91] Benmassaoud A, Parent J. Canadian Association of Gastroenterology Position Statement on the Impact of Simethicone on Endoscope Reprocessing. J Can Association Gastroenterology. 1(1):40-42, 2018
- [92] Biering H. The impact of disinfectant substances on residue formation on the surfaces of flexible endoscopes. Central Service. b22(2):99-101, 2014
- [93] Bisset L, Cossart YE, Selby W, West R, Catterson D, O'Hara K, Vickery K. A prospective study of the efficacy of routine decontamination for gastrointestinal endoscopes and the risk factors for failure. Am J Infect Control. 34(5):274, 2006
- [94] Block SS (ed.). *Disinfection, sterilization and preservation*. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins, 2001

© 2022 Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation
ANSI/AAMI ST91:2021

RIGHTSLINK

- [95] Bommarito M, Thornhill G, Morse D. Multi-site field study evaluating the effectiveness of manual cleaning of the flexible endoscopes with an ATP detection system. Am J Infect Control. 41(6):S24, 2013
- [96] Borick PM, Dondershine FH, Chandler VL. Alkalinized glutaraldehyde, a new antimicrobial agent. J Pharm Sci. 53(10):1273-1275, 1964
- [97] Bourigault C, et. Al. Duodenoscopy: An amplifier of cross-contamination during a CRE outbreak in a gastroenterology pathway. J Hosp Infect. 99(4):422-426, 2018
- [98] British Society of Gastroenterology. Guidelines for Decontamination of Equipment for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy. London: BSG: 2013
- Buss AJ. Endoscope disinfection and its pitfalls—requirement for retrograde surveillance cultures. Endoscopy. [99] 40(4):327-332, 2008
- California Health and Human Services Agency. Highland Hospital Statement of Deficiencies and Plan of [100] Correction. 16 March 2017
- [101] Carbonne A. Thiolet JM. Fortineau N. et al. Control of a multi-hospital outbreak of CPC-producing klebsiella pneumonia type 3 in France, Sept-Oct 2009. Euro Surveill. 15(48):1-6, 2010
- [102] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Notes from the field: New Delhi metallo-β-lactamaseproducing Escherichia coli associated with endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. 3 January 2014
- [103] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). National Hospital Discharge Survey: 2009 table, procedures by selected patient characteristics. Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/insurg.htm. Accessed November 1, 2013
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Basic Infection Control and Prevention Plan for Outpatient [104] Oncology Settings. Atlanta, GA. CDC, 2011
- [105] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Guideline for hand hygiene in health-care settings: Recommendations of the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee and the HICPAC/SHEA/APIC/IDSA Hand Hygiene Task Force. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR), 51(RR16):1-44, 2002
- [106] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Guidelines for isolation precautions: Preventing transmission of infectious agents in healthcare settings. Atlanta, GA. CDC, 2007
- [107] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC). Guideline for disinfection and sterilization in healthcare facilities. Atlanta, GA. CDC, 2008
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory [108] Committee (HICPAC). Essential elements of a reprocessing program for flexible endoscopes. Atlanta, GA. CDC, 2017. https://www.cdc.gov/hicpac/recommendations/flexible-endoscope-reprocessing.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory [109] Committee. Essential Elements of a Reprocessing Program for Flexible Endoscopes-The Recommendations of the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC). Atlanta, GA, 2016. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/hicpac/pdf/flexible-endoscope-reprocessing.pdf
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention/FDA Health Update About the Immediate Need for Healthcare [110] Facilities to Review Procedures for Cleaning, Disinfection, and Sterilizing Reusable Medical Devices [press release]. 2 October 2015
- [111] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Immediate Need for Healthcare Facilities to Review Procedures for Cleaning, Disinfecting, and Sterilizing Reusable Medical Devices. Health Alert Network. (CDCHAN-00382), 2015
- [112] Chan-Yeung M, et al. Occupational asthma in a technologist exposed to glutaraldehyde. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 91(5):974-78, 1993

160

IGHTSLINKA)

- [113] Chang CL, et al. Outbreak of ertapenem-resistant Enterobacter cloacae urinary tract infection due to a contaminated ureteroscope. J Hosp Infect. 85(2):118-24, 2013
- [114] Chang WK, Liu TC, Liu TL, Peng CL, Wang HP. Enhanced manual cleaning efficacy of duodenoscope in endoscopy units: results of a multicenter comprehensive quality control program. Am J Infect Control. 47(10):1233-1239, 2019
- [115] Chervenak M. Controlling exposure to glutaraldehyde HLD solutions. Managing Infect Control. 2(1):58, 2002
- [116] Chervenak M. The toxicology of glutaraldehyde: Glutaraldehyde and cancer. Managing Infect Control. 3(6):72, 2003
- [117] Chobin N. *The Basics of Flexible Endoscope Reprocessing. 2nd edition*. Lebanon (NJ): Sterile Processing University, 2016
- [118] Cholley AC, Traore O, Hennequin C, Aumeran C. Klebsiella pneumoniae survival and regrowth in endoscope channel biofilm exposed to glutaraldehyde and desiccation. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 39(6):1129-1136, 2020
- [119] Classen DC, Jacobson JA, Burke JP, Jacobson JT, Evans RS. *Serious Pseudomonas infections associated with endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography*. Am J Med. 84(3 Pt 2):590-596, 1988
- [120] CMS. Cedars-Sinai Medical Center Statement of Deficiencies and Plan of Correction, 2015a. 26 March 2015
- [121] CMS. Ronald Reagan UCLA Medical Center Statement of Deficiencies and Plan of Correction, 2015b. 5 March 2015
- [122] CMS. Virginia Mason Medical Center Case file. In: Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 2015c. ed2015.
- [123] CMS. Advocate Lutheran General Hospital CMS-2567 Statement of Deficiencies and Plan for Correction. *In: Department of Health and Human Services*, ed2014
- [124] CMS. Virginia Mason Medical Center Statement of Deficiencies and Plan of Correction. Silver Springs, MD: 20 November 2014
- [125] Costa DM, Lopes LK, Hu H, Tipple AFV, Vickery K. Alcohol fixation of bacteria to surgical instruments increases cleaning difficulty and may contribute to sterilization inefficacy. Am J Infect Control, 8 June 2017; DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2017.04.286 e81–e86. Accessed <u>https://www.ajicjournal.org/article/S0196-6553(17)30632-6/fulltext</u>, 2017
- [126] Coulon C, Collignon A, McDonnell G, Thomas V. Resistance of acanthameoba cysts to disinfection treatments used in health care settings. J Clin Microbiol. 48(8):2689-2697, 2010
- [127] Cowen A, Jones D, Wardle E, editors. *Infection control in gastrointestinal endoscopy, 2nd ed.* Sydney (Australia): Gastroenterological Society of Australia; 2003
- [128] Cullen KA, Hall MJ, Golosinsky A. *Ambulatory surgery in the United States, 2006.* Natl Health Stat Rep;11:1-25, 2019
- [129] De Wolfe TJ, Safdar N, Meller M, et al. A prospective, randomized comparison of duodenoscope reprocessing surveillance methods. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019(11):1-8, 2019
- [130] DeGrott-Kosolcharoen J, and Jones JM. *Permeability of latex and vinyl gloves to water and blood*. Am J Infect Control. 17(4):196-201, 1989
- [131] Department of Veterans Affairs. Reprocessing Flexible Endoscopes, Memorandum dated 25-Nov-2014.
- [132] Di Stefano F, Siriruttanapruk S, McCoach J, et al. *Glutaraldehyde: An occupational hazard in the hospital setting.* Allergy. 54(10):1105-1109, 1999
- [133] DiazGranados CA et al. Outbreak of pseudomonas aeruginosa infection associated with contamination of a flexible bronchoscope. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 30(6):550-555, 2009

Downloaded by on January 20, 2023 Single-user license only. Copying, networking and distribution prohibited. Copyright AAMI

- [134] Dickson A, et al. Possible pseudotransmission of Enterobacter cloacae associated with an endobronchial ultrasound scope. Am Journal Infect Control. 46(11):1296-1298, 2018
- [135] Dirlam-Langley AM, et al. Reported gastrointestinal endoscope reprocessing lapses: The tip of the iceberg. Am J Infect Control. 41(12):1188–1194, 2013
- [136] Donlan RM. Biofilms: Microbial life on surfaces. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 8(9):881-890, 2012
- Dow Chemical Company. Spills, deactivation and disposal of glutaraldehyde. Midland (MI): Dow Chemical [137] Company, 2003.
- [138] Drosnock M. Endoscope Reprocessing: Avoiding Complacency. http://www.endonurse.com. Posted on 21 August 2014
- Drosnock, M. Use of the Flexible Inspection Scope (FIS) for Inspection of Flexible Endoscopes and Other [139] Medical Devices. Healthmark white paper. 2017
- Drucker R. Voluntary Recall: Infants' Mylicon Gas Relief Dye Free Nonstaining Drops. NEJM Journal Watch. [140] https://www.iwatch.org/pa200811190000001/2008/11/19/voluntary-recall-infants-mylicon-gas-relief-dye. Published 19 November 2008
- Durante L, Zulty JC, Israel E, et al. Investigation of an outbreak of bloody diarrhea: Association with endoscopic [141] cleaning solution and demonstration of lesions in an animal model. Am J Med. 92(5):476-480, 1992
- [142] ECRI Institute. Executive Brief. Top 10 Patient Safety Concerns for Healthcare Organization, April 2016
- Emmrich M. Bloß R. Martiny H. Glutaraldehvde (GA) residues in flexible endoscopes. Part II. Analytical method [143] and factors for detection of GA residues. Central Service. 22(2):84-87, 2014
- England D, Houseman J, Horn L, et al. Documented transmission of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-[144] producing from patient to gastroscope. ICHE. 37(4):493-494, 2016
- [145] Epstein L, Hunter JC, Arwady MA, et al. New Delhi Metallo-beta-Lactamase-Producing Carbapenem-resistant Escherichia coli associated with exposure to duodenoscopes. JAMA. 312(14):1447-1455, 2014
- Facility Guidelines Institute. Guidelines for Design and Construction of Health Care Facilities. Chicago: FGI, [146] 2018
- Favero M, and Bond W. Chemical disinfection of medical surgical material. In: Block SS. (ed.). Disinfection, [147] sterilization, and preservation. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins, pp. 881-917, 2001
- [148] Field EA, McGowan P, Pearce PK, Martin MV. Rings and watches: should they be removed prior to operative dental procedures? J Dent. 24(1-2):65-69, 1996
- Fisher CW, Fiorello A, Shaffer D, Jackson M, McDonnell GE. Aldehyde-resistant mycobacteria bacteria [149] associated with the use of endoscope reprocessing systems. Am J Infect Control. 40(9):880-882, 2012
- [150] Flores R. A Rapid and Reproducible Assay for Quantitative Estimation of Proteins using Bromophenol Blue. Analytical biochemistry. 88(2):605-611, 1978
- Fowler JF. Allergic contact dermatitis from glutaraldehyde exposure. J Occup Med. 31(10):852-53, 1989 [151]
- Fraser TG, Reiner S, Malczynski M, et al. Multidrug resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa cholangitis after [152] endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography: failure of routine endoscope cultures to prevent an outbreak. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 25(10):856-859, 2004
- Fraser VJ, Jones M, Murray PR, et al. Contamination of flexible fiberoptic bronchoscopes with Mycobacterium [153] chelonae linked to an automated bronchoscope disinfection machine. Am Rev Respir Dis. 145(4 Pt 1):853-5, 1992
- [154] Freer PC, Novy FG. On the formation, decomposition and germicidal action of benzoylacetyl and diacetyl peroxides. Am J Chem. 27:161-93, 1902

162

NIGHTSLINKA)

- [155] FUJIFILM Medical Systems U.S.A. Inc. Use of simethicone anti-gas products. Wayne, NJ: 2013
- [156] Fujita Y, Mori I, Kitano S. Color Reaction between Pyrogallol Red- Molybdenum (VI) Complex and Protein. Jstage. Analytical chemistry. 32:E379-E386, 1983
- [157] Fushimi R, Takashina M, Yoshikawa H, et al. Comparison of adenosine triphosphate, microbiological load, and residual protein as indicators for assessing the cleanliness of flexible gastrointestinal endoscopes. Am J Infect Control. 41(2):161-164, 2013
- [158] Galdys AL, Marsh JW, Delgado E, et al. Bronchoscope-associated clusters of multidrug-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa and carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 40(1):40-46, 2019
- [159] Gannon PFG, Bright P, Campbell M, et al. Occupational asthma due to glutaraldehyde and formaldehyde in endoscopy and x-ray departments. Thorax. 50(2):156-159, 1995
- [160] Garner JS, and Healthcare Infection Control Practice Advisory Committee (HICPAC). *Guideline for isolation precautions in hospitals*. Am J Infec Control. 24:24–52, 1996
- [161] Gastroenterology and Urology Devices Panel Meeting May 14-15, 2015; http://www.fda.gov/AdvisoryCommittees/CommitteesMeetingMaterials/MedicalDevices/MedicalDevicesAdvis oryCommittee/Gastroenterology-UrologyDevicesPanel/ucm445590.htm US, 2015
- [162] Geissler UC, Stith WJ, Jewett KJ. Method for the determination of hemoglobin in trace amounts. US Patent 4077772A, 1977
- [163] Gerding DN, Peterson LR, Vennes JA, et al. Cleaning and disinfection of fiberoptic endoscopes: evaluation of glutaraldehyde exposure time and forced-air drying. Gastroenterology. 83(3):613-618, 1982
- [164] Goldstine S. Endoscopy storage: Preventing distal tip protector contamination. Gastroenterol Nurs. 28(1):45-46, 2005
- [165] Gonzalez-Candelas F, Guiral S, Carbo R, et al. Patient-to-patient transmission of hepatitis C virus (HCV) during colonoscopy diagnosis. Virol J. 7:217, 2010
- [166] Graves PB, Twomey CL. Surgical hand antisepsis: an evidence-based review. Perioperative Nursing Clinics. 1(3):235-246, 2006
- [167] Gregory AW, Schaalje B, Smart JD, Robison RA. The mycobactericidal efficacy of ortho-phthalaldehyde and the comparative resistances of Mycobacterium bovis, Mycobacterium terrae, and Mycobacterium chelonae. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 20(5):324-330, 1999
- [168] Guimarães T, Chimara E, do Prado GVB, et al. Pseudooutbreak of rapidly growing mycobacteria due to Mycobacterium abscessus subsp bolletii in a digestive and respiratory endoscopy unit caused by the same clone as that of a countrywide outbreak. Am J Infect Control. 44(11):e221-e226, 2016
- [169] Guy M, et al. Outbreak of pulmonary Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Stenotrophomonas maltophilia infections related to contaminated bronchoscopy suction valves. Lyon France. Euro Surveill 2014: 2016:21
- [170] Haluska and Kiszie V. Forbes Regional Hospital and West Penn Allegheny Health, GD 05-9134. The Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania 2005
- [171] Healthmark, Inc. Drosnock, MA, MS, CIC, CFER, RM (NRCM), FAPIC. 2018. Use of the Flexible Inspection Scope (FIS) for Inspection of Flexible Endoscopes and Other Instruments. Flexible Inspection Scope White Paper, dated August 29, 2018
- [172] Herve R, Keevil C. Current limitations about the cleaning of luminal endoscopes. J Hosp Infect. 83(1):22-29, 2013
- [173] Herve RC, Keevil CW. Persistent residual contamination in endoscope channels; a fluorescence epimicroscopy study. Endoscopy. 48(7):609-616, 2016

- [174] Holodny M, Oda G, Schirmer P, et al. Results from a large-scale epidemiologic look-back investigation of improperly reprocessed endoscopy equipment. ICHE. 33(7):649–656, 2012
- [175] Horwitz W, Latimer G, Jr (eds.). AOAC official methods of analysis. 18th ed. Gaithersburg (MD): AOAC International, 2010
- [176] Hoyt T, Schiavon S, Piccioli A, Moon D, and Steinfeld K. CBE Thermal Comfort Tool. Center for the Built Environment, University of California Berkeley, 2013. <u>https://comfort.cbe.berkeley.edu/</u> Accessed on 24 May 2021
- [177] Humphries RM, Yang S, Kim S, et al. Duodenoscope-related outbreak of a carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae identified using advanced molecular diagnostics. Clin Infect Dis. 65(7):1159-1166, 2017
- [178] IAHCSMM Annual meeting 2018; Poster ; S. Kovach ; How to get to Visual Clean site and surface inspection, 2018
- [179] International Agency for Research on Cancer. *IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans*. Lyon (France): IARC World Health Organization, 2010
- [180] International Association of Healthcare Central Service Materiel Management (IAHCSMM). *Central service technical manual*. 8th ed. Chicago: IAHCSMM, 2016
- [181] International Association of Healthcare Central Service Materiel Management (IAHCSMM). *Endoscope reprocessing manual*. 1st ed. Chicago: IAHCSMM, 2017
- [182] Jakobsen LK. *Quantitative Determination of Blood Glucose Using Glucose Oxidase and Peroxidase.* Scandinavian Journal of Clinical and Laboratory Investigation. 12(1):76-79, 1960
- [183] Jeanes A, Green J. Nail art: A review of current infection control issues. J Hosp Infect. 49(2):139-142, 2001
- [184] Jimeno A, Alcalde MM, Ortiz M, Rodriguez A, Alcaraz B, Vera F. *Outbreak of urinary tract infections by Salmonella spp. after cystoscopic manipulation.* Actas Urol Esp. 40(10):646-649, 2016
- [185] Johnston ER, Habib-Bein N, Dueker JM, Quiroz B, Corsaro E, Ambrogio M, Kingsley M, Papachristou GI, Kreiss C, Khalid A. Risk of bacterial exposure to the endoscopist's face during endoscopy. Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy. 89(4):818-824, 2019
- [186] Joint Commission. Improperly sterilized or HLD equipment a growing problem. *Quality Safety*. Issue 33. May 2017
- [187] Joint Commission. 4-1-1 on survey enhancements: New scoring revisions of IC.02.02.01. *The Joint Commission* Online, 2018. https://www.jointcommission.org/issues/article.aspx?Article=G/xUdh/VKujxJ12FY7q2i0ousSBZsyucrGSdk+H j108=. Published 5 September 2018
- [188] Joint Commission. Root Cause Analysis in Health Care: Tools and Techniques. Chicago: The Joint Commission, 2015. Available at: <u>https://www.jcrinc.com/assets/1/14/EBRCA15Sample.pdf</u>. Accessed 8 March 2019
- [189] Joint Commission. 2019 Comprehensive accreditation manual for hospitals: *The official handbook (CAMH)*. Chicago: Joint Commission, 2018
- [190] Jordan SL. The correct use of glutaraldehyde in the healthcare environment. Gastroenterol Nurs. 18(4):143-145, 1995
- [191] Jordan SL, Stowers MF, Trawick EG, Theis AB. *Glutaraldehyde permeation: Choosing the proper glove*. Am J Infect Control. 24(2):67-69, 1996
- [192] Jørgensen SB, Bojer MS, Boll EJ, et al. Heat-resistant, extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae in endoscope-mediated outbreak. J Hosp Infect. 93(1):57-62, 2016
- [193] Joshi SN, Rosenfeld S. Two cases of ortho-phthalaldehyde induced allergic reactions in patients undergoing surveillance cystoscopy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 113(2), Supplement 1, Abstract 1141:S311, 2004

- [194] Jousset A B, et. Al. 4.5 years within- patient evolution of a colistin resistant KPC-producing Klebsiella puenumaoniae ST258. Clin Infec Dis. 67(9):1388-1394, 2018
- [195] Kenters N, Huijskens EGW, Meier C, Voss A. *Infectious diseases linked to cross-contamination of flexible endoscopes*. Endosc Int Open. 3(4):E259–E265, 2015
- [196] Khan F, Mukhtar S, Marsh H, et al. Evaluation of the pressure leak test in increasing the lifespan of flexible ureteroscopes. Int J Clin Pract. 67(10):1040-1043, 2013
- [197] Kimmery, M, et al. ASGE technology assessment position paper: Transmission of infection by gastrointestinal endoscopy. Gasteroin Endoscop. 39:885–888, 1993
- [198] Kohli DR, Grys TE, Pannala R. Eliminating duodenoscope-associated transmission of Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE): in search of an optimal strategy. Dig Dis Sci. 62(11):2961-2963, 2017
- [199] Kovach S, Balch W, Drosnock MA. Enhanced Visual Inspection of Medical Devices. Zentr Steril. 26(2):156-164, 2018
- [200] Kovaleva J. Is bacteriologic surveillance in endoscope reprocessing stringent enough? Endoscopy. 41(10):913-916, 2009
- [201] Kovaleva J. Endoscope drying and its pitfalls. Journal of Hospital Infection. 97(4):319-328, 2017
- [202] Kovaleva J, Frans T, Peters M, Degener JE. *Transmission of infection by flexible gastrointestinal endoscopy and bronchoscopy*. Clin Microbiol Rev. 26(2):231-254, 2013
- [203] Kumarage J, Khonyongwa K, Khan A, Desai N, Hoffman P, Taori SK. Transmission of MDR Pseudomonas aeruginosa between two flexible ureteroscopes and an outbreak of urinary tract infection: the fragility of endoscope decontamination. J Hosp Infect. 102(1):89-94, 2019
- [204] Kutyla M, O'Connor S, Gurusamy SR, Gururatsakal M, Gould K, Whaley A, et al. Influence of simethicone added to the rinse water during colonoscopies on polyp detection rates: Results of an unintended cohort study. Digestion. 98(4):217-221, 2018
- [205] Leffler D, Kheraj R, Garud S, et al. The incidence and cost of unexpected hospital use after scheduled outpatient endoscopy. Arch Intern Med. 170(19):1752-1757, 2010
- [206] Liem HH, Cardenas F, Tavassoli M, Poh-Fitzpatrick, Muller-Eberhard U. Quantitative Determination of Hemoglobin and Cytochemical Staining for Peroxidase using 3,3',5,5'-Tetramethylbenzidine dihydrochloride, a safe substitute for benzidine. Analytical Biochemistry. 98(2):388-393, 1979
- [207] Major Pharmaceuticals. Urgent: Drug Recall Major Infants' Gas Relief Drops. https://www.smithdrug.com/uploads/recalls/Infants Gas Relief Drops.pdf. Published 19 September 2019
- [208] Mamula P, Adler DG, et al. ASGE Technology Assessment Committee: Colonoscopy preparation. Gastrointest Endosc. 69(7):1201-1209, 2009
- [209] McCool S, et al. Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE) Klebsiella pneumonia (KP) Cluster Analysis Associated with GI Scopes with Elevator Channel. University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Pittsburgh, PA 2012 (http://www.myendosite.com/articles/UPMC1.pdf).
- [210] McDonnell GE. Antisepsis, disinfection, and sterilization: Types, action, and resistance. ASM Press, Washington, 2007
- [211] McFeeters S. Baystate Noble Hospital alerts 293 colonoscopy patients to 'small risk' of infection due to improper disinfection. *Daily Hampshire Gazette*. Northampton, MA. 2016. Accessed 2019. https://www.gazettenet.com/Archives/2016/01/colonoscopies-hg-012316?print=true
- [212] Minnesota Department of Health. Hennepin County Medical Center Investigative Report and CMS-2567. In: Office of Health Facility Complaints, ed2010
- [213] Muscarella, LF. Inconsistencies in endoscope-reprocessing and infection-control guidelines: The importance of endoscope drying. Am J Gastroenterol. 101(9):2147-2154, 2006

165

© 2022 Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation
ANSI/AAMI ST91:2021



- [214] Naryzhny I, Silas D, Chi K. Impact of Ethylene Oxide Gas Sterilization of Duodenoscopes after a Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacteriaceae Outbreak. Gastrointestinal Endoscopy. 84(2):259-62, 2016
- [215] National Fire Protection Association. NFPA 13-2022, *Standard for the Installation of Sprinkler Systems*. Quincy, Massachusetts. 2022
- [216] National Fire Protection Association. NFPA 99-2018, Health care facilities code. Quincy, Massachusetts. 2018
- [217] National Institutes of Health. The Burden of Digestive Diseases in the United States. US Government Printing Office; *NIH Publication No. 09-6443*, 2008
- [218] National Research Council. *Acute exposure guidelines for selected airborne chemicals.* Volume 8. Washington (DC): National Research Council, 2010
- [219] Nayebzadeh A. The effect of work practices on personal exposure to glutaraldehyde among health care workers. Ind Health. 45(2):289-295, 2007
- [220] Nelson DB and Muscarella LF. Current issues in endoscope reprocessing and infection control during gastrointestinal endoscopy. R World J Gastroenterol. 12(25):3953-3964, 2006
- [221] Nerandzic M, Antloga K, Litto C, Robinson R. Efficacy of flexible endoscope drying using novel endoscope test articles that allow direct visualization of the internal channel systems. Am J Infect Control. 49(5):614-621, 2021
- [222] Neves MS, Gomes da Silva M, Ventura GM, Cortes PB, Duarte RS, de Souza HS. *Effectiveness of current disinfection procedures against biofilm on contaminated GI endoscopes*. Gastrointest Endosc. 83(5):944-953, 2016
- [223] New Jersey Department of Health and Senior Services. *Hazardous Substance Fact Sheet*. Peroxyacetic Acid. October 2004. Available at: http://nj.gov/health/eoh/rtkweb/documents/fs/1482.pdf. Accessed March 10, 2019.
- [224] O'Horo JC, Farrell A, Sohail MR, Safdar N. *Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae and endoscopy: An evolving threat.* Am J Infect Control. 44(9):1032-1036, 2016
- [225] Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). About Work/Rest Schedules. Available at: <u>https://www.osha.gov/SLTC/heatillness/heat_index/work_rest_schedules.html</u>. Accessed 2 March 2019
- [226] Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). Access to employee exposure and medical records. *Code of Federal Regulations, Title 29, Part 1910.20*
- [227] Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). Eye and face protection. *Code of Federal Regulations, Title 29, Part 1910.133*
- [228] Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). Medical services and first aid. *Code of Federal Regulations, Title 29, Part 1910.151*
- [229] Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). Toxic and hazardous substances. *Code of Federal Regulations, Title 29, Part 1910.1000*
- [230] Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). Hazard communication. *Code of Federal Regulations, Title 29, Part 1910.1200[f]*[5]
- [231] Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). Occupational exposure to blood-borne pathogens. *Code of Federal Regulations, Title 29, Part 1910.1030*
- [232] Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). Occupational exposure to ethylene oxide. *Code of Federal Regulations, Title 29, Part 1910.1047*
- [233] Ofstead and Associates. Residual contaminaton found on endoscopes in an ambulatory surgery center. Research poster displayed at AORN 2016. <u>http://www.ofsteadinsights.com//wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/Ofstead_AORN_2016_poster_SUBMITTED.pdf</u>
- [234] Ofstead CL, Hopkins KM, Quick MR, Brooks KB, Eiland JE, Wetzler HP. A systematic review of disposable sheath use during flexible endoscopy. AORN J. 109(6):757-771, 2019



- [235] Ofstead CL, Wetzler HP, Doyle EM, et al. Persistent contamination on colonoscopes and gastroscopes detected by biologic cultures and rapid indicators despite reprocessing performed in accordance with guidelines. Am J Infect Control. 43(8):794-801, 2015
- [236] Ofstead CL, Doyle EM, Eiland JE, et al. Practical toolkit for monitoring endoscope reprocessing effectiveness: Identification of viable bacteria on gastroscopes, colonoscopes, and bronchoscopes. Am J Infect Control. 44(7):815-819, 2016
- [237] Ofstead CL, Quick MR, Wetzler HP, Eiland JE, Heymann OL, Sonetti DA, et al. *Effectiveness of reprocessing* for flexible bronchoscopes and endobronchial ultrasound bronchoscopes. CHEST. 154(5):1024-1034, 2018
- [238] Ofstead CL, Heymann OL, Quick MR, Johnson EA, Eiland JE, Wetzler HP. *The effectiveness of sterilization for flexible ureteroscopes: A real-world study*. Am J Infect Control. 45(8):888-895, 2017
- [239] Ofstead CL, et al. Simethicone residue remains inside gastrointestinal endoscopes despite reprocessing. Am J Infect Control. 44(11):1237-1240, 2016
- [240] Ofstead CL, Hopkins KM, Eiland JE, Wetzler HP. *Endoscope reprocessing: Current practices and challenges in the field*. PROCESS. July/August:60-71, 2019
- [241] Ofstead CL, Hopkins KM, Eiland JE, Wetzler HP. Managing bronchoscope quality and cost: Results of a realworld study. PROCESS. March/April:62-71, 2019
- [242] Ofstead CL, Heymann OL, Quick MR, et al. Residual moisture and waterborne pathogens inside flexible endoscopes: Evidence from a multisite study of endoscope drying. Am J Infect Control. 46(6): 689-696, 2018
- [243] Ofstead CL, Dirlam Langlay AM, Mueller NJ, Tosh PK, Wetzler HP. *Re-evaluating endoscopy-associated infection risk estimates and their implications*. Am J Infect Control. 41(8):734-736, 2013
- [244] Ofstead CL, Quick MR, Eiland JE, Adams SJ. A Glimpse at the True Cost of Reprocessing Endoscopes: Results of a pilot project. Communiqué.' Jan/Feb 2017
- [245] Ofstead CL, Wetzler HP, Snyder A. Endoscope reprocessing methods: A prospective study on the impact of human factors and automation. Gastroenterology Nursing. 33(54):3-10, 2010
- [246] Ofstead CL, Wetzler HP, Heymann OL, Johnson EA, Eiland JE, Shaw MJ. Longitudinal assessment of reprocessing effectiveness for colonoscopes and gastroscopes: Results of visual inspections, biochemical markers, and microbial cultures. Am J Infect Control. 45(2):e26-e33, 2017
- [247] Ofstead CL, Wetzler HP, Eiland JE, Heymann OL, Held SB, Shaw MJ. Assessing residual contamination and damage inside flexible endoscopes over time. Am J Infect Control. 44(12):1675-1677, 2016
- [248] Olympus. Use of simethicone and other non-water soluble additives with Olympus flexible endoscopes. Center Valley (PA), 2018
- [249] Osborne S, Reynolds, George N, Lindemayer F, Gill A, Chalmers M. Challenging endoscopy reprocessing guidelines: A prospective study investigating the safe shelf life of flexible endoscopes in a tertiary gastroenterology unit. Endoscopy. 39(9):825, 2007
- [250] Ottawa Public Health. *Infection prevention and control lapse report*: The Ottawa Hospital-General Campus. Ottawa, ON: 14 June 2019
- [251] Parente DM. Could biopsy port valves be a source of potential flexible endoscope contamination? EndoNurse. 6:24-28, 2006
- [252] PENTAX Medical Company. Instructions for use: Pentax Video GI Scopes 90i Series 90K Series. Tokyo (Japan): Hoya Corporation; 2014
- [253] Perry AF, Dellon ES, et al. Burden of gastrointestinal disease in the United States: 2012 Update. Gastroenterology. 143(5):1179-1187, 2012

© 2022 Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation
ANSI/AAMI ST91:2021



- Perumpail, Marya, McGinty, Muthasamy R. Endoscope reprocessing: Comparison of drying effectiveness and [254] microbial levels with an automated drying and storage cabinet with forced filtered air and a standard storage cabinet. Am J Infect Control. 47(9):1083-1089, 2019
- Petersen BT, Cohen J, Hambrick RD, et al. Multisociety Guideline on reprocessing flexible GI endoscopes: [255] 2016 update. Gastrointest Endosc. 85(2):282-294, 2017
- [256] Porteous J. Artificial nails: Very real risks. Canad OR Nurs J. 20(3):16-17, 20-21, 2002
- [257] Potron et al. GI Endoscope: Analysis of OXA-204 CRE reveals possible endoscopy-associated transmission. Euro Surveill. National Reference Centre for Antibiotic Resistance; France Outbreak investigation, 2017
- Preventable Tragedies: Superbugs and How Ineffective Monitoring of Medical Device Safety Fails Patients. [258] United States Senate Health, Education, Labor and Pensions Committee, Patty Murray, Ranking Member. 13 January 2016 http://www.help.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/Duodenoscope%20Investigation%20FINAL%20Report.pdf
- [259] Public Health Agency of Canada. Infection Prevention and Control Guideline for Flexible Gastrointestinal Endoscopy and Flexible Bronchoscopy. Ontario, Canada: 2010
- [260] Quan E, Mahmood R, Naik A, et al. Use of adenosine triphosphate to audit reprocessing of flexible endoscopes with an elevator mechanism. Am J Infect Control. 46(11):1272-1277, 2018
- Ramsey AH, Oemig TV, Davis JP, Massey JP, Toöroök TJ. An outbreak of bronchoscopy-related [261] Mycobacterium tuberculosis infections due to lack of bronchoscope leak testing. CHEST. 121(3):976-981, 2002
- Rauwers AW, Troelstra A, Fluit AC, et al. Independent root cause analysis of contributing factors. including [262] dismantling of 2 duodenoscopes, to an outbreak of multidrug-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae. Gastrointest Endosc. 90(5):793-804, 2019
- [263] Rea MS. (ed.). Lighting handbook: Reference and application. 8th ed. New York: Illuminating Engineering Society of North America, 1993
- [264] Reddick E. Investigation of salmonellosis outbreak following a hospital endoscopy: A public health case study. Can J Infect Control. 32(3):156-159, 2017
- [265] Rejchrt S, Cermak P, Pavlatova L, McKova E, Bures J. Bacteriologic testing of endoscopes after high-level disinfection. Gastrointest Endosc. 60(1):76, 2004
- Rex DK, Sieber M, Lehman GA, et al. A double-reprocessing high-level disinfection protocol does not eliminate [266] positive cultures from the elevators of duodenoscopes. Endoscopy. 50(6):588-596, 2017
- [267] Riley R, Beanland C, Bos H. Establishing the shelf life of flexible colonoscopes. Gastroenterol Nurs. 25(3):114, 2002
- [268] Robertson P, Smith A, Anderson M, et al. Transmission of Salmonella enteritidis after endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography because of inadequate endoscope decontamination. Am J Infect Control. 45(4):440-442, 2017
- [269] Rojo C. The importance of leak testing flexible endoscopes. AORN Journal. 108(6):622-632, 2019
- Ross AS, Baliga C, Verma P, Duchin J, Gluck M. A guarantine process for the resolution of duodenoscope-[270] associated transmission of multidrug-resistant Escherichia coli. Gastrointest Endosc. 82(3):477-483, 2015
- Rubbo SD, Gardner JF, Webb RL. Biocidal activities of glutaraldehyde and related compounds. J Appl [271] Bacteriol. 30:78-87, 1967
- Rubin, Z., Kim, S. Thaker, A and Muthusamy, V. Safely reprocessing duodenoscopes: current evidence and [272] future directions. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 13(3): 499-508, 2018
- [273] Rubin ZA, Murthy RK. Outbreaks associated with duodenoscopes: new challenges and controversies. Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases. 29(4):407-414, 2016

IGHTSLINK4)



- [274] Russell AD. Glutaraldehyde: Current status and uses. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 15(11):724-733, 1994
- [275] Rutala WA, Gergen MF, Weber DJ. Comparative evaluation of the sporicidal activity of new low-temperature sterilization technologies: Ethylene oxide, 2 plasma sterilization systems, and liquid peracetic acid. Am J Infect Control. 26(4):393-398, 1998
- [276] Rutala WA, Weber DJ. New disinfection and sterilization methods. Emerg Infect Dis. 7(2): 348-353, 2001
- [277] Rutala WA, Weber DJ. Gastrointestinal Endoscopes: A Need to Shift From Disinfection to Sterilization? JAMA. 312(14):1405-1406, 2014
- [278] Rutala WA, Weber DJ. How to Assess Risk of Disease Transmission to Patients when There Is a Failure to Follow Recommended Disinfection and Sterilization Guidelines. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 28(2):146-155, 2007
- [279] Rutala WA, Weber DJ. Outbreaks of carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae infections associated with duodenoscopes: What can we do to prevent infections? Am J Infect Control. 44(5 Suppl):e1-e6, 2016
- [280] Rutala WA. APIC guideline for selection and use of disinfectants. Am J Infect Control. 18(2):99-117, 1990
- [281] Rutala WA, Weber DJ. Reprocessing semi-critical items: current issues and new technologies. Am J Infec Control. 44(5 Suppl):e53-e62, 2016
- [282] Rutala W.A., Weber D.J. Cleaning, disinfection and sterilization. In: Grota P., editor. APIC text of infection control and epidemiology. 4th edition. Association for Professionals in Infection Control and Epidemiology, Inc.; Washington, DC. pp. 31.1–31.15, 2014
- [283] Rutala WA, Weber DJ. Health Care Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee. *Guideline for Disinfection and Sterilization in Healthcare Facilities*, 2008. CDC, 2008. Weblink. https://www.cdc.gov/infectioncontrol/pdf/guidelines/disinfection-guidelines.pdf
- [284] Saliou P, Cholet F, Jezequel J, Robaszkiewicz M, Le Bars H, Baron R. The use of channel-purge storage for gastrointestinal endoscopes reduces microbial contamination. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 36(9):1100-1102, 2015
- [285] Salman L, et al. Banning artificial nails from health care settings. Am J Infect Control. 30(4):252-254, 2002
- [286] Sanderson R. An Outbreak of carbapeneum-resistant klebsiella pneumonia infections associated with endoscopy retrograde cholangiopancreatogrphy (ERCP) procedures at a hospital. New Orleans, LA: APIC Conference, July 2010
- [287] Schelenz S, French G. An outbreak of multidrug-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection associated with contamination of bronchoscopes and an endoscope washer-disinfector. J Hosp Infect. 46(1):23-30, 2000
- [288] Seidelman JL, Wallace RJ, lakhiaeva E, et al. Mycobacterium avium pseudo-outbreak associated with an outpatient bronchoscopy clinic: Lessons for reprocessing. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 40(1):106-108, 2019
- [289] Seoane-Vazquesz E, Rodriguesz-Monuio R, Visaria J, et al. Exogenous endoscopy-related infections, pseudoinfections, and toxic reactions: Clinical and economic burden. Curr Med Res Opin. 22(10):2007-2021, 2006
- [290] Sethi S, Huang RJ, Barakat MT, Banaei N, Friedland S, Banerjee S. Adenosine triphosphate bioluminescence for bacteriological surveillance and reprocessing strategies for minimizing risk of infection transmission by duodenoscopes. Gastrointest Endosc. 85(6):1180-1187, 2017
- [291] Shenoy E, et al. *Transmission of Mobile Colistin Resistance (mcr-1) by Duodenoscope*. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 68(8):1327–1334, 2019
- [292] Shimono N, Takuma T, Tsuchimochi N, et al. An outbreak of Pseudomonas aeruginosa infections following thoracic surgeries occurring via the contamination of bronchoscopes and an automatic endoscope reprocessor. J Infect Chemother. 14(6):418-423, 2008



- Siegel JD, Rhinehart E, Jackson M, Chiarello L, and the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory [293] Committee. 2007 Guideline for isolation precautions: Preventing transmission of infectious agents in healthcare settings. Atlanta G): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, June 2007
- Smith ZL, Oh YS, Saeian K, Edmiston Jr CE, Khan AH, Massey BT, Dua KS. Transmission of carbapenem-[294] resistant Enterobacteriaceae during ERCP: time to revisit the current reprocessing guidelines. Gastrointest Endosc. 81(4):1041-1045. 2015
- Snyder GM, Wright SB, Smithey A, et al. Randomized comparison of 3 high-level disinfection and sterilization [295] procedures for duodenoscopes. Gastroenterology. 153(4):1018-1025, 2017
- [296] Society of Gastroenterology Nurses and Associates, Inc. (SGNA). Standard of infection prevention in the gastroenterology setting. Chicago [IL]: Society of Gastroenterology Nurses and Associates, Inc; Available at https://www.sqna.org/Practice-Resources/Position-Statements-Standards, 2019
- Society of Gastroenterology Nurses and Associates, Inc. (SGNA). Standards of Infection Prevention in [297] Reprocessing Flexible Gastrointestinal Endoscopes. Chicago [IL]: Society of Gastroenterology Nurses and Associates, Inc; Available at https://www.sgna.org/Practice-Resources/Position-Statements-Standards, 2018
- Sokol WN. Anaphylaxis following cystoscopy caused by Cidex®-OPA (ortho-phthalaldehyde) cold [298] sterilization solution. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 113(2), Supplement 1, Abstract 1132:S308, 2004a
- [299] Sokol WN. Nine episodes of anaphylaxis following cystoscopy caused by Cidex OPA (ortho-phthalaldehyde) high-level disinfectant in 4 patients after cytoscopy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 114(2):392-397, 2004b
- [300] Sorbets E, Evrevin M, Jumas-Bilak E, et al. An outbreak of Pseudomonas aeruginosa urinary tract infections following outpatient flexible cystoscopy. Am J Infect Control. 47(12):1510-1512, 2019
- [301] Spaulding EH. Chemical disinfection and antisepsis in the hospital. J Hosp Res. 9(1):5-31, 1972
- [302] Srinivasan A. Epidemiology and prevention of infections related to endoscopy. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 5(6):467-472, 2003
- [303] Stenton SC, Beach JR, Dennis JH, et al. Glutaraldehyde, asthma and work-a cautionary tale. Occup Med (Lond). 44(2):95-98, 1994
- [304] Stonehill AA, Krop S, Borick PM. Buffered glutaraldehyde, a new chemical sterilizing solution. Am J Pharm. 20(9):458-65, 1963
- [305] Sutton, S and Jimenez, L. A Review of Reported Recalls Involving Microbiological Control 2004-2011 with Emphasis on FDA Consideration of "Objectionable Organisms." American Pharmaceutical Review; January/February 2012
- [306] Svetlikova Z, Skovierova H, Niederweis M, Gaillard JL, McDonnell G, Jackson M. Role of porins in the susceptibility of Mycobacterium smegmatis and Mycobacterium chelonae to aldehyde-based disinfectans and drugs. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 53(9):4015-4018, 2009
- [307] Takigawa T, Endo Y. Effects of glutaraldehyde exposure on human health. J Occup Health. 48(2):75-87, 2006
- Taylor A, Jones D, Everts R, Cowen A, Wardle E. Gastroenterological Society of Australia Clinical Update: [308] Infection control in endoscopy. Victoria, Australia: third edition. 2011
- Thaker AM, Kim S, Sedarat A, Watson RR, Muthusamy VR. Inspection of endoscope instrument channels [309] after reprocessing using a prototype borescope. Gastrointest Endosc. 88(4):612-619, 2018
- [310] Thaker AM, Muthusamy VR, Sedarat A, Watson RR, Kochman ML, Ross AS, Kim S. Duodenoscope reprocessing practice patterns in U.S. endoscopy centers: A survey study. Gastrointest Endosc. 88(2):316-322.e2, 2018
- Thomas L A. Essentials for endoscopic equipment. Recommended care and handling of flexible endoscopes: [311] Endoscope storage. Gastroenterol Nurs. 28(1):45, 2005

170



IGHTSLINKA)

- [312] Thomas L. Educational Dimensions [Online]. 2007. *Anatomy of an Endoscope*. Available: <u>https://www.educationaldimensions.com/eLearn/endoscope/anatomy.php</u>. Retrieved December 2017
- [313] Trick WE, Vernon MO, Hayes RA, et al. Impact of ring wearing on hand contamination and comparison of hand hygiene agents in a hospital. Clin Infect Dis. 36(11):1383-1390, 2003
- [314] Tschudin-Sutter S, Frei R, Kampf G, Tamm M, Pflimlin E, Battegay M, Widmer AF. *Emergence of glutaraldehyde-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 32(12):1173-1178, 2011
- [315] Tucker RC, Lestini BJ, Marchant RE. Surface analysis of clinically used expanded PTFE endoscopic tubing treated by the STERIS Process. ASAIOJ. 42(4):306-313, 1996
- [316] U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. VA continues endoscopy procedure notification for veterans. In. Washington, DC; 7-2019-00048, 2009
- [317] U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. *Peracetic Acid Results AEGL Program.* https://www.epa.gov/aegl/peracetic-acid-results-aegl-program
- [318] U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. ETO reregistration eligibility Decision (RED), docket number EPA-HQ-OPP-2005-0203. Federal Register Notice, 16 April 2008 (Volume 73, Number 74) at <u>http://www.epa.gov/fedrgstr/EPA- PEST/2008/April/Day-16/p7997.htm</u>, 2008
- [319] U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. *Drinking water regulations and health advisories*. Washington (DC): Office of Water, EPA, April 2012
- [320] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Olympus Medical Systems Corp. *Evis Exera II Colonovideoscope* 8683917. Silver Spring, MD: 10 June 2019. 2951238-2019-00926, 2019
- [321] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Boston Scientific Corporation Fuse Full Spectrum Endoscopy System Gastroscope and Accessories, Flexible/Rigid 8524645. Silver Spring, MD: 17 April 2019. 3005099803-2019-01999, 2019
- [322] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Olympus Medical Systems Corp. Evis Exera Duodenovideoscope 8379810. Silver Spring, MD: 28 February 2019. 2951238-2019-00470, 2019
- [323] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Olympus Medical Systems Corp. *EVIS EXERA III Gastrointestinal Videoscope 8242610.* Silver Spring, MD: 11 January 2019. 2951238-2019-00365, 2019
- [324] Statement from Jeff Shuren, M.D., Director of the Center for Devices and Radiological Health, on continued efforts to assess duodenoscope contamination risk [press release]. 12 April 2019. <u>https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/statement-jeff-shuren-md-director-center-devices-and-radiological-health-continued-efforts-assess</u>
- [325] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Olympus 522 postmarket surveillance studies--Sampling and culturing study. *In: Department of Health & Human Services*, ed2019
- [326] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Pentax 522 postmarket surveillance studies--Sampling and culturing study. *In: Department of Health & Human Services*, ed2019
- [327] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Fujifilm 522 postmarket surveillance--Sampling and culturing study. *In: Department of Health & Human Services*, ed2019
- [328] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Labeling. Code of Federal Regulations, Title 21, Part 801
- [329] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Sterilization process indicator. *Code of Federal Regulations, Title 21, Part* 880.2800
- [330] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Quality system regulation. Code of Federal Regulations, Title 21, Part 820
- [331] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Olympus Medical System Corporation Duodenovideoscope*. Silver Springs, MD: 28 May 2015. 2951238-2015-00230, 2015



- [332] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. The FDA provides interim results of duodenoscope reprocessing studies conducted in real-world settings: FDA Safety Communication. Published 10 December 2018
- [333] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Appendix D - Design of Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) Duodenoscopes May Impede Effective Cleaning: FDA Safety Communication. Paper presented at: Gastroenterology and Urology Devices Panel Meeting 2015; Washington D.C., 2015
- [334] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Supplemental Measures to Enhance Duodenoscope Reprocessing: FDA Safety Communication. 4 August 2015
- [335] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Infections Associated with Reprocessed Flexible Bronchoscopes: FDA Safety Communication. 17 September 2015. https://www.fdanews.com/ext/resources/files/09-15/092115safety-notice.pdf?1442508647
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Infections Associated with Duodenoscopes. https://www.fda.gov/medical-[336] devices/reprocessing-reusable-medical-devices/infections-associated-reprocessed-duodenoscopes. Accessed on 19 October 2019
- [337] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. The FDA Continues to Remind Facilities of the Importance of Following Duodenoscope Reprocessing Instructions; FDA Safety Communication 12 April 2019, Available at; https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/safety-communications/fda-continues-remind-facilities-importancefollowing- duodenoscope-reprocessing-instructions-fda. Accessed on 8 July 2019
- [338] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Medical device reporting for user facilities. Rockville (MD): FDA, 1996. FDA Guidance. Available at: www.fda.gov/downloads/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/Guidance Documents/UCM095266.pdf. Accessed on 17 February 2019
- [339] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. General hospital and personal use devices: Classification of liquid chemical sterilants/high-level disinfectants and general purpose disinfectants. Federal Register, 65(111):36324-26, 8 June 2000a
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for Manufacturers Seeking Marketing Clearance of Ear, Nose, [340] and Throat Endoscope Sheaths Used as Protective Barriers. 12 March 2000b. Available at http://www.fda.gov/medicaldevices/deviceregulationandguidance/guidancedocuments/ucm073746.htm
- [341] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for industry and for FDA staff-Enforcement priorities for singleuse devices reprocessed by third parties and hospitals. FDA, 14 August 2000c. FDA Guidance. Available at: www.fda.gov/downloads/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/GuidanceDocuments/UCM107172. pdf
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for industry and FDA staff: Medical glove guidance manual. [342] 2008. Rockville (MD): FDA, 22 January Available at: http://www.fda.gov/downloads/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/GuidanceDocuments/UCM42 8191.pdf
- [343] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Reprocessing Medical Devices in Health Care Settings: Validation Methods and Labeling Guidance for Industry and Food and Drug Administration Staff. 17 March 2015 (updated 2017
- [344] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Information about Automated Endoscope Reprocessors AERs and FDA's Evaluation. updated August 2018. Available Last 22, at: https://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/ProductsandMedicalProcedures/ReprocessingofReusableMedicalDevic es/ucm483896.htm Accessed 5 March 2019
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Duodenoscope Surveillance Sampling and Culturing Reducing the Risks [345] of Infection: Department of Health and Human Services Collaboration. FDA, 2018. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/media/111081/download. Accessed 24 May 2021.
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Hoya Corporation Pentax Tokyo Office Pentax Video Gastroscope- I10 [346] Standard 8811666. Silver Spring, MD: 251889, 22 July 2019

GHTSLINKA)

- [347] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Hoya Corporation Pentax Tokyo Office Pentax Video Duodenoscope* 8579952. Silver Spring, MD: 9610877-2019-00294, 3 May 2019
- [348] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Hoya Corporation Pentax Tokyo Office Pentax Video Gastroscope* 8495252. Silver Spring, MD. 9610877-2019-00266
- [349] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Hoya Corporation Pentax Tokyo Office Pentax Video Gastroscope* 8392535. Silver Spring, MD: 9610877-2019-00213, 5 March 2019
- [350] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Steris Mexico, S. DE R.L. DE C.V. V-Pro 1 Sterilizer 8219836. Silver Spring, MD: 3005899764-2019-00002, 4 January 2019
- [351] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Steris Mexico, S. DE R.L. DE C.V. V-Pro 1 Sterilizer 8527290. Silver Spring, MD: 3005899764-2019-00041, 18 April 2019
- [352] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Steris Mexico, S.De R.L. De C.V. V-Pro 60 Sterilizer 8574795.* Silver Spring, MD: 3005899764-2019-00046, 2 May 2019
- [353] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Steris Mexico, S. De R.L. De C.V. V-Pro Max Sterilizer* 8693427. Silver Spring, MD: 3005899764-2019-00059, 12 June 2019
- [354] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Advanced Sterilization Products Sterrad 100nx Sterilizer* 8978106. Silver Spring, MD: 2084725-2019-00937, 9 September 2019
- [355] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Advanced Sterilization Products Sterrad 100NX Sterilizer 1-DR 8993054*. Silver Spring, MD: 2084725-2019-00939, 11 September 2019
- [356] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Advanced Sterilization Products Sterrad 100NX 1-DR Sterilizer 9282407*. Silver Spring, MD: 2084725-2019-00982, 5 November 2019
- [357] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Advanced Sterilization Products Sterrad 100s Sterilizer 9239844. Silver Spring, MD: 2084725-2019-00972, 25 October 2019
- [358] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Medivators DSD Edge Automated Endoscope Reprocessor 8262515*. Silver Spring, MD: 18 January 2019
- [359] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Medivators Advantage Plus Automated Endoscope Reprocessor* 8569468. Silver Spring, MD: 2150060-2019-00034, 1 May 2019
- [360] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Medivators DSD Edge Automated Endoscope Reprocessor 8287449*. Silver Spring, MD: 2150060-2019-00006, 29 January 2019
- [361] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Medivators Advantage Plus Automated Endoscope Reprocessor* 8551998. Silver Spring, MD: . 2150060-2019-00035, 25 April 2019
- [362] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Steris Canada Corporation System 1E Processor 8180902*. Silver Spring, MD: 9680353-2018-00092, 2018
- [363] U.S. Procedure Numbers for Gastrointestinal Devices 2017 MedPro; *I Data Research*, Toronto, Canada, 2017
- [364] U.S. Senate Health, Education, Labor, and Pensions Committee. *Preventable tragedies: superbugs and how ineffective monitoring of medical device safety fails patients. Minority Staff Report.* 13 January 2016 https://www.help.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/Duodenoscope%20Investigation%20FINAL%20Report.pdf
- [365] Van Stiphout SH, Laros IF, van Wezel RA, Gilissen LP. *Crystallization in the waterjet channel in colonoscopes due to simethicone*. Endoscopy. 48(S 01):e394-e395, 2016
- [366] Van Drongelen AW, et al. Aldehyde residues on endoscopes: Scale and limit value (in German). HygMed. 31(10):453-456, 2006
- [367] Van Wicklin SA, Conner R, Spry C. AORN Guideline for processing flexible endoscopes. *Guidelines for Perioperative Practice*. 2018

© 2022 Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation
ANSI/AAMI ST91:2021

RIGHTSLINK()

- [368] Vergis AS, Thomson D, Pieroni P, Dhalla S. Repro-cessing flexible gastrointestinal endoscopes after a period of disuse: Is it necessary? Endoscopy. 39(8):737, 2007
- [369] Visrodia K, Ofstead C, Yellin H, Wetzler H, Tosh P, and Barron T. The use of rapid indicators for the detection of organic residues on clinically used gastrointestinal endoscopes with and without visually apparent debris. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. V35(8):987-994, 2014
- [370] Walsh SE, Maillard J-Y, Russell AD. Ortho-phthalaldehyde: A possible alternative to glutaraldehyde for high level disinfection. J Appl Microbiol. 86(6):1039-1046, 1999
- [371] Wang P, et.al. Rates of infection after colonoscopy and osophagogastroduodenoscopy in ambulatory surgery centres in the US. GUT. 27(9):1-11, 2018
- [372] Washburn RE, Pietsch JJ. Assessment of test methods for evaluating effectiveness of cleaning flexible endoscopes. Am J Infect Control. 46(6):685-688, 2018
- [373] Washington State Department of Health. Statement of deficiencies and plan of correction Seattle Children's Hospital. 2014
- [374] Wendelboe A, et al. Outbreak of cystoscopy related infections with Pseudomonas aeruginosa: New Mexico, 2007. J Urol. 180(2):588-592, 2008
- [375] Wendorf KA, Kay M, Baliga C, Weissman SJ, Gluck M, Verma P, et al. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography-associated AmpC Escherichia coli outbreak. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 36(6):634-642, 2015
- [376] WFHSS poster, S. Kovach: Development of Enhanced Visual Inspection Products For CSSD, 2017
- [377] World Health Organization & WHO Patient Safety. (2009). WHO guidelines on hand hygiene in health care. World Health Organization.
- [378] Yang S, Hemarajata P, Hindler J, et al. Evolution and Transmission of Carbapenem-Resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae Expressing the blaOXA-232 Gene During an Institutional Outbreak Associated With Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography. Clin Infect Dis. 64(7):894-901, 2017
- [379] Zuhlsdorf B, Emmrich M, Floss H, Martiny H. Cleaning efficacy of nine different cleaners in a washer-disinfector designed for flexible endoscopes. J Hosp Infect. 52(3):206-211, 2002